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of untold privation and suffering,
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patriotic support of the men,

Made the achievements here recorded possible,
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PEEFACE

Nearly thirty years ago I ventured to publish "Four Years

with General Lee," in which my primary object was to assist in

establishing the fact of the great numerical odds against which

the army under General Lee had to contend in its encounters

with the Federal armies opposed to it.

General Lee had expressed a purpose to do this, and after his

death, before its accomplishment, the duty seemed logically to

devolve upon me.

The preparation of that monograph necessitated the presenta-

tion of much purely statistical matter, and the scope of the work

embraced, in most cases, mere mention only of the campaigns of

General Lee in the war between the States of the Union. While

I have not attempted herein to give a critical account of the

several engagements in which the army under General Lee took

part, such as the military student would ask, I have endeavored

to present the salient features and to give a sufficiently compre-

hensive account of the troops engaged, and the results achieved,

to enable the general reader to form a fair idea of each of the

great battles fought.

These memoirs were not originally designed for publication;

but I have been so frequently urged to write more in detail con-

cerning the matters of which I have personal knowledge, and

especially of General Lee, that I have concluded to publish them,

in the hope that they may contribute in some degree to the

clearer understanding of the events and operations in Virginia

during that interesting period, and as an humble tribute to the
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noble character of tlie Great Commander who so often led the

Confederate troops to victory.

" Four Years with General Lee" is out of print, and not to be

had of the publishers. I have not hesitated, therefore, to in-

troduce occasional excerpts here from that work that serve to

illustrate some trait of General Lee's character, or that seemed

to add to the smoothness of the narrative.

W. H. T.
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CHAPTER I

A BRIEF REVIEW OF THE CONDITIONS AND EVENTS LEAD-

ING UP TO THE WAR BETWEEN THE STATES

ALTHOUGH the claim of the right of a State to secede

from the Union has been once and forever decided

in the negative by the arbitrament of arms, in a long

and bitterly contested war, it is, nevertheless, generally

conceded by impartial students of history that when the

original thirteen British colonies in America, which
afterward became the United States, severed the ties

that bound them to Great Britain and declared them-

selves free and independent States, the compact then

formed for mutual protection and defense was not re-

garded as indissoluble. On the contrary, in after years,

several States of the Union, in different sections and at

different times, boldly avowed the right to leave the

Confederation, and threatened to exercise it.

The question of the right of a State to secede is en-

tirely distinct from the question of the wisdom, or the

lack of wisdom, in so framing the Articles of Confedera-

tion, or the Constitution, as to permit the claim to such
right to be made, by implication at least, or to leave the

question open.

In considering such a matter, much depends upon the

point of view. At this time and with our experience,

very few, if any, can be found, North or South, who
contend that there could be any stability or permanence
in the government of a union of States of which one of
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the fundamental principles was the right of any State

to dissolve the Union at will; but that does not affect

the question of such inherent right as claimed by the

founders of the Union, who were intensely jealous con-

cerning the rights of the States, and who, time and
again, combated the idea that the United States was a
nation in the usual acceptation of the word, and who
resisted any attempted encroachment upon the rights

of the States not expressly delegated to the general

government. The State was sovereign ; the Union was
an alliance between sovereigns. Nowhere was this

matter of State sovereignty more emphasized and more
jealously guarded than in the State of Virginia. The
young men of the State were early imbued with the

doctrine of States' rights, and while the people of Mas-

sachusetts, of New York, of the Carolinas, and of the

other States were their friends, their own people were
Virginians, and their country was Virginia.

The first suggestion of secession as a remedy for al-

leged grievances, and the first threat to exercise that

right, came from the New England States. In 1803 the

people of Massachusetts regarded unfavorably the ac-

quisition of the territory of Louisiana, as in 1811 they

opposed the admission into the Union of the State of

Louisiana, and in 1843 the admission into the Union
of the State of Texas; and her public men spoke freely

of the right to secede from the Union, and clearly

intimated that circumstances might arise that would
cause Massachusetts to separate from the other States.

During the war between the United States and Great

Britain in 1812, the States of Massachusetts, Connecti-

cut, and Rhode Island opposed the war, refused to fur-

nish troops, and threatened to secede from the Union
should certain conditions arise.

The attitude assumed by South Carolina in 1832, be-

cause of dissatisfaction with the revenue laws, again
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threatened the integrity of the Union; it was then de-

veloped that there existed a pronounced difference of

opinion among the leading men in public life upon this

momentous question. The President was firm and ob-

durate in his determination to enforce the laws, and the
Governor of South Carolina was defiant in his purpose

to resist their enforcement. Wise counsels prevailed,

however, and, happily, this matter was adjusted with-

out a rupture.

With the progress of time the advantages of the

Union became more and more apparent ; and it is ex-

tremely doubtful if any attempt to dissolve it would
ever have been made had the institution of slavery not

existed.

Slavery existed in all of the colonies at the time of

the Declaration of Independence, and it continued to

exist in all the States for some time thereafter. The
labor of the slaves proved unprofitable, however, in the

more northern States, and this fact and the rigorous

character of the winter season in that section caused a
gradual deportation of all the slaves to the Southern
States, where they found a more congenial climate and
work for which they were better adapted. The enter-

prising citizens of the North sold their slaves to their

agricultural brethren of the South, neither having then
any qualms of conscience in the matter of "trading in

human chattels."

The question of slavery had not then assumed any
moral or political significance; and it is a cause for re-

gret, from the ethical point of view, that the agitation

against the institution of slavery, on moral grounds, did

not occur before the slaves had all been segregated in

one section of the country, nor until after their former
owners in the North had received full payment in money
for all the slaves deported to the South.

In the early days in the history of the Republic there
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were some of thoughtful mind and wise foresight who
were opposed to slavery on philosophic grounds; but

they differed widely in temper and in purpose from the

abolitionists, whose attitude upon the question later

found expression chiefly in anathemas against the

owners of slaves. They looked with disfavor upon the

trade in slaves and upon the introduction into this coun-

try of a horde of ignorant creatures of the black race,

because they realized that in so doing labor in the lower

walks of life would be degraded and made distasteful

to the whites; they feared that it would be a hindrance

rather than a help to the development of the material

resources of the country ; and they foresaw the dangers

of any attempt to have these two races, between whom
there could be no assimilation, live amicably together,

side by side, without a recognition of the fact that in

the natural order one is inferior, and, politically and so-

cially, should be subordinate to the other. There is in-

disputable evidence of a strong sentiment in this direc-

tion having existed in the minds of leading men in Vir-

ginia, which State was the first to prohibit the importa-

tion of slaves, and this sentiment would have increased

and continued to grow in that State had not the question

been made one of party politics and arrayed the people

of the Union into hostile factions on sectional lines.

Our experience in the attempt made in the days of re-

construction to force the equality of the two races, by
the enfranchisement of the blacks, proves the wisdom
of their contention and brands that endeavor as the

greatest political blunder of the nineteenth century.

At first the public utterances of men at the North in

favor of the abolition of slavery were received most un-

favorably, and in some cases led to mob violence, when
those who lectured on this subject were interrupted and
forced to desist. The number of these agitators in-

creased, however, with the progress of time, and in the
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year 1839 an attempt was made to organize the aboli-

tionists into a political party.

A convention was then held for this purpose, and it

was declared "that every consideration of duty and ex-

pediency which ought to control the action of Christian

freemen requires the abolitionists of the United States

to organize a distinct and independent political party,

embracing all the necessary means for nominating can-

didates for office, and sustaining them by public suf-

frage."

The following year this question first assumed such a
degree of importance as to bring about the formation of

a political party, whose rallying- cry was the abolition

of slavery, with representatives from all the Northern
States called together in convention for the purpose of

nominating a candidate for the presidency of the United
States. Candidates for President and Vice-President

were put up, and in the ensuing election received 7059

of the popular vote cast. In 1844 candidates were again
placed before the people, and James G. Birney, a pro-

nounced abolitionist, as the candidate for the presidency

of the National Liberty party, received 62,300 of the

popular vote cast. Meanwhile, the agitation of the

question of slavery became more and more intense, and
the hustings of the Northern States rang with passion-

ate demands for its abolition. The two old parties,

Whig and Democratic, in the North, were divided on
this subject, each having an antislavery and a pro-

slavery wing.

In the Congress of the United States the debates upon
this question were frequent and showed much feeling.

The matter of slavery was forced to the front in the

discussion of nearly every political movement that then
engaged the attention of partyleaders. In the creation

of new States, and in the acquisition of new territory,

there was always a contest in regard to it. The more
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conservative leaders of the two old political parties,

seeing the danger that threatened from its continued

agitation, sought safety in compromise. The abolition-

ists outside of Congress opposed these compromise

measures violently, denouncing them as "an agreement

with hell and a covenant with death."

In 1848 the Free-soil or antislavery party was organ-

ized, and placed in nomination for the presidency Mar-

tin Van Buren, and for the vice-presidency Charles

Francis Adams. In the ensuing election these candi-

dates received nearly 300,000 of the popular vote cast.

In 1856 the antislavery party, then known as the Re-

publican party, nominated John C. Fremont for the

presidency, and in the ensuing election he received

1,341,264 of the popular vote cast. The convention at

which he was nominated adopted a plank denouncing

"those twin relics of barbarism, slavery and polyg-

amy." The cloud, at first no bigger than a man's hand,

had now assumed mammoth proportions; the sky of

one half of the Union was covered with dark and omi-

nous clouds, from the deep recesses of which were heard

constant rumblings, and from which there was an occa-

sional flash and a peal that seemed to threaten the Re-

public with destruction. As is generally the case with

attempts to bring about any great political or social

revolution, so especially at this time many cranks and

fanatics came to the front and appeared to lead in the

movement for universal freedom. These fanatics,

though filled with enthusiastic fervor for the advance-

ment of a cause that, in the abstract, appealed strongly

to the reason of thoughtful minds, were in all other re-

spects uncertain, crooked, and dangerous.

In 1859 one of this execrable class became possessed

of the idea that he was to be the deliverer of the colored

race from slavery. With wicked intent, arson and
murder being included in his line of assault, he invaded
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the state of Virginia with a small band of deluded fol-

lowers, all armed, defied the legal authorities, called

upon the slaves to revolt against their owners, and held

out to them the promise of freedom and protection.

There was a clash between this band of insurgents and
the citizens and soldiers of the State, and blood was
shed, many of the insurgents being killed. After in-

dictment and trial, the leader of this terrible raid was
hung by the authorities of the State as an insurrection-

ist. And yet, in after years, this man appeared a hero

to many diseased minds, and his name was canonized

by his fanatical sympathizers as a martyr.

President Buchanan, in his third annual message,

December 19, 1859, in referring to this matter, wrote:

I shall not refer in detail to the recent sad and blood}'' occur-

rences at Harper's Ferry. Still, it is proper to observe that

these events, however bad and cruel in themselves, derive their

chief importance from the apprehension that they are but symp-

toms of an incurable disease in the public mind, which may
break out in still more dangerous outrages and terminate at last

in an open war by the North to abolish slavery in the South.

Whilst for myself I entertain no such apprehension, they ought

to afford a solemn warning to us all to beware of the approach

of danger.

While the President then disavowed any personal ap-

prehension of the terrible culmination of the efforts of the
abolitionists into actual warfare, it must be admitted
that matters had progressed very far in that direction

to justify such language as this from the President to

the Congress of the United States.

The two sections of the country were fast drifting

toward the " irrepressible conflict " foreseen by Mr.
Seward, then the most formidable opponent of Mr. Lin-

coln for nomination for the presidency by the Republi-
can party. Mr. Lincoln received the nomination of his
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party in 1860, and was elected President in the fall of

that year, receiving 1,866,352 of the popular vote, while

his opponents in the aggregate received 2,810,501; his

plurality, however, gave him the majority in the elec-

toral college.

Although not an avowed abolitionist, in that he did

not openly contend for the forcible abolition of slavery

in the Southern States, Mr. Lincoln was what was called

in the South a Black Republican, of pronounced type,

thoroughly imbued with the ideas and teachings of the

abolitionists, always on the antislavery side, restrained

only by considerations of policy and by a shadow of

respect for constitutional limitations, and, as events

proved, only awaiting the presage of success to approve
and decree the forcible freeing of the slaves of the South.

In the inauguration of the war that soon followed,

the plausible pretext of the preservation of the Union
was advanced in justification of the call to arms. There
was a large element at the North opposed to interfer-

ence with the internal affairs of the Southern States,

that would never have approved of a resort to force to

abolish slavery; nevertheless, that was the real issue

at stake, and the mighty horde that claimed allegiance

to a power higher than the Constitution swept every-

thing to one side that tended to retard its movement,
and ultimately demanded that the slaves be freed with-

out regard to the private and public rights involved.

With such a party in power and such a man as Presi-

dent, the doubts and fears of the extreme Southern
States were so intensely aroused by what they consid-

ered a serious menace to their peace and prosperity,

that they determined to exercise their right of with-

drawing from the Union. Seven Southern States sece-

ded: South Carolina on December 20, 1860, Mississippi

on January 9th, Florida on January 10th, Alabama on
January 11th, Georgia on January 19th, Louisiana on
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January 26th, and Texas on February 1, 1861. Here
there was a halt; the tide appeared to have been checked;

all eyes turned uponVirginia, whose people were assem-

bled in convention to consider the crisis, and whose
attitude was regarded with the keenest interest and
anxiety. "What would Virginia do ?

In Virginia the sentiment was decidedly adverse to

secession; the majority of her people were strongly op-

posed to the heroic measures adopted by the more
southern States for the correction of their grievances;

there was a sentimental and deep-rooted attachment to

the Union, and a conviction that the fears entertained

for the material and social welfare of the people of the

South by reason of the inauguration of the administra-

tion of Mr. Lincoln, though not groundless, were much
exaggerated.

On January 19, 1861, the General Assembly of Vir-

ginia resolved to send commissioners to Washington to

unite with commissioners from such other States as

would respond to her invitation to take part in an effort

to adjust the unhappy controversies then existing. On
February 4th this peace convention assembled, and
delegates were present from fourteen free States and
seven slave States. John Tyler of Virginia, ex-Presi-

dent of the United States, was chosen to preside over

the conference; but no practical good attended its de-

liberations.

Meanwhile continued pressure was brought to bear
upon the leading men of Virginia to induce them to join

their friends farther South ; by overtures from without
and persuasive arguments from sympathizers within, it

was endeavored to force Virginia to join the Southern
Confederacy; but the convention was obdurate, and
the State remained firm.

Soon after the inauguration of President Lincoln,

Fort Sumter, in Charleston Harbor, became the center



10 GENERAL LEE

of the greatest interest. The State of South Carolina

had demanded the surrender of that fort to its authori-

ties, and it had been refused. The supply of provisions

at the fort was nearly exhausted, and the officer in

command had notified the authorities at Washington
that unless supplies were furnished he would in a very

short time have to abandon the fort. When this matter
was first considered by Mr, Lincoln's cabinet, it was
decided not to attempt to resupply the fort, as it would
certainly precipitate a conflict; two weeks later the

matter was again considered by the cabinet, and a ma-
jority decided that the attempt should be made. The
Southern States that had seceded had organized them-
selves into a Confederacy, and Mr. Jefferson Davis had
been chosen and inaugurated as President of the Con-

federate States of America. On March 1, 1861, the Con-

federate authorities had assumed control of military

affairs at Charleston. On April 1st the Federal author-

ities, in response to a request for some assurance on

this point, notified the Confederates that while the ad-

ministration might desire to supply Fort Sumter, no
attempt would be made to do this without previous no-

tice to the Governor of South Carolina.

Meanwhile sentiment at the North was greatly divi-

ded ; many of the leading men of that section favored

inaction and opposed earnestly any attempt to coerce

the Southern States back into the Union. Mr. Greeley,

editor of the leading Republican paper, speaking of

them as " erring sisters," admonished the people to

"let them go in peace."

On April 8th the Federal government notified the

Governor of South Carolina that it intended to send

supplies to the garrison at Fort Sumter. On April 11th

the Confederates again demanded the surrender of the

fort, which demand was again refused. On April 12th

the Confederates opened fire on the fort, and the fire
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was returned by the garrison, but no one was hurt. On
April 14th, the supplies having been exhausted, the fort

was surrendered. On April loth the President of the

United States issued a call upon the States in the Union
for 75,000 men, for the purpose of coercing the States ,,

that had seceded. By this act Mr. Lincoln precipitated 'i

the war between the States.

It is true that South Carolina had ceded Fort Sumter
to the United States for^purposes of public defense, but

it Avas of little value save for the defense of that State

-from attack by an alien foe. Many people at the North
contended that the firing on the flag was a cause for

war. It was a strained manifestation of offended pride;

no such ebullition of temper had attended the first '' in-

sult to the flag," when on January 9th the Star of the

West, with the flag of the Union at the peak, was fired

on as she attempted to carry provisions to the garrison

at Fort Sumter; but now the "irrepressible conflict"

was to be inaugurated, and it was necessary to do every-

thing possible to rouse the war-spirit of the people.

It is begging the whole question to treat the flag as

the symbol of sovereignty or the ensign of a nation.

The Union was not a nation; the United States was a
confederation, not a kingdom. The flag was a com-
posite banner in which every State had part and repre-

sentation. At that time the Union was composed of

thirty-three States, of which eighteen were free and
fifteen slave. Seven of the Southern States had seceded;

all the others, as well as the border States, were opposed
both to the policy of secession and to the exercise of

force to maintain the Union. Virginia, North Carolina,

Tennessee, Kentucky, Arkansas, and Missouri refused
to honor Mr. Lincoln's call for volunteers. Maryland
was opposed to it, and suggested a truce and arbitra-

tion. Here were fourteen States to whom the flag be-

longed as much as to the other nineteen, and they saw
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no occasion for war. There was no question here of

national pride or honor; no alien had done dishonor to

the flag; no State had been invaded by hostile foe.

Veil it as we may with the soothing reflection that the

States that seceded are now reconciled and the Union
happily reestablished, the ugly fact stands out to view
that in that epoch of the history of our country a rude

shock was given to the maintenance of the principles of

government for which we had successfully contended

in the revolution against the rule of England. The
fundamental idea, the basic principle of the Declaration

of Independence was completely subverted; the as-

sumption that all governments derive their just powers
from the consent of the governed was conveniently

relegated into deepest oblivion, and the growth of the

principle that is the antithesis of this, which was then

implanted, has been so insidious and so increasing that

we have to-day the spectacle of a Republic of States em-
barked in the establishment of remote colonies, whose
alien races are averse to our rule and who are kept in

subjection by the force of arms, with only an occasional

remonstrance from those prominent in the councils of

the party in power. And, whereas, the safety and per-

petuity of the Union were deemed by its founders to be

involved in the rigid adherence to the lines then laid

down concerning the rights reserved to the States and
the limited powers delegated to the general govern-

ment, in a strict maintenance of the dual system of

government agreed on, that has been happily likened

to the centripetal and the centrifugal forces that hold

the earth to its dual revolution around its own axis and
around its central sun, there was then inaugurated a

movement tending to an enlargement of the powers of

the general government and a dwarfing of the rights of

the States that has continued to grow, and to-day finds

expression and fruition in the bold usurpation of legis-
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lative powers by the Executive, and in a number of acts

of Congress conferring upon the general government
powers once considered inherent and exclusive in the

States, tending toward a centralization of government
and an obliteration of State lines. If it is contended
that the changed conditions that confront us render it

necessary to make corresponding changes in the form
of government in order to secure a higher degree of

security and happiness for the people, then it is time to

cease to boast that the old and original form was the

best ever known to the world.

The grievances that led to the revolt of the thirteen

American colonies were no more serious than those that

prompted the secession of the eleven Southern States

from the Union. In the matters of population and ma-
terial wealth, the latter were vastly superior to the

former. The autonomy of the several States was uni-

versally admitted; complete systems of government
existed in all the States, embracing the executive, legis-

lative, and judicial departments; law and order prevailed

throughout the southern half of the former confedera-

tion, and there was no thought or suggestion of any
purpose to interfere in any way with the affairs of the

Northern States. A very empire in extent of territory,

the Southern States then had an aggregate of population

of nearly ten millions, and to deny such a people the

right of self-government was equivalent to a confession

of error in the revolt against England, and the brand-

ing of the Declaration of Independence a subterfuge

and a delusion.

Mr. Lincoln's call for troops was communicated to the

authorities of Virginia, and on April 17th the conven-

tion assembled at Richmond passed the ordinance of

secession, and the State withdrew from the Union.
What other course was open to the people of Virginia,

consistent with the conservation of her honor and good
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name ? The traditions of the State and the honor of her

people made any other course impossible, and this will be

the verdict of the impartial critic, whatever may be his

predilections concerning the issues that led up to the war.

The people of our State had declared their love for the

Union and manifested an earnest desire to preserve peace

and to seek for a remedy for the grievances of the South

through the instrumentality of the votes of the peo-

l^le; in other words, to "fight it out within the Union,"

until a call was made by the President of the United

States upon the several States, Virginia included, for

their quota of soldiers, with which it was proposed

to coerce into submission the States that had seceded

from the Union; and then, and only then, when it was
inevitable that a fratricidal conflict was indeed upon us,

did our beloved commonwealth, always conservative,

yet ever influenced by the dictates of honor and of cour-

age, sever the ties that bound her to the Union, resume
the position of a free and independent State, and declare

her purpose to resist the invasion of her territory by
the troops called into service to coerce her sister States

of the South. Without abating one iota of their devo-

tion to the Union, deprecating alike the extreme mea-

sures adopted by the States farther South for the adjust-

ment of their grievances and the resort to arms inaugu-

rated by the States of the North remaining in the Union,

the people of Virginia saw and considered but one

course as open to them. Virginia had done all that was
possible with honor to avert the calamity ; her efforts

to avoid a conflict had failed; war was already declared.

Her love, her sympathy, her interests, were with the

South. Her sense of right and justice bade her array

herself against the Federal hosts, and, proudly erect and
defiant, she accepted the gage of battle and prepared to

receive the brunt of the shock of arms that was soon to

convulse a continent.



CHAPTER II

VIRGINIA PREPARES FOR WAR

IN anticipation of trouble many volunteer companies

had been previously organized in the different cities

of the State, and these promptly offered their ser-

vices, and were accepted. Several companies at Nor-

folk were organized into a battalion and became the

nucleus of the army for the defense of that city.

Much interest centered at Norfolk because of the val-

uable navy-yard at that place, where a number of ves-

sels of war were stationed, some out of commission and
some armed, equipped, and ready for service; and be-

cause of the large quantity of ammunition stored at Fort

Norfolk, of which the State had practically none. By
direction of the governor, hulks were sunk in the channel

below Fort Norfolk, in an attempt to prevent the passage

out of the armed vessels of the Federals ; these obstruc-

tions, in time, came to pester the Confederates, after

the harbor came under their control, and when they

needed channel room for the ironclad Virginia and
other vessels of heavy draft.

The first service rendered by the soldiery was the tak-

ing forcible possession of the ordnance depot at Fort

Norfolk. Two companies, under the command of Major
AVilliam E. Taylor, were assigned to this duty. Al-

though it was known that there was no garrison at the

fort, but only a gunner in charge and a few men as

caretakers, a certain thrill of excitement stirred the
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breasts of the young citizen soldiers as they marched
to Fort Norfolk and took their first steps in the art of

war. Skirmishers were thrown out at a low, dark spot

on the road, and the major in command admonished
caution as the men moved forward to flush the hidden
foe. This was for the instruction of the young soldiers,

as in reality there was no armed force of the Federals

nearer than the navy-yard, a mile or so away ; and that

was on the defensive and preparing to get away. An-
other company, "The Greys," under the command of

Captain E. C. Taylor, which had preceded by water,

reached the fort first and quietly took possession. A
formal demand for surrender was made upon Gunner
Charles Oliver, United States Navy, in charge, who made
some remonstrance, but who, recognizing the futility

and folly of resistance, yielded up the place. He subse-

quently resigned from the service of the United States

and gave his allegiance to the Confederate cause. The
soldiers proceeded at once, in compliance with their

orders, to remove the ordnance supplies to some place

of safety away from the river-front, where they would
be secure from seizure by the naval force of the enemy.
Plans were being devised for the seizure of the navy-

yard, but not enough troops were yet available to at-

tempt this by force of arms; indeed, with their vessels

of war and the armed force at their disposal, the Fed-

erals there were absolutely safe from attack for weeks.

It came as a surprise, therefore, when on the night of"

April 20th it Avas discovered that the Federals had set

fire to the yard buildings and scuttled the ships in the

stream not in commission, and that their armed fleet

had quietly steamed down the Elizabeth River to Hamp-
ton Roads, conveying to that station all the officers and
men on duty at the yard. The excitement in Norfolk

was intense; as the soldiers hurried along the streets to

their assembly-halls—for they had not yet gone into
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camp—women cried in an excited way from the win-

dows of their homes, to ascertain what was burning
that threw so intense a glare over the Southern heavens
and caused the mad flames to leap to the zenith,

with a fierce roaring and crackling that seemed to

threaten the city and everything around it. In those

days there were large ship-houses at the yard, within

which the wooden vessels of largest class were con-

structed. In the stream was the old seventy-four Penn-

sylvania^ and in one of the ship-houses another of the

same class, the New York, that had never been launched;

the Merrimac, afterward the Confederate ironclad

Virginia, and other ships were made fast to the

wharves. All these were burned or scuttled, and the

next day the navy-yard presented a sad scene of de-

struction and desolation.

While these events were transpiring, Robert E. Lee
of Virginia, colonel of the First Regiment of Cavalry,

United States Army, then at Washington, regarded

them with intensely painful interest and sorrowful

emotions. A soldier by profession, he scorned the wily

tactics of the political agitator and contemplated his

actions with doubt and distrust. He had served in the

army since his youth, and his heart thrilled with devo-

tion to his chosen profession. He had served upon the

staff of General Scott in the war with Mexico, and had
been frequently mentioned for conspicuous gallantry

and efficiency; he was regarded by General Scott as an
officer of most distinguished ability, and was recom-

mended by him for the command of the army in the

field of the United States. He was warmly attached to

the Union, with the formation of which his name was
inseparably connected, by reason of the conspicuous

service of his father and other members of the family,

but he could not even contemplate drawing his sword
against the people of his own State. In the abstract, he
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was no friend of the institution of slavery; he realized

that slavery tended to degrade labor among the white
people, and was not essential to the happiness or the

material prosperity of his own State, where the condi-

tions were very different from those that existed in the

extreme South.

In commenting upon the annual message of President

Pierce to Congress, in a letter dated December 27, 1856,

General Lee wrote as follows

;

I was much pleased with the President's mess:ige.* His views

of the systematic and progressive efforts of certain people at the

North to interfere with and change the domestic institutions of

the South are truthfully and faithfully expressed. The conse-

quences of their plans and purposes are also clearly set foi'th.

These people must be aware that their object is both unlawful

and foreign to them and to their duty, and that this institution,

for which they are irresponsible and non-accountable, can only

be changed by them through the agency of a civil and servile

war. There are few, I believe, in this enlightened age, who
will not acknowledge that slavery as an institution is a moral

and political evil. It is idle to expatiate on its disadvantages.

I think it is a greater evil to the white than to the colored race.

While my feelings are strongly enlisted in behalf of the latter,

my sympathies are more deeply engaged for the former. The
blacks are immeasurably better off here than in Africa, morally,

pliysically, and socially. The painful discipline they are under-

going is necessary for their further instruction as a race, and

will prepare them, I hope, for better things. How long their

servitude may be necessary is known and ordered by a merciful

Providence. Their emancipation will sooner result from the

mild and melting influences of Christianity than from the storm

and tempest of fiery controversy. This influence, though slow,

is sure. The doctrines and miracles of our Saviour have required

nearly two thousand years to convert but a small portion of the

* See extract in Appendix.
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human race, and even among Christian nations what gross errors

still exist! While we see the course of the final abolition of

human slavery is still onward, and give it the aid of our prayers,

let us leave the progress as well as the results in the hands of

Him who sees the end, who chooses to work by slow influences,

and with whom a thousand years are but as a single day. Al-

though the abolitionist must know this, must know that he has

neither the right nor the power of operating, except by moral

means; that to benefit the slave he must not excite angry feel-

ings in the master; that, although he may not approve the mode
by which Providence accomplishes its purpose, the results will

be the same; and that the reason he gives for interference in

matters he has no concern with, holds good for every kind of

interference with our neighbor,—still, I fear he will persevere

in his evil course. . . . Is it not strange that the descen-

dants of those Pilgrim Fathers who crossed the Atlantic to pre-

serve their own freedom have always proved the most intolerant

of the spiritual liberty of others ?

While General Lee is thus seen to have deprecated
the agitation at the North of the question of the forcible

abolition of slavery in the South, he at the same time
regretted as unwise and unnecessary the manifestations
of a purpose to bring about the dissolution of the Union
evidenced by the declarations and action of the leaders

of political thought in the South; he was, in a word, in

perfect accord with the line of conduct pursued by his

native State, and when the issue of war was forced by
Mr. Lincoln, he resigned his commission in the army of

the United States, proceeded at once to Richmond upon
the invitation of the Governor of Virginia, and accepted
the position of Commander of the Provisional Army of

Virginia, tendered him by the governor and State Con-
vention.

It has been said that in reaching this conclusion Gen-
eral Lee had a struggle with himself in refusing the
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very alluring oifer made to him by the Federal authori-

ties of the command of the army to be put in the field

under the President's call for troops; but those who
knew him best understand that there was no struggle

of this kind, although it was a serious trial to him to

separate himself from a service to which he had devoted

the best years of his life and all the ability he possessed.

When it was intimated to him that the President would
offer to him the command of the army that was to be

brought into the field, he declined to entertain the prop-

osition, stating to Mr. Lincoln's representative, candidly

and conscientiously, that though opposed to secession

and deprecating war, he could take no part in an inva-

sion of the Southern States. In his account of this in-

terview, General Lee says:

I went directly from the interview with Mr. Blair to the office

of General Scott, told him of the proposition that had been

made, and my decision. After reflection, upon returning home,

I concluded that I ought no longer to retain any commission I

held in the United States Army, and on the second morning

thereafter I forwarded my resignation to General Scott. At the

time I hoped that peace would have been preserved ; that some

way would be found to save the country from the calamities of

war ; and I then had no other intention than to pass the re-

mainder of my life as a private citizen. Two days afterward, on

the invitation of the Governor of Virginia, I repaired to Eich-

mond, found that the Convention then in session had passed an

ordinance withdrawing the State from the Union, and accepted

the commission of commander of its forces which was tendered

me.

At Richmond the machinery was already in motion

for the creation of an army. The response to the gov-

ernor's call for volunteers to resist the armed invasion

of the State was prompt and general. Companies were
being organized all over the State, except in the extreme
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northwestern or Panhandle district, where, by reason of

the close contact and intimate commercial and social

relations Avith the citizens of Ohio and Pennsylvania, a

majority of the people were less imbued with the Vir-

ginia spirit and were rather sympathetic with the North-

ern side in the impending struggle. There was imme-
diate need at headquarters for a few young men who
had had some military education and experience, to

carry on the details of the army work. General Francis

H. Smith, superintendent of the Virginia Military In-

stitute, and Captain Richard L. Page, of the Navy,
military aids and advisers to the governor, were di-

rected by him to make selections for this service, I

was intimately known to General Smith, and closely

connected by family ties to Captain Page, and so it hap-

pened that, with three or four others, I was designated

for assignment to this duty. I was at that time a lieu-

tenant of Company F of the light infantry, in the

Third Battalion of Volunteers, of the Virginia militia,

which company had offered its services, and had been

enlisted for active service in the field. On May 2d I

was directed by telegraph to proceed at once to Rich-

mond and report to the governor for orders. On my ar-

rival at Richmond I was commissioned first lieutenant

in the Provisional Army of Virginia, and assigned to

duty at General Lee's headquarters.

I had not previously known General Lee. I then saw
him for the first time on the morning of my arrival at

Richmond and before my assignment to duty. I was at

breakfast at the Spotswood Hotel when he entered the

room, and v/as at once attracted and greatly impressed by
his appearance. He was then at the zenith of his physi-

cal beauty. Admirably proportioned, of graceful and
dignified carriage, with strikingly handsome features,

bright and penetrating eyes, his iron-gray hair closely

cut, his face cleanly shaved except a mustache, he
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appeared every inch a soldier and a man born to com-
mand.
At that time Colonel Robert S. Garnett, holding a

commission as adjutant-general of the State forces, the

best informed and most capable man in military detail

that I ever met, was General Lee's right-hand man in

organizing and marshaling the troops that were to con-

stitute the Army of Virginia. My first service was un-

der his immediate supervision, and to him I was greatly

indebted for the experience then gained in all matters

of detail in active military service.

General Lee anticipated a severe struggle. There
were many prominent men on each side of the contro-

versy who contended that the war would be of short

duration ; with them there was a disposition to under-

rate the steadfastness of purpose and the endurance of

the other side; and they pretended to expect a sharp,

short, and decisive contest. The first call of Mr. Lincoln

for volunteers was for three months' service, and the

leaders on both sides contended that the war would not

last ninety days. General Lee took an entirely differ-

ent view of the case. He seemed to realize the magni-
tude of the impending conflict; he gaged correctly the

indomitable will, the untiring energy, the fertile re-

sources, the pride of opinion, that characterized the

people of the North ; and he knew full well that there

would be no holiday affair in a conflict between the two
sections of the United States, each animated by a tradi-

tional devotion to cherished institutions, each boasting

the proud lineage of the Anglo-Saxon, each determined
to win or die, and each confident of success.

He looked upon the vaporific declamations of those

on each side who proposed to wipe their adversaries
from the face of the earth in ninety days as bombastic
and foolish. Notwithstanding his views, so freely ex-

pressed, and his recommendation that the volunteers



VIRGINIA JOINS THE SOUTHERN CONFEDERACY 23

be enlisted for the war, the Virginia troops, as also

most of those of the other Southern States, were enlisted

for twelve months. The civil authorities could not
bring themselves to believe that there could possibly

be any need for an armed force beyond that time.

In the South troops were being sent to Virginia as
fast as organized by the several States, and in the North
a large army was being collected for the defense of

Washington and for the invasion of Virginia. On
April 19th the passage of the Sixth Massachusetts Regi-

ment through the city of Baltimore created a riot. A
delegation from that city visited Washington the next
day and informed the President that Federal troops

would not be allowed to pass through that city without
fighting their way. In view of these facts, it was sug-

gested that troops destined for Washington should go
by rail as far as Perryville, thence by water to Annapo-
lis, and thence by rail to Washington. The people of

Maryland, however, unprepared for war, were soon
overawed; an armed Federal force occupied the city of

Baltimore, and troops were freely moved across the

State and through the city of Baltimore without moles-

tation.

Events now followed one another in rapid succession.

Virginia formally joined the Southern Confederacy;
the seat of government of the new Republic was moved
from Montgomery to Richmond; the organization of

the Army of Virginia was complete ; formal transfer of

the Virginia troops was made to the Confederacy, and
the AVar Department assumed the conduct of military

affairs at Richmond.
General Garnett, relieved of his duties as adjutant-

general of the Virginia forces, was available for other

service, and was sent by General Lee to the northwest-

ern part of the State to take command of the troops

operating in that section. All commissions in the sev-
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eral staff departments of the Provisional Army of Vir-

ginia, of those not attached to troops serving in the

field, were declared void. I held at that time such a
commission as assistant adjutant-general, with the

rank of captain, which ceased to be effective after the

transfer of the Virginia troops to the Confederacy. I

was continued on duty by General Lee, however, who
obtained for me a commission as first lieutenant in

the infantry of the regular army of the Confederate

States, with orders to report to him for duty as aide-

de-camp; this was followed later by an appointment as

captain in the adjutant-general's department of the

Provisional Army of the Confederate States.

The Provisional Army of Virginia having ceased to

exist as an organization by reason of its having been
merged into the Provisional Army of the Confederate

States, the position of General Lee as commander of

the Virginia forces was purely nominal, and his author-

ity and functions as commander-in-chief terminated.

He was appointed one of five generals provided for by
an act of Congress in the Army of the Confederate

States. The headquarters of the Provisional Army of

Virginia were discontinued after two months of active

work; but during that time ties of friendship were
formed that would be as enduring as the everlasting

hills.

I had excellent opportunities at that time to observe

General Lee as a worker, and I can say that I have
never known a man more thorough and painstaking in

all that he undertook. Early at his office, punctual in

meeting all engagements, methodical to an extreme
in his way of despatching business, giving close atten-

tion to details,—but not, as is sometimes the concomi-

tant, if not the result of this trait, neglectful of the

more important matters dependent upon his decision,

—

he seemed to address himself to the accomplishment of
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every task that devolved upon him in a conscientious

and deliberate way, as if he himself was directly ac-

countable to some higher power for the manner in which
he performed his duty. I then discovered, too, that

characteristic of him that always marked his inter-

course and relations with his fellow-men—scrupulous

consideration for the feelings and interests of others;

the more humble the station of one from whom he re-

ceived appeal or request, the more he appeared to desire

to meet the demand, if possible, or, if impracticable, to

make denial in the most considerate way, as if done
with reluctance and regret. His correspondence, nec-

essarily heavy, was constantly a source of worry and
annoyance to him. He did not enjoy writing; indeed, he
wrote with labor, and nothing seemed to tax his amia-
bility so much as the necessity for writing a lengthy
official communication; but he was not satisfied unless

at the close of his office hours every matter requiring

prompt attention had been disposed of. After a day's

work at his office he would enjoy above all things a ride

on horseback. Accompanied by one or two of his mili-

tary household, he would visit some point of interest

around Richmond, making the ride one of duty as well

as pleasure; and no sculptor or artist can ever repro-

duce in marble or bronze the picture of manlj' grace and
beauty that became in those days so familiar to the
people in and around Richmond in the person of General
Lee on his favorite horse. After his return from such
excursions, in the closing hours of the day, he would
take the greatest pleasure in having the little girls of

the neighborhood gather around him, when he would
talk and joke with them in the most loving and familiar
way. I am quite sure that many of Richmond's hand-
some matrons of to-day recall with emotions of pride
and pleasure the occasions when, as happy, careless
girls, they were petted and caressed by the greatest sol-
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dier and the purest man of his day and generation. As
may be inferred from what has already been said, the

life then led by General Lee was one of great simplicity

and without parade or ostentation; neither then nor
later, when in active service with the army, did he care

for display of any kind.



CHAPTER III

GENERAL LEE GOES TO WESTERN VIRGINIA

AT this period President Davis became very anxious

about the condition of affairs in the western por-

tion of Virginia. Our forces, under General Gar-

nett, had been defeated by the Federals under General

McClellan; Colonel Pegram, with about six hundred
troops of Garnett's army, had been compelled to surren-

der ; and the main army,under General Garnett, had been
defeated at Laurel Hill on July 9th, forced to retire, over-

taken and vigorously assailed on July 13th at Carrick's

Ford, where, in rallying his men, the brave Garnett
was killed. General Loring had been assigned to the

command of that army and had fallen back and taken
a defensive position at Valley Mountain. Mr. Davis
wished to send General Lee to that section to restore

confidence to the troops and check the Federal advance.
There was, moreover, a lack of harmony between gen-
erals Floyd and Wise, who were operating separate
commands in the Kanawha district, and it was hoped
that the presence of General Lee would tend to harmo-
nize their differences.

The President held his wish in abeyance until after

the battle of Manassas, and in the latter days of July
General Lee left Richmond for his new field of duty.
He was accompanied by his two aides. Colonel John A.
Washington and myself. The journey was made as
far as Staunton by rail, and from thence the party pro-
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ceeded on horseback to Monterey, in Highland County.
The ride through the country was most enjoyable; that

section abounds in lovely scenery, and the mountain
air was most invigorating and a delightful change from
the heated atmosphere of the crowded city. On arriv-

ing at Monterey the delights of a ride on horseback
were very seriously impaired by the setting in of a

rainy season, and to the same cause is to be attributed

the appalling degree of sickness that then prevailed

among the troops, as also the great difficulty experi-

enced in getting supplies to the front for the army.
Writing from Huntersville on August 4, 1861, General
Lee says

:

I reached here yesterday to visit this portion of the army.

. . . The soldiers everywhere are sick. The measles are prev-

alent throughout the whole army. You know that disease

leaves unpleasant results and attacks the lungs, especially in

camp, where the accommodations for the sick are poor. I trav-

eled from Staunton on horseback. A part of the road I trav-

eled over in the summer of 1840, on my return to St. Louis.

If any one had told me that the next time I traveled that road

would have been my present errand, I should have supposed him

insane. I enjoyed the mountains as I rode along. The views

were magnificent. The valleys so peaceful, the scenery so beau-

tiful! What a glorious world Almighty God has given us!

How thankless and ungrateful we are!

And a few days later he wrote from Valley Moun-
tain:

I have been three days coming from Monterey to Huntersville.

The mountains are beautiful, fertile to the toj^s, covered with

the richest sward of blue grass and white clover. The inclosed

fields wave with a natural growth of timothy. This is a mag-

nificent grazing country, and all it wants is labor to clear the

mountain-sides of timber. It has rained, I believe, some por-

tion of every day since I left Staunton; now it is pouring.
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Colonel Washington, Captain Taylor, and myself are in one tent,

which, as yet, protects us.

There is much of interest and pathos to me in the

recollection of the time when that little military family

of three, with one wagon for our equipage and provi-

sions, and two servants, constituted the headquarters of

the general-in-chief . As I recall the events of my first

campaign, at Valley Mountain, my heart is filled with

emotions in which sadness and thankfulness are

strangely commingled. To my youthful mind there

was much to inspire respect, admiration, and affection

in the contemplation of the character of two such men
as General Lee and Colonel Washington; the advan-

tage to result to a young person of impressionable age

by an intimate association with two such noble spirits

cannot be too highly esteemed. Short though my ac-

quaintance was with Colonel Washington, for he was
among the earliest of the chivalry of Virginia slain on

the field of battle, the incidents of our camp life are in-

delibly impressed upon my mind and make a picture of

sweet and tender memories that delight in the contem-

plation and yet evoke the sigh of regret at the loss of

two such noble men. A spirit of devotion to the Giver

of all good and of love for all His works pervaded that

camp in the mountains that was in striking contrast to

the spirit of passion and hate that animated the men
who had precipitated trouble and arrayed in hostile

ranks the two sections of our country. The daily morn-
ing and evening prayer of my elder associate on the

staff; the Bible that claimed his constant perusal and

that served as a depository in which to press the lovely

wild flowers that he gathered and thus prepared with

loving heart and hands for transmission to his daugh-

ters, of whom he spoke with the tenderest affection and
solicitude; the converse around our camp table, in which.
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there was so much of courtesy and refinement; the def-

erential treatment of these two Virginia gentlemen

each for the other—are all vividly recalled by me after

these many years as the sweetest odor of lovely flow-

ers long since faded and fallen away, but the remem-
brance of whose fragrance is a perennial delight.

General Lee's son (afterward major-general), W. H.

F. Lee, was in command of a battalion of cavalry of

the army, under General Loring, He was ordered by
General Lee to make a reconnoissance on a certain

road, and General Lee allowed Colonel Washington, at

his own request, to accompany the reconnoitering party.

The force had not advanced very far before it rode into

an ambuscade of the enemy; there was a volley of

musketry, and Colonel AVashington was killed. The
next day his body was sent into our lines under a flag

of truce. I was greatly shocked in the contemplation

of my noble companion and friend cold in death ; and
as I looked upon his inanimate form as it lay there on
the side of Valley Mountain, I thought of that other

valley, of the shadow of death, through which he had
just passed, never to return; I thought of those dear

little girls of his and of the utter desolation that had so

suddenly come to their happy home; and I began to

realize something of the horrors of war. And then I

asked myself why it was so,—why were these people, so

lately friends, arrayed in hostile ranks with such deadly
purpose ? And as I reasoned, it seemed to me that one
side was acting clearly on the defensive; its country
was being invaded, its homes and its firesides threat-

ened; all that it asked was to be let alone and to be
permitted to enjoy the fruit of the victory it had won
jointly with the other from England, in the establish-

ment and the maintenance of the principle that all gov-

ernments derived their just powers from the consent of

the governed. But what motive impelled the other
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side ? Was it the lust of power ? Was it the distorted

view of the idealist of his duty to force his theories

upon his neighbor ? Or was it the development into ac-

tion of the implacable hatred that had long slumbered

in the heart of the abolitionist against the so-called

aristocracy" of the South? As these questions forced

themselves upon me, I became embittered; resentment

took possession of my heart, and the man on the other

side became my enemy. A fratricidal war! How sad

it was !

After an unsuccessful attempt to surprise the Federal

forces at Cheat Mountain and on Valley River, the

Confederates reoccupied their fortified position at Val-

ley Mountain. Heavy rains continued, the roads were
in dreadful condition, and it did not appear likely that

there would be any active movement in that section for

some time. About the 18th or 19th of September Gen-

eral Lee left Valley Mountain, and proceeded to the

Kanawha district. With only a young subaltern as

companion, he made the journey on horseback. Pass-

ing through White Sulphur Springs, the journey was
continued to Meadow Bluff, to which point General

Floyd had fallen back with his little army. General

Wise was several miles in advance at Sewell Mountain,

confronting Rosecrans's army, with his Legion, having
refused to obey General Floyd's order to fall back.

We had now reached the fall of the year, and the

nights were already very cold. As before stated, our

camp equipage was exceedingly limited, as were our

supplies of all kinds. One very cold night, as we
drew close to our camp fire. General Lee suggested that

it was advisable to make one bed, put our blankets to-

gether in order to have sufficient covering to make us

comfortable, and so it happened that it was vouchsafed

to me to occupy very close relations with my old com-
mander, and to be able to testify to his self-denial and
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his simplicity of life in those days of trial for all. In-

deed, when one contemplates the evenly rounded char-

acter of General Lee, no trait of his appears to greater

advantage or impresses one more profoundly than his

utter self-abnegation. He always seemed anxious to keep
himself in the background, to suppress all consideration

of himself, to prevent any notice of himself. A more
modest man did not live. He was painfully embarrassed

by the slightest evidence of admiration, and absolutely

opposed to any plan or proposition looking to the en-

hancement of his comfort or to doing honor to himself.

Whenever he received intimation of any such purpose,

he would endeavor to prevent such action, and never

failed to advance the suggestion that inasmuch as the

men in the ranks of the army were upon scant rations

and deprived of many comforts, it devolved upon all to

do what was possible for them, adding that it would
bring no happiness or enjoyment to him to have more
than was absolutely necessary for his own comfort and
efficiency, when he realized the trials and deprivations

to which his soldiers were subjected. He preferred to

share discomfort with his men. Actuated by this de-

sire, he would never consent, until toward the close of

the war, to occupy a house or establish his headquarters

about a homestead; but when on the march, would send

one of his staff ahead to select a good spot for a small

camp, and few would recognize in this modest array of

tents and equipage the headquarters of the army.

I have already alluded to his great regard and respect

for the feelings and interests of others ; those wno came
in contact with him could not fail to discover that he

acted under strong conviction of duty and in hearty sym-
pathy with all who were engaged in the same cause

with himself. Such a combination tended in a marked
degree to qualify him for the role of peacemaker, an
umpire in differences, quite aside from the authority
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that he exercised as a commander. As an illustration

of this, I would cite his consummate tact in rescuing

our little army in southwestern Virginia from a most
embarrassing condition, that had its origin in the diver-

gent views and strong personal antagonism that existed

between generals Floyd and Wise, who were, as has
been stated, operating with separate commands. Al-

though General Floyd was senior in rank to General
Wise, he failed to secure his subordination or even his

cooperation in matters wherein there was a difference

of opinion between them. At Sewell Mountain a coun-

cil of war was held, at which it was determined to make
a, stand and give battle in the position then occupied.

At the time both concurred in this line of action ; but

from some cause that developed soon thereafter, Gen-
eral Floyd decided to fall back and ordered General
Wise to do the same with his troops. The messenger
who bore this order to General Wise, it was said, car-

ried back the message: " Tell General Floyd I will 'do

no such thing; I propose to stay here and fight until

doomsday," or Avords to that effect. I cannot vouch
for the literal accuracy of this defiant and insubordinate

declaration of a most heroic purpose ; but it was told to

me as I have related, and was generally believed in the

army.
I recall another incident of the gallant stand then

made by Wise's command, which, although when
viewed in one way it appears very absurd, will no
doubt strike all old soldiers as illustrating the posses-

sion by the general of what is called good horse-sense.

The enemy had driven in the skirmishers and were ad-

vancing in force upon the main line held by our men.
The firing of small arms was heavy along the line, and
matters began to look serious, for we had an insignifi-

cant force, when General Wise rode up to a young lieu-

tenant, who commanded a section of artillery, and or-
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dered him to open fire with his guns. A dense forest

prevented the lieutenant from seeing any of the enemy,
and he stated as much to General Wise, adding that if

he opened fire he would "do no execution." The inces-

sant fusillade of rifles and the whistling of minnies

seemed to emphasize the wisdom of the general's reply,
" D—n the execution, sir, it's the noise that we want."

Any veteran of the infantry who has crossed the open
field, or struggled through thickets and undergrowth,

when advancing in line of battle, or who has lain be-

hind intrenchments expecting an assault, will recog-

nize at once the force of General Wise's suggestion, and
recall the satisfaction and support he has derived under
such' circumstances from the noise of the heavy guns
just in his rear.

Of course the presence of General Lee reconciled for

a time the discordant elements of that army. He prompt-

ly advanced General Floyd's command to the position

held by General Wise, and so united the army; but to

secure discipline and render the force effective, it was
necessary to have the two commands combined under
one commander; and the President, acting upon General

Lee's suggestion, sent to General Wise an order reliev-

ing him from duty in that department, which, however,

contained no reflection upon him. It was only by the

tact and good management of General Lee that General

Wise was induced to comply with the President's com-
mand; and I remember that he told General Lee that he
wished him to understand that he left the field and re-

paired to Richmond in deference to Ms judgment and
counsel, rather than in compliance with the orders from
the department. He was a grand old man, heroic in his

courage and of inflexible will, knowing little of subor-

dination, but ever ready to fight and steadfast to the

last.
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GENERAL LEE GOES TO THE DEPARTMENT OP THE SOUTH

AFTER the campaign in western Virginia, General
Lee returned to Richmond, where he remained but
a short time, however, and on the 6th of Novem-

ber, 1861, proceeded to the Department of the South
Atlantic, for the purpose of designing and supervising

the construction of a line of defense along the coasts of

South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida. For this work
he was admirably fitted and equipped, having had great
experience in the engineer corps of the army, and hav-
ing gained for himself great distinction during the war
with Mexico, under General Scott, where he served in

that branch of the service. His experienced eye at once
detected the weak as well as the strong points of this

extended coast-line, and under his direction a system of

defensive works was constructed that constituted a
monument to his skill as an engineer.

There was a marked contrast between the character
of the service and the condition of the troops in eastern
Virginia, South Carolina, and Georgia, and that of those

left behind us in western Virginia. The men who
served in western Virginia were subjected to unusual
trials and deprivations. The season was a most unfavor-
able one; it rained almost without intermission during
the time of our stay in that department, sickness pre-

vailed in the army to an alarming extent, rations were
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short, clothing insufficient, and, altogether, great dis-

comfort characterized that campaign; whereas, when I

visited Norfolk I found a soldiery well dressed, well fed,

and abundantly supplied in all respects, the fortifica-

tions were strong and elaborate, the camps were in ex-

cellent condition, and guard duty and company and
battalion drill seemed to constitute the only demands
made upon the time and patriotism of the men.

I well recall the impression made upon me by the sight

of a number of volunteers passing through the streets

of the city in handsome uniforms, with nicely starched

collars and cuffs, in all respects appearing as if "on pa-

rade " in time of peace ; and it looked to me as if the

soldiers there were enjoying a holiday, so striking was
the contrast between these men and the poor ill-fed,

shivering fellows I had served with in western Virginia.

The day of trial, however, came also to these, later on

in the progress of the war; and they proved in every

respect equal to the strain, for whether on the march,

in the bivouac, or in the advancing line of battle, none
manifested greater powers of endurance, nor gave more
convincing proof of daring courage and unquenchable

spirit than the pet volunteer companies of the cities,

carrying upon their rolls the very flower of the Southern

youth, that were first in the field in response to the call

of their States, and of which was composed in great part

the force that occupied Norfolk and its vicinity.

A similar state of affairs existed in the Southern De-

partment of South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida, but

there the contrast was even more noticeable in the

climate and the generally favorable conditions of the

service. Autumn was now well advanced, but instead

of the muddy roads, the barren rocky hills, and the cold

winds that swept down from the mountain-sides in

western Virginia, causing the men to huddle about the

fires in their bleak and comfortless camps, we had ex-
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cellent quarters, a genial climate, the greatest profusion

of lovely flowers, roses of many varieties, and camellias

blooming in the open air and gently swayed by softest

Southern breezes, all nature decked in holiday attire,

and the bright uniforms and glittering arms of the sol-

diers only adding to the beauty of the scene.

Our stay in that department was as a peaceful rest

after a period of constant trial and of great hardship; it

was not, however, Avithout its quota of exciting inci-

dents. It was then that occurred the unequal but gal-

lant contest in Port Royal Sound between the Confeder-

ate mosquito fleet, under the command of Commodore
Tatnall, and the formidable Federal squadron, under
Admiral Du Pont. It is difficult to exaggerate the great

advantage to the ISTorthern side in the war between the

States in having absolute control of the water. Not
only had the Federals a navy of fair proportions, judged
by the standards of that period, but they also had facili-

ties for constructing formidable vessels of war of the

largest size. The Confederates had not a single man-
of-war, nor was there a yard in the South that had the

facilities for building ships. The hull of the old Merri-

mac, partially destroyed by order of Commodore Paul-

ding when the Federals left the Norfolk navy-yard, fur-

nished to the Confederates their single opportunity in

the East of constructing a floating engine of war worthy
of the name ; and the decisive victory of the ironclad

Virginia over the Federal fleet in Hampton Roads
marked an epoch in naval warfare, and demonstrated
what the Confederate naval officers were capable of ac-

complishing when the opportunity was given them of a
test of strength with their adversaries.

The Confederate naval force, under Commodore Tat-

nall, consisted of the side-wheelsteamer Savannah, carry-

ing his flag, the paddle gun- vessel Resolute, and the

small steamers Sampson and Lady Davis. An eye-wit-
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ness, writing under date of November 13, 1861, described

this fleet as " one frail river steam-boat the Savannah^
with two or three tugs improvised into men-of-war," The
United States squadron, under Admiral Du Pont, em-
braced the frigates Wabash and Susquehanna, the sloops

Mohican, Seminole, and Patvnee, the sailing sloop Van-

dalia, and eight gunboats.

The main purpose of the Federals was to capture or

silence the land batteries at the entrance to Port Royal
Sound. On the morning of TSTovember 4th Commodore
Tatnall observed several of the enemy's vessels engaged
in taking soundings near the bar, at the entrance to the

harbor, and he proceeded at once to give them battle.

The little cockle-shells steamed to within a mile and a

half of the most advanced vessels of the formidable

Federal fleet and opened fire upon them; the firing was
kept up for nearly an hour, when the little fleet retired

within the harbor. The next day the enemy was again

engaged, and for over an hour the gallant Tatnall defied

his powerful antagonists, with but little damage to his

fleet. Two days later the Federal squadron forced the

issue and steamed into the harbor, their whole attention

being given to the batteries at Fort Walker and Fort

Beauregard on either side of the entrance. Commodore
Tatnall then advanced to within range and opened fire

upon the leading frigate of the Federal squadron; of

course this contest Avas of short duration, and when the

formidable men-of-war took serious notice of the Con-
federate punts, these latter, to avoid being blown out of

the water, made good their retreat to the shoal creeks,

beyond reach of the Federal ships.

Brigadier-General T. F. Drayton, in his report of the

engagement on November 7th between the Federal fleet,

numbering fifteen war steamers and gunboats, and
forts Walker and Beauregard, at the entrance of Port

.Royal Sound, says:
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To Commodore Tatnall, flag-officer, Confederate States Navy,

and the officers and men of his little fleet, I cannot too highly

express my admiration of their intrepidity and hardihood in

attacking the enemy's gnnboats on the 4th and 5th instant.

These encounters, by interrupting their soundings and the loca-

tion of their buoys, no doubt prevented our being attacked on.

Tuesday, the 5th instant, before our reinforcements reached us.

I must also acknowledge the assistance extended to us by the

gallant commodore, with his boats, on the night of our retreat

from the island.

In these operations Captain Richard L. Page, Confed-

erate States Navy, was a most efficient second in com-

mand to Commodore Tatnall. In a report of the

engagement published in the Savannah Republican
November 12, 1861, he is thus spoken of:

Early in the evening of this day (5th) we were all much
gratified by the arrival of Captain Page, Confederate States

Navy, of Virginia, the second in command to flag-officer Tat-

nall. This accomplished officer, whose reputation in the old

service, to which he had long been a bright ornament, is well

known, was a most valuable addition to our force, and, as events

proved, to the army also, which is somewhat indebted to his per-

sonal exertions for the satisfactory retreat made by it.

Captain Page was afterward transferred to the army
and commissioned brigadier-general ; he won imperish-

able renown, later in the war, by his heroic defense of

Fort Morgan, in Mobile Bay, against the attack of the

powerful Federal fleet, under Admiral Farragut. He
was cousin to General Robert E. Lee; was strikingly

like him in person, and cherished the same lofty ideals

of man's duty to his God and to his fellow-man.

In the fight at Port Royal Sound there was a striking

illustration of the unnatural character of the war then
being waged. General Thos. F. Drayton, Confederate
States Army, was in command of the Confederate land
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forces that defended forts "Walker and Beauregard;

and his brother, Commander Percival Drayton, United
States Navy, was in command of the Federal steamer

PocoJiontas that took part in the attack upon these

forts. Brother against brother!

General Lee and his staff were present in Charleston

at the time of the great fire that nearly destroyed that

beautiful' city on December 11, 1861. While crossing

the Ashley River in an open row-boat, as we approached
the city we observed the light of the fire, but did not

attach much importance to it ; we proceeded to the ho-

tel known as the Mills House and repaired to the dining-

room. While seated at the table partaking of our meal
in a leisurely way, we became aware of great excite-

ment prevailing outside, manifested by the rapid rush

of people and the noise of passing engines and vehicles.

When we left the room and went to the front of the

house, we were amazed at the rapid progress of the fire

and realized that a great calamity had befallen that

proud and beautiful city. To obtain a better view of

the conflagration, General Lee, with his staff, repaired

to the roof of the hotel, from which point we had an
unobstructed view of the grand and awfully sublime

spectacle of a city in flames. The progress of the fire

had been exceedingly rapid, and all around us appeared

a roaring, seething sea of fire. Men, women, and chil-

dren rushed frantically about the streets, for the most
part apparently dazed and without aim or purpose, ex-

cept to save themselves, while others struggled along
under a load of household effects, seeking to place the

same in some position of safety. And now the fire had
reached the opposite side of the street from us, and the

flames from the burning buildings almost lapped our
position ; the heat had become intolerable, and we hast-

ened to descend to the lower floor of the hotel. There we
found everything in confusion. Soldiers and firemen
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were trying to save the building by putting blankets
thoroughly saturated with water around the casings of

the windows and wherever any wood was exposed. The
inmates of the house hastily gathered together such of

their effects as could be removed, and left ; our party
proceeded to the private residence of Mr. Charles Alston,
on the Battery, out of the line of danger and kindly
offered for General Lee's use.

The hotel was saved after great exertion on the part

of the firemen and soldiers. The next morning revealed
a scene of desolation rarely witnessed: hundreds of

buildings, among them some of the most imposing in

the city, were smoldering in ruins, and thousands of

people were without shelter or the means of providing
for their wants; stores, dwellings, churches, and public
buildings had been destroyed, and after having cut a
wide swath through the city, from the Cooper to the
Ashley River, the flames finally died away for lack of

material upon which to feed.
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GENERAL LEE RETURNS TO VIRGINIA

IN March, 1862, General Lee returned to Richmond,
and was assigned on the 13th, under the direction

of the President, to the command of all the armies

of the Confederacy. This position was created by spe-

cial act of Congress, and under its provisions General

Lee was allowed a personal staff of a military secre-

tary, with the rank of colonel, and four aides-de-camp,

with the rank of major. Of the staff that General Lee
had in the Southern Department, none accompanied
him to Richmond except myself. Colonel A. L. Long,

who had been his chief of artillery in that department,

was offered the position of military secretary and ac-

cepted it. The general very kindly offered me the

choice between remaining in the adjutant-general's

department of the service or an appointment as major
and aide-de-camp under the new law. I told him my
only choice was to serve where he might assign me;
but upon being pressed by him to declare my personal

preference, I told him I would rather be an aide. My
principal reason for this choice was that I would be

spared much confinement about headquarters and the

annoyance and trouble of attending to papers and rou-

tine work, and be more on the field. One of the posi-

tions of major and aide-de-camp was therefore given

to me ; and the three others appointed were Major T.

M. R. Talcott, Major Charles Marshall, and Major
Charles S. Venable.
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Very little was known and very little has since

been made public of the character of the service then
rendered by General Lee. The duties that devolved

upon the President of the Confederate States were
exceedingly onerous. Called upon to exercise the

functions of the chief magistracy of a government
created as it were in a day, and involving the welfare

of ten millions of people and the destiny of eleven

States, constituting a Republic of imposing size and
character, it was beyond the limit of human power for

him to direct the affairs of state in all the civil depart-

ments, and at the same time to give proper attention to

the demands made upon him as commander-in-chief of

the Confederate forces, under the provisions of the Con-
stitution. The recognition of the necessity for relief in

this direction led to the passing of the act of Congress
before alluded to, creating the position of military ad-

viser to the President. From the very nature of the

case, however, the position was not one calculated to

bring renown or special honor to him who occupied it.

In all cases where there is dual authority, absolute

accord in purpose and in the employment of means and
agencies for carrying out that purpose, congeniality of

temperament, and deference for the views of another,

are essential to a smooth working of the machinery;
and wherever this accord is lacking, and especially if

there is any difference in rank or station, either friction

and confusion are likely to result, or else one suppresses

his own opinions, defers to those of the other and prac-

tically becomes his mouthpiece. We have seen some-
thing of this in the occasional conflict between the Sec-

retary of War and the general in command of the army
of the United States. Nevertheless, the services of

General Lee as military adviser to the President and
as commanding general of all the armies in the field

were most valuable. Unfortunately, the record of that
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service was destroyed ; but I have one rough draft of a

letter from General Lee to General Jackson, dated

April 29, 1862, which will show something of the char-

acter of the service then rendered. General Jackson

had written to General Lee requesting that five thousand

men be detached from the army in front of Richmond

and sent to him, that he might overthrow the armies of

generals Milroy and Banks that were opposing him in

the Valley of Virginia. The answer to this letter was

written by me in accordance with instructions received

from General Lee; but he wished to alter the phrase-

ology in one or two places, and interlined it in his own
handwriting, so I prepared a fresh, clear copy for his

signature, which was sent to General Jackson. It

reads as follows

:

Headquarteks, Richmond, Va.,

April 29, 1862.

Major-general T. J. Jackson,

Commanding, etc., Swift Run Gap, Va.

Oeneral:

I have had the honor to receive your letter of yesterday's date.

Prom the reports that reach me that are entitled to credit, the

force of the enemy opposite Fredericksburg is represented as too

large to admit of any diminution whatever of our army in that

vicinity at present, as it might not only invite an attack on

Eichmond, but jeopard the safety of the army in the Peninsula.

I regret, therefore, that your request to have five thousand men

sent from that army to reinforce you cannot be compKed with.

Can you draw enough from the command of General Edward

Johnson to warrant you in attacking Banks ? The last return

received from that army shows a present force of upward of

thirty-five hundred, which, it is hoped, has been since increased

by recruits and returned furloughs. He does not appear to be

pressed; it is suggested that a portion of his force might be

temporarily removed from its present position and made avail-
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able for the movement in question. A decisive and successful

blow at Banks's column would be fraught with the happiest re-

sults, and I deeply regret my inability to send you the reinforce-

ments you ask. If, however, you think the combined forces of

General Edward Johnson, with your own, inadequate for the

move, General Ewell might, with the assistance of General An-

derson's army, near Fredericksburg, strike at ^McDowell's army, be-

tween that city and Acquia, with much promise of success; pro-

vided you feel sufficiently strong alone to hold Banks in check.

A^ery truly yours,

E. E. Lee.

It will be well understood by those who knew General

Jackson that such a suggestion as that here made by
General Lee came to him as an inspiration and a com-

mand. Without detracting in the least from the credit

due to General Jackson, it may be claimed that he took

the suggestion of General Lee into immediate consid-

eration, and proceeded to carry it into effect.

Within ten days after the date of General Lee's letter,

that is, on May 8th, General Jackson formed a junction

between his command and that of General Edward
Johnson, attacked General Milroy at McDowell, and
defeated him; and on May 2oth, having united his

command and that of General Ewell, by authority of

General Lee, he attacked and defeated General Banks.

Occasionally we hear mention in some quarter of a
comparison of the relative merit, as soldiers, of gener-

als Lee and Jackson. I always discourage such com-
parison, preferring to think of each as peerless of his

kind. Each excelled in his own sphere of action : for

quickness of perception, boldness in planning, and skill

in directing, General Lee had no superior; for celerity

in his movements, audacity in the execution of bold de-

signs, and impetuosity in attacking, General Jackson

had not his peer.
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As another has expressed it, "If Lee was the Jove of

the war, Stonewall Jackson was his thunderbolt. For
the execution of the hazardous plans of Lee, just such

a lieutenant was indispensable."

During this period of service of General Lee, the ad-

mirable line of earthworks for the defense of the city of

Richmond was constructed in accordance with his de-

signs; and every preparation was made to resist the

army under General McClellan that was then advancing
upon the Confederate capital by way of the Peninsula.

At this time I was thrown very much with President

Davis, and not only learned to admire him greatly, but

also to entertain for him a warm personal affection. Of
all the prominent men in civil life from the South with
whose names and service I was familiar, he came nearer

than any to the ideal that I had set up as a standard for

those leaders of the people. His knowledge of constitu-

tional law and familiarity with the principles of repre-

sentative government are generally acknowledged to

have been unexcelled by any of his contemporaries ; his

capacity for work was extraordinary for one of his phy-

sique; his quick perception and the readiness with which
he dealt with difficult situations were in constant de-

mand in overcoming the friction incidental to the estab-

lishment of a new government; and his personal manner
was cordial and attractive. In my intercourse with him
he would often lead the conversation into channels of

especial interest to a young man, and I was naturally

drawn toward one who, though of high station, came
down to a lower plane, invited my confidence and man-
ifested an interest in my affairs. It was said of Mr.

Davis that he was always true to his friends, and that

through good report and ill report he stood by them.

As was almost inevitable, it sometimes happened that

his appointments to office were not of the happiest kind;

and his reluctance to see the inefficiency of a friend no



PRESIDENT JEFFERSON DAVIS 47

doubt caused a certain amount of criticism by those who
demanded a sacrifice of all such private considerations

where the good of the service was involved. Then, again,

it may be claimed that he was too much influenced by
political pressure and a desire to placate party leaders,

whose chief aim was to strengthen themselves at home

;

but after this is said, he was still, in my judgment, by
far the best qualified man of his time available for the

onerous duties that devolved upon the chief executive

of the new Confederacy.

In the year 1878 I received a letter from Mr. Davis,

dated January 31st, in which he requested certain in-

formation concerning the operations at Cheat Mountain,
in the western part of Virginia, in the fall of 1861, from
which I make the following extract

:

General Lee gave me orall}^ a full account of the movement to

surprise the enemy in the valley; but time and intervening cir-

cumstances do not allow me confidently to rely upon my
memory. Were you with General Lee when with a portion of

his command he made a night ascent of one of the peaks, and

under cover of the fog reconnoitered the camp of the enemy ?

Can you tell me what troops were with him, and why he was not

seconded in his proposition to make the attack, notwithstanding

the failure of the signal agreed upon for the Joint attack by the

three divisions of his force ? General Lee was severely and un-

justly criticized for that campaign, and you may recollect that

the blame was thrown jointly upon him and myself; but he

magnanimously declined to make an official report which would

have exonerated himself by throwing the responsibility of the

failure upon others. His oral report to me was confidential, and

I, therefore, wish to obtain facts otherwise. In the Neio Yorh

Evening Post of the 24th of January I find a review of your

"Four Years with General Lee," in which the reviewer assumes

that some remarks of yours are suggestive of the blunders by me
which prevented General Lee from executing his own wise pur-
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poses, and that you have from a cleHcate consideration forborne

plainly to expose those blunders on my part. I have not yet

read your book, and hope the reviewer has made a mistake in en-

rolling you in the large army of my assailants, which, since the

war, has been liberally reinforced from the South.

The passage in
'

' Four Years with General Lee " here

referred to reads as follows

:

It is a very simple matter to trace through the dates here

given the steady progress toward the inevitable doom which,

sooner or later, awaited the Confederates in their inflexible pur-

pose to hold the city of Eichmond. General Lee was opposed to

that policy which designated certain points as indispensable to

be held, except so far and so long as they possessed strategic value

to the armies operating in the field. He maintained that the de-

termination to retain possession of such under all circumstances

and at any cost caused a fallacious value to attach to success

in such endeavor, and, in event of failure, entailed a moral loss

on us and assured an elation to the enemy altogether dispropor-

tionate to the material benefit to be derived from continued pos-

session; not that he would not have made an earnest effort to

save such points as Yicksburg and Richmond from falling into

the hands of the enemy, but when it came to a siege, to settle

down behind intrenchments and permit the gradual and complete

circumvallation of the place besieged, by an adversary with un-

limited resources of men and material, he preferred to move out,

to maneuver, to concentrate, and to fight.

His policy at Petersburg would have been to unite the greater

portion of his army, before it wasted away from incessant battle

and from desertion, with that under General Johnston, and to

fall upon General Sherman with the hope of destroying him, and

then, with the united armies, to return to confront General

Grant. Having the interior line, he could move to accomplish

such purpose much more quickly than his adversary could to

thwart it. Such a policy involved the giving up of Eichmond,

it is true; but that which was pursued involved the same thing
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with a certainty more absolute, and left Sherman to overwhelm

Johnston and at the same time to destroy the granaries of the

Confederacy, from which Lee's army was supplied. In my
opinion, as a general rule, the administration was in perfect ac-

cord with General Lee in all his designs, and gave a hearty co-

operation in all his movements ; but I think the exception was

furnished in the persistent effort to hold Eichmond and Peters-

burg, after it became evident that it could be but a question of

time, and would probably involve the complete exhaustion of

the principal army of the Confederacy.

This was a plain statement of fact without denuncia-

tory comment, and could not be considered an attack on
Mr. Davis. In my reply to his letter I said that I could

not be responsible for inferences drawn from what I

had written by the critics who wrote for the newspa-
pers ; and that I preferred not to make any reply to the

intimation or suggestion in his letter until he had read

what I had said. As we exchanged letters after that,

and as he freely quoted from my book in his " Rise and
Fall of the Confederacy,'' I indulged the hope that he
was satisfied that I was still his warm admirer and
friend, and that my name was not to be enrolled among
his traducers.



CHAPTER VI

OPERATIONS ON THE PENINSULA, 1862

THE Confederate forces occupying the Peninsula be-

tween James and York rivers, at that time were
under the command of General J. B. Magruder,

A line of defense had been established from Yorktown
across the Peninsula to the Warw^ick and James rivers.

General Magruder had under his command about eleven

thousand men. General McClellan, then in command of

the Federal Army of the Potomac, had abandoned the old

route by way of Manassas and transferred his army to

the Peninsula with the purpose of advancing upon Rich-

mond by that route, with his base of supplies on York
River. He advanced his army up the Peninsula from
Fortress Monroe, and on the 4th of April appeared in

front of the line occupied by the Confederates. This

line of defense was a very strong one, but General Ma-
gruder, who knew of McClellan's change of base, when
he realized the presence of the enemy in such over-

whelming numbers, called lustily for reinforcements.

The defense put up by General Magruder before he
was reinforced was one of the most heroic of the war.

In his report of this siege he says

:

From the 4th of April till the 3d of May this army served

almost without relief in the trenches. Many companies of ar-

tillery were never relieved during this long period. It rained

almost incessantly; the trenches were filled with water. No
fires could be allowed. The artillery and infantry of the enemy
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played upon our men almost continuously, day and night. The
army had neither coffee, sugar, nor hard bread, but subsisted

on flour and salt meats, and these in reduced quantities, and

yet no murmurs were heard. The best drilled regulars the

world has ever seen would have mutinied under a continuous

service of twenty-nine days in the trenches, exposed every mo-

ment to musketry and shells, in water to their knees, without

fire, sugar, or coffee, without stimulants, and with an inade-

quate supply of cooked flour and salt meats, I speak this in

honor of those brave men whose patriotism made them indiffer-

ent to suffering, to disease, to danger, and to death.

And General Magruder knew of what he spoke; he
had seen real service in the army of the United States,

and was fully qualified to speak of the powers and the

spirit of the men of the regular army. He was a typi-

cal soldier, the most picturesque that I ever saw. It

was a real treat to see General Magruder in full mili-

tary costume. Of commanding presence, very florid

complexion, military whiskers, and much color in his

uniform, his was a most impressive and attractive fig-

ure, a typical West Point soldier; and then there was
in his manner and deportment a great fascination for

those about him. Tradition links many interesting

incidents with his name. I recall one or two worthy
of mention. Some years before the war he was sta-

tioned at some post on the Canadian border, opposite

or near to which was an English post. The oflficers of

the two commands exchanged civilities. The English

entertained the Americans at dinner, at which the dis-

play of silver was unusual, Magruder was the caterer

of the mess when the time came for the Americans to

give a return of civilities. Invitations were formally

issued, and Magruder went to work to eclipse the Eng-
lishmen. It is said that the display of plate excelled

anything ever seen under similar circumstances. The
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menu was a study in the art of the cuisine and the in-

tricacies of the French language; the entrees and the

wine were simply appalling in their profusion; and
Magruder's reputation as a caterer was established.

In the conversation between him and his English

neighbor at table, he was asked what the annual pay
was of an officer of his grade. He replied, with his

lisp, " Weally, I don't know; we turn our pay over to

our thervants." Of course the silver was hired, but,

nevertheless, the mess was bankrupt, and it required a

long time to recover its normal financial condition.

Another incident occurred at Yorktown. General

Magruder took his meals in the house of a citizen,

whose family very kindly looked after his comfort;

and, no doubt, his bill of fare was a little better than

that he described as his soldiers' in the report just now
quoted. At any rate, it may be relied upon that he made
the best of what he had, and his fine manners never

forsook him. One day he had a visit from an officer of

high rank, and he wished to do the best thing possible

in the matter of entertaining him. He ordered dinner

to be prepared at a certain hour, and directed that

everything be served in first-class style. There was
much excitement around the kitchen, and that attracted

the attention of one of those old fellows whose home
was in the trenches, and who longed for a change of

diet and was foraging around for something in that

line. The odor from the cooking viands took pos-

session of his senses entirely. He was an earnest ob-

server of every movement of the servants, and when
he saw that dinner was ready, he quietly moved into

the dining-room and secured his seat. In a moment
the folding-doors were thrown open, and General Ma-
gruder appeared, accompanied by his honored guest
and followed by his numerous staff. The unabashed
veteran in search of a change of diet held his ground
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quietly and firmly, but Magruder was paralyzed. What
did it mean, this uninvited guest who had not on a
wedding-garment ? He halted. Turning sternly to

the veteran, he asked, " Who are you, thir?" The sol-

dier promptly gave his name and command. "Well,
thir, what are you doing here, thir ? " The soldier re-

plied that it was his purpose to get something to eat.

"Well, thir, and do you know Avith whom you propose
to dine?" Promptly came the reply, " Xo, and I don't

care a d—n either. I used to be particular in such mat-
ters before the war, but it don't make a d—d bit of dif-

ference now.'' Magruder was thunderstruck. Lost in

admiration, and extending both arms toward the vet-

eran, he exclaimed with his inimitable lisp, "Your
impudenth ith thublime, thir; keep your tlieat, thir,"

and the dinner proceeded.

As soon as the purpose of the Federal commander to

advance by way of the Peninsula was fully disclosed,

General Johnston, then in command of the Army of

Northern Virginia, was directed to move all his avail-

able troops to the support of General Magruder, and to

proceed thither himself and take command of the forces

thus united. His military department was extended to

include the city of Norfolk, and all the troops stationed

there were placed under his command. Soon after Gen-
eral McClellan arrived in front of the lines occupied by
General Magruder he made one ineffectual attempt to

carry them by storm ; failing in this, he settled down
for a regular siege.

General Johnston assumed command on the 17th of

April. General McClellan continued the work of prep-

aration for the bombardment of the Confederate posi-

tion for several weeks. On the night of May 3d, in

anticipation of an attack from the heavy guns of the

enemy, General Johnston evacuated his lines and began
his retreat up the Peninsula. The rear-guard of his
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army was vigorously assailed at Williamsburg, but such
was the character of the resistance made that the ardor

of the pursuing army was checked, and he was permitted

to continue his retreat, without further molestation,

toward Richmond. Meanwhile he had directed the

evacuation of Norfolk, and ordered General Huger, with

the troops under his command thus relieved, to join him
in front of Richmond.
General McClellan continued his advance and was

soon at the Chickahominy River. In the latter part of

May he moved two of his army corps to the south side

of the river to a point known as Seven Pines. On May
31st General Johnston determined to attack this force,

hoping to overwhelm it before it could be reinforced

from the other side of the river. In the battle that fol-

lowed General Johnston was wounded and disabled.

General G. W. Smith was the next to him in rank, and
temporarily assumed command of the army. The enemy
during the night reinforced the corps on the south side,

and there was no serious fighting on the next day.

On June 1st General Lee assumed personal command
of the army in the following order:

Special Okdeks, Headquaeters, Eichmond, Va.,

No. 22. June 1, 1862.

In pursuance of the orders of the President, General E. E.

Lee assumes command of the armies of eastern Virginia and

North Carolina. The unfortunate casualty that has deprived

the army in front of Eichmond of the valuable services of its able

general is not more deeply deplored by any member of the com-

mand than by its present commander. He hopes his absence

will be but temporary, and while he will endeavor to the best of

his ability to perform his duties, he feels he will be totally inad-

equate to the task unless he shall receive the cordial support of

every officer and man.

By order of General Lee.

W. H. Taylor, A. A. G.



CHAPTER VII

THE GENERAL STAFF

OF General Johnston's staff, Colonel Thomas Jordan,

his adjutant-general, and his aides accompanied
him in his retirement. Captain A. P. Mason,

assistant adjutant-general, remained at army head-

quarters. Colonel R. H. Chilton of the regular army
was assigned to duty with General Lee about the mid-
dle of June. The personal staff of General Lee em-
braced then the following officers : Colonel R. H. Chilton,

assistant adjutant-general; Colonel A. L. Long, mili-

tary secretary; majors Walter H, Taylor, T. M. R.

Talcott, Charles Marshall, and Charles S. Venable,

aides-de-camp; and Captain A. P. Mason, assistant

adjutant-general.

To one not experienced in such matters, no just con-

ception can be formed of the voluminous character of

official papers that find their way to army headquarters
whenever a halt is called in active operations and an op-

portunity is offered the men to present in writing their

petitions and grievances. Sometimes it would seem as

if every man in the army had some matter to submit for

the consideration of the commanding general. Some of

these cases were unimportant, some were of more im-

portance as affecting the discipline and efficiency of the

army, and some were of a serious character, requiring

both skill and tact in the proper disposition to be made
of them. The general in command of an army in the
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field has his mind so occupied in the- consideration of

matters of greater importance than these as to be un-

able to consider them all, or to give to them any consid-

erable portion of his time and attention. The theory is

that he is served by an officer who speaks by his author-

ity and in his name, who is supposed to be so well in-

formed as to his chief's views and purposes, and so

familiar with army regulations, as to be able to lay

down definite principles and lines of action for guidance

in determining all matters of army detail that would
meet his approval, and to make all decisions of the ques-

tions presented to conform to these established princi-

ples. In times of peace, with a limited command, no
doubt every such communication could be made to re-

ceive the personal attention of the officer in command;
but not so with a large army in the presence of the

enemy. General Lee could not bear to be annoyed with

the consideration of these matters of routine. When
the staff was first organized a large batch of these

papers was submitted to him every morning, and it was
his habit to have the members of his staff arranged

around him in a semicircle, and as each paper was sub-

mitted to him he would pass it to one of the staff, in

regular order, with instructions as to how it should be

disposed of. This went on for a short time, and then he

called me to him and said that he would have to put me
back in the office. I knew what he meant, and I acted

accordingly. He wished relief from such annoyances
;

he had real work to do and wished to be rid of these

matters of detail. It was truly a knotty and difficult

case that reached him after that, unless it involved an
officer of very high rank. I had charge of the adjutant-

general's department from that time to the end at Appo-

mattox. Colonel Chilton had charge of the inspector-

general's department until December, 1863, when he was
made brigadier-general and assigned to duty in the office
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of the adjutant-general of the army at Richmond.
Colonel Long was made brigadier-general of artillery

and assigned as chief of that service with the second
corps in September, 1863. Major Talcott was transferred

to the ^engineers in the summer of 1863, and Captain
Mason rejoined General Johnston when he recovered
from his wound and resumed active duty. This left the

general with one adjutant-general and two aides, and
thereafter that constituted his personal staff to the end
of the war. The chiefs of the several departments of

the service attached to his staff moved, camped, and
messed apart from him, though always within call and
reporting to him daily for orders.

On assuming command of the army General Lee
ordered the troops that had taken part in the battle of

Seven Pines back to their former positions, and pro-

ceeded to strengthen his lines by the erection of addi-

tional earthworks and to bring his army to the highest

possible state of efficiency. The decided check given to

the Federal army by General Johnston's attack at Seven
Pines gave ample time for the accomplishment of these

objects, and very soon conditions were such as to im-

part to the Confederates a feeling of confidence in their

ability to hold their position, and to cause General
McClellan to hesitate a long time before making any
attempt to carry these lines by a direct assault. In

rear of these lines, nearer to Richmond, very formidable
defensive works had been erected, and the knowledge
of this fact gave additional confidence to the defending
army in front. General Lee, however, soon ceased giv-

ing consideration to these excellent arrangements for

defense ; they had served their purpose in restoring con-

fidence to his men and in giving him time to take in the

situation. Already his active mind was engaged in

studying the position of his adversary and in discover-

ing the best way, under existing conditions, of taking
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the offensive. The brilliant campaign of General Jack-
son in the Valley of Virginia had greatly alarmed the

Federal authorities at Washington; it created fears for

the safety of that city and tended to relieve the pressure

upon the army under General Lee. General McDowell,
who had been at Fredericksburg, and so threatened

General Lee in any aggressive movement he might
undertake, had been recalled to Washington for its de-

fense and to aid in the overthrow of General Jackson.

The time seemed propitious to General Lee for taking

aggressive action. If a blow was to be struck, then was
the time.

The army of General McClellan, over one hundred
thousand strong, confronted General Lee; its right rested

near Meadow Bridge, on the north side of the Chicka-

hominy River, and its line extended southward to Geld-

ing's Crossing, where it crossed to the south side and
continued to White Oak Swamp. Porter's corps consti-

tuted its right wing and occupied the line on the north

side of the river; the corps of Franklin, Sumner, and
Heintzelman held the line on the south side of the river,

and Keyes's corpswas in reserve at Bottom's Bridge. For-

midable earthworks had been constructed along the en-

tire line, and it was deemed out of the question by Gen-
eral Lee to attempt to make a direct assault. It was
necessary, then, to make the attack on the right or left

flank, and steps had to be taken to ascertain which held

out the greater promise of success.

In order that he might be more accurately informed
of the character of the ground covering the approaches

to the two flanks of the Federal army, and of the feasi-

bility of turning either one or the other, General Lee
ordered General J. E. B. Stuart, with about twelve hun-

dred cavalry and a battery of artillery, to move to the

right and rear of the Federal army and be guided by
circumstances, in an endeavor to get this information,
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as to how far he should go and by what route he should
return. Never was an order more perfectly carried out;

never a purpose more successfully accomplished. The
raid of General Stuart completely around the army of

General McClellan has passed into history as one of the
m.ost brilliant exploits of that arm of the service.

General Lee's purpose was now fully determined: he
would make the attack on the enemy's right flank.

There has been some foolish talk about credit being due
to another for this plan of attack. General Early was
made very indignant some time after the close of the

war because of the claim advanced that General Lee
was indebted to another for this suggestion, and in a
letter to me dated April 29, 1876, after speaking in

rather strong language of those who thus sought to les-

sen the credit due to General Lee, he puts the matter
very clearly thus

:

It may be very true that, in speaking about the proper mode
of attacking the enemy, Longstreet may have thought it was

best to attack on the enemy's right flank, while Hill (D. H.)

may have thought it best to attack the other. The attack had

to be made on the one or the other, as there was no chance to

attack in the center, and men would of course have some opinion

as to which was the right one to attack.

General Lee then developed his plans to the authori-

ties in Richmond, which may be briefly stated here, and
which met Avith the approval of President Davis and the

War Department. He was very anxious to have Gen-
eral Jackson deliver another stunning blow to his adver-

saries operating in the Valley of Virginia; and then, be-

fore they had time to recover, to come by the quickest
possible route, with all his available force, to join him
in an attack on the Federal army under General Mc-
Clellan. To carry out this design and to make sure
against any miscarriage as to GeneralJackson's success,
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large reinforcements were to be sent to him, the effect

of which would, be, not only to make assurance doubly
sure with Jackson, but to deceive the enemy as to Gen-
eral Lee's ultimate purpose.

Reinforcements were forwarded to General Jackson;
but the element of time became so important, in General
Lee's opinion, that he decided not to wait until Jackson
could carry out his plan to attack in the valley, but to

bring him down at once with his whole force, including

the reinforcements just sent, leaving only a small corps

of observation, and to attack McClellan's army without

further delay. Orders to this effect were sent to General

Jackson, and on the 18th of June his army started to

join General Lee; on the 22d it had reached Fred-

erick's Hall. General Jackson left his army there dur-

ing the night of the 22d, and proceeded on horseback to

General Lee's headquarters for the purpose of having a

personal conference about the plan of attack.

I had not seen General Jackson since I left the Vir-

ginia Military Institute, where I had been under his

tutelage as a cadet. In personal appearance and man-
ners he was the same "Old Jack" that I had then

known. It seems odd to me at this day to contrast the

estimate in which he is now universally regarded with

the reputation that he had when he was a professor of

natural philosophy at Virginia's military school. Aus-
terity of manner and silence were then his chief char-

acteristics, although when once the outer shell was
pierced he was always genially warm in manner and
sympathetic at heart. He was certainly regarded in

those days by the people of Lexington and by the

cadets as a most eccentric character. It was said of

him that although he had all his text-books well at his

command, he never deviated from the text to the

right or left. He was a thoroughgoing Presbyterian,

with a strong leaning to fatalism, and I have often
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thought that to this trait and his unquestioning faith

in the efficacy of praj'er, however irreconcilable the

two may appear to some, was due much of his success

in battle. While regarded by the cadets as odd and
peculiar, he possessed a degree of manliness and a dis-

position to waive all question of rank in smoothing out

a personal disagreement that attracted and won the

esteem of young men. In addition to his duties as

professor of physics, he was instructor of the corps of

cadets in artillery tactics. It was here that the cadets

took especial pleasure in making his performance of

duty a severe trial to him. He was made the butt of

their jokes, and it afforded them the greatest pleasure

to bring about confusion by removing the linch-pins

from the guns or caissons, and so overturning them ; or

by rushing the guns or caissons down the incline of the

campus with such an impetus as to make it impossible

to " halt " before there was a collision with the fence

that then inclosed the drill-ground.

There was something indescribably droll in the man-
ner in which he sang out his orders w4th a nasal twang
peculiar to himself. I seem to hear him now as he fol-

lowed out the stereotyped maneuvers, always termina-

ting with a prolonged " Quick, trot, march !
" As there

were no horses used, the cadets did the pulling of the

guns and caissons, and so were constructively horses.

I recall an occasion when one of the cadets had hurt

the feelings of his '' off horse"' by treading on his toes,

or barking his shin, and the wounded one made the air

sulphurous with his vigorous but unparliamentary use

of his mother tongue, and that in such a tone as to be

heard all over the campus. Quietly and solemnly " Old

Jack "stepped up to the sergeant of the detachment,

and pointing to the angry cadet, said, "Report that

horse for profanity."

On another occasion a cadet who was rather slow of
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movement, in truth a little lazy, when the command
was given, "Limbers and caissons, pass your pieces,

Q-u-i-c-k, t-r-o-t, m-a-r-c-h ! " sauntered along, and was
left behind, rejoining his piece on the return movement.
The next day a report was made out against him for his

refusal to obey orders, and he handed in an excuse that

read something like this: "Report, not trotting at ar-

tillery drill. Excuse, I am a natural pacer.''''

But to return to the conference with General Lee on
the afternoon of the 2od of June. General Jackson
reported the progress already made by his troops, and
indicated the time necessary to enable them to reach

the point of the proposed attack. The plan of battle

was discussed, all of the division comma,nders being

present. The conference over. General Jackson went
at once to rejoin his troops. General Lee now felt that

his army was sufficiently well in hand to justify him in

issuing the order of attack.

The army under General Lee embraced the divisions

of Longstreet, A. P. Hill, D. H. Hill, Magruder, Huger,

Holmes, and the troops under Jackson, consisting of

his own and Ewell's divisions, and the reinforcements

recently sent him, to wit, Whiting's division and Law-
ton's brigade—in all about eighty thousand men.

The order of attack, dated June 24th, contemplated

that by the 25th the command under General Jackson
would be in position at Ashland on the Richmond, Fred-

ericksburg, and Potomac Railroad, a point about fifteen

miles north of Richmond; and it was ordered to proceed

on that day toward Slash Church and to encamp at a
convenient point west of the Central (Chesapeake and
Ohio) Railroad. At three o'clock on Thursday morning,

June 26th, General Jackson was to advance on the road

leading to Pole Green Church, communicating his

march to General Branch, whose brigade had been in

the neighborhood of Hanover Court House, who was
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then to cross the Chickahominy and take the road lead-

ing to Mechanicsville and rejoin his division under

A. P. Hill. As soon as the movements of these columns
were discovered, General A. P. Hill, whose command
constituted the left of General Lee's army, was ordered

to cross the Chickahominy at Meadow Bridge and move
directly upon Mechanicsville. To aid General Hill in

his attack, the heavy batteries on the Chickahominy
were ordered to open on the Federal batteries at Me-
chanicsville. The enemy being driven from Mechan-
icsville, and the way made open over the bridge near

that point, General Longstreet with his division was to

cross the Chickahominy to the support of General A.

P. Hill; and General D. H. Hill was to cross with his

division to the support of General Jackson. These four

commands were ordered to keep in communication with

each other, to move in echelon, and, if practicable, on
separate roads. General Jackson in advance, and to

endeavor to drive the enemy from his position above
New Bridge, General Jackson bearing well to the left,

turning Beaver Dam Creek and taking the direction of

Cold Harbor. This having been accomplished, the as-

saulting columns were to press the enemy toward the

York River Railroad, closing upon his rear and forcing

him down the Chickahominy. The comm_ands of gen-

erals Magruder and Huger were to hold the Confederate

lines on the south side of the Chickahominy, watch
closely the result of the movements on the north side,

and to make such demonstrations against the enemy in

their front as to discover what he was about, and if.

favorable opportunity offered, to convert the feint into

a real attack; and should the enemy abandon his in-

trenchments, to pursue him closely. General Stuart

with the bulk of the cavalry force was to cross the

Chickahominy and take position on the left of General
Jackson.



CHAPTER VIII

THE SEVEN days' BATTLES AT EICHMOND

MECHANICSVILLE

THE time for the commencement of the movement
had been determined after a careful consideration

of the time necessary to enable General Jackson's

command to get into position, and no miscarriage was
looked for in this direction. Thursday, the 2Gth, ar-

rived, and General A. P. Hill, who was to open the bat-

tle, had everything in readiness, and only awaited the

arrival of General Jackson. General McClellan, with
two thirds of his army on the south side of the Chicka-

hominy, was confronted by but twenty-five thousand
Confederates. Unless attacked, he might assail this

force and attempt to capture Richmond. Indecision on
the part of the Confederates under these conditions

would have invited disaster. After waiting until three

o'clock in the a,fternoon, without any sign of Jackson's

troops, and presuming that by the time he crossed

the Chickahominy and got into position General Jack-

son would connect with his left, General A. P. Hill

crossed over Meadow Bridge with his division. He
drove the enemy out of Mechanicsville and was soon in

front of the strongly fortified position along Beaver
Dam Creek, constituting the right of the Federal line

and held by the command of General Fitz John Porter.

General A. P. Hill promptly deployed his troops and
made dispositions to assault that line. In addition to
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his own division, he was reinforced by Ripley's brigade
of D. H. Hill's division. He had every reason to rely
upon the cooperation of General Jackson, who was to

attack the enemy's right flank and rear, but as yet no
sign of the approach of Jackson's troops. What had
become of them? Why this unexpected delay ? Those
were anxious moments to Hill and to all. Colonel Allan,
chief ordnance officer of Jackson's command, in his

book "The Army of Northern Virginia," thus explains
this delay:

Jackson, who was to have passed Ashland on the 25th and
camp in the vicinity of the Virginia Central Railroad, was only

able to reach Ashland on that day. . . . The long forced

march of Jackson to Ashland had consumed half a day more
than was expected. He had consequently reached the Central

Eailroad, his arrival at which point was to be the signal for the

movement of the other divisions, five or six hours late ; and his

march all day, though vigorously pressed, had been impeded to

some extent by the enemy's scouting parties, but far more by

the unknown character of the country, which was all new to

him. He had therefore not reached Beaver Dam Creek in time

to dislodge, or in conjunction with A. P. Hill to overwhelm,

McCall.

It was a remarkable fact that in all these movements
of the Seven Days' Battles around Richmond the Con-
federates were operating to the greatest disadvantage
because of their ignorance of the country and the lack

of accurate maps showing its topography and the loca-

tion of the roads. One would have supposed that in the

time which had elapsed since the commencement of the

war accurate surveys and maps would have been made
of the country for miles around the city of Richmond,
and of every approach to that city likely to be at-

tempted by the enemy : but neither generals nor officers

of the staff had any such information, and, as a rule, the
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country people who were relied on as guides seemed to

have no knowledge of such matters beyond the imme-
diate vicinity of their homes.

HilFs troops advanced in gallant style until they

reached Beaver Dam Creek, which was practically im-

passable in the face of a determined foe. Several at-

tempts were made to reach the Federal line, but as

there was no simultaneous attack upon its flank and
rear, they were repulsed with heavy loss. The firing

continued until about 9 p.m., when the engagement
ceased.

General Lee ordered the battle to be renewed at dawn
on the 27th, when Jackson, whose command was now
up, would be in position to cooperate, and to carry out

the original plan of attack. This, however, would
be attended with very different conditions. General

McClellan was now fully aware of the purpose of Gen-
eral Lee, and had time to strengthen and reinforce the

threatened flank. The spirited advance made by the

troops of A. P. Hill and the approach of Jackson, now
fully disclosed, made it evident to the Federal comman-
der that, although a strong line for defense against

direct attack, the position along Beaver Dam Creek

would be untenable when turned by Jackson ; so during

the night the Federals retired from that line and took

up their second line, extending from the Chickahominy
along Powhite Creek, by Gaines's Mill to Cold Harbor

—

naturally a strong line, and greatly strengthened by the

erection of breastworks and the construction of abatis.

GAINES'S MILL AND COLD HARBOR

On the morning of the 27th the attack was renewed

as originally contemplated in General Lee's order of

battle. A. P. Hill's division was in the center; Long-

street's division was in reserve, in the rear and to the

right of A. P. Hill; and the commands of D. H. Hill
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and Jackson were on the left. Again the troops of

A. P. Hill were the first to become engaged. The fight-

ing soon- became fast and furious. Hill seemed to be
contending alone against the whole Federal right wing,
as Jackson's movements were again unaccountably
slow; and as no attack was being made on the enemy's
right, he was enabled to concentrate in his resistance

to the assault of A. P. Hill. General Jackson, in his

report of the battle, thus explains his attitude at that

time

:

Soon after General A. P. Hill became engaged, and being

unacquainted with the ground, and apprehensive, from what

appeared to me to be the respective jiositions of the Confederate

and Federal forces engaged, that if I then pressed forward our

troops would be mistaken for the enemy and fired into, and hop-

ing that generals A. P. Hill and Longstreet would soon drive

the Federals toward me, I directed General D. H. Hill to move

his division to the left of tlie road, so as to leave between him
and the woods on the riglit of the road an open space, across

which I hoped the enemy would be driven.

To aid General A. P. Hill in his endeavor to force the

lines of the enemy. General Lee directed General Long-
street to advance some of his brigades against the Fed-

eral left, with the hope that this would have the effect

of drawing off troops from the enemy's right, prevent

any strengthening of the force in A. P. Hill's front, and
by weakening the right of the Federal line afford a bet-

ter opportunity to generals Jackson and D. H. Hill for

making a lodgment there. General Longstreet, in

speaking of the movement, says

:

Three brigades were sent to open fire and threaten their left

from the forest edge, with orders not to cross the open. These

brigades engaged steadily, and parts of tliem essayed to pass the

field in front, as their blood grew hot, but were recalled, with
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orders repeated to engage steadily, only threatening assault,

the army all the while engaged in efforts to find a point that

conld be forced.

Meanwhile, General Jackson had discovered from the

direction and sound of the firing that General A. P. Hill

was having heavy work, and so he ordered a general

advance of his entire command, which commenced with

D. H. Hill upon the left, and extended to the right

through Swell's, Jackson's, and Whiting's divisions in

the order named. In some way General Whiting with

his division, consisting of his own and General Hood's

brigades, found his way to our right, and reporting to

General Longstreet, asked that he be put into battle.

General Lee now ordered a simultaneous advance of

his whole line. General Longstreet, who up to this

time had only threatened assault, now pushed his troops

forward, the two brigades of Whiting and Hood ad-

vancing with the brigades of Longstreet's division.

These troops advanced with great impetuosity against

the Federal left; they assaulted the enemy's position at

Gaines's Mill with a determination and courage that

insured success. Forcing their way through abatis,

they scaled the heights, carrying several intrenched

lines, and finally driving the Federals in confusion

across the plateau in rear of the heights so stubbornly

defended and so gallantly captured.

Simultaneously with the advance of the brigades of

Longstreet's division the whole Confederate line moved
forward. The troops of Jackson and D. H. Hill had then

gotten into position, and attacked the enemy's right

flank and center with great impetuosity. The success of

General Longstreet's division, supported by General

Whiting, in piercing the enemy's lines, and the heavy
assault made by the troops of Jackson and D. H. Hill on

the right flank of the enemy, caused their whole line to
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give way, and the right wing of the Federal army re-

treated upon the main body, pursued by the successful

Confederates.

No more creditable performance can be found in the

history of the Army of Northern Virginia than the cap-

ture of the Federal position near Gaines's Mill by the
brigades of Longstreet's and Whiting's divisions, and
better soldiers never fought. There was some question

at the time as to what troops first pierced the Federal
lines, but General McClellan in his report says that the

Confederates "threw fresh troops against General Por-

ter with their greatest fury, and finally gained the woods
held by our left. This reverse, aided by the confusion

that followed an unsuccessful charge by five companies
of the Fifth Cavalry, and followed as it was by more de-

termined assault on the remainder of our lines, now out-

flanked, caused a general retreat from our position to

the hill in rear, overlooking the bridge." And General

Jackson in his report says: " The Fourth Texas, under
the lead of General Hood, was the first to pierce these

strongholds and seize the guns." This clearly proves

that the part of the Federal line that was the first to

give way was their left, where the brigades under Long-
street made their attack, and accords with my own im-

pressions formed at the time.

As in this battle the Confederates were acting on the

aggressive, assaulting intrenched lines, their losses were
very heavy. The losses on the Federal side were also

very heavy. This was especially noticeable where Hood's

brigade made its assault. In riding over the field at that

point, I recall that I had to exercise great care in guiding

my horse not to strike a dead or wounded Federal soldier.

On the morning of the 28th, when the Confederate

skirmishers were advanced, it w^as ascertained that the

enemy had retired to the south side of the Chicka-

hominy, where McClellan's whole army was then con-
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centrated. The York River Railroad, the artery by
which General McClellan's army had received its sup-

plies, was seized by General Stuart with his cavalry,

and the Federal commander was forced to select a new
base of supplies. He had to choose between the Penin-

sula and James River, and he determined to go to James
River, where he would have the protection of gunboats.

General McClellan had conceived the most exagger-

ated ideas concerning the strength of General Lee's army.
It is difficult to understand how he was so greatly de-

ceived : he had, or should have had, pretty accurate in-

formation concerning the Confederate forces that had
been operating on the Peninsula; he had been in con-

tact with Johnston's army at Williamsburg and at Seven
Pines; he knew General Johnston well enough to un-

derstand that he would not have retreated before him
had he not been outnumbered. He had under his com-
mand about one hundred and five thousand effective

men, excluding the troops at Fortress Monroe.
Previous to the attack of General Lee almost daily

appeals were sent by General McClellan to the authori-

ties at Washington for reinforcements, in which he rep-

resented that he was greatly outnumbered, and, at the

same time, expressed again and again his purpose to

take aggressive action. On June 2d he telegraphed to

Washington: "Our left is within four miles of Rich-

mond. I only wait for the river to fall to cross with the

rest of the force and make a general attack. The morale
of my troops is now such that I can venture much. I

do not fear for odds against me." On June 7th he tele-

graphed: "I shall be in perfect readiness to move for-

ward to take Richmond the moment that McCail reaches

here and the ground will admit the passage of artillery."

On June 11th he reported: " McCall's troops have com-
menced arriving at the White House. . . . Weather
good to-day. Give me a little good weather, and I shall
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have progress to report here." On June 14th he said:

"Weather now very favorable. I shall advance as soon
as the bridges are completed and the ground fit for artil-

lery to move." On June 18th: "After to-morrow we
shall fight the Rebel army as soon as Providence will

permit." On June 25th he sent up a wail over his lack
of men: "The Rebel force is stated at two hundred
thousand, including Jackson and Beauregard. I shall

have to contend against vastly superior odds, if these

reports be true; but this army will do all in the power
of men to hold their position and repulse any attack. I

regret my great inferiority of numbers, but feel that I

am in no way responsible for it, as I have not failed to rep-

resent repeatedly the necessity of reinforcements. . . .

I will do all that a general can do with the splendid army
I have the honor to command, and if it is destroyed by
overwhelming numbers, can at least die with it and
share its fate ; but if the result of the action which will

probably occur to-morrow or within a short time is a
disaster, the responsibility cannot be thrown on my
shoulders. I feel there is no use in my again asking for

reinforcements.

"

On June 2d General McClellan did not fear for the

odds against him. On June 25th he seemed to have
suffered from a dreadful nightmare, and to have been
in mortal terror of the innumerable hosts about to over-

whelm him. He gave too great credence, no doubt, to

the reports of his secret-service corps. In a memoran-
dum of " General Estimates of the Rebel Forces in Vir-

ginia" made by the secret-service men, and published

with his report, will be found the following:

One hundred and eighty thousand troops at Kiehmond prior

to reinforcements from Charleston. Eebel troops in the Seven

Days' Battles, including Jackson's whole force, estimated at two

hundred and twenty thousand to two hundred and sixty thousand.
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Now that the smoke of battle has cleared away and
time has permitted a winnowing of fancy from fact, the
truth stands revealed that the strength of General Lee's

army in the Seven Days' Battles was under eighty-one

thousand men. In the battles of Gaines's Mill and Cold
Harbor the Confederates engaged numbered about fifty

thousand, and the Federals opposing them numbered
about thirty-five thousand; but it should be borne in

mind that these latter were acting on the defensive and
fighting behind fortifications. Later in the war there

was another encounter about this same spot, Cold Har-
bor; then the positions were reversed: General Lee was
on the defensive and General Grant made the assault.

There has never been any question as to which side then
had the most men. The Confederates on the defensive

made impregnable the position they had captured in the

Seven Days' Battles ; the Federals, after heroic and most
courageous but vain efforts to capture the position they
had once lost, sullenly refused to move when again or-

dered forward to assault it.

The troops constituting the right wing of the Federal

army that were defeated at Gaines's Mill and Cold Har-
bor, in their retreat had destroyed the bridges over the

Chickahominy in their rear ; and it was not practicable

for the Confederates to reconstruct them in the presence

of the enemy, whose artillery completely commanded
the river and its banks. The army of General Mc-
Clellan held all the bridges on the lower Chickahominy,
and the way was open for it to retreat by way of the

Peninsula, or by a direct route to James River, as might
be deemed most advantageous. If the retreat should be
down the Peninsula, then General Lee would need his

troops, where the recently engaged force already was,

on the north side of the Chickahominy ; it was necessary

to wait until the purpose of General McClellan was fully

discerned. General Lee, therefore, was inactive on the
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28tli, as it was not ascertained until late in the evening

of that day that General McClellan was retreating to

James River.

SAVAGE STATION

On the next day the pursuit of the retreating army
began. General Lee ordered Longstreet and A. P. Hill

to recross the Chickahominy at New Bridge and to take

direction of the army in retreat. Meanwhile it was dis-

covered that the enemy had abandoned their line in

front of generals Huger and Magruder, and they were

ordered to pursue the Federal army. General Jackson

was ordered to cross the Chickahominy at Grapevine

Bridge and take up the line of pursuit. In all the move-

ments of the Confederates in the pursuit of General Mc-

Clellan's army, they were greatly hindered and delayed

by the character of the country, abounding there in

small streams and extensive swamps, and by the igno-

rance of the general staff concerning the roads. General

Jackson was delayed on the 39th by the necessity of re-

pairing the Grapevine Bridge, which the Federals had
partially destroyed. This delay on the part of Jackson's

troops was not anticipated, and from it some confusion

resulted. General Magruder, who was advancing by

the Williamsburg road, was the first to come up with the

enemy, and promptly engaged his rear-guard. General

Jackson, who was expected to cross the river at Grape-

vine Bridge, would have thus been in position to co-

operate with General Magruder, and he had orders to

this effect. General Jackson, in his official report of

these battles, says that he was delayed all day by the

necessity of reconstructing the bridge by which he was
to cross to the south side of the Chickahominy.

The military student will naturally seek some expla-

nation of the fact that no more decisive blow was given

by the Confederates to the retreating Federal army. He
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will discover that the history of that pursuit is but a
record of lost opportunities, and he will ascertain that

the failure to accomplish more was due, in great part, to

unlooked-for impediments encountered by the division

commanders in moving over a section of country un-

known to them and admirably adapted to defense, which
delayed their own movements and deprived others of

the cooperation expected of them. The delay of Jack-

son in crossing the Chickahominy deprived Magruder
of the cooperation he looked for at Savage Station, and
naturally caused him much anxiety. It was reported

to him by General D. R. Jones, who commanded the

brigade on the left of Magruders line, and who appears

to have been in communication with General Jackson,

that in response to a request from him to know if he

could rely on his cooperation, he had received reply from

General Jackson to the effect that he "had other im-

portant duties to perform." It was this, perhaps, that

led General Magruder to fear that he was not to have

Jackson's support.

I cannot explain to what General Jackson referred in

his reply to General Jones ; but certainly there is no

room for misunderstanding as to his orders. General

Lee, on being told of the apprehension concerning Jack-

son's support entertained by General Magruder, sent

him a message, quoted in Vol. XI, Part II, page 675, of

War Records as follows

:

I learn from Major Taylor that you are under the impression

that General Jackson has been ordered not to support you. On

the contrary, he has been directed to do so, and to push the

pursuit vigorously.

As it was, while those of Magruder's brigades that

were put into action at Savage Station did splendid

service, a considerable portion of his force did not be-
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come engaged, and night put an end to a conflict without
decisive results. General Lee says in his report

:

Late in the afternoon ]\Iagruder attacked the enemy with one

of his divisions and two regiments of another, A severe action

ensued and continued about two hours, when it was terminated

by night. The troops displayed great gallantry and inflicted

heavy loss upon the enemy, but, owing to the lateness of the hour

and the small force employed, the result was not decisive, and

the enemy continued his retreat under cover of darkness, leaving

several hundred prisoners, with his dead and wounded, in our

hands. But the time gained enabled the retreating column to

cross White Oak Swamp without interruption and destroy the

bridge.

FRAZIER'S FARM

General Jackson reached Savage Station on the 30th,

He was directed to continue the pursuit. In his advance
he captured so many prisoners and small arms that he

was compelled to detach two regiments to guard them.

His advance was checked at White Oak Swamp : the

bridge had been destroyed. The enemy occupied the

opposite side of the swamp and so commanded the banks
as to prevent the rebuilding of the bridge. Generals

Longstreet and A. P. Hill continued their advance and in

the afternoon came upon the enemy at Frazier's Farm.
From the position occupied by General Huger on the

right, his cooperation was looked for on that flank.

Having no knowledge of the cause of General Jackson's

delay, his cooperation was looked for on the left.

Meanwhile, General Holmes, who with a part of his

division had crossed from the south side of James River

on the 29th, had moved down the river road, and on

the 30th encountered the retreating army near Malvern

Hill, He opened upon the enemy with artillery, but

soon discovered that the batteries opposed to him greatly



76 GENERAL LEE

outnumbered his own, and also that the fire of the gun-

boats from James River guarded this part of their line.

General Magruder was ordered to support General

Holmes, but, being at a greater distance than had been

supposed, he did not reach the position of the latter in

time to assist in an attack.

General Huger reported that his progress was ob-

structed ; soon, however, firing was heard on the right of

Longstreet, which was supposed to be by the troops of

General Huger, and General Longstreet opened with

his artillery to give notice of his presence. This devel-

oped the fact that the enemy was present in great force,

and an engagement was brought on at once, although

is was not designed that this should be until the troops

of General Huger were in position to attack.

General Longstreet threw troops forward as rapidly

as possible to the support of the attacking columns.

Again, however, owing to the nature of the ground, the

desired cooperation of commands failed. Only the divi-

sions of Longstreet and A. P. Hill were engaged. The
enemy was in position and numerically exceeded the

attacking columns. General Longstreet says in his re-

port: "The enemy, however, was driven back slowly

and steadily. Contesting the ground inch by inch, he

succeeded in getting some of his batteries off the field,

and, by holding his last position until dark, in with-

drawing his forces under cover of the night." General

Jackson was delayed by the difficulties attending his

effort to force the passage of White Oak Swamp. Gen-

eral Lee, in his report, said: " The battle raged furiously

until 9 P.M. By that time the enemy had been driven

with great slaughter from every position but one, which

he maintained until he was enabled to withdraw under

cover of darkness."

Major-general McCall was taken a prisoner in this

battle. To illustrate the character of the fighting on
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both sides, as seen b§\him, the following extract is

given from his official re^^v.

Soon after this a most determined charge was made on Ean-

dol's battery by a full brigade advancing in wedge shape, with-

out order, but in perfect recklessness. Somewhat similar

charges had been previously made on Cooper's and Kern's bat-

teries by single regiments without success, they having recoiled

before the storm of canister hurled against them. A like re-

sult was anticipated in Eandol's battery, and the Fourth Regi-

ment was requested not to fire until the battery had done with

them. Its gallant commander did not doubt his ability to repel

the attack, and his guns did indeed mow down the advancing

host, but still the gaps were closed and the enemy came in on a

run to the very muzzle of his guns. It was a perfect torrent of

men, and they were in his battery before the guns could be re-

moved, and the enemy, rushing past, drove the greater part of

the Fourth Regiment before them. I had ridden into the regi-

ment and endeavored to check them, but with only partial suc-

cess. It was here my fortune to witness one of the fiercest

bayonet fights that perhaps ever occurred on this continent.

Bayonet wounds, mortal or slight, were given and received. I

saw skulls crushed by the butts of muskets, and every effort

made by either party in this life-or-death struggle, proving in-

deed that here Greek had met Greek.

MALVERN HILL

General Jackson reached the scene of the battle at

Frazier's Farm early on July 1st, and was ordered to

continue the pursuit by the AVillis Church road. His
advancing column was soon fired upon by the enemy,
who nevertheless continued to fall back until he reached
Malvern Hill, where he was found in force, most advan-
tageously placed, with a large number of batteries on
the crest of the hill, supported by masses of infantry
partially protected by earthworks.
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A great part of the day was ccxisumed in reconnoiter-

ing the position of the ene/nj^'-ind in getting the differ-

ent commands in position for attack. The position of

the Federals on Malvern Hill was indeed formidable; it

could hardly have been stronger. In its entire front the

ground was open for some distance, and every approach

was commanded by the numerous guns that poured

from its crest. To reach this position the Confederates

had to advance through a broken country, traversed

throughout its whole extent by a swamp that very

greatly interfered with the movements of the troops.

It was late in the day before any advance was made.

Jackson was on the left, with the divisions of Whiting

and D. H. Hill and one of the brigades of Swell's divi-

sion in front, Jackson's own division and the balance

of Ewell's being in reserve. Two brigades of Huger's

division were on Jackson's right, and Magruder's divi-

sion and one of Huger's brigades constituted the right

of the line. Orders were issued for a general advance

at a signal to be given, but, as General Lee says in his

report, concert of action by the troops was prevented by

the causes referred to. General D. H. Hill was the

first to become engaged. His troops advanced gallantly

and drove back the first line of the enemy, but the fire

from the Federal batteries was terrific, and he was

forced to relinquish most of the ground he had gained,

after suffering heavily and inflicting great loss upon

the enemy. General Hill complained bitterly of the

failure of the other divisions to support him. He says

in his report

:

The front line of the enemy was twice broken and in full re-

treat when fresh troops came np to its support. At such criti-

cal juncture the general advance of the division on my right

and left must have been decisive. Some half an hour after my

division had ceased to struggle against odds of more than ten to
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one and had fallen back, McLaws's division advanced, but to share

a similar fate.

On the right the divisions of Huger and Magruder
attacked in the same gallant style, but with the same
ultimate result. Some of the brigades advanced bravely

across the open field and attempted to carry the hill by
assault, driving back the infantry and compelling the

most advanced batteries to retire to escape capture; but

owing to a lack of cooperation among the assaulting col-

umns, the enemy was enabled to concentrate and so to

strengthen the threatened part of their line with rein-

forcements as to compel the Confederates to yield the

positions gained. The fighting continued late into the

night, but all efforts to pierce the enemy's line failed.

The Federals retired during the night, leaving their

dead unburied and their wounded as they fell. They
abandoned three pieces of artillery and thousands of

small arms. As expressed by General D. H. Hill,

" None of their previous retreats exhibited such unmis-

takable signs of rout and demoralization. The wheat-
fields about Shirley were all trampled down by the

fugitives, too impatient to follow the road. Arms, accou-

terments, knapsacks, and overcoats were strewn on the

roadside and in the field."

The cavalry under General Stuart that had seized the

York River Railroad on June 38th had proceeded, under

the orders of the commanding general, down that rail-

road, to ascertain if there was any movement of the

enemy in that direction. General Stuart reached the

vicinity of the White House on June 29th without seri-

ous opposition. At his approach the enemy destroyed an
immense quantity of stores accumulated at that point,

and retreated toward Fort Monroe. General Stuart

then proceeded with the main portion of the cavalry, in

compliance with his orders, to guard the lower bridges
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of the Chickaliominy. On the 30th of June he was
directed to recross the river and to move to cooperate

vrith General Jackson, and reached the scene of opera-

tions, at Malvern Hill, at the close of the engagement
at 9 P.M. on July 1st.

On the morning of July 2d it was discovered that

the enemy had retired during the night, leaving his

dead and wounded on the field, and other unmistakable

evidence of demoralization and haste. Pursuit was or-

dered immediately. The cavalry under General Stuart

being in advance, General Stuart put his column in

motion for Haxall's, hoping to intercept the enemy
there. His advance soon reached the river road in rear

of Turkey Creek, where many prisoners were captured,

and a small body of his men reached the vicinity of

Haxall's and became satisfied that the enemy was not

there. He then endeavored to gain the fork of the

roads near Shirley, but found that position well de-

fended by the enemy's infantry, but, from what was
learned from the prisoners captured, it was evident that

the retreating army had gone below that point. Mean-
while, a part of his force was engaged in harassing the

enemy's rear, and in collecting prisoners and small

arms abandoned by the retreating Federals. That

night a squadron of cavalry with a howitzer, under

Captain Pelham, was sent toward Westover, with .or-

ders to reach the immediate vicinity of the river road

below, so as to shell it, if the enemy attempted to retreat

that night.

During the night Captain Pelham reported to General

Stuart that the enemy had taken position between Shir-

ley and Westover, and indicated the advantage to be

gained by occupying Evelington Heights, a plateau

from which the enemy's camps could be completely

commanded.
In his report General Stuart says

:
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I found Eveliugton Heights easily gained. A squadron in

possession vacated without much hesitation, retreating up the

road, the only route by which it could reach Westover, owing to

the impassability of Herring's Creek below Roland's Mill. Colo-

nel Martin was sent around farther to the left, and the how-

itzer brought into action in the river road, to fire upon the

enemy's camp. Judging from the great commotion and excite-

ment caused below, it must have had considerable effect. We
soon had prisoners from various corps and divisions, and from

their statements, as well as those of citizens, I learned that the

enemy's main body was there, but much reduced and demoral-

ized. I ke])t the commanding general apprised of my move-

ments, and I soon learned from him that Longstreet and Jack-

son were en route to my suj)i)ort. I held the ground from about

9 A.M. until 2 P.M., when the enemy had contrived to get one

battery in position on this side the creek. The fire, however,

was kept up until a body of infantry was found aiiproaching by

our right flank. I had no apprehension, however, as I felt sure

Longstreet was near-by; and although Pelham reported but two

rounds of ammunition left, I held out, knowing how important

it was to hold the ground until Longstreet arrived. The enemy's

infantry advanced, and the battery kept up its fire. I just then

learned that Longstreet had taken the wrong road, and was at

Nance's Shop, six or seven miles off. Pelham fired his last

round, and the sharpshooters, strongly jiosted in the skirt of

wood bordering the plateau, exhausted every cartridge, and had

at last to retire.

The progress of the infantry, meanwhile, had been
greatly retarded by a heavy storm, and by obstacles

placed in the roads by the retreating enemy. Long-
street was further delayed by the necessity for counter-

marching his command, having been misled by his

guide, and did not reach the point occupied by Stuart

until late in the afternoon of the 3d. Jackson, who
was following, reached the scene early on the morning
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of the 4th, and drove in the pickets of the enemy. Gen-
eral Stuart then pointed out the position of the enemy,
now occupying, apparently in force, the plateau from,

which he had shelled their camps the day before, and
suggested a route by which the plateau could be

reached. Generals Longstreet and Jackson conferred

together concerning the advisability of attack, and de-

termined to await the arrival of General Lee.

After having thoroughly examined the ground, Gen-
eral Lee concluded that the natural strength of the

position occupied by McClellan's army, and the protec-

tion further given it by the Federal gunboats, made it

unadvisable to attempt to carry it by assault, and the

men of his army were permitted to enjoy some days of

inactivity, that they might rest and recuperate.

In the Report* of the Committee of Congress of the

United States on the Conduct of the War, it is said :

The retreat of the army from Malvern Hill to Harrison's Bar

was very precipitate. The troops, upon their arrival there, were

huddled together in great confusion, the entire army being col-

lected within a space of about three miles along the river. No
orders were given the first day for occupying the heights which

commanded the position, nor were the troops so placed as to he

able to resist an attack in force by the enemy ; and nothing but a

heavy rain, thereby preventing the enemy from bringing uj) their

artillery, saved the army there from destruction. The enemy did

succeed in bringing up some of their artillery, and threw some

shells into the camp, before any preparations for defense had

been made. On the 3d of July the heights were taken posses-

sion of by our troops, and works of defense commenced, and

then, and not until then, was our army secure in that position.

General Casey testified before the same committee as

follows

:

* Report of the Committee on the Conduct of the War, Part I, page 27.
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The enemy had come down with some artillery upon our army
massed together on the river, the heights commanding the posi-

tion not being in our possession. Had the enemy come down
and taken possession of those heights with a force of twenty or

thirty thousand men, they would, in my opinion, have taken the

whole of our army, except that small portion of it that might
have got off on the transports. I felt very much alarmed for

the army until we had got possession of those heights and forti-

fied them. After that it was a strong position.

The firing of the little howitzer was a mistake.
Every effort should have been made to hasten the
march of the infantry and the field-artillery; and in the

meantime only a squadron or two of cavalry for the

purpose of observation should have occupied Eveling-

ton Heights. General Stuart retired from the heights

at 2 P.M., and some of Longstreet's divisions came up
late that evening. The testimony is abundant to prove
the fact that no attempt was made by the enemy to take

possession of Evelington Heights until after their camp
had been fired upon by the horse-artillery. Only a few
hours more and the infantry, with field-batteries, would
have been up, and would have made sure of the plateau

commanding the position held by the enemy. This,

however, is rather a narrative of facts than a lament;

and the reader will be left to draw his own inferences

and make his own conjectures of what might have
been, taking the cue from the testimony of General
Casey given above.

The retreat of General McClellan's army to Malvern
Hill was admirably conducted. There appears to have
been considerable demoralization after that.

In considering the causes that contributed to prevent

a more complete victory to the army under General Lee,

after all that has been said, we cannot emphasize too

strongly the fact that more was not accomplished be-
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cause of the character and personality of the men be-

hind the guns on the Federal side. The army under
General McClellan was made up largely of the flower

of the manhood of the Northern and Eastern States, and
his lieutenants were men and soldiers of a very high

type. The system of bounties and substitutes that sub-

sequently prevailed in the recruiting of the ranks of the

Federals had not then begun to operate, and under the

generally acknowledged and remarkable administrative

powers of General McClellan his army had been raised

to the highest degree of efficiency. Nothing less than

an army of the finest material, most excellently officered,

could have so well resisted the terrible blows delivered

by the Confederates under General Lee.

General Lee in his report says

:

Under ordinary circumstances, the Federal army should have

been destroyed. Its escape was due to the causes already stated.

Prominent among these is the want of correct and timely infor-

mation. This fact, attributable chiefly to the character of the

country, enabled General McClellan skilfully to conceal his re-

treat, and to add much to the obstructions with which nature

had beset the way of our ixirsuing columns; but regret that

more was not accomplished gives way to gratitude to the Sov-

ereign Euler of the universe for the results achieved. The
siege of Richmond was raised, and the object of a campaign,

which had been prosecuted after months of preparation at an

enormous expenditure of men and money, completely frustrated.

More than ten thousand prisoners, including officers of rank,

fifty-two pieces of artillery, and upward of thirty-five thousand

stands of small arms were captured. The stores and supplies of

every description which fell into our hands were great in amount

and volume, but small in comparison with those destroyed by

the enemy.



CHAPTER IX

GENERAL LEE MANEUVERS TO DRAW GENERAL MCCLELLAN
AWAY FROM RICHMOND

THE army under General McClellan had been defeated,

but it was still a formidable force. In his tes-

timony before the Committee on the Conduct of

the War, the Federal commander gave the strength of

his army at Harrison's Landing as between eighty-five

and ninety thousand men. The position occupied by it

could not be assailed with any promise of success. Its

proximity to the Confederate capital, its practically un-

assailable position, its ability to cross the river without
opposition and move upon Richmond from the south

side, combined to make the situation one of profound
solicitude, and called for the exercise of prompt and
heroic measures on the part of the Confederate com-
mander.

Quietly to assume the defensive and thus afford Gen-
eral McClellan the time and opportunity that he desired

to recruit and strengthen his shattered divisions, and to

swell his army to its original strength by the addition

of heavy reinforcements, of which he had been positive-

ly assured by the Federal authorities, would be equiva-

lent to a surrender of all the advantages resulting to the

Confederates from their dearly bought victories in the

Seven Days' Battles, and would again reduce the city of

Richmond to a state of siege.

It was necessary to devise some plan of campaign that
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would compel the withdrawal of the hostile army from

its position of constant menace. The disaster that had
overtaken the army under General McClellan had great-

ly excited the fears of the Federal authorities for the

safety of Washington, and General Lee realized fully

the importance of playing upon that fear, and of carry-

ing it, if possible, to a frenzy, by such a determined move
against the capital as would cause a public demand for

the immediate removal of the army under General Mc-
Clellan from its position on the James River to the de-

fense of Washington.
But was it safe for General Lee to attempt such a

movement with the troops at his command ? It required

great confidence in his own judgment to carry out a

campaign apparently so bold and fraught with such pos-

sibilities to the enemy, should events prove that the

estimate put upon their sagacity was at fault. It re-

quired, also, great confidence in his lieutenants and in

his troops to place them where the odds would be greatly

against them, and where courage and endurance of the

highest order would be required to assure success.

On the Federal side, General Pope had been assigned

to the command of the troops in and about Washington,

and of the army in its front. The strength of the army
in the field, as given by General Pope, was about forty-

three thousand, and embraced the forces under generals

Fremont, Banks, and McDowell.

General Pope had gained some prominence in his

former field of service in the West, and came to his new
command with the waving of banners and the blare of

trumpets, and evidently with a very poor estimate of the

Confederate soldier. He had much to learn; and, "as
pride goes before a fall,'' so his bombastic proclamations

to his army formed a fitting prelude to the disaster that

was soon to overtake and overwhelm him. He an-

nounced to his troops, by way of a suitable introduction
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of himself: " I have come to you from the West, where
we have always seen the backs of our enemies, from an
army whose business it has been to seek the adversary
and beat him when found, whose policy has been attack,

not defense. I presume I have been called here to pur-
sue the same system, and to lead you against the enemy,"
Well might General Lee and Stonewall Jackson hesitate

about getting within gunshot of this redoubtable war-
rior, but they do not appear to have heard him.
The army under General Pope was then occupying the

line of the Rappahannock River, and seriously threat-

ened the line of railroad from Richmond to Gordonsville.

The purpose of General Pope, as related by him before

the Committee on the Conduct of the War, was to have
marched upon Gordonsville and Charlottesville, destroy-

ing the railroad, and then to move upon Richmond from
the west.

It was imperative, then, for General Lee to check the
advance of General Pope's army. The Confederate
commander, with the small force at his command, was
surely beset with difficulties at this time. One adver-

sary with ninety thousand men was but a day's march
from the Confederate capital, safely intrenched, and
ready to take advantage of any invitation to attack, or

any false step of his opponent. Another adversary with
forty-three thousand men, unopposed, threatened to

move upon his unprotected communications, and ad-

vance upon the capital from the west. To oppose the two,

he had an army of about sixty-five thousand men avail-

able for operations in the field.

After allowing his army to enjoy a rest of about ten

days. General Lee detached General Jackson, with th«
troops of his command, embracing his old division of

four brigades and Ewell's division of three brigades,

with orders to proceed toward Gordonsville, Avhich

point he reached on July 19th, and to move against Gen-
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eral Pope. General A. P. Hill was soon ordered to fol-

low with his division, and to join General Jackson.

While these movements were being made, General Lee
covered the city of Richmond with his remaining divi-

sions.

On the 9th of August General Jackson attacked and
defeated a part of the army of General Pope at Cedar
Run. In this battle General Jackson had engaged the

brigades of Early, Taliaferro, Garnett, Winder, Thomas,
Branch, Archer, and Pender, making together between
eleven and twelve thousand men. On the Federal side

the force engaged consisted of Banks's corps, about eight

or ten thousand strong. Banks was driven from the

field, and the Confederate pursuit continued for over a

mile. Rickett's division of McDowell's corps reached

the scene of action late in the day, and served to check

the Confederate advance. During the night General

Pope was further reinforced by the arrival of Sigel's

corps, so that on the morning of the 10th General Jack-

son was confronted by the greater part of Pope's army,

and the other part was but a short distance away and
hurrying to his support. Two days of inactivity fol-

lowed. On the 11th General Pope, under a flag of truce,

asked permission to bury his dead. Under the existing

conditions General Jackson could not resume the offen-

sive. He had accomplished all that he dared to under-

take with the force under his command : he had attacked

a portion of the army under General Pope, routed it

before it could be reinforced, greatly alarmed the au-

thorities at Washington, and given to them a final argu-

ment, if one was needed, in favor of the withdrawal

of the army under General McClellan from its position

on James River to the support of the army in front of

Washington. General Jackson therefore decided to re-

tire on the night of the 11th toward Gordonsville.

Already the strategy of General Lee had accomplished
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the desired results. On the 4th of August General
McClellan received orders to withdraw his army from
the Peninsula, and on the 6th General Halleck, the Fed-
eral commander-in-chief, wrote to General McClellan:

Yon and your officers at our interview estimated the enemy's

forces in and around Richmond at two hundred thousand men.

Since then you and others report that they have received and

are receiving large reinforcements from the South. General

Pope's army covering Washington is only about forty thousand.

Your effective force is only about ninety thousand. You are

thirty miles from Richmond and General Pope eighty or ninety,

Avith the enemy directly between you, ready to fall with his

superior numbers upon one or the other as he may elect. Neither

can reinforce the other in case of such an attack.

On the day of the battle of Cedar Run General Hal-

leck wired General McClellan to begin at once the trans-

fer of his army from the James River to Acquia Creek.

The defeat of Banks's corps at Cedar Run greatly ex-

cited the fears of the Federals for the safety of Wash-
ington, and additional and urgent orders were sent to

General McClellan to hasten the abandonment of the

position at Harrison's Landing and the removal of his

army to the front of Washington, to avert the threatened

attack upon that city.

Meanwhile, all of General Pope's troops had joined

him, including those under General King at Fredericks-

burg. He had also been reinforced by the divisions of

Reno and Stevens, of Burnside's corps, that had been

brought up from North Carolina, and, disembarking
at Aquia Creek, had moved to Fredericksburg, and
thence, by orders from Washington, to reinforce Gen-
eral Pope.

General Lee had now become pretty well convinced,

from the reports that reached him, of the proposed with-
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drawal of McClellan's army from its position on James
Eiver.

The alternative was presented to him of following that

army down the Peninsula, with the view of harassing

it, and, if opportunity offered, of dealing it a decisive

blow; or of reinforcing General Jackson with all of his

available force, and moving against General Pope be-

fore the troops from the Peninsula could reach him.

General Lee reasoned, as appears from his report,

that although the victory at Cedar Run had temporarily

checked the advance of Pope's army, that army was
being rapidly reinforced and would soon resume aggres-

sive operations. Burnside's corps from North Carolina

had already joined Pope, and a part of McClellan's army
was believed to have left Westover for the same pur-

pose. It therefore appeared that active operations on
the James River were no longer contemplated by the

Federals, and that the most effectual way to relieve

Richmond from any danger of attack from that quarter

would be to reinforce General Jackson and advance
upon General Pope.

Accordingly, on the 13th of August General Long-
street was ordered to proceed to Gordon sville with his

division and two brigades under General Hood. General
Stuart was directed to move with the main body of his

cavalry to that point, and General R. H. Anderson was
directed to leave his position on James River with
his division and to follow General Longstreet. These
forces having assembled in the neighborhood of Gor-

donsville, General Lee determined to advance against

the enemy at once. The army under General Pope,

fifty thousand strong, occupied the line of the Rapidan,
his right being at Locust Dale and Robertson's River,

and his left at Raccoon Ford on the Rapidan.

On August 19th General Lee issued the following

order

:
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General Longstreet's command, constituting the right wing

of the army, will cross the Rapidan at Raccoon Ford and move

in the direction of Culpeper Court House. General Jackson's

command, constituting the loft wing, will cross at Somerville

Ford and move in the same direction, keeping on the left of

General Longstreet. General Anderson's division will cross at

Somerville Ford, follow the route of General Jackson, and act

in reserve. The battalion of light artillery under Colonel S. D.

Lee will take the same route. The cavalry under General

Stuart will cross at Morton's Ford, pursue the route by Stevens-

burg to Rappahannock Station, destroy the railroad bridge,

cut the enemy's communication, and, operating toward Cul-

peper Court House, will take position on General Longstreet's

right.

In his report General Lee says that the movements
contemplated in his order were to have been commenced
on the 18th of August, but the necessary preparations

not having been completed, the execution of the order

was postponed to the 20th. In the interval the enemy
became apprised of his design and retired beyond the

Rappahannock.
A day or so previous to the date given above General

Stuart had ordered his cavalry to move in the direction

of Raccoon Ford. He expected that General Fitzhugh

Lee with his brigade would be in the neighborhood of

Verdierville, on the plank road to Fredericksburg, on the

17th of August; and on the evening of that day he rode

with his staff to that point to meet his troops. Find-

ing that Lee's brigade was not there, and being unable

to learn anything about it from the people of the vicin-

ity, he sent Major Fitzhugh, of his staff, on the road on

which he had expected Lee to move, to look for him.

General Stuart remained at Verdierville. At an early

hour next morning he was aroused by the noise of mov-

ing horses and wagons, and on going to the road he
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ascertained that they were corning along the route that

he had expected General Fitzhugh Lee to take. He
took the approaching troops for his own men, but sent

out two officers to ascertain the facts. He was soon

undeceived, as these officers w^ere fired upon, turned

about hurriedly, and were pursued. General Stuart,

bareheaded and without his cloak, ran for his horse,

mounted, rode rapidly to the rear, jumped a high fence,

and, with several of his staff, sought shelter in a neigh-

boring body of woods. Stuart was not the man, how-

ever, to go very far unnecessarily. He says in his report

:

" Having stopped at the nearest woods, I observed the

party approach and leave in great haste, but not with-

out my hat and the cloak which had formed my bed.

Major Fitzhugh in his search for Fitz. Lee was caught

by this party and borne off as a prisoner of war." This

misadventure of General Stuart w^as the subject of many
a joke at his expense, but none laughed more heartily

over the recollection of his hasty departure from Verdier-

ville than he did. What a splendid fellow Stuart was I

Of fine physique, possessing great powers of endurance,

courageous to an exalted degree, of sanguine tempera-

ment, prompt to act, always ready for fight—he was the

ideal cavalryman. How genial he was ! There was no

room for " the blues" around his headquarters; the hes-

itating and desponding found no congenial atmosphere

at his camp
;
good will, jollity, and even hilarity, reigned

there. The banjoist was almost as indispensable an ad-

junct to the headquarters of the cavalry as was the

adjutant-general. Songs and laughter often revealed

Stuart's bivouac when other signs failed in the dark-

ness of night. And what happiness was his if circum-

stances caused his tent to be pitched within calling dis-

tance of lovely women ! How many happy hours were

passed by him and his staff at the beautiful " Bower "

in the Valley of A^irginia! It was a refreshing sight to
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see him as he moved off from camp followed by his staff,

and to catch the m.erry glance of his eye as he pointed

with pride to a garland of flowers, or autumn leaves,

decorating his horse's neck, the work of sweet woman's
hand ! Let it not be supposed, however, that there was
no sober nor serious side to the character of this gallant

soldier. Behind and underlying all this freedom from
care and light-heartedness there was a vein of earnest

conviction and of deep devotion to principle, a recog-

nition of man's dependence upon his Maker, and an
abounding faith in the promises of his Redeemer, as

proclaimed in the gospel of peace. While no soldier was
ever more ready than he for the fray, none ever realized

more fully the personal danger it involved, nor faced

more courageously the issue of life or death that attended

his every movement in response to the call of duty.

The capture of Major Fitzhugh revealed General Lee's

plans to General Pope. The latter says in his report

:

The cavalry expedition sent out on the IGtli, in the direction

of Louisa Court House, captured the adjutant-general of Gen-

eral Stuart, and was very near capturing that officer himself.

Among the papers taken was an autograph letter of General

Robert E. Lee to General Stuart, dated Gordonsville, August

13th, which made manifest to me the position and force of the

enemy and their determination to overwhelm the army under

my command before it could be reinforced by any portion of

the Army of the Potomac. I held on to my j^osition thus far

to the front for the purpose of affording all time possible for the

arrival of the Army of the Potomac at Aquia Creek and Alex-

andria, and to embarrass and delay the movements of the enemy

as far as practicable. On the 18th of August it became appar-

ent to me that this advanced position, with the small force un-

der my command, was no longer tenable in the face of the over-

whelming forces of the enemy. I determined, therefore, to

withdraw behind the Rappahannock with all speed.
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GENERAL LEE MOVES AGAINST GENERAL POPE

GENERAL LEE promptly advanced his army and
crossed the Rapidan River. Longstreet's wing
crossed at Raccoon Ford, the brigade of cavalry

under General Fitzhugh Lee having preceded it; and
Jackson's wing crossed at Somerville Ford, Robertson's

brigade of cavalry leading in the advance, accompa-
nied by General Stuart. In the afternoon of the 20th Gen-
eral Fitzhugh Lee had a sharp and successful skirmish

w^ith the rear-guard of the enemy, near Kelly's Ford on
the Rappahannock, and found the enemy holding the

north side of the river in strong force. About the same
time General Robertson's brigade of cavalry encountered

a large body of the enemy's cavalry near Brandy Station

and drove them across the Rappahannock. General

Pope's army was now posted along the line of the Rappa-
hannock, with its left at Kelly's Ford and its right about
three miles above Rappahannock Station. On the

morning of the 21st General Stuart, with a brigade of

cavalry and a section of artillery, forced a passage

across the river at Beverly Ford, capturing a number
of prisoners and arms. Stuart maintained his position

for some hours, when General Robertson, who, with
his command, had crossed the river above, reported

that the enemy was advancing in large force upon the

position held by General Stuart, and as General Lee
had meanwhile determined not to cross the army at
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that point, Stuart was directed to withdraw to the south
side of the river. The enemy soon appeared in large
force upon the opposite bank, and an animated fire was
kept up during the rest of the day between his batter-
ies and those of Jackson's leading division.
General Lee determined to seek a more favorable

place to cross, higher up the river, so as to gain the
enemy's right. General Longstreet was therefore or-
dered to leave his position at Kelly's Ford and occupy
the positions held by General Jackson's troops at Bev-
erly Ford and the Rappahannock bridge. General Jack-
son, thus relieved, was ordered to move higher up the
river. On the 23d Jackson crossed Hazel River at
Welford's Mill and proceeded up the Rappahannock.
He reached Warrenton Springs ford in the afternoon,
and immediately began to cross his troops to the north
side of the river, occupying the Springs and the adja-
cent heights. During the night there was a very heavy
storm. The rain came down in torrents, and on the
next morning the river was found to be out of its banks.
Under these circumstances General Jackson deemed it

advisable to withdraw the troops from the north side,
and they recrossed on the night of the 23d on a tempo-
rary bridge constructed for the purpose.
General Stuart, who had been ordered to move to the

enemy's rear and cut his communications, crossed the
Rappahannock on the morning of the 22d, some distance
above where Jackson crossed—part of his command at
Waterloo Bridge and the remainder at Hart's Mill.
Proceeding on the road to Warrenton, General Stuart
reached that point in the afternoon. He found no force
of the enemy there, and ascertained that none had been
there for days. He then directed the march of his col-
umn to the vicinity of Catlett's Station, which place he
reached after dark. Having captured the enemy's
pickets, General Stuart was soon in the midst of the
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Federal camps, but, as he says in his report, the night
was the darkest he ever knew. It rained incessantly,

making the progress of artillery very difficult. Guided
by a negro who recognized him and offered to lead him
to the tents occupied by the staff of General Pope, Gen-
eral Stuart was soon in possession of Pope's headquar-
ters, capturing a large number of prisoners, including

many officers, and securing a large amount of public

property. Attempts were then made to destroy the

railroad bridge over Cedar Run, but owing to the heavy
rain this was found to be impossible.

Fearing that the streams in his rear would be ren-

dered impassable by the heavy rainfall, General Stuart

determined to retrace his steps at once, and on the

morning of the 23d he joined General Jackson's force at

Warrenton Springs. In his report General Stuart says:

As day dawned, I found among the great number of prison-

ers Pope's field-quartermaster, Major Goulding, and ascertained

that the chief quartermaster and Pope's aide-de-camp. Colonel

L. H. Marshall, narrowly escaped the same fate. The men of

the command had secured Pope's uniform, his horses and equip-

ments, money-chests, and a great variety of uniforms and per-

sonal baggage ; but Avhat was of peculiar value was the despatch-

book of General Pope, which contained information of great

importance to us, throwing light upon the strength, movements,

and designs of the enemy, and disclosing General Pope's own
views against his ability to defend the line of the Rappahannock.

Over three hundred jn'isoners, of whom a large number were

ofl&cers, were marched safely within our lines at Warrenton

Springs on August 33d, where General Jackson was found con-

structing a bridge.

While the movements just recorded had consumed
several days, and General Lee's purpose of striking a

blow at Pope's army was yet unaccomplished, the delay

was not altogether disadvantageous.
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There being no longer any doubt about the with-

drawal of the army under General McClellan from the

Peninsula, the Confederate authorities at Richmond
breathed more freely, and General Lee was permitted
to carry out his design of reuniting his army.
The divisions of D. H, Hill and McLaws, two brigades

under General J. G. Walker, and Hampton's cavalry

brigade, that had been left at Richmond, were now or-

dered to join the army under General Lee. Although
none of these troops took part in the operations against

Pope's army, the very fact that they were en route and
rapidly approaching, as also the fact that they served

to protect the communications of General Lee, contrib-

uted very materially in strengthening his hands for the

work before him. Time did not permit that he should

await the arrival of these reinforcements. The army
under General Pope was being daily augmented by the

arrival of reinforcements from the army of General
McClellan. The occasion demanded celerity and au-

dacity.

A defensive campaign by General Lee, along the line

of the Rappahannock, with the prospect of being con-

fronted in a very few days by the combined armies of

generals McClellan and Pope, one hundred and fifty

thousand strong, offered no attractions to the Confed-

erate leader. While General Lee has been criticized

by some because of the great risk that he ran in detach-

ing Jackson for the movement against Pope's right and
rear, these critics have never told us what better alter-

native was then offered him; and there could be no
more conclusive vindication of the strategy of General

Lee than the success that attended his plans in this

particular case.

The army under General Pope was massed between
the town of Warrenton and Sulphur Springs, and
guarded all the fords of the river as far above as
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Waterloo. The command of General Jackson lay be-

tween Jeffersonton and the "Warrenton Springs ford.

The lower fords of the river had been made impassable

by the heavy rains.

General Longstreet was ordered to ascend the river,

with the view of having him within supporting distance

of General Jackson, and reached Jeffersonton in the
afternoon of August 24th.

In accordance with the plan adopted by General Lee,

General Jackson was to cross the river above Waterloo
and move well around the enemy's right, so as to strike

the railroad in his rear. General Longstreet was mean-
while to divert the enemy's attention by threatening

him in front, and to follow Jackson as soon as he was
sufficiently advanced.

On the morning of August 25th, at an early hour, the

troops that had so often been led to victory by Jackson,

in light marching order, crossed the river at Hinson's

Mills, about four miles above Waterloo. Jackson was
himself again; his men were in their element. Here
were no Chickahominy Rivers, no Grapevine Bridges,

no White Oak Swamps to embarrass leaders and men,
but respectable rivers, with decent bottoms and sub-

stantial banks ; and as the men emerged from the wa-
ter and inhaled the inspiriting mountain air of upper
Virginia, there was an elasticity in their step and a
vigor in their movements that carried joy to the heart

of their leader. Every man in that body of troops

thought for himself. There Avas a marked personality

in the mode of thought and action of the Southern sol-

dier. He planned campaigns and studied the art of

war; but when, as on this occasion, troops were de-

tached from their supports and took up their line of

march to the very heart of the territory held by the

enemy, such was their supreme confidence in him who
led them, there was no hesitation, no reluctant obedi-
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ence, but an enthusiastic acquiescence in the purpose of

their leader, which, though unannounced, was already
divined by them.

Swift as an arrow went this column to Orleans, and
thence to Salem, near which place it bivouacked for the

night. A march of twenty-five miles in one day ! On
the next morning General Jackson resumed his march,
"continuing his route v/itli his accustomed vigor and
celerity," as General Lee records in his report. He
passed the Bull Run mountains at Thoroughfare Gap,
and proceeding by way of Gainesville, reached the rail-

road at Bristoe Station after sunset. At Gainesville he
was joined by General Stuart, with the brigades of

Robertson and Fitzhugh Lee, who continued with him
during the rest of his operations, vigilantly and effectu-

ally guarding both his flanks. General Jackson was
now between the large army of General Pope and the

Federal capital. In his movements thus far he had en-

countered no considerable force of the enemy. On his

reaching Bristoe Station the Federal guard at that

point withdrew precipitately. Several trains of cars

were captured, and a few prisoners were taken. Ma-
nassas Junction was distant about four miles, and it

was known that the Federals had there a large quantity

of supplies. Although it was now nearly dark, and the

men were greatly fatigued by their long march from
Salem, General Jackson determined to send a force

there immediately to capture those supplies. General

Trimble volunteered to take command of the infantry

assigned to this service. General Stuart accompanied
him with a part of his cavalry, by command of General

Jackson, and as ranking officer assumed command.
The Federal guard at the Junction was quickly over-

come by the two regiments under General Trimble, and
the Confederates were soon in possession of the place.

More than three hundred prisoners, eight pieces of ar-
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tillery, one hundred and seventy-five horses, and im-
mense quantities of stores of every kind were captured.

Leaving one division at Bristoe Station, early in the
morning of the next day General Jackson moved with
the rest of his command to Manassas Junction. A
small force of Federals, sent from Alexandria by rail,

in an attempt to recapture the Junction was quickly
overwhelmed and put to flight.

The Confederates, who had started upon this expedi-

tion with three days' rations, and who had taken exer-

cise after extraordinary fashion, now had opportunity
of regaling themselves upon the stores captured from
the Federals, and were not slow in availing themselves
of it. The rest of the day was uneventful.

In the afternoon, however. General Ewell, who was
at Bristoe Station with three of his brigades to guard
against any approach of the enemy from the direction

of Warrenton Junction, was attacked by Hooker's divi-

sion of Heintzelman's corps of McClellan's army. After
having successfully resisted two assaults, and developed
the fact that the enemy was present in large force, and
it having become apparent that the Federal commander
had now been made aware of the situation of affairs

and had turned upon General Jackson with all his force,

General Ewell, in compliance with his instructions,

withdrew his command gradually, one brigade at a
time, and proceeded to rejoin General Jackson at Ma-
nassas Junction, having destroyed the railroad bridge
and the captured trains in the morning. The enemy
did not press beyond Bristoe Station.

General Jackson now determined to withdraw from
Manassas Junction and to take position where he could
be more readily joined by Longstreet, whose command
was approaching. After the troops had abundantly
supplied themselves, the remaining captured stores

were destroyed on the night of the 2Tth. During the
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same night Taliaferro's division moved to the west side

of the turnpike road from Warrenton to Alexandria,
and took position near Groveton, where it was joined
on the 28th by the divisions of A. P. Hill and Ewell.
Thus posted, General Jackson was in excellent position

to await the arrival of General Longstreet, who was
to come through Thoroughfare Gap, to retire by way of

the Gap if occasion should require him to decline battle

with a superior force, and to threaten the flank of the
enemy moving toward Manassas.
General Pope, meanwhile, having realized that the

affair at Manassas Junction was something more than
a cavalry raid, and that Jackson's entire command had
possession of the railroad in his rear, had given orders,

on the night of the 27th, for the concentration of his

army next day at and near Manas'sas Junction. In his

order to General McDowell he says

:

At daylight to-morrow morning march rapidly on Manassas

Junction with your whole force, resting your right on the Ma-

nassas Gap Kailroad, throwing your left well to the east. Jack-

son, Ewell, and A. P. Hill are between Gainesville and Manassas

Junction. We had a severe fight with them to-day, driving

them back several miles along the railroad.* If you will march

promptly and rapidly at the earliest dawn of day upon Manassas

Junction, we shall bag the whole crowd.

This order to General McDowell included his own
corps, that of General Sigel, and Reynolds's division of

the First Corps. At the same time General Heintzel-

man was ordered to move with his corps, and Reno's

command of the Ninth Corps, to Greenwich, so as to

reach there during the night of the 27th, or early on the

morning of the 28th. General Banks Avas ordered to

relieve the command of General Fitz John Porter at

"Warrenton, and as soon as relieved General Porter

* This refers to Ewell's withdrawal from Bristoe Station.
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was ordered to proceed immediately iii the direction of

Greenwich and Gainesville.

General Banks was ordered to assume the charge of

the trains on arriving at Warrenton Junction, and to

cover their movement toward Manassas Junction.

BATTLE OF GROVETON

During the afternoon of the 28th, soon after the con-

centration of his divisions near Groveton, General Jack-

son learned that a large body of the enemy, approaching

from the direction of Warrenton, was moving down the

turnpike toward Centreville. This proved to be King's

division of McDowell's corps. General Pope had changed

his former orders and was now endeavoring to concen-

trate about Centreville. As the column moved, appar-

ently unconscious of the nearness of Jackson's troops,

its flank was exposed, and General Jackson immediately

made dispositions to attack. The divisions of Ewell and

Taliaferro were advanced through the woods, leaving

Groveton on the left; three batteries of artillery were

placed in position and began to shell the troops massed

upon the turnpike. The Federal troops were promptly

deployed and moved in the direction of the Confederate

batteries. On the side of the Federals there were four

brigades of infantry and four batteries of artillery. The

Confederate line had now emerged from the woods and

was moving in gallant style through the open field.

Meanwhile the leading brigade of the Federal force was

moving forward in line of battle toward the Confederate

batteries. The conflict that ensued was fierce and san-

guinary, attended by heavy losses on both sides. The

fighting continued until after dark. Neither side gained

any material advantage, and during the night the Fed-

eral forces retired.

In his report of this engagement General Jackson

says:
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This obstinate resistance of the enemy appears to have been

for the purpose of protecting the flank of his column until it

should pass the position occupied by our troops. Owing to the

difficulty of getting artillery through the woods, I did not have

as much of that arm as I desired at the opening of the engage-

ment. But this want was met by Major Pelham with the Stuart

horse artillery, who dashed forward on my right and opened

upon the enemy at a moment when his services were much
needed. Although the enemy moved off under cover of the

night and left us in quiet possession of the field, he did not long

permit us to remain inactive or in doubt as to his intention to

renew the conflict. The loss on both sides was heavy, and

among our wounded were Major-general Ewell and Brigadier-

general Taliaferro.

General Ewell's wound was a very serious one. The
bones of one leg were so shattered as to necessitate am-
putation. He was rendered unfit for service for months,
and did not report for active duty in the field until the

spring of 1863.

On the morning of the 29th it was ascertained that

the enemy had taken a position to interpose his army
between General Jackson and Alexandria.

General Jackson, anticipating an attack from the

direction of Manassas and Centreville, took up a line of

defense in the vicinity of and along the line of the cut of

an unfinished railroad, stretching from the Warrenton
turnpike in the direction of Sudley Mills. Jackson's

division, under Brigadier-general Starke, was on the

right, Ewell's division, under Brigadier-general Lawton,
in the center, and A. P. Hill's division on the left. This

was the general arrangement early in the morning of

the 29th, but two brigades of Ewell's division—Early's

and Hay's—with a battery of artillery, under command
of General Early, were moved some distance to the

rear of the right of the line to a position that com-
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manded a view of the turnpike in front, to protect our

right flank and rear against a force that had been re-

ported to be advancing on the road from Manassas
toward Gainesville.

We shall now follow the movements of General Long-

street's column. General R. H. Anderson reached the

position occupied by Longstreet's command, opposite

Warrenton Springs, on the 26th of August. General

Longstreet, on being relieved, marched at once to join

General Jackson. He crossed the river at Hinson's Mill

in the afternoon and encamped for the night near

Orleans. He reached White Plains the next day, and
on the 28th, at about 3 p.m., arrived at Thoroughfare

Gap. Here he found the enemy prepared to resist his

passage. Dispositions were immediately made to force

a way through. This duty was assigned to General

D. R. Jones, who quickly advanced two of his brigades,

and soon opened the way through the gorge. Long-

street's command passed through, a part that evening

and the remainder early the next morning, when the

whole command resumed the march, the sound of can-

non at Manassas announcing that Jackson was already

engaged. The head of the column soon reached Gaines-

ville, and moved down the turnpike toward the right

of the line occupied by Jackson's troops. The two bri-

gades under General Early were relieved and proceeded

to rejoin their division. The two wings of General Lee's

army were now united, and the crucial test of strength

between him and General Pope was on.

SECOND MANASSAS

At an early hour on this day, August 29th, General
Jackson had ascertained that the force of the enemy at-

tacked by him on the previous evening had abandoned
the ground occupied at the close of the engagement and
moved toward his left. The Federal army was now
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being concentrated in Jackson's front, and General
Pope entertained high hope of being able to overwhelm
him before reinforcements could reach him. He seems
to have labored under the delusion that Jackson was re-

treating, although it was Jackson who attacked in the
engagement with McDowell's troops on the evening of

the 28th. Indeed, in his report covering the movements
of his troops at this time, General Pope says: "I felt

sure then, and so stated, that there was no escape for

Jackson."

During the morning the Federal artillery opened a
brisk fire upon Jackson's right, which was replied to

by his batteries. After a while the enemy seemed to

change the plan of attack and moved against Jackson's
left. The Federal army corps under General Sigel,

about ten thousand men, was the first to advance against
the Confederate lines. In obedience to orders from
General Pope, Sigel was to hold Jackson in check until

his army was concentrated. Three divisions of Sigel's

corps were hurled against that portion of A. P. Hill's

line occupied by the brigades of Gregg and Thomas.
The assault, though made with great spirit, was firmly

met and repulsed. Reinforced by a portion of Reno's
corps that had now reached the field, the assault was
repeated, but with no better results. For half of the

day there was desultory but severe fighting along Hill's

front. Although the Federals were acting on the ag-

gressive, there were several counter-strokes delivered

by the Confederates under Gregg and Thomas. The bat-

tle was waged with incessant fury and varying success.

On the side of the Federals, up to this time, there had
been engaged Sigel's corps, the divisions under Hooker
and Kearny, Milroy's brigade, and a portion of Reno's

corps. But the end was not yet. Upon the arrival of

the fresh troops under Reno and Heintzelman, General
Pope having also arrived at the front and being in com-
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mand, a more determined and concentrated assault was
made by the Federals against the line so long and stub-

bornly held by Hill's brigades.

Once the Federals penetrated the line between the

brigades of Gregg and Thomas, but reinforcements

were at hand; the Fourteenth South Carolina regiment,

hitherto in reserve, and the Forty-ninth Georgia of

Thomas's brigade were thrown forward, and the Federals

were quickly driven back with great slaughter. The
contest was close and obstinate, the men at times de-

livering their fire at ten paces, and the bayonet was fre-

quently in requisition. The Confederate line remained

firm and unbroken. General Hill in his report says:

The enemy prepared for a last and determined attempt. Their

serried masses, overwhelming superiority of numbers, and bold

bearing made the chances of victory to tremble in the balance

;

my ovrn division exhausted by seven hours' unremitted fighting,

hardly one round (of ammunition) per man remaining, and weak-

ened in all things save its unconquerable spirit. Casting about

for help, fortunately it was here reported to me that the brigades

of generals Lawton and Early Avere near-by, and, sending to

them, they promptly moved to my front at the most opportune

moment, and this last charge met the same disastrous fate that

had befallen those preceding.

In speaking of the attack of Early when called to the

aid of Gregg's brigade, General Jackson says in his

report

:

General Early, on reaching his position, found that the enemy

had obtained possession of the railroad and a piece of wood in

front, there being at this point a deep cut, which furnished a

strong defense. Moving through a field, he advanced upon the

enemy, drove them from the wood and railroad cut with great

slaughter, and followed in pursuit some two hundred yards.

The Thirteenth Georgia (of Lawton's brigade) at the same time

advanced to the railroad and crossed with Early's brigade.
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In these repeated assaults of the Federals, four divi-

sions, numbering at least thirty thousand men, had
been thrown against Jackson's front, which remained
firm and unbroken. The Federal loss was very heavy.
In his report General Pope puts it at from six to eight

thousand in killed and wounded.
The Confederate loss cannot be stated accurately.

A. P. Hill's division was about ten thousand strong.

In his report of the two days' fighting, August 29th and
30th, he puts the loss of his command at 199 killed, 1308

wounded, total 1507, of which Gregg's brigade lost 619.

Brigadier-general Field and Colonel Forno, command-
ing Hay's brigade, were severely, and Brigadier-general

Trimble seriously, wounded.
While Jackson was being heavily assailed, the troops

of General Longstreet were arriving on the field, and
the leading brigades were at once deployed on Jack-
son's right. Hood's two brigades, with Evans's brigade

as a support, were deployed across the turnpike and at

right angles to it. In rear of these troops, and within

supporting distance, were three brigades under General
Wilcox on the left, and three brigades under General
Kemper on the right. Jones's division formed the ex-

treme right of the command, but was broken off to the

rear, across the Manassas Gap Railroad, to resist a force

of the enemy reported by General Stuart to be advanc-

ing on Longstreet's right from that direction; but no
serious attack was made, and after firing a few shots

the enemy withdrew. At twelve o'clock Longstreet

reported that his command was formed for battle.

The question will naturally arise. Why did not Long-
street attack, and so relieve the heavy pressure on

Jackson? General Longstreet relates how earnestly

General Lee desired that he should attack, but says he

"did not order." General Lee, in his report, is silent

on this point. To one accustomed to his ways it is
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easy to understand why he did not order an attack, in

view of General Longstreet's reluctance to make one;

and it can be quite as readily appreciated, by those who
knew him, why General Lee made no mention of the

difference of views between the two in his report.

General Longstreet was apprehensive of an advance by
the enemy from the direction of Manassas. It really

happened that General Pope had ordered General Por-

ter to move with his corps to and around Jackson's
right so as to envelop it, but he did this in ignorance
of the fact that Longstreet had arrived and taken posi-

tion on the right of Jackson. Nothing would have
suited Longstreet better than to have had Porter assail

him. General Porter, however, had encountered the

ever vigilant General Stuart, who promptly reported

the presence of infantry in force moving on Long-
street's right, when the brigades of Wilcox were sent

to the support of D. R. Jones, and, as previously rela-

ted, the Federal force withdrew after exchanging a few
shots. The facts are that General McDowell, whose
corps was moving along with Porter's, arrived at Por-

ter's front about noon, and arrested Porter's movement.
General Stuart was raising a great dust on the road by
dragging brush, so as to create the impression that a

large body of troops were moving in that direction.

The official report of the Federal board of officers ap-

pointed to investigate the case of General Fitz John
Porter says: "The dust in Porter's immediate front

and extending across toward Groveton, as well as back
toward Gainesville, showed that large forces of the

enemy, in addition to those reported by Buford, were
already on the field."' From the same report it appears
that General McDowell then said to General Porter, in

the hearing of several officers, "Porter, you are too far

out; this is no place to fight a battle," or words to

that effect. Whether it was Porter or McDowell that
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was at fault, General Pope always held the former re-

sponsible, and he did not hesitate to say so in his re-

port. He was not, however, aware of Longstreet's

presence, whereas Porter had reason to think that a
large force was in his front, and readily acquiesced
with General McDowell, and declined to give battle.

General Longstreet, apprehensive of an attack on
his right and rear by the troops that had been with-

drawn from that quarter, opposed General Lee's desire

for him to attack. He says

:

Onr Chief now returned to his first plan of attack by his right

down the turnpike. Though more than anxious to meet his

wishes, and anticipating his orders, I suggested, as the da}' was

far spent, that a reconnaissance in force be made at nightfall to

the immediate front of the enemy, and if an opening was found

for an entering wedge, that we have all things in readiness at

daylight for a good day's work. After a moment's hesitation

he assented, and orders were given for the advance at early

twilight.

A distinguished military critic,* writing impartially

with a view to historical accuracy, has this to say
about this matter:

Longstreet, with a complacency it is hard to understand, has

related how he opposed the wishes of the commander-in-chief.

Three times Lee urged him forward. The first time he rode to

the front to reconnoiter, and found that the 2:)osition, in his

own words, was not inviting. Again Lee insisted that the

enemy's left might be turned. While the question was under

discussion, a heavy force (Porter and McDowell) was reported

advancing from Manassas Junction. No attack followed, how-

ever, and Lee repeated his instructions. Longstreet was still

unwilling. A large portion of the Federal force on the Manas-

sas road now marched northward to join Pope, and Lee, for the

last time, bade Longstreet attack toward Groveton.

* "Stonewall Jackson," by Lieutenant-colonel G. F. R. Henderson.
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We have seen how General Longstreet hesitated and
urged as a substitute for this a reconnaissance in force.

Two brigades, Hood's and Evans's, with Wilcox as a
support, were ordered to advance. They soon ran into

King's division, also advancing to attack. The fight

was spirited, but the Federals gave way before the im-
petuous Texans until Hood's line was a mile and a half

advanced. One cannon, a number of flags, and a few
prisoners were taken. The reconnaissance was accom-
plished, the ground was examined, and the troops, after

night, were withdrawn to their original positions.

As matters turned out, it was all right. General
Jackson had succeeded in holding his lines, so fiercely

and continuously assailed. General Longstreet, per-

haps, found his justification in the success that crowned
the efforts of the Confederates the next day; and yet
I know of no good reason to doubt that the same suc-

cess would have been attained the first day had the

same energy been displayed.

On the morning of the 30th the positions of the two
armies remained practically as at the close of the day
preceding. On the Confederate side the division under
General R. H. Anderson had arrived on the field and
was held in reserve. General Pope, reinforced by the
commands of McDowell and Porter, had his army well

in hand. All promised well for the Federal command-
er. He was still under the impression that his oppo-
nent was endeavoring to get away from him. To his

mind every indication pointed to the retreat of the
enemy from his front. Paroled Federal prisoners, cap-

tured the evening previous and allowed to return to his

lines, reported the Confederates as retreating during
the night along the Warrenton turnpike. They had
mistaken the reconnaissance and withdrawal made by
Longstreet's brigades for a battle and a retreat. He
repelled every suggestion that Longstreet had united
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with Jackson, and was confirmed in this belief by the
report of one of the paroled prisoners that had " heard
the rebel officers say that their army was retiring to

unite with Longstreet." It was not until after noon,
however, that General Pope had made his dispositions

to attack. General Lee, anticipating the purpose of his

opponent, quietly awaited the assault. Jackson's troops,

disposed in the same relative positions as on the pre-

vious day, lay on their arms. A number of batteries of

artillery, some from Jackson's command and some from
the reserve artillery under General S. D. Lee, had been
posted upon a commanding eminence on Jackson's

right, where his troops joined Longstreet's, and so

placed as to command the front of Jackson's line. In

the ensuing battle those batteries played a most con-

spicuous and wonderfully effective part in determining

the issue between the contending armies. Indeed, the

fighting of the big guns at Second Manassas was the

handsomest exhibition of the effectiveness of that

branch of the service seen during the war, in my esti-

mation.

As the enemy massed his troops in Jackson's front, it

became evident that the assault was to be delivered

there. I have always admitted that I cannot recall the

exact time of day when any important event took place

during the period of active operations when fighting

was going on, and have always spoken with reluctance

and hesitation when interrogated on this point. As an
illustration of the uncertainty of the evidence of eye-

witnesses and participants in such a matter, I submit

the following conflicting testimony concerning the hour

when Pope made his assault on Jackson. General Lee

says in his report: ''About 3 p.m. the enemy, hav-

ing massed his troops in front of Jackson, advanced

against his position in strong force." General Jackson

says: "After some desultory skirmishing and heavy
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cannonading during the day, the Federal infantry,

about four o'clock in the evening, moved from under
cover of the wood and advanced in several lines, first

engaging the right, but soon extending its attack to the

center and left. In a few moments our entire line was
engaged in a fierce and sanguinary struggle with the

enemy." General A. P. Hill says: " On the 30th, about

two o'clock, the enemy again made an attack along our

whole line. The attack on my part of the line was gal-

lantly resisted by Archer and Thomas, Gregg still hold-

ing the extreme left. This onset was so fierce and in

such force that at first some headway was made, but

throwing in Pender and Brockenborough, their advance
was again checked and eventually repulsed with great

loss," General Longstreet says: "About one o'clock

in the afternoon General Pope ordered attack against

Jackson's front by the corps under General Porter."

And General Pope says: "Between twelve and two
o'clock in the day I advanced the corps of Porter, sup-

ported by King's division of McDowell's corps, to attack

the enemy along the Warrenton turnpike.

"

Porter's corps advanced to the attack with King's

division in support; at the same time Heintzelman and
Reno, on the right of Porter, were ordered to push for-

ward toward Warrenton turnpike and attack Jackson's

left; Ricketts's division was so placed as to support this

movement on the Federal right, but was soon recalled

and ordered to the Federal left.

The Confederate commanders are agreed in according
unstinted praise to the dash and courage of the Federal

troops in making this attack, but General Pope states

that "the attack of Porter was neither vigorous nor
persistent, and his troops soon retired in considerable

confusion." As the second and third lines of great

strength moved to support the first in the attack on the

Confederate left, so impetuous and determined were
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these assaults as to excite General Jackson's apprehen-
sion as to the ability of his troops to continue success-

fully to maintain their position, and he called on General
Lee for reinforcements. Immediate orders were sent

to General Longstreet to send a division to General
Jackson. General Longstreet had just then reached a
point in advance of his lines from which he could ob-

serve the assaulting Federals " piling up against Jack-
son's right, center, and left." He saw at a glance that

if batteries of artillery were posted at that point their

fire would enfilade the Federal masses and make such
havoc in their ranks as to compel them to retire. He
concluded that this was the quickest and surest way to

relieve the pressure on Jackson. He immediately or-

dered two batteries to this position, and two others were
advanced at the same time by General S. D. Lee. As
anticipated by General Longstreet, the fire from these

batteries was most destructive, and in a very short time

the ranks of the enemy were broken, and the whole
force rapidly retired.

Their repeated efforts to rally were unavailing, and Jackson's

troops, being thus relieved from the pressure of overwhelming

numbers, began to press steadily forward, driving the enemy be-

fore them. He retreated in confusion, suffering severely from

our artillery, which advanced as he retired. General Longstreet,

anticipating the order for a general advance, now threw liis

whole command against the Federal center and left. Hood's

two brigades, closely followed by Evans, led the attack. E. H.

Anderson's division came gallantly to the support of Hood, while

the three brigades under Wilcox moved forward on his left, and

those of Kemper on his right. D. E. Jones advanced on the ex-

treme right, and the whole line swept steadily on, driving the

enemy with great carnage from each successive position until

10 P.M., when darkness put an end to the battle and pursuit.*

* General Lee's report.
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I recall an impressive incident of this battle, the recol-

lection of which remains very fresh with me, despite

the long time that has since elapsed. It occurred after

the advance made by Longstreet's troops, when we were
driving the enemy from each successive stand made in

their sullen retirement. We would drive their batteries

from their position, then our pieces would advance, un-

limber, and go into action upon the elevation just aban-

doned, and again the enemy would be forced to retire

from their new position by our impetuous assault. In

the midst of this pursuit, as I rode with General Lee, my
attention was attracted by a Federal officer who lay

upon the ground wounded, and whose look was so eager

and appealing as to cause me to stop, dismount, and go

to him. Before I could speak to him he said : "Is Frank
Huger here ? " I replied that Huger was not just at that

point. Then he said : '"Is Ramseur here ? " Again I re-

plied in the negative, and then I asked: "Why do you

ask for Huger and Ramseur ? " " Oh," he replied, " they

are old friends of mine and fellow cadets at West
Point."

Again how sad it all was ! Here was a splendid speci-

men of manhood stricken down, whose profession was
Avar, which called for self-sacrifice ; but alas, whose so-

called enemies were the beloved friends of his youth

and his former comrades in arms!

Of course all this passed very rapidly. I asked his

name, which he gave as Captain Chamberlain,* turned

him over at once to a field-surgeon, promised to look

him up later, and rode rapidly to overtake General Lee.

Poor fellow ! His wound was mortal, and when I went

* Liouteuant W. W. Chamberlain, aide-de-camp to General Sykes, who in

his official report says: " Lieutenant Chamberlain, sent with an order to

Colonel Warren near the close of the day, is among the missing. His fate

is not yet determined, but he is believed to be a prisoner, wounded, and in

the hands of the enemy."
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to look after him at the close of the battle I ascertained
that he was dead.

During the night Pope's army retired to the north
side of Bull Run, and on the morning of August 31st,

when the cavalry was pushed forward at an early hour
hy General Stuart, it was ascertained that the Federals
occupied the heights around Centreville, a strong posi-

tion about four miles from Bull Run. It had rained
very heavily during the night, and the run was well-

nigh impassable.

At this time a serious mishap befell General Lee, that

made life a trial to him for several weeks, and came
near depriving the army of his presence. It happened
on the day after Pope's army had retreated, when
General Lee halted for conference with General Long-
street. The party had dismounted near a high railroad

embankment and culvert. General Lee, surrounded by
a number of general and staff officers, held his horse,

with the bridle loosely depending from his arm. Sud-

denly a large number of prisoners, with a guard,

swarmed over the embankment and scurried in the di-

rection of General Lee and party. My recollection is

that they moved in haste because the fire from the

enemy made it unsafe on the embankment. This sud-

den apparition frightened General Lee's horse, and he

quickly threw up his head and jumped backward. Gen-

eral Lee was thrown violently to the ground, and both

wrists were seriously sprained and the small bones of

one hand broken. He had no use of either hand, and

for some days each arm had to be carried in a sling.

He could not ride his horse, and for some time there-

after moved in an ambulance. This was a sore trial to

the general's patience. The ambulance could not go

into many places where a horse would have carried

him, and so his movements were greatly hindered : all

this in addition to the physical suffering he was expe-
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riencing. Napoleon occasionally moved in a carriage,*

but I am sure General Lee would never have done so

from choice.

General Lee directed General Longstreet to remain
upon the field to engage the attention of the eneni}'-

and to care for the dead and wounded, and ordered
General Jackson to proceed in pursuit of the enemy, by
Sudley Ford to the Little River turnpike, so as to turn

Pope's right and get between his army and Washing-
ton. Jackson's troops reached Little River turnpike in

the evening, and on the morning of September 1st ad-

vanced toward Fairfax Court House. Jackson's move-
ment was now so well developed that General Pope
made immediate arrangements to evacuate his position

at Centreville, and directed his troops to a new position

at Fairfax Court House.

CHANTILLY, OR OX HILL

Jackson's troops encountered the enemy late in the

afternoon at Ox Hill, and a serious engagement ensued,

during a drenching rainstorm, without decisive results.

The Federals lost two of their best generals, Kearny
and Stevens. General Kearny, in some way, in the

confusion of the fight, had ridden into our lines. He
quickly wheeled, and as he rode received a volley from
the advancing Confederate skirmishers, and fell dead.

Under orders from General Lee I delivered his body at

the Federal lines the next day under a flag of truce.

It was a sad duty. There was no place for exultation

in the contemplation of the death of so gallant a man,
and as I accompanied his remains I was conscious of a

feeling of deep respect and great admiration for the

brave soldier, who, as stated by General Pope, had
"died as he would wish to die, and as became his heroic

character."

Longstreet's command arrived at the scene of action
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late in the evening, and some of his troops were de-

ployed to the relief of Jackson's, but did not become
engaged. During the night the Federals withdrew,
and it was ascertained the next morning, September 2d,

that General Pope was retiring with his army behind
the line of fortifications erected for the defense of Alex-
andria and Washington,
To show the extent of the discomfiture of General

Pope and his army, it is only necessary to recite his

own language in his despatches to General Halleck at

Washington. Said he: " Unless something can be done
to restore tone to this army it will melt away before

you know it. . . . The enemy is in very heavy force,

and must be stopped in some way. These forces under
my command are not able to do so in the open field,

and if again checked, I fear the force will be useless

afterward." He had at that time, according to his own
statement, sixty-two thousand men; whereas General
Lee's army at no time exceeded fifty thousand, from
which should be deducted his losses to arrive at his

strength at that date. In summing up the results of

his campaign against General Pope, General Lee says

:

" In the series of engagements on the plains of Manas-
sas more than seven thousand prisoners were taken, in

addition to about two thousand wounded left in our

hands. Thirty pieces of artillery, upward of twenty
thousand stands of small arms, numerous colors, and a

large amount of stores, besides those taken by General

Jackson at Manassas Junction, were captured."

The Federal loss in these battles was 1T33 killed and
10.135 wounded; the Confederate loss was 1090 killed

and 6154 wounded.



CHAPTER XI

GENERAL LEE INVADES THE STATE OF MARYLAND

GENERAL LEE now determined to cross the Potomac
River and invade the State of Maryland. His
army had been increased by the arrival of the

infantry divisions of D. H. Hill, McLaws, and Walker,
and by Hampton's cavalry. The spirit of the army was
fine, but it was poorly equipped, and deficient in all

things that make for bodily comfort. These matters
had been fully considered; the advantages and disad-

vantages of an aggressive campaign into the enemy's
country had been well weighed, and with the sanction

of the authorities at Richmond and the approval of his

own judgment, General Lee gave the order for his army
to advance. The cavalry was ordered to follow and
harass the retreating Federals, and the infantry was
put in motion, with orders to cross the Potomac by the

fords east of the mountains. General Jackson led with
his command by way of Leesburg, and was followed by
General D. H. Hill with his division. Longstreet's

command followed Hill. The cavalry served to screen

these movements of the infantry. Jackson's men were
permitted to have one day's rest, and D. H. Hill's divi-

sion went to the front. General Lee went to Leesburg,
and was entertained by Mr. Henry Harrison, at whose
house he spent the night.

Between September 4th and 7th the several columns
of the army crossed the Potomac at the fords nearest to

Leesburg, and on September 7th the army was concen-
trated about Frederick, Maryland. This bold move on
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the part of the Confederates had startled and alarmed
the people of the ISTorth, and excitement rose to fever
heat in some localities. The Governor of Pennsylvania
issued a proclamation and called out every able-bodied
man in the State to assist in repelling the rebel invaders.

General Pope Avas relieved from the command of the
Army of Virginia, and General McClellan was put in

command of the combined forces of that army and the
Army of the Potomac, as also of all the troops in front

of Washington. While the people at the North were
much excited over the invasion of their territory, our
own people were indulging hopes as to the effect of the

presence of General Lee and his army in Maryland that

never materialized. In his proclamation to the people
of Maryland, General Lee clearly shows that he hoped
for some movement of the people to the Confederate
standards, with the view of regaining the rights of

which they had been despoiled. This view was also held

by the authorities at Richmond, and Mr. Davis formed
the purpose of going in person to join General Lee.

I think that General Longstreet is in error, however,
when he says that it was General Lee's " deliberate and
urgent advice to President Davis to join him and be
prepared to make a proposal for peace and independence
from the head of a conquering army." General Lee
was made aware on the 9th of the intention of Mr.

Davis to join him; and to prevent an undertaking so

fraught with danger, he sent me to meet Mr. Davis
with the following letter

:

Headquaeters, NEAR Fredericktown, Md.,

September 9, 1862.

His Excellency President Davis—
Mr. President : I have jnst received j'our letter of the 7th

instant from Rapidan informing me of your intention to come

on to Leesburg. While I should feel the greatest satisfaction in
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having an interview with you, and consulting upon all subjects

of interest, I cannot but feel great uneasiness for your safety

should you undertake to reach me. You will not only encounter

the hardships and fatigues of a very disagreeable journey, but

also run the risk of capture by the enemy. I send my aide-de-

camp Major Taylor back to explain to you the difficulties and

dangers of the journey, which I cannot recommend you to un-

dertake.

I am endeavoring to break up the line through Leesburg,

which is no longer safe, and turn everything off from Culpeper

Court House toward Winchester. I shall move in the direction

I originally intended, toward Hagerstown and Ciiambersburg, for

the purpose of opening our line of communication through the

valley in order to procure sufficient supplies of flour. I shall not

move until to-morrow, or perhaps next day, but when I do move,

the line of communication in this direction will be entirely

broken up. I must therefore advise that you do not make an at-

tempt that I cannot but regard as hazardous.

I have the honor to be, with high respect, your obedient ser-

vant,

K. E. Lee, General.

I was also charged with the duty of seeing after the

sick and wounded around and about the scenes of the

recent battles, and of arranging for their transportation to

Winchester, which place was made a rendezvous for all

the men returning from sick or wounded furlough, and
for all stragglers who had become separated from their

command. In compliance with these orders, I left

General Lee on the 9th of September, crossed the Poto-

mac, and rode to Leesburg, at which place I spent an-

other night under the roof of the hospitable Mr. Harri-

son. The next day I continued my journey to Warren-
ton, at which point I ascertained that Mr. Davis had
abandoned his purpose to join the army and returned

to Richmond. The sick and wounded had all been re-



MAJOR TAYLOR GOES TO MEET MR, DAVIS 121

moved, and after reporting by telegraph to the Presi-

dent at Richmond I made all haste to get through the
mountains into the Shenandoah Valley, and proceeded
directly to Winchester.
On arriving at Winchester I found quite a number of

men and officers who were returning to their commands
and who were in good condition. There was a much
larger number of those who were sick, footsore, and
broken down, who had not been able to keep up with
their commands ; a very large proportion of these were
without shoes. A provost guard had charge of the

camp and maintained a rigid line beyond which none
were to be allowed to go until advices were received

from General Lee as to the route by which such of these

men and officers as were able should rejoin their com-
mands.
Taking with me Colonel Frank Huger and Colonel

John S. Saunders, both of the artillery, I crossed the

Potomac and proceeded to Hagerstown. Here we put
up for the night at the Hamilton Hotel, and after hav-
ing seen that our horses were properly cared for, we re-

tired for sleep, hoping we were to have a good night's

rest. About one or two o'clock in the morning—that is,

on September loth—we were aroused by a great commo-
tion in the hotel, caused by a number of people who had
assembled there and reported a heavy engagement be-

tween the forces of Lee and McClellan at Boonsborough
Gap, and who also represented that a Federal force was
marching on Hagerstown. We saddled our horses with-

out delay, and, although accepting the wild reports with
some allowance, we deemed it the part of wisdom to get

out of the town. After we had proceeded some distance

in the direction of Sharpsburg, to which place it was
stated that General Lee was retiring, we went into a
field, picketed our horses some distance from the road,

and laid ourselves down under the protection of a hay-
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rick to wait for daylight. We heard nothing unusual

while there, but in the morning, when we resumed our

journey, we ascertained that a large body of Federal

cavalry, which proved to be that escaping from Harper's

Ferry, had passed along the road, and congratulated

ourselves on our narrow escape. I reached General Lee
on the morning of the 15th near Sharpsburg, and found

him with the commands of Longstreet and D. H. Hill

awaiting the advance of McClellan's army.

While General Lee was at Frederick he learned

that the Federal forces in the lower valley were con-

centrating for defense at Harper's Ferry. The com-
bined forces numbered about thirteen or fourteen

thousand men. Such a force at Harper's Ferry would
have constituted a standing menace to General Lee's

new line of communication, and it was necessary to

be rid of it. The progress of McClellan's army up to

this time had been very slow. Knowing his adversary

well, and relying upon a continuation of the cautious

tactics he had always pursued, General Lee determined

to send a force sufficient for the purpose to insure the

capture of the Federal forces at Harper's Ferry, with

the expectation that such purpose could be accomplished

and his army reunited in time to give battle to General

McClellan. General Jackson was to undertake the re-

duction and capture of Harper's Ferry, in which McLaws
and Walker were to cooperate, while Longstreet and
D. H. Hill were to hold McClellan in check. The fol-

lowing order of march was issued

:

Headquarters Army of Northern" Virginia,

September 9, 1862.

Special Orders, No. 191.

1. The citizens of Fredericktown being unwilling, while over-

run by members of this army, to open their stores, in order to give

them confidence all officers and men of this army are strictly
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prohibited from visiting Fredericktown except on business, in

which case they will bear evidence of this in writing from divi-

sion commanders. The provost marshal in Fredericktown will

see that his guard rigidly enforces this order.

2. Major Taylor will proceed to Leesburg, Virginia, and arrange

for transportation of the sick and those unable to walk to Win-
chester, securing the transportation of the country for this pur-

pose.

The route between this and Culpeper Court House east of the

mountains being unsafe will no longer be traveled. Those on

the way to this army already across the river will move up

promptly; all others will proceed to "Winchester collectively and

under command of officers, at which point, being the general

depot of this army, its movements will bo known and instruc-

tions given by commanding officer regulating further movements.

3. The army will resume its march to-morrow, taking the

Hagerstown road. General Jackson's command will form the

advance, and after passing Middletown with such portion as he

may select, take the route toward Sharpsburg, cross the Potomac

at the most convenient point, and by Friday morning take pos-

session of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, capture such of the

enemy as may be at Martinsburg, and intercept such as may at-

tempt to escape from Harper's Ferry.

4. General Longstreet's command will pursue the main road

as far as Boonsborough, where it will halt with reserve, supply,

and baggage trains of the army.

5. General McLaws, with his own division and that of General

E. H. Anderson, will follow General Longstreet. On reaching

Middletown he will take the route to Harper's Ferry, and by

Friday morning possess himself of the Maryland Heights and

endeavor to capture the enemy at Harper's Ferry and vicinity.

6. General AValker, with his division, after accomplishing the

object in which he is now engaged, will cross the Potomac at

Cheek's Ford, ascend its right bank to Lovettsville, take pos-

session of Loudon Heights, if practicable, by Friday morning,

Keys's Ford on his left, and the road between the end of the
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mountain and the Potomac on his right. He will, as far as prac-

ticable, cooperate with generals McLaws and Jackson, and inter-

cept the retreat of the enemy.

7. General D. H. Hill's division will form the rear-guard of

the army, pursuing the road taken by the main body. The re-

serve artillery, ordnance, and sujoply-trains, etc., will precede

General Hill.

8. General Stuart will detach a squadron of cavalry to ac-

company the commands of generals Longstreet, Jackson, and

McLaws, and, with the main body of the cavalry, will cover the

route of the army, bringing up all stragglers that may have been

left behind.

9. The commands of generals Jackson, McLaws, and Walker,

after accomplishing the objects for which they have been de-

tached, will join the main body of the army at Boonsborough or

Hagerstown.

10. Each regiment on the march will habitually carry its axes

in regimental ordnance wagons, for use of the men at their en-

campments, to procure wood, etc.

By command of General E. E. Lee.

E. H. Chiltok,

Assistant adjutant-general.

This is the now famous order a copy of which fell

into the hands of General McClellan on the 13th of Sep-

tember. What a fatalit}^ was there for General Lee!

What an advantage to the Federal commander—to be

instantly made aware of the division of his adversary's

army, the wide separation of his columns, and to have
the details of his plan laid bare

!

There is no parallel to it in history. A victory for the

South at that time meant the recognition by foreign

powers of the independence of the Confederate States.

Victory that seemed assured for General Lee trembled

in the balance, and by this fortuitous incident eluded

his grasp. It looks as if the good Lord had ordained
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that we should not succeed. General Lee could manage
General McClellan well enough under normal condi-

tions, but this looks like an interposition of Providence
to thwart his designs. Some will say that this check to

the wheel of Confederate fortune was not due to the act

of God, but to the carelessness of some one at the head-
quarters of General D. H. Hill, to whom the copy of the

order was addressed;* to which the fatalist will reply

that it was predetermined and could not have been
otherwise; and this contention will never be settled

until the line is established that marks where Divine
Sovereignty ends and human free-agency begins.

To me it is as if He who controls the destinies of men
and of nations had said: "You, people of the South,

shall be sorely tried, but the blamxC is not yours, and
therefore to you shall fall the honors—genius, skill,

courage, fortitude, endurance, readiness for self-sacri-

fice, prowess in battle, and victory against great odds

;

but this great experiment to demonstrate man's capacity
for self-government, with its corner-stone of universal

freedom, must continue with undivided front, and there-

fore I decree to the other side determination, persist-

ence, numbers, unlimited resources, and ultimate suc-

cess."

BATTLE OF BOONSBOROUGH PASS

Up to this time General McClellan had moved slowly

and cautiously ; it took his army four days to march
twenty-four miles. On the 13th his several commands
made an average of from seven to eight miles only:

* General Hill assured me that he had in his possession, years after the

war had closed, the original of this order addressed to him. I was sent to

meet Mr. Davis and so did not supervise the promulgation of this order, but

Colonel Venable always contended that two copies were sent to General

D. H. Hill, one from General Lee and a copy from General Jackson, under

whose command he was, temporarily, though his division was unattached

;

and that one of these was lost.
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the First Corps from New Market to Frederick (eight

miles) ; the Second Corps from. Urbana to Frederick
(seven miles) ; the Sixth Corps from Licksville Cross

Road to Buckeystown (seven miles) ; the Ninth Corps
from Frederick to Middletown (eight miles) ; the Twelfth
Corps from Ijamsville to Frederick (seven miles)

;

Crouch's division from Barnesville to Licksville (six

miles) ; and Sykes's division from Urbana to Frederick

(seven miles). At this rate of progress by McClellan,

with no one to dispute his way, it can be readily seen

that General Lee would have had ample time for carry-

ing out his plans. But now all is changed. General
McClellan is made aware of the division of General
Lee's army and of the small force in his front. He sends
a despatch to President Lincoln, in which he says

:

I think Lee has made a great mistake, and that he will be

severely punished for it. The army is in motion as rapidly as

possible. I hope for a great success if the plans of the rebels re-

main unchanged. I have all the plans of the rebels, and Avill catch

them in their own trap, if my men are equal to the emergency.

And he proceeds to "catch the rebels." This sounds
like an echo from Pope in his retirement, and seems un-

natural as coming from General McClellan, for whom
most of the Confederate soldiers had great respect and
rather a liking.

Two corps, the First, under Hooker, and the Ninth, un-

der Reno, were sent to the support of Pleasanton, to force

a way through the pass on the Frederick and Hagers-
town road, near Boonsborough, to which point Pleas-

anton's cavalry had pressed the Confederates on the

evening of the 13th. Franklin's corps was ordered to

proceed to Crampton's Gap, so as to cut off the Confed-
erate force under McLaws then at Maryland Heights
and cooperating with General Jackson in the reduction

of Harper's Ferry.
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General Lee on learning of this unexpected energy
on the part of the enemy, who was advancing "more
rapidly than was convenient," determined to return with
Longstreet's command to the Blue Ridge, to strengthen

T>. H. Hill's and Stuart's commands, engaged in holding

the passes of the mountains. Hill became actively en-

gaged and sent to advise General Lee that the enemy was
at the main pass, in strong force, pressing him heavily,

and asked for reinforcements. Longstreet was rapidly

advanced and some of his brigades were soon deployed.

The resistance made here by the Confederates was bit-

ter and determined. The brigades of Rodes, Garland,

Colquitt, Anderson, and Ripley (the latter, however,

was at no time engaged), numbering in the aggregate

less than five thousand men, for six or seven hours suc-

cessfully resisted the repeated assaults of the two corps

of the Federal army, fully thirty thousand strong.

About 3 P.M. General D. H. Hill was reinforced by the

brigades of Drayton and Anderson, numbering nineteen

hundred men, and an hour later he was joined by Gen-

eral Longstreet with the brigades of Evans, Pickett,

Kemper, Jenkins, Hood, and Whiting; only four of

these, however, numbering about three thousand men,

became seriously engaged, and they not until dusk.

The battle raged until after dark, and all attempts of

the enemy to force a passage were successfully resisted.

General Lee having learned late in the evening that

Crampton's Gap had been forced by Franklin, and

McLaws's rear thus threatened, and anticipating from

a report received from General Jackson that Harper's

Ferry would be surrendered next morning, determined

to withdraw Longstreet and D. H. Hill from their posi-

tions and retire to the vicinity of Sharpsburg, where

his army could be more readily reunited. Accordingly

the troops were withdrawn, without molestation by the

enemy, and took position in front of Sharpsburg.
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At an early hour on that morning, September 15th,

Harper's Ferry capitulated to General Jackson. The
surrender involved twelve regiments of infantry, num-
bering eleven thousand men, three companies of cav-

alry, and six companies of artillery; with forty-nine

pieces of artillery, twenty-four mountain howitzers,

seventeen revolving guns, and eleven thousand small

arms. The capture of Harper's Ferry also released the

Confederates under McLaws threatened by Franklin;

they crossed the Potomac at Harper's Ferry and so es-

caped the trap set for them.

General McClellan did not exhibit much energy in

forcing General Lee, nor in following him through the

passes of South Mountain, so heroically defended on
the 14th. In his report he says that he went into action

with about thirty thousand men. He gives his casual-

ties in killed and wounded at 1728; and after stating

the positions of the several corps and divisions that

reached him after the fight, says: "Thus, on the night

of the 14th, the whole army was massed in the vicinity

of the field of the battle, in readiness to renew the ac-

tion the next day, or to move in pursuit of the enemy."
The resistance made by D. H. Hill's troops and Long-

street's few brigades was of such character, however,

as not to invite indiscreet haste on the part of the enemy
in the pursuit. General Lee says in his report that

they did not pass through the Gap until about eight

o'clock of the morning after the battle, and that their

advance only reached a position in his front at about

2 P.M. on that day.

BATTLE OF SHARPSBURG, OR ANTIETAM

At dawn on the morning of the 15th General Lee,

with the troops of Longstreet and D. H. Hill, was
aligned for battle along the line of Antietam Creek,

near Sharpsburg. Immediately after the surrender of
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Harper's Ferry, on the same day, General Jackson pro-

ceeded with his divisions to join General Lee. McLaws
and Walker were to follow, all moving on the south

side of the Potomac. A. P. Hill was left in charge of

the surrendered garrison, to parole the prisoners and

secure the captured arms and stores.

At two o'clock in the afternoon the advance of the

Federal army made its appearance in General Lee's

front, having been much retarded by our cavalry under

General Fitzhugh Lee. Meanwhile official information

was received of the fall of Harper's Ferry and of the

approach of Jackson's troops, and as the news of this

great victory was conveyed along the lines, it greatly

reanimated the courage of the troops and put them in

excellent spirits. During the afternoon the leading

divisions of McClellan's army were deployed on the op-

posite side of Antietam. There was some desultory

artillery fire, but no effort was made even to feel the

strength of the Confederates, or to draw their fire.

General Jackson arrived with his troops early on the

16th, and General Walker came up in the afternoon.

General Lee's troops occupied a range of hills between

Sharpsburg and the Antietam, nearly parallel to the

course of that stream, Longstreet on the right of the

road to Boonsborough and D. H. Hill on the left. Two
brigades under General Hood had been transferred from

the right and posted between D. H. Hill and the Hagers-

town road. As Jackson's troops arrived they were di-

rected to take position on Hood's left, and their line

extended from the Hagerstown road on their right, with

their left extending toward the Potomac River. Gen-

eral Stuart protected this flank with his cavalry and

horse artillery. General Walker, as soon as he arrived,

with his two brigades, was posted on the right of Long-

street's command, taking the place of Hood's brigades,

moved to the left. ,
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Urgent orders had meanwhile been sent to generals

McLaws and A. P. Hill to hasten with all despatch to

Sharpsburg. General McLaws with his troops reached

the scene of action early on the 17th. General A. P.

Hill with his brigades, except that under General

Thomas left to complete the removal of the captured

property, began the march from Harper's Ferry at 7.30

A.M. on the 17th, and the head of his column arrived

upon the battle-field at 2.30 p.m., having made a dis-

tance of seventeen miles in seven hours. The condition

of the several commands after the forced march from
Harper's Ferry can be readily understood. There was
a continuous line of stragglers from Harper's Ferry to

Sharpsburg. Jackson hardly gave the men of his divi-

sions time to contemplate the handsome results of their

work in the capture of Harper's Ferry, but hurried them
off to join General Lee by a forced march. Walker
followed him closely. McLaws, with his own division

and that of R. H. Anderson, consumed more time.

General McLaws, however, had a more difficult task, as

is shown by his report

:

The entire command was very much fatigued. The brigades

of generals Kershaw and Barksdale had been engaged on Mary-

land Heights on the 12th, 13tli, and 14th, and on the 15th had

been marched from the Heights to the line of battle, up the val-

ley, formed to oppose that of the enemy below Crampton's Gap.

Those of generals Cobb, Semmes, and Mahone (Colonel Parham)

had been engaged and badly crijipled at Crampton's Gap, and all

the others had been guarding important points under very trying

circumstances. A large number had no provisions, and a great

portion had not had time or opportunity to cook what tliey had.

All the troops had been without sleep during the jDrevious night,

except while waiting in line for the wagon-trains to pass over

the pontoon bridge at Harper's Ferry.

All the commands had been subjected to very severe

trials. The route from Harper's Perry was strewn
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with footsore and weary men, too feeble to keep up
with the stronger and more active ; and instead of going
into battle with full ranks, the brigades were no
stronger than regiments, and in some cases numbered
no more than a full company. And all this was the

result of the lost order and exposure of the plan of the
Confederate commander.
On the afternoon of the 16th General McClellan di-

rected an attack by Hooker's corps on the Confederate
left. Crossing the Antietam at the bridge near Keedys-
ville, beyond the reach of the Confederate batteries,

Hooker's corps advanced against that portion of our
line occupied by the two brigades under General Hood,
but the attack was gallantly repulsed. After dark Hood's
troops were relieved by the brigades of Lawton and
Trimble, of Swell's division, and, after replenishing am-
munition, resumed their place on Longstreet's right.

At an early hour on the 17th the Federal batteries

opened a vigorous fire upon the Confederate left, under
cover of which their infantry advanced to assail the

part of the line held by General Jackson. The battle

was soon on in earnest, and raged with great fury and
varying success during the entire day. The fighting

was here heaviest and most continuous. Three distinct

assaults by three separate corps were made upon this

X-)ortion of our line. First Hooker, then Mansfield, and
then Sumner essayed to turn this flank, and each corps

in turn was driven back ; and two of them, shattered,

broken, and dispersed, were rendered useless for fur-

ther aggressive movements. General Sumner, in speak-

ing of the conditions when he was advancing, says

:

On going npon the field I found that General Hooker's corps

had been dispersed and routed. I passed him some distance in

the rear, where he had been carried wounded, but I saw nothing

of his corps at all as I was advancing with my command on the
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field. There were some troops lying down on the left which I

took to belong to Mansfield's command. In the meantime

General Mansfield had been killed, and a portion of his corps

had also been thrown into confusion.

The aggregate strength of the attacking columns at

this point reached forty thousand men, not counting the

two divisions of Franklin's corps, sent at a late hour in

the day to rescue the Federal right from the impending
danger of being itself destroyed.

The brunt of these attacks fell upon the men of Jack-

son's divisions. The lines of the enemy were repeatedly

broken and forced to retire, but as fresh troops ad-

vanced to the assault, Jackson's men were in turn com-
pelled to fall back, and Jackson's division, with ammu-
nition exhausted and numbers greatly reduced, was re-

lieved by General Hood, with his two brigades, and by
General Early, in command of Ewell's division after the

wounding of General Lawton, with his brigade. These
troops, contending against many times their own num-
bers, held tenaciously to their ground. The battle be-

came close and fierce. Three brigades of D. H. Hill's

division and one of D. R. Jones's division were moved
in to the support of General Hood, when the enemy
again gave way and his lines were forced back. Fresh
numbers of the enemy were thrown in to the support of

their wavering line, but the desperate resistance they
encountered held them in check until the arrival on the

field of McLaws's division from Harper's Ferry, which
General Lee ordered to the threatened point, together

with the two brigades under General J. G.Walker, moved
over from our right to the relief of General Hood. These
troops attacked the enemy vigorously, driving him back
with great slaughter and reestablishing our lines.

The enemy next attempted to carry our center, ad-

vancing in heavy force against that part of the lines-



BATTLE OF SHARPSBURG 133

held by a portion of J. G. Walkers comniand and the

two brigades of D. H. Hill's division under generals G.

B. Anderson and E-odes. The first assault was repulsed,

but owing to some mistake of orders, the brigade of

General Rodes was then withdrawn from its position,

leaving a gap in our lines, through which the enemy
quickly advanced, when G. B. Anderson's brigade was
broken and forced to retire, General Anderson being

mortally wounded. General Lee thus describes the

critical condition of affairs at this time

:

The heavy masses of the enemy again moved forward, being

opposed only by four pieces of artillery, supported by a few hun-

dred men belonging to different brigades, rallied by General D.

li. Hill and other officers, and parts of Walker's and K. H. Ander-

son's commands. Colonel Cooke, with the Twenty-seventh North

Carolina regiment of Walker's brigade, standing boldly in line

without a cartridge. The firm front presented by this small

force, and the well-directed fire of the artillery, under Captain

Miller of the Washington artillery, and Captain Boyce's South

Carolina battery, checked the progress of the enemy, and in

about an hour and a half he retired.

Meanwhile the enemy had advanced a large force,

Burnside's corps, to attempt the passage of the bridge

over the Antietam, opposite the right of General Long-
street's position. This bridge was heroically defended

by General Toombs's brigade of Georgians, and repeated

efforts of the enemy to cross were thwarted. Later in

the afternoon the enemy began to extend his line as if

to cross the river below the bridge, thus taking Toombs's
brigade in reverse, when its brave commander reluct-

antly ordered it to retire from the position so long and
bravely defended.

The enemy then crossed the river in large force and
advanced against that part of General Longstreet's line

held by the command of General D. R. Jones, who had
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less than two thousand men in line Of battle. After a
stout resistance this small force was compelled to give

way; but opportunely the division of General A. P.

Hill arrived from Harper's Ferry, and was immediately

ordered to reinforce General Jones. General Hill

promptly advanced his four brigades under generals

Archer, Branch, Gregg, and Pender; at the same time

several of Hill's batteries of artillery opened with good

effect upon the enemy, whose progress was immediately

arrested, and as his line began to waver, General Jones

ordered Toombs to charge his flank, while Archer,

Branch, and Gregg moved upon the front of the Federal

line. " The enemy made a brief resistance, then broke

and retreated in confusion toward the Antietam, pur-

sued by the troops of Hill and Jones, until he reached

the protection of his batteries on the opposite side of the

river.*' *

It was now nearly dark ; the enemy had been repulsed

at every point and General Lee held his lines intact.

The thirty-five thousand Confederates in line of battle

under General Lee on that memorable day constituted

the very flower of the Army of Northern Virginia. Never
did soldiers render more heroic service ; never were troops

more skilfully handled. Outnumbered at every point,

the right was called upon to go to the rescue of the left

;

the center was reduced to a mere shell in responding to

the demands for assistance from the right and left ; and
A. P. Hill's division, the last to arrive from Harper's

Ferry, reached the fleld just in time to restore the wa-
vering right. We had no troops in reserve; every man
was engaged. At times it appeared as if disaster were
inevitable, but succor never failed, and night found

General Lee's lines unbroken and his army still defiant.

The field of Sharpsburg, or Antietam, was perhaps

* General Lee's report.
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the most fiercely contested and the most sanguinary of
all the great battles of the war. Commencing at an
early hour in the morning, the fighting was continuous
throughout the day, with the advantage first on one
side and then the other. The Federal army was fresh
and well in hand; it had marched by easy stages for the
several days preceding the finding of the lost order,
with an abundance of supplies of every kind, and its

ranks were full and unbroken. The several columns of
the Confederate army, widely separated, were com-
pelled to make forced marches, with scant rations, in

order to present a united front to the enemy, and, out of

breath from marching, were hurried into battle with
empty stomachs and ranks sadly reduced.

General Lee, in his report of this battle, says

:

The arduous service in which our troops had been engaged,

their great privations of rest and food, and the long marches,

without shoes, over mountain roads, had greatly reduced our

ranks before the action began. These causes had compelled

thousands of brave men to absent themselves, and many more

had done so from unworthy motives. This great battle was

fought by less than forty thousand men on our side, all of whom
had undergone the greatest labors and hardships in the field and

on the march. Nothing could surpass the determined valor with

which they met the large army of the enemy, fully supplied and

equipped, and the result reflects the highest credit on the officers

and men engaged.

General McClellan reports that he had 87,164 men of

all arms engaged on that day. General Lee's total

strength was a fraction over 35,000.

The killed and wounded in this day's fight on the Fed-

eral side amounted to 11,657, of which number 2108 were

killed.

The total casualties in General Lee's army during the

campaign—that is, in the fighting at Boonsborough
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Gap, Harper's Ferry, Cranipton"s Gap, and Sharpsburg

—

amounted to something over twelve thousand.

On the 18th General Lee's army maintained the same
position it held at the close of the battle the previous

day. Many of those left behind in the rapid march to

Sharpsburg had rejoined their commands, and so con-

siderably increased their numerical strength; and al-

though too weak to assume the offensive, General Lee
awaited a renewal of the attack by the enemy without

apprehension. Wiser counsels, however, prevailed on

the Federal side. General McClellan in his report thus

states the situation

:

The night, however, brought witli it grave responsibilities.

Whether to renew the attack on the 18th, or to defer it, even

with the risk of the enemy's retirement, was the question before

me. After a night of anxious deliberation, and a full and care-

ful survey of the situation and condition of our army, the

strength and position of the enemy, I concluded that the success

of an attack on the IStli was not certain. I am aware of the

fact that, under ordinary circumstances, a general is ex2:)ected

to risk a battle if he has a reasonable prospect of success ; but

at this critical juncture I should have had a narrow view of the

condition of the country had I been willing to hazard another

battle with less than an absolute assurance of success. At that

moment—Virginia lost, Washington menaced, Maryland in-

vaded—the national cause could afford no risks of defeat. One

battle lost and almost all would have been lost. Lee's army

might then have marched, as it pleased, on Washington, Balti-

more, Philadelphia, or New York. It could have levied its sup-

plies from a fertile and undevastated country, extorted tribute

from wealthy and populous cities, and nowhere east of the Alle-

ghanies was there another organized force able to arrest its march.

All of which is very true ; all of which had been con-

sidered by General Lee. What better evidence could

be asked of the sagacity of General Lee in planning the
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invasion of Maryland and the campaign as it was to be,

and as it would have been but for the "lost order,"

than this clear-cut, vivid picture of the results of a suc-

cess to General Lee, presented by the most soldierly

and brilliant of all of his opponents ?

Among the reasons given by General McClellan why
he should not renew the attack, I note the following

:

The troops generally were greatly overcome by the fatigue

and exhaustion of the severe and continuous fighting on the

17th. They required rest and refreshment. One division of

Sumner's and all of Hooker's corps on the right had, after fight-

ing most valiantly for several hours, been overpowered by num-
bers, driven back in great disorder and much scattered, so that

they were for the time somewhat demoralized.

Some of the new troops on the left, although many of them

fought well during the battle and are entitled to great credit,

were, at the close of the action, driven back and their morale

impaired.

On the morning of the IStli General Burnside requested tliat

another division be sent to assist him in holding his position on

the far side of the Antietam; giving the impression that if he

were attacked again that morning he would not be able to make
a very vigorous resistance.

The explanation here given by General McClellan for

his inaction shows that the Federal army was no more
in condition to assume the offensive than was General
Lee's. The truth is that both armies were exhausted
by the terrible struggle of the previous day. Neither
side could claim a victory, although General Lee had
repulsed the attacks of the enemy made upon his line,

and that is all that can be said of the assault on the

third day at Gettysburg by the divisions of Pickett and
Pettigrew. It was repulsed. So were Hooker, Mans-
field, and Sumner at Antietam. We hear much of one,

but little of the other.



CHAPTER XII

GENERAL LEE RETIRES TO VIRGINIA

DURING the night of the 18th General Lee withdrew
his army to the south side of the Potomac, crossing

at Shepherdstown, without loss or molestation.

On the 20th a body of the Federal troops crossed the

river at Shepherdstown, but was met and quickly driven

back by General A. P. Hill's division, with great loss.

The army then inarched to the Opequon River, near
Martinsburg, where it remained some days and then

moved to the vicinity of Bunker Hill and Winchester.

No better summary of the results of the campaign
thus ended can be given than is found in the congratu-

latory order issued by General Lee to his army, which
reads as follows

:

In reviewing the achievements of the army dnring the pres-

ent campaign, the commanding general cannot withhold the

expression of his admiration of the indomitable courage it has

displayed in battle, and its cheerful endurance of privation and

hardship on the march. Since your great victories around

Richmond you have defeated the enemy at Cedar Mountain,

expelled him from the Rappahannock, and, after a conflict of

three days, utterly repulsed him on the plains of Manassas, and

forced him to take shelter within the fortifications around his

capital. Without halting for repose you crossed the Potomac,

stormed the heights of Harper's Ferry, made prisoners of more

than eleven thousand men, and captured upward of seventy-five
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pieces of artillery, all their small arms, and other munitions of

war. While one corps of the army was thus engaged, the other

insured its success by arresting at Boonsborough the combined

armies of the enemy, advancing under their favorite general to

the relief of their beleaguered comrades.

On the field of Sharj)sburg, with less than one third his num-

bers, you resisted from daylight until dark the whole army of

the enemy, and repulsed every attack along his entire front of

more than four miles in extent. The whole of the following

day you stood prepared to resume the conflict on the same

ground, and retired next morning without molestation across

the Potomac. Two attempts subsequently made by the enemy

to follow you across the river have resulted in his complete dis-

comfiture and being driven back with loss. Achievements such

as these demanded much valor and patriotism. History records

few examples of greater fortitude and endurance than this

army has exhibited, and I am commissioned by the President to

thank you in the name of the Confederate States for the undy-

ing fame yon have won for their arms.

Much as you have done, much more remains to be accom-

plished. The enemy again threatens with invasion, and to your

tried valor and patriotism the country looks with confidence for

deliverance and safety. Your past exploits give assurance that

this confidence is not misplaced.

The Federal army meanwhile remained in the vicinity

of the recent battle-field. On October 8th General Lee
ordered General Stuart to cross the Potomac above
Williamsport with his command, and endeavor to ascer-

tain the position and purpose of the enemy. Stuart

crossed the river at McCoy's Ferry on October 10th, and
proceeded at once to Chambersburg, where he spent the

night. The next morning he made directly for Gettys-

burg, thence to Emmitsburg, thence tOAvard Frederick;

but before reaching that point, crossing the Monocacy,
and thence, fighting his way, to the Potomac, which he
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crossed at White's Ford, thus making a complete circuit

of the Federal army, the main body of which he found

posted west of the Blue Ridge range, and stretching

from ^agerstown to Rockville, the center resting at

Harper's Ferry, with detachments guarding the river.

The Federal authorities at Washington had become
impatient about this inactivity of General McClellan.

They could not understand why, if the enemy had been

"driven across the Potomac," he had not made vigor-

ous pursuit. On the Gth of October he received a tele-

gram from General Halleck in which he was told that

the President directed that he should cross the Potomac
and give battle to the enemy, or drive him south. The
want of clothing for his men and horses for his cavalry

constituted General McClellan's reason for delay in

complying with this order.

On October 21st he notified General Halleck that he

was about supplied with clothing, but still needed

horses, and he asked whether the President desired him
to move at once on the enemy, in compliance with the

order of the 6th, or to await the arrival of the horses.

To which General Halleck replied

:

The President directs me to say that lie has no change to

make in his order of the 6th instant. If you have not been,

and are not now, in condition to obey it, you will be able to

show such want of ability. The President does not expect im-

possibilities, but he is very anxious that all this good weather

should not be wasted in inactivity. Telegraph when you will

move, and on what lines you propose to march.

General Halleck, it appears, did not agree with Gen-
eral McClellan in regard to the conditions that rendered

a forward movement impracticable or unadvisable. He
stated to the Secretary of War that, in his opinion,

there had been no such want of supplies in the army
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under General McClellan as to prevent his compliance

with the orders to advance against the enemy.

In the last days of October and the early days of

November the different columns of McClellan's army
crossed the Potomac, east of the mountains, and ad-

vanced southward toward Warrenton, seizing the passes

through the Blue Ridge as they were reached. On No-

vember 6th the First Corps advanced to Warrenton.

As soon as General Lee was made aware of the move-
ment of the Federals toward Warrenton, he moved
Longstreet's corps across the Blue Ridge and to Cul-

peper Court House, which point it reached on Novem-
ber 3d. General Jackson was at the same time ordered

to move one of his divisions to the east side of the Blue

Ridge.

The enemy gradually concentrated about Warrenton,

his cavalry advanced beyond the Rappahannock, in the

direction of Culpeper Court House. On November 7th

an order was issued from the War Department at

Washington relieving General McClellan of the com-
mand of the Army of the Potomac, and directing Gen-
eral Burnside to assume command.
About the middle of November General Lee saw un-

mistakable signs of a purpose on the part of the Feder-

als to move to Fredericksburg. On the 17th McLaws's
and Ransom's divisions of infantry, a brigade of cav-

alry under General W. H. F. Lee, and Lane's battery

of artillery, were ordered to proceed to that point. To
ascertain more definitely the purpose of General Burn-
side and the location of his troops. General Stuart was
ordered to cross the Rappahannock with his cavalry
and feel the enemy. On the morning of the 18th he
forced a passage at Warrenton Springs, and after brush-
ing aside the small force that was guarding the ford, he
proceeded to Warrenton, which place he reached soon
after the last of the Federal army had left. The infor-
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mation then obtained confirmed the reports previously-

received, and it became evident that the whole of Burn-

side's army was moving toward Fredericksburg.

On the morning of the 19th General Longstreet was
directed to march with the remainder of his corps for

that point. The advance of Burnside's army, under
General Sumner, reached Falmouth opposite Fredericks-

burg on the 17th. On the 21st General Sumner sent a

communication to the civil authorities of Fredericks-

burg, in which he made a demand that the city be surren-

dered at five o'clock that evening; and notice was given

that in the event of a refusal of his demand the city

would bebombarded at nine o'clock next morning. This

threat was subsequently withdrawn in view of certain

assurances given by the mayor; the city was not fired

into. In reference to this matter General Lee says

:

It was impossible to prevent the execution of the threat to

shell the city, as it was completely exposed to the batteries on the

Stafford hills, which were beyond our reach. The city authori-

ties were informed that while our forces would not use the place

for military purposes, its occupation by the enemy would be re-

sisted, and directions were given for the removal of the women
and children as rapidly as 'possible. The threatened bombard-

ment did not take place, but in view of the imminence of a colli-

sion between the two armies, the inhabitants were advised to

leave the city, and almost the entire population without a mur-

mur abandoned their homes. History presents no instance of a

people exhibiting a purer and more unselfish patriotism, or a

higher sjairit of fortitude and courage, than was evinced by the

citizens of Fredericksburg.

General Jackson meanwhile, in pursuance of instruc-

tions from General Lee, had crossed the Blue Ridge and
moved to the neighborhood of Orange Court House;
and about November 2Gth, as soon as Burnside's purpose

was fully developed, he was directed to march to Fred-
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ericksburg. The cavalry was stationed so as to guard
the upper fords of the Rappahannock, and a portion of

it was watching and guarding the river near Port Royal.

General Lee's army now occupied a line extending from
the river about one and a half miles above Fredericks-

burg, along the range of hills south and west of the city

to Hamilton's Crossing on the Richmond, Frederickburg
and Potomac Railroad. The line as thus established

was to a great extent commanded by the heights on the
opposite side of the river, crowned with the heavy guns
of the enemy; but after the construction of earthworks
and the placing of our artillery at every point of van-
tage, it was a very good line for defense, and on the left

absolutely safe against an attack in front. The city

and the plain between it and the Confederate lines were
so completely commanded by the heights on the oppo-

site side that it was deemed unwise to resist in force

any attempt that the enemy might make to construct

bridges and cross the river. Only a small force, there-

fore, consisting of Barkdale's brigade of McLaws's divi-

sion and two regiments from Anderson's division, the

Third Georgia and the Eighth Florida, under General
Barksdale, was stationed in the city for the purpose of

picketing the river-front and impeding as much as
possible any attempt that the enemy might make to

cross the river.

THE BATTLE OF FREDERICKSBURG

On December 11th, at an early hour, the working
parties of the Federals commenced the construction of

three bridges at the city, and one lower down near the
mouth of Deep Run. Barksdale's men, sheltered by
the houses on the river-bank in the city, poured a steady
fire on the bridge-builders, making it so hot for them
that they were compelled to cease work and seek shelter.
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Time and again details for the work gallantly advanced,

but as officers and men fell dead or wounded the bridge-

builders would again retire and seek shelter from the

deadly fire of the Confederate skirmishers. Late in the

afternoon, the fog having lifted enough to enable the

artillerists to distinguish objects on the opposite side of

the river, one hundred and fifty guns of the enemy
opened a furious fire upon the city. About the same
time the Federals determined to load the pontoons with

men, roAv quickly across the river in the face of the Con-

federate fire, and so gain a foothold on the southern

bank. This daring feat was most gallantly performed.

The terrible artillery fire had driven away some of the

Confederates, whose fire had slackened considerably,

and only a few of the brave men rowing the Federal

pontoons were shot down; the shore was reached, the

men formed quickly for attack and rushed to the build-

ings commanding the crossing, when the Confederates

retired. Work on the bridges was now resumed, and
they were completed about 4 p.m. The resistance at

the lower crossing was not so prolonged, and two bridges

had been constructed there by noon. Such was the

character of the resistance made by Barksdale's men,
however, that the whole day was consumed before the

way was open for the Federal troops to cross the river.

The leading brigades crossed to the south side and occu-

pied the city about daylight on the morning of the 12th.

A heavy fog lay upon the river and efi'ectually concealed

these movements. During the day the two Grand Di-

visions under Franklin and Sumner had crossed to the

south side and taken position for attack, Sumner on the

right and Franklin on the left. Two divisions of Hook-
er's command were sent on the evening of the 12th to

cooperate with Franklin. The remainder of Hookers
Grand Division crossed on the 13th. General Burnside
gives the strength of these several commands as follows:
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Tranklin, 60,000; Sumner, 27,000; and Hooker, 20,000.

Total, 113,000.

Longstreet's command constituted the left wing of

the Confederates ; R. H. Anderson's division rested on
the river, and to his right were the divisions of McLaws,
Pickett, and Hood; Ransom's division was stationed

about Marye's and Willis's hills, in support of the artil-

lery; Cobb's brigade of McLaws's division and the

Twenty-fourth North Carolina regiment of Ransom's
division constituted the line of battle around the foot of

these hills, where they were well protected by a stout

stone wall. Jackson's divisions, recalled from their

station lower down on the river as soon as Burnside's

purpose was fully developed, had now arrived, and were
posted on the right of Longstreet. A. P. HilFs division

occupied the ground between Hood's right and Hamil-
ton's Crossing; the brigades of Pender, Lane, and
Archer made up his first line. Thomas's brigade was
posted in the rear of Pender and Lane, and Gregg's bri-

gade was placed in the rear of Lane and Archer. These
two brigades and the Forty-seventh Virginia regiment
and Twenty-second Virginia battalion of Field's brigade

constituted A. P. Hill's reserve. Early's and Talia-

ferro's divisions made up Jackson's second line, and D.

H. Hill's division was in reserve. The Washington artil-

lery under Colonel Walton, the battalion under Colonel

E. P. Alexander, together with some of the divisional

batteries, were posted on Longstreet's front on the crest

of Marye's Hills and the adjacent heights. Lieutenant-

colonel Walker with fourteen guns was posted on A.
P. Hill's right, supported by two regiments of Field's

brigade, commanded by Colonel Brockenborough; Jack-
son's other batteries were posted at the most favorable

positions along his line so as to command the open
ground over which the enemy had to advance. General
Stuart, with two brigades of cavalry and a few guns,
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protected Jackson's right, extending to Massaponax
Creek. General Lee's total strength on the 10th of De-

cember was 78,288.

A heavy fog prevailed on the morning of the 13th, but

the noise made by the movement of artillery and the

music of the regimental bands could be distinctly heard

along the whole line. About nine o'clock the fog lifted

and disclosed the Federal army over one hundred thou-

sand strong in martial array moving to attack. Shortly

thereafter a large force was seen to be advancing against

that part of Jackson's line occupied by A. P. Hill's di-

vision. The movement of this body, which proved to

be Meade's division of Pennsylvanians, was materially

delayed and finally checked by a very brilliant service

of Stuart's horse artillery under Major Pelham, oper-

ating on Jackson's right. The fire of half a dozen bat-

teries concentrated on Pelham finally compelled him
to withdraw. After a considerable interval, during

which the Federal batteries continuously shelled the

woods protecting Jackson's troops, the Federal advance

was resumed and was directed to the piece of woods
held by Lieutenant-colonel Walker's artillery. Reserv-

ing his fire until the enemy had approached to within

about eight hundred yards, Colonel Walker opened upon
them with such destructive effect as to cause their line

to waver and finally to retire in confusion. After this

there was an artillery duel lasting for over an hour,

when about one o'clock the Federals were again seen to

be advancing against A. P. Hill's front in much greater

force, in three compact lines. The Confederate batter-

ies checked them as before, but only temporarily, and
gallantly advancing they were soon within range of the

infantry, and the contest was close and desperate. The
impetus of the Federal advance penetrated the Confed-

erate line between the brigades of Archer and Lane, and
suddenly fell upon Gregg's brigade in the second line.
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As soon as these facts were reported to General Jack-

son, he ordered Early and Taliaferro to advance and
recover the lost ground. Archer, though his flank had
been turned, held on heroically to his line, and the

artillery under Walker played havoc in the ranks of the

second line of the Federals and checked their advance.

The divisions of Early and Taliaferro, in line of battle,

now came forward with a rush. The contest was short

and decisive ; the enemy was driven out with loss, and
though reinforced was forced back to the railroad em-
bankment, behind which he found protection. Here he
was gallantly charged by two brigades of Early's divi-

sion, under colonels Atkinson and Hoke, and driven

beyond the embankment, across the plain to his batter-

ies. Instructions had been given not to pass beyond
the embankment, but the ardor of these troops and their

success caused them to continue the pursuit, shooting

down the fugitives and taking many prisoners, until

they were themselves subjected to a heavy fire of mus-
ketry and artillery directed against their front and
flank, when they were compelled to fall back to the

main body now occupying our original line of battle,

with detachments thrown out to the railroad. General
Lee says: " The repulse of the enemy on our right was
decisive, and the attack was not renewed; but his bat-

teries kept up an active fire at intervals, and sharp-

shooters skirmished along the front during the rest of

the afternoon."

While Franklin was thus endeavoring to turn the

Confederate right, Sumner was engaged in the yet more
serious effort to force Longstreet's front. Having
massed his troops under cover of the houses in the city,

General Sumner awaited the order to advance. After

a concentrated fire from all his batteries on the heights

on the opposite side of the river upon our troops sta-

tioned on Marye's and Willis's hills, General Burnside
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gave the order for Sumner to attack. In his report he

states

:

General Sumner's corps was held in position nntil after eleven

o'clock, in the hope that Franklin would make such an impres-

sion upon the enemy as would enable him (Sumner) to carry the

enemy's line near the Telegraph and Plank roads. Feeling-

the importance of haste, I now directed General Sumner to com-

mence his attack. He had already issued his orders, but had,

in accordance with my instructions, directed his troops to be held

in readiness for the attack, but not to move without further

orders from me.

Division after division was hurled against the impreg-

nable position held by the Confederates, only to be torn

to pieces and driven back. The cool, steady veterans of

Lee. under the protection of their extemporized works,

made terrible havoc in the ranks of the assaulting

columns ; division after division recoiled from the shock,

shattered, discomfited, and demoralized. Their allotted

task exceeded human endeavor; and no shame to them
that after such courageous and brilliant conduct their

efforts lacked success. In the language of a distin-

guished soldier: "By those hapless and stout-hearted

soldiers, sacrificed to incompetency, a heroism was dis-

played which won the praise and the pity of their oppo-

nents." Six distinct and separate assaults were made
against Longstreet's front by the divisions of French,

Hancock, Howard, Getty, Sturgis, Griffin, and Hum-
phreys; but each succeeding effort met the fate of the

first, and when night closed in the shattered columns of

the enemy had retired to the city, leaving the ground
covered with dead and wounded. Ah, the pity of it!

The carnage was terrible. How many to this day recall

the cries of agony that came from that sanguinary

field! Not until the 15th was a flag of truce sent to Gen-
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eral Jackson's front with the request that there should

be a cessation of hostilities between their left and our

right wing, for the purpose of removing their wounded
from the field. No such request came, at any time, for

the relief of the poor fellows lying in front of Marye's

Hill; but the Confederates, moved to pity, did all they

could to relieve the suffering Federals in their front.

Many pathetic stories were told of the efforts of the

Southern soldiers to relieve the sufferings of their

wounded foes. How light and shadow alternated in fit-

ful fancy in marking the path of the life of the soldier

of those days ! How colors gay and grave blended in

the picture that portrayed the soldier's hopes and trials

!

How humor and pathos followed close upon each other

in his intercourse with his fellows! As illustrating this,

I recall an incident of the battle-field at Fredericksburg.

A Confederate was moving among the Federal wounded,
after dark, for the purpose of affording them such re-

lief as he could, when his attention was drawn to a fine

pair of shoes on the feet of a poor fellow, silent and
rigid. He was himself badly off in the matter of foot-

wear, and to think was but to act. Those shoes, how
useless to one, how necessary to the other! He seized

one shoe and began to pull. The supposed corpse feebly

raised his head and cast upon his despoiler a reproach-

ful glance that seemed to say, " How could you?" The
Confederate laid the foot gently on the ground, touched

his hat, and said; "Beg pardon, sir, I thought you had
gone above." The story was told to me and I believed

it; but whether true or a fiction, it serves to illustrate

my point.

General Lee confidently expected that there would be

a renewal of the attack on the 14th, but that day and
the next passed without anything more serious than

desultory artillery firing and skirmishing by the picket

lines. He says in his report

:



150 GENERAL LEE

The attack on the 13tli had been so easily repulsed, and by so

small a part of onr army, that it was not supposed the enemy
would limit his efforts to an attempt which, in view of the mag-

nitude of his preparations and the extent of his force, seemed to

be comparatively insignificant. Believing, therefore, that he

would attack us, it was not deemed expedient to lose the advan-

tages of our position and expose the troojos to the fire of his inac-

cessible batteries beyond the river, by advancing against him;

but we were necessarily ignorant of the extent to which he had
suffered, and only became aware of it when, on the morning of

the 16th, it was discovered that he had availed himself of the

darkness of the night and the prevalence of a violent storm of

wind and rain to recross the river. The town was immediately

reoccupied and our position on the river-bank resumed. In the

engagement more than nhie hundred prisoners and nine thou-

sand stands of arms were taken.

The losses on the Federal side were 12,653—1284 killed,

9600 wounded, and 1769 missing; and on the side of the
Confederates, 5322 killed and wounded.

It was a grand experience to have been at the battle

of Fredericksburg. I have never seen another battle

as I saw that one.

It is rarely vouchsafed to any one to witness so grand
a tableau as was presented to our gaze on that December
morning when the curtain of fog was lifted and the sun
lit up the scene with the bright effulgence of its rays.

As if by magic, the hosts of the grand Federal army were
disclosed in martial array extending from the city down
the river as far as the eye could reach. All was bustle

and animation in the ranks of the great blue lines.

The bright muskets of the men glistened in the sunlight,

and countless flags with the stars and stripes floated

with the breeze and marked the direction as the troops
were maneuvered into line-of-battle formation to the
sound of soul-stirring music. No doubt every heart of
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that mighty host beat high with hope in anticipation of

the impending struggle.

On the other side of the plain, along the hills that

skirted its edge, lay that other army, challenged that

morning to a trial of strength, its line not so well and
fully defined, because of its neutral tints that mingled
and blended with the colors of nature in the soil and
forests, but which, though silent, was animated with a
no less hopeful spirit as with eager expectancy, and no
question of doubt, it awaited the advance of its old-time

adversary.

And now the left of the Federal line advances at a
quickstep, the troops rapidly traverse the space inter-

vening between the two armies, the big guns belch

forth their death-dealing missiles, and the incessant rat-

tle of musketry proclaims the issue joined.

My duties carried me to every part of the field. I

was on A. P. Hill's front when Meade's men penetrated

our lines, and vividly recall the appearance of General
Gregg as he was leading his men in the effort to drive

back the enemy just before he was killed. I witnessed

the assaults on Marye's Hill from an adjoining height

on which General Lee had established his headquarters

;

and it was here that the general had several narrow
escapes, notably when one of our own large guns ex-

ploded, around which he and his personal staff were
gathered, but no one of us was injured.

In his congratulatory order to his army, issued on
December 31, 1862, General Lee says:

The immense army of the enemy completed its preparation

for the attack without interruption, and gave battle in its own
time and on ground of its own selection. It was encountered

by less than twenty thousand of this brave army, and its col-

umns crushed and broken, hurled back at every point with such

fearful slaughter that escape from entire destruction became the
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boast of those who had advanced in full confidence of victory.

That this great result was achieved with a loss so small in point

of numbers only augments the admiration with which the com-

manding general regards the prowess of his troops, and increases

his gratitude to Him who has given us the victory.

Late in January (1863) General Burnside once more
essayed a trial of strength with General Lee, His plan,

as arranged after conference with General Halleck,

was to cross the Rappahannock at the fords above the

city of Fredericksburg and assail General Lee's army
on that flank, hoping that by thus turning his left he

would defeat General Lee in battle, or compel him to

evacuate the position held by his army at Fredericks-

burg, On the 19th reports were made to headquarters

of great activity on the part of the enemy and of a

movement in force toward the upper fords; and on the

20th the larger part of Burnside's army was massed in

the vicinity of Hartwood Church, and the troops here-

tofore stationed about Fairfax were advancing toward

the Rappahannock. Orders were at once issued by
General Lee for the strengthening and reinforcing of

our positions at Banks's Ford and United States Ford,

where it was evident the enemy would attempt to cross.

Late in the evening it commenced to rain heavily, and
continued with slight intermissions for two days. This

rain interfered very much with the Federal plans. At
the appointed hour on the 20th the troops started for

their proper positions, but the storm was so severe

as to greatly retard their movements. It was almost

impossible to move the pontoons and the artillery, and
after struggling in the mud for two days, the attempt

to cross the river was abandoned. General Burnside

ascribes his failure to the elements and the unavoidable

delay in getting his troops in position. He says in his

report

:
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It was quite apparent during the forenoon of the 21st that

the enemy had discovered our movement, and had commenced

their preparations to meet ns. Could we have had the pontoons

there, ready to have crossed early on the 21st, as was hoped,

there is scarcely a doubt but that the crossing could have been

effected, and the objects of the movement attained; but the

'detention was unavoidable. The elements were against us.

During the day and night of the 21st I had the positions of the

enemy reconnoitered as thoroughly as was possible under the

circumstances, and on the receipt of the final rejiort of my chief

engineer at 4 a.m. on the 22d, I determined to abandon the

attempt to cross the river at that point.

Thus ended what was thereafter known as the "Mud
March " of General Burnside. The result was anything
but inspiriting to the Federal troops. Open and undis-

guised sentiments of disgust were manifested by the

leading officers of Burnside's army. So pronounced was
this feeling, so detrimental to the esprit de corps of the

army were its manifestations, as to cause General Burn-
side, on the 23d of January, to issue an order, subject

to the approval of President Lincoln, dismissing from
the service of the United States generals Hooker,

Brooks, Newton, and Cochrane; and relieving from
duty with his army^ generals Franklin, W. F. Smith,

and Sturgis, This order failed to meet the approval

of President Lincoln, and of course was not effective.

On January 25th, by order of the President, General

Burnside was relieved of the command of the Army of

the Potomac at his own request, and General Hooker
was assigned to its command.
On January 27th another storm commenced, and con-

tinued until the morning of the 29th. The ground was
now covered with snow. Under such conditions the

roads were impracticable for active operations, and
both armies settled down into winter quarters.



CHAPTER XIII

WINTER QUARTERS NEAR FREDERICKSBURG, 1862-63

A SUITABLE spot was selected for the establishment

of the headquarters of the army not far from

Hamilton's Crossing, and we proceeded to make
ourselves as comfortable as possible under canvas.

The headquarters camp of General Lee was never of

such a character as to proclaim its importance. An un-

pretentious arrangement of five or six army-tents, one

or two wagons for transporting equipage and personal

effects, with no display of bunting, and no parade of

sentinels or guards, only a few orderlies, was all there

was of it. General Lee persistently refused to occupy

a house, and was content with an ordinary wall-tent,

but little, if any, larger than those about it.

During such a period of inactivity as then ensued,

while the movement of any large body of troops was
not to be thought of, the men were anything but idle,

and the work at headquarters was exceedingly onerous.

Put fifty thousand men, who have just passed through

an active campaign under the conditions that then pre-

vailed in the Southern army, into winter quarters, and
immediately every man gets to work with pen and ink

to state his grievance or make known his wants and

desires; and the result is the concentration and delivery

at army headquarters daily of a mass of correspondence

simply appalling.

The winter of 1862-63 was a very trying one to those
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charged with the responsibility of maintaining the effi-

ciency and building up the strength of the Army of

Northern Virginia. Every corps or independent com-
mand of the several arms of the service sent daily to

headquarters its package of official papers, involving

matters great and small, important and unimportant,

from the request for a furlough, or a detail to get a
fresh horse, to the notification of some activity in the

camp of the enemy, or the submission of some intricate

question of the relative rights of the officers of the line

and of the staff ; and as the lines of the army were quite

extended, and some of the commands a considerable

distance from headquarters, the couriers who brought

these despatches were arriving at all hours of the day
and night. Mine was the duty of receiving, examining,

and disposing of all such despatches and documents.

As we had no stenographers or typewriters in those

days, the labor was much heavier than it Avould be now
with the aid of such time- and labor-savers. I became
an adept after a while, and could discover at a glance

when aroused from sleep whether the communication,
to receive which I was awakened, was one of impor-

tance, or only a matter of army routine.

General Lee, as can well be understood, constantly

had his rest disturbed by reason of the great responsi-

bility resting upon him. The many matters of great

import pressing upon his mind caused him to lie awake
for hours, and he more than once suggested to me not

to arouse him before midnight, unless for a matter of

great importance, admitting of no delay, as one hour of

sleep before midnight was to him worth more than two
hours after midnight. Of course, I refer here to des-

patches concerning some movement of the enemy, and
not to the matters of detail coming from the different

commands of our army. For these army communica-
tions he had so great a dislike that I endeavored to
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spare him as much as possible, and would only submit

for his action such matters as were of a nature to de-

mand the personal consideration and decision of the

commander of the army.

On one occasion when an audience had not been

asked of him for several days, it became necessary to

have one. The few papers requiring his action were
submitted. He was not in a very pleasant mood.
Something irritated him, and he manifested his ill hu-

mor by a little nervous twist or jerk of the neck and
head, peculiar to himself, accompanied by some harsh-

ness of manner. This was perceived by me, and I has-

tily concluded that my efforts to save him annoyance
were not appreciated. In disposing of some case of a
vexatious character, matters reached a climax. He
became really worried, and, forgetting what was due

to my superior, I petulantly threw the paper down at

my side and gave evident signs of anger. Then in a

perfectly calm and measured tone of voice he said,

"Colonel Taylor, when I lose my temper, don't you let

it make you angry."

Was there ever a more gentle and considerate and
yet so positive a reproof ? General Lee was naturally

of a positive temperament, firm, resolute, occasionally

irascible, but always responsive to the sober second

thought, and ready to make the amende honorable;

holding himself in check by the exercise of his will and
conscience. He was not one of those invariably amia-

ble men whose temper is never ruffled; but when we
consider the immense burden which rested upon him,

and the numberless causes for annoyance with which he

had to contend, the occasional cropping out of temper
which we who were constantly near him witnessed

only served to show how great was his habitual self-

command; and it was frequently observed and com-

mented upon that after any such trifling ebullition of



WINTER QUARTERS NEAR FREDERICKSBURG 157

temper he always manifested a marked degree of affa-

bility, as if desirous of obliterating all recollection of

the unpleasant episode.

The idea prevails with some that General Lee pos-

sessed great austerity of manner, rendering him not

easy of approach. Such was not the case. Although
naturally a man of much dignity, in which he was
never deficient when occasion called for the manifesta-

tion of that trait, his intercourse with those around him
was marked by a suavity of manner that removed all

restraint and invited closer fellowship. In our small

circle of the personal staff, and indeed with all the

members of the staff, there was between General Lee
and his military family a degree of camaraderie that

was perfectly delightful. Our conversation, especially

at table, was free from restraint, unreserved as between
equals, and often of a bright and jocular vein. He was
very fond of a joke, and not infrequently indulged in

the pastime of teasing those about him in a mild way.
While it would never occur to any one of us to be oth-

erwise than perfectly deferential in our manner toward
him, and respectful in our deportment toward each
other in his presence, there was an utter absence of the

rigid formality and the irksome ceremonial regarded

by some as essential features of the military etiquette

appertaining to the station of the commander-in-chief
of an army.

I have already alluded to his simplicity of taste.

This was especially noticeable in the menage at army
headquarters. All the appointments were of the sim-

plest kind. The table furniture was of tin, and while

we never really wanted for food, unless by reason of

accidental separation from our camp wagons, we only

enjoyed what was allotted to the army generally. Ours
was the regular army ration, supplemented by such
additions from the country as could be procured by our
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steward by the use of a little maney. General Lee-

never availed himself of the advantages of his position

to obtain dainties for his table or any personal comfort

for himself. The use of spirituous liquors, while not

forbidden, was never habitual in our camp. There was
no general mess-supply, and rarely, if ever, a private

nip. I used to think that General Lee would have been
better off if he had taken a little stimulant. I recall but
one instance of his indulging in this way, and that was
at Petersburg, where he received from some admiring
friend a few bottles of old wine. When opened, the

aroma from this wine filled the camp. "We were fa-

vored with a taste of it once. It was very fine; it pro-

duced a feeling of self-righteousness and inward satis-

faction. We never partook of it again, neither did I

ever see the general partake of it, and I rather suspect

that he sent it to some hospital for the sick, or to some
one who, in his judgment, needed it more than he did.

He may have used it, however, as I have no doubt that

the donor enjoined upon him that it was for his private

use; and it certainly was too good for general distribu-

tion to indiscriminating guests, whose desire was quite

as well appeased by a " whiskey straight" or a bottle of

beer.

A respite of three months was allowed the troops in

winter quarters about Fredericksburg. In February
General *Longstreet, with the divisions of Hood and
Pickett and two battalions of artillery, was sent to the

south side of James River to be in position to resist any
movement the enemy might make from that direction,

and to relieve the commissary department, as it was
hoped that supplies could be had from that section in

large quantities, if a sufficient force was there to keep

the enemy closely confined to his lines near Suffolk.

These troops did not rejoin the army under General Lee
until after the battle of Chancellorsville.
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On the 17th of March a division of Federal cavalry,

under General Averell, crossed the Rappahannock at

Kelly's Ford, with orders to attack the Confederate cav-

alry near Culpeper Court House, under General Fitzhugh
Lee, and to rout or destroy it. General Averell's com-
mand numbered three thousand men, but as he had to

detach nine hundred men to guard his flank and rear,

he states that he carried only twenty-one hundred into

action. General Fitzhugh Lee's command numbered
eight hundred. By a dash across the river the Federals

succeeded in capturing the picket of twenty-five men that

guarded the ford. The whole of Averell's command
then crossed and took position. Meanwhile General
Fitzhugh Lee, having been informed of the crossing of

the river by the Federals, moved his command in line

of battle toward Kelly's Ford. Quite a spirited en-

gagement ensued, with varying success to the combat-
ants, until about 5.30 p.m., when the Federals recrossed

the river. In his report General Averell says: " It was
5.30 P.M., and it was necessary to advance my cavalry

upon their intrenched position to make a direct and des-

perate attack, or to withdraw across the river. Either

operation would have been attended with imminent
hazard. My horses were very much exhausted. We
had been successful thus far. I deemed it proper to

withdraw."
General Stuart, who was present, but who left the

direction of the battle entirely to General Fitzhugh Lee,

did not agree with the view expressed by the Federal

commander, as he says: "The defeat was decided, and
the enemy, broken and demoralized, retired under cover

of darkness to his place of refuge, the main army, hav-

ing abandoned in defeat an expedition undertaken with

boasting and vainglorious demonstration." Certainly

General Averell did not carry out his orders, which were
to " attack and rout or destroy Fitz. Lee." Neverthe-
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less, this was a sad day for the Confederates, for among
the fallen was the bold, intrepid, heroic Pelhani! Among
the Confederate heroes slain in battle, none left a more
honorable, a more brilliant record than this young
major of the horse-artillery. At the battle of Gaines-

ville special mention was made of his coming into

action with his guns by General Jackson, as relieving

his right at a most opportune time. Favorable mention
was made by both General Lee and General Jackson of

the efficient manner in which he served his guns in

checking and delaying the attack made by Franklin on
Jackson's lines at Fredericksburg. In the language of

General Stuart: " Though young in years, a mere strip-

ling in appearance, remarkable for his genuine modesty
of deportment, he yet disclosed on the battle-field the

conduct of a veteran, and displayed in his handsome
person the most imperturbable coolness in danger."

Though of slender physique, he was gifted with nerves

of steel, the heart of a lion, and the courage of a martyr.

He fell mortally wounded in the fight near Kelly's Ford,

with " the battle-cry on his lips and the light of victory

beaming from his eye."



CHAPTER XIV

THE BATTLE OF CHANCELLORSVILLE

OiST April 14th intelligence again reached General Lee
of unusual activity on the part of the enemy. On
that day the Federal cavalry attempted to make a

lodgment on the south side of the Rappahannock River, at

the upper fords, but they were successfully resisted and
driven back by General Stuart with the brigades of Fitz-

hugh Lee and W. H. F. Lee, On the 21st bodies of infan-

try appeared near Kelly's Ford, and a demonstration was
made lower down the river opposite Port Royal, where
a small body of infantry crossed on the 23d. On the

28th the Confederate pickets on the river-front in the

city of Fredericksburg were driven off, and again
bridges were constructed just below the city, and quite

a large force of the enemy crossed to the south side of

the river and took position along its banks. This force

manifested no purpose of attacking, and it looked as if

the real effort would be made in another quarter. On
the 29th General Stuart reported to General Lee that

the enemy's infantry had crossed in force near Kelly's

Ford on the previous evening, and later in the day he re-

ported the movement of heavy columns in the direction

of Germanna and Ely's fords on the Rapidan River. The
purpose of the Federal commander was now disclosed;

the diversions were over, the real effort had begun, and
it was " Fighting Joe " Hookers turn to wrestle with
General Lee. He had devoted three months to the work
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of raising the standard of efficiency of his army in every
way; munitions of war and supplies of every kind had
been furnished to the full satisfaction of his requisitions.

The depression of the troops consequent upon the results

of the senseless sacrifice of life and the defeat at Fred-

ericksburg, and the fiasco of the '

' mud march " to the

upper fords of the Rappahannock, had disappeared and
was followed by a certain amount of hopeful anticipa-

tion of more creditable results under the leadership of
" Fighting Joe," whose soubriquet gave assurance of

success. His ranks were full, and with such an army,
one hundred and thirty thousand strong, " the finest on
the planet," as claimed by him, the promise of victory

lured him on, and the authorities at Washington awaited

its early coming with anticipations admitting of no
doubt.

General Lee had also done all in his power during the

period of inactivity toward recuperating and strength-

ening his army; but supplies of every kind were scarce,

and he had been compelled to detach General Long-

street with two divisions of his army to the south side

of James River, primarily to obtain food. With the bal-

ance of his army, numbering fifty-seven thousand men,

embracing Jackson's three divisions and the divisions

of McLaws and Anderson of infantry, the cavalry, and

reserve artillery, he decided to accept the gage of battle

now offered by General Hooker.

The divisions of the Federal army that had crossed

the Rapidan River at Germanna and Ely's fords moved
toward Chancellorsville, from which point there were

several roads leading to the rear of the position occu-

pied by General Lee's army. On the night of the 29th

General Lee sent General Anderson with his division

toward Chancellorsville with orders so to dispose of his

brigades as to cover these roads. On reaching Chan-

cellorsville, General Anderson learned that the enemy
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that had crossed the Rapidan was approaching that

point in strong force ; and early on the morning of the

30th he deemed it wisest to retire to the intersection of

the Mine and Plank roads, near Tabernacle Church. As
Mahone's rear-guard left Chancellorsville it was at-

tacked by the enemy's cavalry, but so effectually were
they repulsed no further effort was made to harass the

troops in their movement to the chosen position. Here,
after having selected a line of defense, General Ander-
son's command—consisting of three brigades under gen-
erals Wright, Posey, and Mahone—proceeded vigorously

to intrench itself. Wright and Posey were on the Plank
Road, and Mahone on the old turnpike.

On the evening of the 30th the Federal force assem-
bled at Chancellorsville consisted of the Second (except

one division with Sedgwick), Fifth, Eleventh, and
Twelfth corps, with General Hooker, in person, in com-
mand. The Third Corps arrived the evening of next

day. The First Corps joined him on the 3d of May, but
did not become actively engaged.

The Federal force that had crossed at Fredericksburg

continued inactive. The operations of the cavalry,

under General Stuart, had revealed the purpose of Gen-
eral Hooker to make his main attack upon our flank and
rear. General Lee therefore determined to leave suffi-

cient troops to hold his lines near Fredericksburg, and
with his main army to give battle to the approaching
columns of the enemy. Leaving Early's division of

Jackson's corps and Barksdale's brigade of McLaws's
division, with some batteries of the reserve artillery,

under General Early, to hold his lines, he ordered gen-

erals Jackson and McLaws to move with the rest of

their commands toward Chancellorsville. These troops

were all in position where Anderson had established his

lines early on the morning of May 1st, and about 11

A.M. the order was sriven to advance. The movement



164 GENERAL LEE

was along the old turnpike and the Plank Road ; General
McLaws moved on the former with his three brigades,

preceded by Mahone's. General Anderson, with the

brigades of Wright and Posey, led on the Plank Road,

and General Jackson followed with his command. The
brigades of Wilcox and Perry, of Anderson's division,

cooperated with General McLaws. Colonel Alexander's

battalion of artillery accompanied the advance.

The enemy was soon encountered, and heavy skir-

mishing began. Mahone's brigade, leading on the

turnpike, soon became engaged with the United States

Regulars, and, after a spirited fight, drove the enemy
in the direction of Chancellorsville, capturing many
prisoners. About the same time the enemy made a

vigorous attack upon McLaws, which was repulsed by
Semmes's brigade. One of Alexander's batteries, under
Captain Jordan, cooperated in this action and eventu-

ally broke the enemy's infantry by the accuracy of its

fire. General Anderson had sent General Wright, with

his brigade, on April 30th (by way of an unfinished rail-

road from Fredericksburg to Gordonsville), to a point

where he would threaten the enemy's right. General
Wright, who was now well on the flank of the enemy,
was ordered to advance up the Plank Road, feel for the

enemy, and attack him when found. After having pro-

ceeded about a mile, Wright's skirmishers became en-

gaged with the enemy's advance, which, finding its

flank enveloped, began very soon to give way, when
Wright pressed forward with the main body of his bri-

gade. This movement, simultaneous with the repulse

of the enemy by Semmes, caused their whole line to re-

treat rapidly, when our troops pressed forward vigor-

ously until they arrived within from one to one and a

half miles of Chancellorsville. Here the enemy was
found to be in full force, in a naturally strong position,

intrenched, with abatis in front of their line, the ap-
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proach to which, was open and commanded by their

artillery. The advancing columns of Confederates

were halted, and as soon as the reconnaissance made of

the position occupied by the enemy made apparent the

inadvisability of an attack in front, line of battle was
ordered to be formed, facing toward Chancellorsville,

at right angles to the Plank Road, extending to the Mine
Road on the right, and in the direction of the Catharine
Furnace on the left, where the troops proceeded at once
to protect themselves by hastily constructed earthworks.

The day was now far spent, and General Lee's mind
was occupied with the problem of how he could best

attack the enemy. He and General Jackson conferred

together for some time. When they separated and
Jackson started to rejoin his troops, the question had
been decided. No one can say which of the two first

suggested the movement to turn the enemy's right

flank; but as such a movement was entirely in accord
with General Lee's tactics in giving the counterstroke,

and as General Jackson's deference to his superior and
confidence in his judgment were such as to justify the

belief that he quietly awaited the development of his

plan and then gave to it his hearty acquiescence, as be-

ing entirely along the line of his own views, it is fair

to presume that it was General Lee's own conception of

the best method of attack then open to him.

In his report he says

:

It was evident that a direct attack upon the enemy would be

attended with great difficulty and loss, in view of the strength

of his position and his superiority of numbers. It was, there-

lore, resolved to endeavor to turn his right flank and gain his

rear, leaving a force in front to hold him in check and conceal

the movement. The execution of this plan was intrusted to

Lieutenant-general Jackson, with his three divisions. The
command of generals McLaws and Anderson, with the excep-
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tion of Wilcox's brigade, which during the night had been or-

dered back to Banks's Ford, remained in front of the enemy.

Surely here was an instance of strategy of the high-

est order, and an illustration of supreme confidence in

the mettle and courage of the troops ! With one third

of his army detached, under Longstreet, and with an-

other division at Fredericksburg to protect his rear,

confronted by a greatly superior force, General Lee
decides to hold fast his lines in front of the powerful
army of his adversary with two divisions, and sends

his trusted lieutenant with three divisions to gain the

enemy's flank and rear by a circuitous route, with the

hope of crushing that flank and rolling it up and back,

beaten and demoralized, upon the main army, which
he would then assail in front.

Bold it certainly was ! Acting on the defensive, he
swiftly and vigorously assumes the offensive. Because
unexpected, the counterstroke would be so much the

more effective. Greatly outnumbered, he offsets this

by adopting a plan that infuses dash and enthusiasm
into his columns and so adds greatly to the weight of

the impact of their blows upon their adversaries.

General Stuart was directed to screen the movement
of Jackson's column, which he did effectually with the

brigades of Fitzhugh Lee and W. H. F. Lee. General
Jackson started early on the morning of the 2d and
marched by the Furnace and Brock roads. He reached
a point on the old turnpike about three miles in rear of

Chancellorsville at 4 p.m., and immediately made dis-

position for attack. At 5.15 p.m. the order was given
to advance, Rodes's division in front, Trimble's division,

under Brigadier-general Colston, in the second line, and
A. P. Hill's division in the third line. The skirmishers
of Rodes's brigades very soon encountered the enemy.
The line of battle rapidly closed upon the skirmish line
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and rushed forward with great impetuosity and vigor.

Sweeping everything before them, they forced the

enemy to retire precipitately and captured several bat-

teries of artillery. So complete was the surprise to the

enemy, and so impetuous was the assault, that there

was scarcely any organized resistance after the first

volley was fired.

In his report General Rodes says

:

They fled in the wildest confusion, leaving the field strewn

with arms, acconterments, clothing, caissons, and field-pieces in

every direction. The larger portion of his force, as well as in-

trenchments, were drawn up at right angles to our line, and

being thus taken in the flank and rear, they did not wait for

the attack. On reaching the ridge at Melzi Chancellor's, which

had an extended line of works facing in our direction, an effort

was made to check the fleeing columns. For a few moments
they held this position, but once more my gallant troops dashed

at them with a wild shout, and firing a hasty volley, they con-

tinued their headlong flight to Chancellorsville. It was at this

point that Trimble's division, which had followed closely on my
rear, headed by the brave and accomplished Colston, went over

the works with my men, and from this time until the close of

the engagement the two divisions were mingled together in inex-

tricable confusion.

The advance continued until arrested by the abatis in

front of the enemy's line of works near their central

position at Chancellorsville.

The division of General A. P. Hill was then ordered

by General Jackson to move to the front and relieve the

divisions under generals Rodes and Colston. It was in

the dusk of the evening when this exchange of troops

was made. General Jackson had gone to the extreme
front to reconnoiter, and as he was returning to our

lines with his staff and escort the party was mistaken
for the enemy and fired upon by some of our troops.
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Several of the party were ki-Ued and more were
wounded, among the latter being General Jackson, who
was severely injured and carried from the field.

As next in rank on the field. General A. P. Hill as-

sumed command. Hardly had his division taken posi-

tion in front when it was vigorously attacked by the

artillery and infantry of the enemy. This attack was
successfully met and repulsed, but General Hill was
then disabled, and General Stuart, who had been all the

while cooperating with the infantry in the advance,

was sent for that he might take command. As soon as

General Stuart arrived the command was turned over

to him by General Hill. It was now dark, and any fur-

ther advance that night was out of the question in that

wilderness of forest and tangled undergrowth.

While Jackson's movement upon the enemy's right

flank was being executed, General Lee ordered the

troops in front of Chancellorsville to engage the enemy
actively, to prevent reinforcements from being sent to

the force being assailed by Jackson ; so that, after no-

tice was received of Jackson's attack, there was fighting

all along the line, our troops pressing up to the intrench-

ments of the enemy, and our artillery doing most effi-

cient service, until night put an end to the conflict.

At an early hour the next morning General Stuart

renewed the attack on the enemy's right. Handling his

troops with masterful skill, he pushed to a glorious con-

summation the movement so brilliantly begun by Gen-
eral Jackson.

The line of works occupied by the enemy at the close

of the battle of the previous day was quickly carried,

as was also a barricade in its rear. The right of the

advancing columns, however, now encountered the ex-

tensive earthworks behind which the artillery of the

enemy was posted. These works were gallantly as-

saulted by the men of Hill's division, now under Gen-
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eral Heth, but being without artillery, and they them-
selves being subjected to the fire of ten or twelve pieces,

their efforts to drive the enemy failed, and these gallant

brigades fell back to the line of works from which the

enemy had been driven. Reinforcements were soon

brought up. About the same time the commanding
position of Hazel Grove was gallantly carried by Arch-
er's brigade, and again the order to advance was
given. This time the assaulting column had the aid of

the artillery under colonels Carter and Jones, which
did excellent service, and the enemy then yielded the

ground and was driven from his strongly fortified

line of defense.

At the same time the troops of Anderson and McLaws,
under the immediate supervision of General Lee, were
actively engaged with the enemy at Chancellorsville.

The orders to General Anderson were to incline to his

left so as to form a junction with the troops operating

on the flank of the enemy. This junction of forces was
soon effected. The troops under General Stuart, driv-

ing the enemy before them, were soon in touch with
those of Anderson's command. The whole line was
ordered forward. The men forced their way through
the abatis, mounted the earthworks, and drove the

enemy from their fortified positions and forced them
back toward the river. By 10 a.m. our troops were in

full possession of the field.

Meanwhile there was trouble at Fredericksburg. The
orders to General Early were to the effect that if the

enemy in his front withdrew from Fredericksburg, he
was to proceed without further orders to join the main
army under General Lee. These orders were repeated

on the 2d, but owing to some misapprehension this last

order was so conveyed to General Early as to cause him
to commence to withdraw his force from his lines while

the Federals, under General Sedgwick, still occupied
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the soiitli side of the river. The -enemy at once gave
evidence of a purpose to advance, but the mistake in

the transmission of the order to General Early was dis^

covered and corrected, and his troops resumed their

original position. While this was going on the troops

at Chancellorsville were being reformed, having become
somewhat scattered and mixed up in the fight, with the

view of renewing the attack on the enemy, who had
now taken position on a line nearer the river that they
had previously fortified. General Lee was considering

the propriety of assailing his adversary under these new
conditions, when information reached him of the con-

tretemps a.t Fredericksburg, Considerable time then
elapsed and nothing more was accomplished that day.

Early on the morning of the 3d the enemy at Fred-

ericksburg advanced in force against the positions held

by General Early's troops, and although gallantly re-

sisted at the several points of attack, he was enabled

finally by sheer force of numbers to drive out the Con-
federates, who retired in the direction of Chancellors-

ville. General Early rallied his troops and made a
successful stand before the Federal column advancing
by the Telegraph Road, about two miles from Freder-

icksburg. General Wilcox, with his brigade, who had
been stationed at Banks's Ford to protect General Lee's

rear, on hearing of the disaster to Early moved
jjromi^tly to his assistance, and arrived in time to check
the Federal column that was moving on the Plank Road
toward Chancellorsville. General Wilcox retired slowly

until he reached Salem Church on the Plank Road,
about five miles from Fredericksburg.

BATTLE OP SALEM CHURCH

General Lee, who had been made aware of these

movements, had ordered General McLaws, with his

three brigades and Mahone's brigade of Anderson's
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division, to the support of General Wilcox. These

troops reached General Wilcox's position early in the

afternoon, and were at once deployed in line of battle, the

two brigades of Kershaw and Wofford on Wilcox's right,

and those of Semmes and Mahone on his left. After a

spirited cannonade from the enemy's artillery, their in-

fantry advanced in force against the Confederate line,

the assault being delivered directly against that portion

Jield by Wilcox's brigade. This attack was successfully

resisted. The first line of the enemy gave way in con-

fusion. Our troops advanced. A second line was soon

encountered, but it quickly broke under the close and

deadly fire which it received, and the whole Federal

mass retired in confusion.

The brigades of Wilcox and Semmes moved forward

in pursuit and forced the retreating Federals back fully

a mile, when they were halted to reform before encoun-

tering the Federal reserve, which now appeared in

strong force. It was then nearly dark, and finding

himself confronted with so large a force so far in ad-

vance of the other troops, General Wilcox deemed it

the part of prudence to retire to his original position,

leaving his skirmishers far in advance, the enemy not

following him.

On the next day General Early advanced along the

Telegraph Road and recaptured Marye's Heights and

the adjacent hills.

General Lee could not move against the enemy in his

fortified position between Chancellorsville and the

river with this condition of affairs in his rear. He de-

termined, therefore, to further reinforce the troops op-

posing General Sedgwick, and, if possible, to drive him

across the river. General Anderson, with his remain-

ing three brigades, was ordered to join General McLaws

on the 4th, and reached Salem Church about noon.

General McLaws, whose troops were disposed as on the
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provious (lay, was ordered to hold the enemy in check.

General Aiuhu'son was directed to move so as to j^ain

the left flank of the enemy and form a junction with

General Early, when both would attack. McLaws was
ordered to push forward his right brigades as soon as

tlie advance of Anderson and Eai-ly should be perceived,

so as to connect with them and complete the continuity

of our line. There was some delay in getting the troops

in position, and it was six o'clock before tlu; advance
began. The troops of Anderson and Early then moved
rapidly foi'ward and drove the enemy from his positions,

meeting with but little resistance. Wright's brigade of

Anderson's division advanced with great intrepidity

across a wheat-field under a hot fire of grape, and drove

one of tlie enemy's batteries from its position. Tlie

enemy retreated toward Banks's Ford, and was followed

closely as long as there was light enough to continue

the pursuit.

Meanwhile General Early's brigades on Anderson's

right had advanced against the enemy,—Gordon on the

right. Hays in the center, and Hoke on the left,—all

driving the enemy before them. Unfortunately, Gen-

eral McLaws was not made aware of the result of the

attack by Anderson and Early until it was quite dark.

It was previously reported to him that from the position

oc(;upied by Mahone's brigade the noise of the enemy
crossing tlie river on the pontoon bridge at Banks's

Ford could be heard, and by his direction Colonel

Alexander began to throw shells so as to drop them at

the point of crossing. At the same time General

McLaws sent General Wilcox with his own brigade and

Kershaw's with orders to press the enemy down the

r(jad leading to Banks's Ford. After these orders were

given, and while they were being carried out, General

McLaws learned officially from General Lee of the suc-

cess of the attack by Anderson and Early, and he was
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directed to push the enemy and force him across the
river that night. Accordingly General McLaws ordered
all of his brigades forward. Wofiford advanced as far

as the River Road, driving the enemy before him; "Wil-

cox and Kershaw pushed on, and occupied the redoubts
commanding the ford and its approaches. Colonel Al-

exander put several batteries in position and opened a
vigorous fire upon the ford and the approaches on the

opposite side. It was now too dark to attempt more.
"The darkness of the night, ignorance of the country
and of the events transpiring on the other end of the

line, prevented that cooperation which would have led

to a more complete success," *

The next morning it was ascertained that General
Sedgwick's whole force had crossed to the north side of

the Rappahannock. General Lee at once ordered Gen-
eral Early to reoccupy his lines near Fredericksburg,

and directed generals Anderson and McLaws to return

with their commands to Chancellorsville. A heavy rain

now began to fall, interfering very much with the move-
ment of these troops; they reached their destination

during the afternoon. Preparations were made to assail

the main army of the enemy in its new position at day-

light on the 6th, but when our skirmishers advanced
they found the enemy's works deserted. General Hooker
had retired with his army across the river.

Of all the battles fought by the army under General
Lee, that of Chancellorsville perhaps adds greatest

luster to his fame as a strategist and to the prowess of

his troops in battle, under his direction; but glorious as

that battle was for the Confederate arms, it was attended

with an irreparable and overwhelming loss—it was the

last of the many heroic achievements of the bright par-

ticular star of the Army of Northern Virginia. General

* General McLaws's report.
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Jackson, severely wounded on the 2d, died on the 10th

of May, 1863.

When report was made to General Lee of the fact that

it had been found necessary to amputate General Jack-

son's arm, he directed the officer who conveyed the in-

formation to assure General Jackson of his constant

thought of him and of his sympathy for him in his suf-

fering and loss; "but," said he, " tell him I am a greater

sufferer than he ; for whereas he has lost his left arm, I

have lost my right."

In his report of the battle, General Lee pays this trib-

ute to his memory

:

The movement by which the enemy's position was turned and

the fortune of the day decided was conducted by the lamented

Lieutenant-general Jackson, who, as has already been stated,

was severely wounded near the close of the engagement on Sat-

urday evening. I do not propose here to speak of the character

of this illustrious man since removed from the scene of his emi-

nent usefulness by the hand of an inscrutable but all-wise Prov-

idence. I nevertheless desire to pay the tribute of my admira-

tion to the matchless energy and skill that marked this last act

of his life, forming, as it did, a worthy conclusion of that long

series of splendid achievements which won for him the lasting

love and gratitude of his country.

I have once stated in these memoirs that, in my belief,

the good Lord decided that the South should not succeed

in the war between the States ; and in the contempla-

tion of the removal of Stonewall Jackson by an all-wise

Providence, as stated by General Lee, I am reminded
of the story of the good deacon in the South, but of

whose name and station I am ignorant, who, when the

war was over, accepted the situation in a spirit of Chris-

tian resignation, and endeavored to lead his people that

way; and who, when his time came to lead in prayer,

said: "O Lord, thou who knowest all things, who
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orderest all things, and who doest all things well, we
thank Thee for all Thy mercies, and we ask thatwe may-

be resigned to Thy blessed will in all things. Thou
hast seen fit to bring distress upon us, and we try to be-

lieve that it was for some good purpose that Thou didst

permit our enemies to get the better of us; but, O
Lord, thou who knowest all things. Thou knowest at

the same time that it was necessary for Thee to remove
from this world Thy valiant servant Stonewall Jackson
before it could be that way."
In these several engagements the Confederates cap-

tured 5000 prisoners, exclusive of the wounded, 13 pieces

of artillery, 19,500 stands of arms, and 17 colors. The
Confederate loss in killed and wounded was 10,281, of

which number 1581 were killed and 8700 wounded. The
Federal loss was 1575 killed, 9559 wounded, 5711 captured

or missing, making a total of 16,845.

I cannot forbear mention of the gallant conduct of

two of my friends and fellow townsmen who were killed

in the battle of Chancellorsville—Colonel Francis Mal-
lory and Captain W, Carter Williams. Colonel Mallory

was a very handsome man, an ex-officer of the United
States Army and a thorough soldier. He was in com-
mand of the Fifty-fifth Virginia regiment of infantry,

Heth's brigade of A. P. Hill's division. I last met him just

before the fight; his regiment was then under arms, and
we were on the eve of battle. I stopped long enough to

exchange a few words with him, and recalled afterward

his depression of manner. Every man who goes into

battle, before the excitement begins is apt to reflect

upon the probabilities of his being killed. Colonel Mal-

lory was in such frame of mind on that occasion ; I recall

his saying that it would be too bad after having escaped

so far to be shot down after all. He was killed in the

attack of Rodes's division on the enemy's right, May 2d,

while gallantly leading his men against the enemy.
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Captain Williams commanded a company of the Sixth.

Virginia regiment of Mahone's brigade. The courage
of this gallant soldier and the manner of his death were
reported by his brigade commander in these words

:

The advance line of skirmishers of the Sixth Virginia Infan-

try, nnder the immediate command of Captain W. Carter Will-

iams, charged over the enemy's abatis near the Plank Road, fired

upon him in his rifle-pits, captured three prisoners and the colors

and color-bearer of the One Hundred and Seventh Ohio, returning

to his position with his handful of men, with the loss of an

officer as prisoner. This gallant and successful sortie was made

a little after dark, Saturday, May 2d, when General Jackson's

fire was heavy, and it was in fighting over the same ground the

next morning that the valiant Williams fell, mortally wounded,

I was wonderfully impressed in this fight by the

strong personality of the Southern soldier and his inde-

pendent action in battle, as contrasted with the mechan-
ical movement of the machine soldier. I have nothing

to say in disparagement of the soldier of the regular

army as we know him in this country, and I recognize

fully the great impoi'tance of drilling soldiers in the

matters of precision, the touch of the elbow, the proper

alignment and harmonious movement. All these re-

quirements serve to make "regulars;" but there is a

great difference between regulars and veterans. In the

early period of the war the regulars were regarded as

especially formidable in battle, and great stress was
laid upon the fact wherever they were encountered.

But let the conditions be such as to render impracticable

the precision of movement, the touch of the elbow, and
the alignment, and unless the units have in addition

strong personality, your machine refuses to work and
disaster follows. When the fighting was most severe

on the 3d of May, I was present and witnessed the final

assault on the fortified position of the enemy. Our
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troops had advanced close up to the works ; felled trees,

tangled undergrowth, and abatis made together a very-

formidable obstacle for the men who were being urged
to go forward. First one man went forward, then an-

other, then at intervals two or three; then there would
be a wavering and falling back when the fire became
hot ; then there would be a repetition of this ; one or two
at a time, encouraging the others, then small parties

advanced, the officers waved their swords and called

the men "forward," and then with a yell the whole line

rushed rapidly forward without precision or order, but

irresistibly, sweeping everything before them. I can
never forget the scene as the victorious, yelling Con-
federates pressed forward and passed General Lee near

the Chancellor house, which was on fire and burning
fiercely. As they caught sight of their general the men
rent the air with their cheers of victory, and pushed for-

ward more rapidly, waving their hats on high and calling

his name ; and as I contemplated their earnest faces, their

sparkling eyes, their cheeks in many cases begrimed,

their tattered clothing, their bright rifles, I could well

understand the emotions awakened in his breast by
their manifestations of love and admiration for him,

and more especially the feeling of pride he experienced

at being in command of them.

A few days later General Lee issued a congratulatory

order to his army, from which I make this extract

:

Under trying vicissitudes of heat and storm, you attacked the

enemy, strongly intrenched in the depths of a tangled wilder-

ness, and again on the hills of Fredericksburg, fifteen miles dis-

tant, and, by the valor that has triumphed on so many fields,

forced him once more to seek safety beyond the Rappahannock.

While this glorious victory entitles you to the praise and gratitude

of the nation, we are especially called upon to return our grateful

thanks to the only Giver of victory for the signal deliverance He



178 GENERAL LEE

has wrought. It is therefore earnestly recommended that the

troops unite on Sunday next in ascribing to the Lord of Hosts

the glory due unto His name.

Strange to say, General Hooker on the 6th of May
issued a general order to his troops congratulating them
on the results of the battle. He said in part

:

The major-general commanding tenders to this army his con-

gratulations on its achievements of the last seven days. If it

has not accomplished all that was expected, the reasons are well

known to the array. It is sufficient to say they were of a char-

acter not to be foreseen or i^revented by human sagacity or re-

source. In Avithdrawing from the south bank of the Rappahan-

nock before delivering a general battle to our adversaries, the

army has given renewed evidence of its confidence in itself and

its fidelity to the principles it represents. In fighting at a dis-

advantage we would have been recreant to our trust, to our-

selves, our cause, and our country. Profoundly loyal and con-

scious of its strength, the Army of the Potomac will give or

decline battle whenever its interests or honor may demand. It

will also be the guardian of its own history and its own fame.

General Hooker was certainly imbued with a most
optimistic spirit to have been able to gather up even a
few crumbs of comifort in reviewing the operations of

his army for the time mentioned ; but he could not de-

ceive others, and the true history of the battle was so

readily discerned that even at the North his order was
read with smiles of derision.

The Federal army returned to its former position on
the Stafford heights, and General Lee reoccupied his

lines about Fredericksburg.

When General Hooker's movements to assail General

Lee were fully developed, orders were sent to General

Longstreet to proceed with all possible despatch, with

his command, to join General Lee. These troops ar-

rived at Fredericksburg some days after the battle.



CHAPTER XV

GENERAL LEE REORGANIZES HIS ARMY AND AGAIN AS-

SUMES THE OFFENSIVE

THE death of General Jackson, on the 10th of May, was
followed by a reorganization of the Army of North-

ern Virginia into three corps, designated the First,

Second, and Third Army Corps. Longstreet, Ewell,

and A. P. Hill, each now advanced to the rank of lieu-

tenant-general, were assigned to the command of these

corps in the order named. Each of these corps embraced
three divisions; one of the divisions of the Second Corps

and one of the Third had five brigades ; all the others

had four brigades.

The artillery was also reorganized. To each corps

there were attached two or three battalions of four bat-

teries each, under the command of a chief of artillery

for that corps; these three divisions and the reserve

artillery were under the command of the chief of artil-

lery of the army. The cavalry remained practically as

before.

From the very necessities of the case, the general

theory upon which the war was conducted on the part

of the South was one of defense. The great superiority

of the North in men and material made it indispensable

for the South to husband its resources as much as possi-

ble, inasmuch as the hope of ultimate success which the

latter entertained rested rather upon the dissatisfaction

and pecuniary distress which a prolonged war would
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entail upon the former—making the people weary of the

struggle—than upon any exj)ectation of attaining peace

by actually subduing so powerful an adversary.

Nevertheless, in the judgment of General Lee, it was
a part of a true defensive policy to take the aggressive

when good opportunity offered; and by delivering an
effective blow to the enemy, not only to inflict upon him
serious loss, but at the same time to thwart his designs

of invasion, derange the plan of campaign contemplated
by him, and thus prolong the conflict.

The Federal army, under General Hooker, had now re-

occupied the heights opposite Fredericksburg, where it

could not be attacked except at a disadvantage. Instead

of quietly awaiting the pleasure of the Federal com-
mander in designing and putting into execution some
new plan of campaign. General Lee determined to

maneuver to draw him from his impregnable position,

and, if practicable, to remove the scene of hostilities be-

yond the Potomac. His design was to free the State of

Virginia, for a time at least, from the presence of the

enemy, to transfer the theater of war to Northern soil,

and by selecting a favorable time and place in which to

receive the attack which his adversary would be com-
pelled to make on him, to take the reasonable chances
of defeating him in a pitched battle; knowing full well

that to obtain such an advantage there would place him
in position to attain far more decisive results than could

be hoped for from a like advantage gained in Virginia.

But even if unable to attain the valuable results which
might be expected to follow a decided advantage gained
over the enemy in Maryland or Pennsylvania, it was
thought that the movement would at least so far disturb

the Federal plan for the summer campaign as to prevent

its execution during the season for active operations.

In pursuance of this design, General Lee commenced
to withdraw his army from the vicinity of Fredericks-
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burg on the 3cl of June. McLaws's division of the First

Corps left Fredericksburg for Culpeper Court House on
that day, and Hood's division of the same corps, which
was encamped on the Rapidan River, marched to the

same place.

On the 4th and 5th the three divisions of the Second
Corps, under generals Early, Rodes, and Johnson, fol-

lowed. The Third Corps, under General A. P. Hill, em-
bracing the divisions under generals Anderson, Heth,
and Pender, was left to occupy the lines at Fredericks-

burg.

On the Gth the enemy constructed a pontoon bridge

near Deep Run and crossed a large force to the south

side of the Rappahannock; but this force manifested

no intention of attacking, and was evidently for pur-

poses of observation, as also to check the movements of

General Lee.

General Lee deemed it prudent to halt Ewell's corps

that night; but after watching the enemy's operations

the next day he became satisfied that A. P. Hill's com-
mand could manage the force on the south side. He
thereupon sent orders to General Ewell to continue his

march, and he left Fredericksburg that evening himself

to join the troops in advance.

On the 8th Longstreet and Ewell reached Culpeper

Court House, where General Stuart already had his cav-

alry concentrated. On the 9th a large force of Federal

cavalry supported by infantry crossed the Rappahan-
nock and attacked General Stuart. A bitter struggle

ensued, lasting the whole day, the advantage being first

with one side and then the other. The enemy was
finally forced to recross the river with heavy loss, leav-

ing four hundred prisoners, three pieces of artillery, and
several colors in our hands.

General Lee now put the Second Corps in advance.

General Ewell left Culpeper Court House on the 10th,
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and crossing the Shenandoah River on the 12th, near

Front Royal, he sent General Rodes with his division to

Berryville, with instructions to drive off the force of the

enemy stationed there, and. to cut off communication
between Winchester and the Potomac. General Ewell

moved with his other two divisions directly upon Win-
chester, forcing the enemy back into his lines about that

town.

On the 14th General Early stormed these works and
captured several of the small forts. On the 15th his

troops assaulted the main fort and drove the enemy
from his lines. The division of General Johnson, which
had been sent by General Ewell to the east of the town,

intercepted the retreat of the Federals under General Mil-

roy, and after a spirited engagement captured nearly

the whole force, numbering about twenty-five hundred.

General Milroy, with a small body of cavalry, made his

escape to Harper's Ferry. General Rodes on the same
day moved with his division to Martinsburg and dis-

persed the Federal force there, capturing some prison-

ers, artillery, and stores. These operations cleared the

Valley of the enemy, those at Harper's Ferry having
crossed the river to the Maryland side. In the several

engagements more than 4000 prisoners were captured,

together with 29 pieces of artillery, 300 horses, 270

wagons, and a quantity of supplies of all kinds. The
Confederate loss was inconsiderable.

Meanwhile, the Federal army, under General Hooker,

had withdrawn from its lines opposite Fredericksburg,

pursuing the roads near the Potomac, with the purpose,

apparently, of covering the approaches to the city of

Washington. On the 15th, by direction of General Lee,

General Longstreet moved with his whole force, now
embracing his three divisions, except one brigade of

Pickett's division left at Hanover Junction, and advanc-

ing along the east side of the Blue Ridge, occupied Ash-
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by's and Snicker's gaps. General A. P. Hill at the same
time withdrew from the front of Fredericksburg, in

accordance with instructions from General Lee, and
marched for the Valley in the wake of the Second Corps.

General Stuart screened these movements from the

enemy operating in front of Longstreet.

Rodes's division of Ewell's corps had already crossed

the Potomac, and Jenkins's brigade of cavalry, that ac-

companied it, had advanced to Chambersburg. On the

19th Rodes moved to Hagerstown, Johnson crossed the

river to Sharpsburg, and Early moved to Shepherds-

town, in accordance with orders from General Ewell,

who, with his corps thus well in hand, awaited the

movements of the other two corps of the army.

Still the Federal army remained in Virginia, but

manifested no purpose of attacking Longstreet. Gen-

eral Lee thereupon ordered the latter to withdraw from

his position ,and move to the west side of the Shenan-

doah. General A. P. Hill had already reached the Val-

ley. General Stuart was left with his cavalry to guard

the passes of the mountains and observe the movements
of the enemy, whom he was instructed to harass and im-

pede as much as possible, should he attempt to cross the

Potomac. In that event General Stuart was directed

to move into Maryland, crossing the Potomac east or

west of the Blue Ridge, as in his judgment should be

best, and take position on the right of our column as it

advanced. Upon the suggestion of General Stuart that

he could damage the enemy and delay his passage of

the river by getting in his rear, he was authorized to do

so, and it was left to his discretion whether to enter

Maryland east or west of the Blue Ridge; but he was
instructed to lose no time in placing his command on

the right of our column as soon as he should perceive

the enemy moving northward.*
* General Lee's report.
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On the 21st, in the afternoon, General Ewell received

orders from General Lee to advance toward Harrisburg.

On the 22d he proceeded with the divisions of Rodes
and Johnson, preceded by Jenkins's brigade of cavalry,

to Chambersburg, and thence to Carlisle, which place

he reached on June 27th. The division of General Early

had marched by a parallel route to Greenwood, and
thence to York, in accordance with instructions pre-

viously given by General Lee to General Ewell.

The two corps under generals Longstreet and A. P.

Hill had meanwhile been ordered to cross the Potomac
and follow General Ewell, and on the 27th they en-

camped near Chambersburg. Meanwhile, the Federal

Army of the Potomac, now under the command of Gen-

eral Meade, had crossed the Potomac and was concen-

trated about Frederick, but of this General Lee had re-

ceived no information whatever.

The cavalry force at this time with the army, consist-

ing of Jenkins's brigade and a battalion under Colonel

E. V. White, was operating with the advance of General

Swell's columns. No report had reached General Lee

from General Stuart, who was ordered to give notice of

the movements of the Federal army should it cross the

Potomac; and as nothing had been heard from him,

General Lee naturally concluded that the enemy had
not yet left Virginia. His confidence in General Stuart,

who was so active, so vigilant, so reliable, was such as

to reassure him and remove all solicitude concerning

the movements of the enemy. Great was his surprise

and annoyance, therefore, when on the 28th he received

information from one of his scouts to the effect that the

Federal army had crossed the Potomac and was ap-

proaching South Mountain. How materially different

his plans would have been had he been kept informed of

the movements of his adversary will never be known.

Yet there is no word of censure in his official report, only



THE ABSENCE OF THE CAVALRY 185

a simple statement of facts : a striking illustration of his

tendency always to suppress all consideration of self

and to spare the feelings and reputation of others. His
confidence in General Stuart was unlimited, and his

admiration for him deservedly great. He realized that

he made mistakes himself, and he was tolerant of those

of others. His one great aim and endeavor was to se-

cure success for the cause in Avhich he was enlisted; all

else was made subordinate to this. No possible good to

that cause would result from exposing the errors of judg-

ment of others, or by indulging in useless regrets at

what had happened and was beyond recall. The possi-

ble effect upon himself of silence in such a case never

operated as a motive to cause him to interpose another

to shield him from the responsibility that he always as-

sumed for the operations of the army under his command.
In chronological order, and as illustrating the chival-

ric nature of General Lee, it is well to call attention ta

the following order issued by him to his troops upon
entering the enemy's country. It was issued on the

27th of June at Chambersburg, Pennsylvania, and reads

as follows

:

Geneeal Ordeks, No. 73.

The commanding general has observed with marked satisfac-

tion the conduct of the troops on the march, and confidently

anticipates results commensurate with the high spirit they have

manifested.

No troops could have displayed greater fortitude or better

performed the arduous marches of the past ten days. Their

conduct in other respects has, with few exceptions, been in keep-

ing with their character as soldiers, and entitles them to aj)pro-

bation and praise.

There have, however, been instances of forgetfulness on the

part of some that they have in keeping the yet unsullied repu-

tation of the army, and that the duties exacted of us by civiliza-
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tion and Christianity are not less obligatory in the country of the

enemy than in our own.

The commanding general considers that no greater disgrace

could befall the army, and through it our whole people, than the

perpetration of the barbarous outrages upon the unarmed and

defenseless, and the wanton destruction of private property, that

have marked the course of the enemy in our own country.

Sach proceedings not only degrade the perpetrators and all

connected with them, but are subversive of the discipline and

efficiency of the army, and destructive of the ends of our pres-

ent movement. It must be remembered that we make war only

upon armed men, and that we cannot take vengeance for the

wrongs our people have suffered without lowering ourselves in

the eyes of all whose abhorrence has been excited by the atroci-

ties of our enemies, and offending against Him to whom ven-

geance belongeth, without whose favor and support our efforts

must all prove in vain. The commanding general, therefore,

earnestly exhorts the troops to abstain with most scrupulous care

from unnecessary or wanton injury to private property, and he

enjoins upon all officers to arrest and bring to summary punish-

ment all who shall in any way offend against the orders on this

subject. E. E. Lee,

General.



CHAPTER XVI

BATTLE OP GETTYSBURG, JULY 1, 1863

IN the absence of the cavalry it was impossible to as-

certain the purpose of the enemy ; but to deter him
from advancing farther west and intercepting our

communication with Virginia, General Lee determined
to concentrate his army east of the mountains. Gen-
eral Hill was ordered on June 29th to move to Cashtown,
and General Longstreet was directed to follow tlie next

day. On the morning of the 30th General Heth, who
had arrived at Cashtown, sent Pettigrew's brigade to

Gettysburg to procure supplies, where it encountered
the enemy. This was a surprise, and being ignorant of

the nature and extent of this force, General Pettigrew
retired on the main body of the division.

General Lee reached Cashtown on the morning of

July 1st and stopped to confer with General Hill, two
of whose divisions were up and the third not far away,
who reported to General Lee that the advance of Heth's

division had encountered the enemy, presumably cav-

alry, at Gettysburg.

General Heth had been instructed to ascertain what
force was at Gettysburg, and if he found infantry op-

posed to him, to report the fact immediately, without
forcing an engagement. While General Lee and Gen-
eral Hill were conversing, the sound of artillery was
heard in the direction of Gettysburg. General Hill

hastened to the front, and General Lee followed.
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On arriving at the scene of battle, General Lee ascer-

tained that the enemy's infantry and artillery were
present in considerable force. Two of Heth's brigades that

had been advanced for the purpose of feeling the enemy
had encountered a superior force, and had fallen back
on the main body. The whole division was now hotly

engaged, and it was evident that we had .encountered

the advance of the Federal Army of the Potomac and
serious work was ahead.

Orders had previously been sent to General Ewell to

recall his divisions and to concentrate about Cashtown.
While en route for that point, on the morning of the 1 st

of July, General Ewell learned that Hill's corps was
moving toward Gettysburg, and on arriving at Middle-

town he turned the head of his column in that direction.

When within a few miles of the town General Rodes,

whose division was in advance, was made aware, by
the sharp cannonading, of the presence of the enemy in

force at Gettysburg, and caused immediate preparations
for battle to be made.
On reaching the scene of conflict. General Rodes

made his dispositions to assail the force with which
Hill's troops were engaged, but no sooner were his lines

formed than he perceived fresh troops of the enemy ex-

tending their right flank and deploying in his immedi-
ate front. With this force he was soon actively engaged.
The contest now became sharp and earnest. Neither

side sought or expected a general engagement, and yet,

brought thus unexpectedly in the presence of each
other, found a conflict unavoidable. The battle contin-

ued with varying success until perhaps 3 p.m., when
General Early, of Ewell's corps, reached the field with
his division, moved in on Rodes's left, and attacked the
enemy with his accustomed vigor and impetuosity.

This decided the contest. The enemy's right gave way
under Early's assault. Pender's division, of Hill's corps,
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had meanwhile been advanced to relieve that of Heth;

and Rodes, observing the effect of Early's attack, or-

dered his line forward. There resulted a general and

irresistible advance of our entire line. The enemy-

gave way at all points, and were driven in disorder

through and beyond the town of Gettysburg, leaving

about five thousand prisoners in our hands.

In this action the troops engaged on the Confederate

side consisted of the divisions of Heth and Pender, of

Hill's corps, except Thomas's brigade of Pender's divi-

sion, and those of Early and Bodes, of Ewell's corps,

except Smith's brigade of Early's division. On the side

of the Federals there were the First Corps, embracing

the divisions of Wadsworth, Doubleday, and Robinson;

the Eleventh Corps, embracing the divisions of Schurz,

Barlow, and Steinwehr, except one brigade of Stein-

wehr's left as a reserve on Cemetery Hill ; and the cav-

alry force under General Buford, consisting of two bri-

gades dismounted and fighting as infantry. The force

on each side was about the same, from twenty-two to

twenty-four thousand. In his history of the Army of

the Potomac Mr. Swinton puts the loss sustained by

these two corps at " near ten thousand men."

Viewed by itself, this battle was one of no inconsid-

erable magnitude. It was a fair, stand-up fight in the

open, on equal terms, lasting all day, attended with

heavy loss, and there were more troops engaged on

each side than were employed by the Confederates

in the assault made on the third day by the divisions

of Pickett and Pettigrew on the Federal lines on Ceme-
tery Hill. The bitter struggle on the first was as much
a part of the battle of Gettysburg as was the ineffec-

tual though heroic charge of the Confederates on the

third day; and the results of the battle of the first

constituted a far more creditable victory for Confeder-

ate arms, when all the conditions are considered, than
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can be claimed for the Federals, by reason of the failure

of the Confederates to cai^ry their works, on the third

day. Too many are given to consider the operations of

the 3d of July as constituting all there was of the battle

of Gettysburg, overlooking the fact that there was quite

as important an engagement on each of the two preced-

ing days, in each of which the advantage was all on the

side of the Confederates,

General Lee witnessed the flight of the Federals

through Gettysburg and up the hills beyond. -He then

directed me to go to General Ewell and to say to him
that, from the position which he occupied, he could see

the enemy retreating over those hills, without organi-

zation and in great confusion; that it was only neces-

sary to press "those people" in order to secure posses-

sion of the heights, and that, if possible, he wished him
to do this. In obedience to these instructions, I pro-

ceeded immediately to General Ewell and delivered the

order of General Lee; and after receiving from him
some message in regard to the prisoners captured and
the embarrassment of looking after them, I returned to

General Lee and reported that his order had been deliv-

ered. General Ewell did not express any objection, or

indicate the existence of any impediment, to the execu-

tion of the order conveyed to him, but left the impres-

sion upon my mind that it would be executed. In the

exercise of that discretion, however, which General Lee
was accustomed to accord to his lieutenants, and proba-

bly because of an undue regard for his admonition

previously given, not to precipitate a general engage-

ment. General Ewell deemed it unwise to make the

pursuit. The troops were not moved forward, and the

enemy proceeded to occupy and fortify the position

which it was designed that General Ewell should seize.

It is interesting in this connection to read what Gen-
eral Gordon has to say about this in his book " Remi-
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niscences of the Civil War." General Gordon com-
manded one of the brigades of Early's division. When
General Early reached the field and found Rodes's divi-

sion hotly engaged with the enemy, he immediately
ordered his troops into line on Rodes's left, Gordon's
brigade being on the right, Hoke's brigade (under Colonel
Avery) on the left, Hays's brigade in the center, and
Smith's brigade in reserve. Gordon's brigade was at

once ordered forward, and as soon as he was engaged
the brigades of Hays and Hoke were ordered forward
with the artillery in support.

After a short but hot contest Grordou succeeded in routing the

force opposed to him, consisting of a division of the Eleventh

Corps, commanded by Brigadier-general Barlow, of the Federal

army, and drove it back with great slaughter, capturing among
a number of prisoners General Barlow himself, who was severely

wounded. Gordon advanced across the creek, over the hill on

which Barlow had been posted, and across the fields toward the

4own, until he came to a low ridge, behind which the enemy had

another line of battle, extending beyond his left.*

General Early then ordered General Gordon to halt

his command.
Now hear what General Gordon says about this check

to his victorious advance

:

The whole of that portion of the Union army in my front was

in inextricable confusion and in flight. They were necessarily

in flight, for my troops were upon the flank and rapidly sweeping

down the lines. The firing upon my men had almost ceased.

Large bodies of the Union troops were throwing down their arms

and surrendering, because in disorganized and confused masses

they were wholly powerless either to check the movement or re-

turn the fire. As far down the lines as my eye could reach the

Union troops were in retreat. Those at a distance were still re-

* General Early's report.
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sisting, but giving ground, and it was only necessary for me to

press forward in order to insure the same results which invaria-

bly follow such flank movements. In less than half an hour my
troops would have swept up and over those hills, the j)ossession

of which was of such momentous consequence. It is not surpris-

ing, with a full realization of the consequences of a halt, that I

should have refused at first to obey the order. Not until the

third or fourth order of the most peremptory character reached

me did I obey.

While I have always regarded our failure to push the

advantage gained on the first day at Gettysburg and to

secure possession of the heights beyond the town as a

lost opportunity, constituting one of the pivotal points

upon which the fortunes of the Confederacy seemed to

turn when hope of success was highest, I feel that it

would be unjust to General Ewell and to myself to per-

mit the reader to draw from my report of that incident

an unfavorable inference as to the estimation in which
I held that gallant soldier and gentleman. No more
chivalric spirit, no hardier specimen of American man-
hood was developed on either side during the war than

that of General Richard S. Ewell. He was a thorough

soldier, and yet with a heart as tender as a woman's;
brave as a lion, he courted the post of danger, always
eager for battle, and giving inspiration to his men that

contributed greatly to success. Nervous in temperament
and at times brusque in manner, he was at heart gener-

ous to the unfortunate, gentle to the weak, and sympa-
thetic with those who suffered. His record is a glorious

one: doing valiant service in all of the battles of the

Army of Northern Virginia, honored with favorable

mention time and again by his superiors, he won espe-

cial renown in the operations in the Valley of Virginia,

where he was an efficient second to General Jackson in

the brilliant series of engagements that crowned with
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glory the standards of the South and caused the name
of each of these heroes to be writ high in the Temple of

Fame.
Fully five thousand prisoners, exclusive of a large

number of wounded, three pieces of artillery, and several

colors were captured. Among the prisoners were two
brigadier-generals, one of whom was badly wounded.
Our own loss was heavy, including a number of officers,

among whom were Major-general Heth and Brigadier-

general Scales wounded, and Brigadier-general Archer
captured.

Our troops bivouacked in the positions occupied at the

close of the fight, and the enemy, having retreated to

the range of hills south of Gettysburg, proceeded to pro-

tect themselves with hastily constructed breastworks,

extending their line to the left along Cemetery Hill.

Such was the condition of affairs at the close of the

evening of the first day. The prevailing idea with Gen-
eral Lee was to press forward without delay, to follow

up promptly and vigorously the advantage already

gained. Having failed to reap the full fruit of the vic-

tory before night, his mind was occupied with the idea

of renewing the assault upon the enemy with the dawn
of day on the 2d. The divisions of major-generals

Early and Rodes, of Ewell's corps, and Heth and Pen-
der, of HilFs corps, had been heavily engaged and had
sustained serious loss, but were still in excellent condi-

tion and in the full enjoyment of the prestige of success

and a consequent elation of spirit in having so gallantly

swept the enemy from their front, through the town of

Gettysburg, and compelled him to seek refuge behind

the heights beyond. The division of Major-general Ed-
ward Johnson, of Ewell's corps, was perfectly fresh, not

having been engaged. Major-general Anderson's divi-

sion of Hill's corps was also now up. With this force

General Lee thought that the enemy's position could be
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assailed with every prospect of success ; but after a con-

ference during the night with the corps and division

commanders, who represented that, in their judgment,
it would be hazardous to attempt to storm the strong
position occupied by the enemy, with troops somewhat
fagged by the marching and fighting of that day; that

the ground in their immediate front furnished greater

obstacles to a successful assault than would be encoun-

tered on the enemy's left flank; and that it could be
reasonably concluded, since they had so severely handled
the enemy in their front, that he would concentrate and
fortify with special reference to resisting a further ad-

vance just there—he yielded to their views and deter-

mined to make the main attack on the enemy's left, in-

dulging the hope that Longstreet's corps would be up
in time to begin the movement at an early hour on the

2d. He instructed General Ewell to be prepared to co-

operate by a simultaneous advance by his corps.

BATTLE OF GETTYSBURG, JULY 2, 1863

As soon as the necessity for the concentration of the

army was precipitated by the unexpected encounter on
the 1st of July with a large force of the enemy near
Gettysburg, General Longstreet was urged to hasten

his march. The march of his troops was somewhat
delayed on the 1st by Johnson's division of the Second
Corps, which came into the road from Shippensburg,

making for the same objective point. McLaws's divi-

sion reached Marsh Creek, four miles from Gettysburg,

a little after dark, and Hood's division got within nearly

the same distance of the town about twelve o'clock at

night. There is a great conflict of testimony regarding the
time when General Longstreet's troops reached the scene

of action on the 2d of July. The condition of affairs at the

close of the battle on the 1st was fully known to Gen-
eral Longstreet, and every consideration should have
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prompted him to have the divisions of McLaws and
Hood at Gettysburg very soon after daylight on the 2d.

In his book "From Manassas to Appomattox" Gen-
eral Longstreet thus refers to his movements at that

time:

Colonel Taylor says that General Lee urged that the march of

my troops should be hastened and was chafed at their non-

appearance. Not one word did he utter to me of their march

until he gave his orders at eleven o'clock for the move to his

right. Orders for the troops to hasten their march of the 1st

were ^sent without even a suggestion from him, but upon his

announcement that he intended to fight the next day, if the

enemy was there. That he was excited and olf his balance was

evident on the afternoon of the 1st, and he labored under that

oppression until enough blood was shed to appease him.

How terribly sanguinary this makes General Lee ap-

pear ! Is it really the utterance of General Longstreet ?

Then he has greatly changed in his sentiments tow^ard

General Lee since I knew him during the war. What
a groundless, monstrous charge this is! Think of it, all

ye gallant survivors of the Army of Northern Virginia,

your old commander depicted to the world as an insa-

tiate, cruel, and bloodthirsty monster! Such a charge

as that can do him no permanent harm and will but re-

coil with crushing force on him who made or approved it.

The war record of General Longstreet was a brilliant

one. That he should have made mistakes was but nat-

ural and inevitable ; but these did not serve to make his

case an exception ; and such was the story of his heroic

achievements they could not mar its brilliancy. It is

much to be regretted that in the attempt to prove him-
self invariably right he should have found it necessary

to assail General Lee's motives and defame his charac-

ter, while claiming for himself qualities as a soldier and
leader superior to those possessed by his old commander.
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Now, as to the movements of General Longstreet on
the 1st and 2d of July at Gettysburg, to which he refers

in the quotation just made from his book, may we not

ask what more urgent request he could have expected
from General Lee that he should hasten to join him,

than is embraced in his own statement that " orders for

the troops to hasten their march of the 1st were sent with-

out even a suggestion from him [General Lee], but upon
his announcement that he intended to fight the next

day, if the enemy was there " ? The greater portion of

the two corps of generals A. P. Hill and Ewell had been
hotly engaged during the 1st of July with an equal

force of the enemy. The result was a great victory for

General Lee's troops, and the enemy had been driven

back some distance through the town of Gettysburg, to

the heights beyond. It was of the first importance to

follow up this success promptly. General Longstreet,

with two of his divisions, camped at a point but four

miles distant on the night of the 1st. He was aware of

what had occurred. He had received orders to hasten

the march of his troops with the '

' announcement that

General Lee intended to fight the next day, if the enemy
was there." When should he and his two divisions

have reported to General Lee for orders ? At what hour
on the morning of the 2d could General Lee have reason-

ably expected him ? At what hour would General Jack-

son have saluted General Lee and pointed to his divi-

sions just behind him ? I have claimed, and still

contend, that General Longstreet was fairly chargeable

with tardiness on that occasion. He was fully aware
of the importance of joining General Lee at the earliest

possible moment. In a letter to me under date of May
31, 1875, he wrote: " An order was given as soon as the

fight of the first day was over for General Ewell to

attack, or rather prepare to attack, at daylight in his

front, but was almost immediately changed so as to
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allow time for me to reach the field and make a cooper-

ative attack upon or by our right."

It is useless to discuss here how different the result

might have been had General Longstreet moved his two
divisions to the front at dawn of day on the 2d. The
question is, At what hour did the troops of General
Longstreet reach General Lee ? For, as will be shown
later, there appears to be a contradiction in General
Longstreet's own statement about this.

In his book, page 362, General Longstreet says: " The
stars were shining brightly on the morning of the 2d
when I reported at General Lee's headquarters and
asked for orders. After a time generals McLaws and
Hood, with their staffs, rode up, and at sunrise their

commands filed off the road to the right and rested."

Sunrise in that locality and at that date is about 4.35

A.M. General McLaws, in speaking of the movements of

his division on that occasion, says:

My division camped at Willoughby Eun, about four miles

from Gettysburg, on the night of July 1st. About twelve

o'clock, perhaps it was later, while there I received an order' to

move on at 4 a.m. of the 2d; but that order was countermanded

and I was directed to move early. Not long after sunrise I

moved forward, and before 8 a.m. the head of my division

reached Seminary Ridge, where General Lee was in person.

But I propose to put General Longstreet himself in

evidence to contradict the statement just now quoted
from his book. I have now in my possession an auto-

graph letter from him, written from New Orleans on
the 20th of April, 1875, in which he wrote

:

It occurs to me that if General Lee had any such idea as an

attack at sunrise, you must surely be advised of it. Eight sure

am I that such an order was never delivered to me, and it is not

possible for me to believe that he ever entertained an idea that
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I was to attack at that hour. 'Mj two divisions nor myself did

not reach General Lee until 8 a.m. on the 2d, and if he had in-

tended to attack at sunrise, he surely would have expressed some

surprise or made some allusion to his orders.

The point made by General Longstreet is that he had
received no order to attack at sunrise, nor had he such
orders; but as the matter is here presented, the defense

is purely technical. He had been made to know howr

necessary to General Lee was the presence of his troops

at the front, and he failed to meet the occasion and
have his command available in time for the very coop-

eration with General Ewell, by an early attack by our

right, of which he wrote in his letter of May 31, 1875.

In other words, had he placed his troops at General

Lee's disposal at the proper time, it was unquestionably

the purpose of the latter to have ordered an attack at

sunrise, or at the earliest hour practicable. His troops

not being in position, of course the attack could not be

made. The two statements made by General Longstreet

as to the time at which he reported with his divisions

cannot be reconciled. In 1875, when he wrote the letter

from which I have quoted, he claims that neither he
nor his divisions reached General Lee until 8 a.m. In

his book, published twenty years later, he claims that

he reported at General Lee's headquarters before day

—

"the stars were shining brightly"—and that his two
divisions reached the front "at sunrise," say at 4.35

a.m. The preponderance of contemporaneous evidence

goes to prove that General Longstreet accurately de-

scribed the facts in his letter of April, 1875.

But again there is delay on the part of General Long-
street. He had been made fully aware of General Lee's

purpose and of his wishes as to his own movements.
He had been told by General Lee that he wished him to

move with his command, then up against the enemy's
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left ; and whether his two divisions reached the field at

sunrise^or at eight o'clock, they should have been moved
forward as soon as they did arrive. General Longstreet

did not wish to make the attack; his heart was not' in

the work before him. In speaking of the movements of

Law's brigade of Hood's division, which w^as late in

reaching the field, he says: " Previous to his joining, I

received instructions from the commanding general to

move, with the portion of my command that was up,

around to gain the Emmitsburg road, on the enemy's
left. . . . Fearing that my force was too weak to ven-

ture to make an attack, I delayed until General Law's
brigade joined its division. As soon after his arrival as we
could make our preparations, the movement was begun."
In the year 1878 General Longstreet published two

accounts of the battle of Gettysburg, one supplemental

to the other, in one of which he quoted as follows from
a letter written to him by General Hood in 1875, con-

cerning the part taken by his division in this battle

:

I arrived with my staff in front of the heights of Gettysburg

shortly after daybreak on the morning of July 3d. During the

early part of the same morning Ave were both in company with

General Lee. . . . General Lee was seeminglyanxious you [Long-

street] should attack that morning. You thought it better to

await the arrival of Pickett's division—at that time still in rear

—in order to make the attack, and you said to me subsequently,

" The general is a little nervous this morning; he wishes me to

make the attack. I do not wish to do so without Pickett. I

never like to go into battle with one boot off." Thus passed the

forenoon of that eventful day, when in the afternoon, about three

o'clock, it was decided to no longer await Pickett's division, but

to proceed to our extreme right and attack ujd the Emmitsburg
road. McLaws moved off, and I followed with my division. In

a short time I was ordered to quicken the march of my troops,

and to pass to the front of McLaws.
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This letter is given in full in General Hood's book
" Advance and Retreat," and from it I make the follow-

ing additional extract

:

This movement was accomplished by throwing out an ad-

vanced force to tear down fences and clear the way. The in-

structions I received were to place my division across the Em-
mitsburg road, form line of battle, and attack. Before reaching

this road, however, I had sent forward some of my jiicked Texas

scouts to ascertain the position of the enemy's extreme left flank.

They soon reported to me that it rested upon Round Top Moun-

tain; that the country was open, and that I could march through

an open woodland pasture around Eound Top, and assault the

enemy in flank and rear; that their wagon-trains were parked in

rear of their line and were badly exposed to our attack in that

direction. As soon as I arrived upon the Emmitsburg road I

placed one or two batteries in position and opened fire. A reply

from the enemy's guns soon developed his lines. His left rested

on or near Round Top, with line bending back and again for-

ward, forming as it were a concave line, as approached by the

Emmitsburg road. A considerable body of troops was posted

in front of their main line between the Emmitsburg road and

Round Top Mountain. This force was in line of battle upon an

eminence near a peach orchard.

I found that in making the attack according to orders, viz.,

up the Emmitsburg road, I should have first to encounter and

drive off this advanced line of battle; secondly, at the base and

along the slope of the mountain, to confront immense boulders

of stone, so massed together as to form narrow openings which

would break our ranks and cause the men to scatter while climb-

ing up the rocky precipice. I found, moreover, that my division

would be exposed to a heavy fire from the mainline of the enemy

in position on the crest of the high range, of which Round Top

was the extreme left, and, by reason of the concavity of the

enemy's main line, that we would be subject to a destructive fire

in flank and rear as well as in front, and deemed it almost an
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imijossibility to clamber along the boulders up this steep and

rugged mountain, and under this number of cross-fires put the

enemy to flight. I knew that if the feat was accomplished it

must be at a most fearful sacrifice of as brave and gallant soldiers

as ever engaged in battle.

The reconnaissance of my Texas scouts and the development

of the Federal lines were effected in a very short space of time

;

in truth, shorter than I have taken to recall and jot down these

facts, although the scenes and events of that day are as clear to

my mind as if the great battle had been fought yesterday. I was

in possession of these important facts so shortly after reaching

the Emmitsburg road that I considered it my duty to report to

you at once my opinion that it was unwise to attack up the

Emmitsburg road as ordered, and to urge that you allow me to

turn Round Top and attack the enemy in flank and rear. Ac-

cordingly, I despatched a staff-officer bearing to you my request

to be allowed to make the proposed movement on account of the

above-stated reasons. Your rej)ly was quickly received: "Gen-
eral Lee's orders are to attack up the Emmitsburg road." I

sent another oflficer to say that I feared nothing could be accom-

plished by such an attack, and renewed my request to turn Round
Top. Again your answer was: "General Lee's orders are to

attack up the Emmitsburg road." During this interim I had

continued the use of the batteries upon the enemy, and had be-

come more and more convinced that the Federal line extended to

Round Top, and that I could not reasonably hope to accomplish

much by the attack as ordered. In fact, it seemed to me the

enemy occupied a position by nature so strong—I may say im-

pregnable—that, independently of their flank fire, they could

easily repel our attacks by merely throwing and rolling stones

down the mountain-side as we approached.

A third time I despatched one of my staff to explain fully in

regard to the situation, and suggested that you had better come

and look for yourself. I selected in this instance my adjutant-

general, Colonel Harry Sellers, whom you know to be not only

an officer of great courage, but also of marked ability. Colonel
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Sellers returned with the same message,- " General Lee's orders

are to attack up the Emmitsburg road." Almost simultane-

ously Colonel Fairfax of your staff rode up and repeated the above

orders.

After this urgent protest against entering the battle at Gettys-

burg, according to instructions—which protest is the first and

only one I ever made during my entire military career—I or-

dered my line to advance and make the assault.

In the way of comment on this I will only say, Gen-
eral Lee always accorded to his corps commanders great

liberty in the exercise of their discretion as to the man-
ner of the execution of his orders; having made clear

his general plans, he left to them the details of carrying

them out. At Second Manassas General Lee ordered

General Longstreet to send a division of troops to the

relief of General Jackson. General Longstreet thought

he saw a surer and a speedier way of relieving General

Jackson and promptly adopted it, justifying himself by
the plea that "boldness was prudence." The result

proved that he acted wisely. In this case it is to be re-

gretted that the same spirit and motives did not control

his action.

No mention of this letter nor of these incidents is

made in General Longstreet's book. My attention was
called to this by reading a review of the book in

the "Journal of the Royal United Service Institution,

October, 1897," from which I take the following ex-

cerpt :

But there is a mass of evidence which goes to show that Gen-

eral Lee considered Longstreet responsible; and this evidence

the latter has certainly not refuted. In the first place, there can

be no question whatever that he was aware that Lee expected

him to attack as early as practicable on the moi'ning of July 2d.

In the second place, it is certain that Lee explained his wishes,

although he gave no definite orders, soon after sunrise; that he
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even pointed out the ground to be taken up by Longstreet's di-

visions; and that, riding o2 afterward to the left, he expressed

much uneasiness, shortly after nine o'clock, when he found that

Longstreet made no move. In the third place. General Long-

street himself, in a letter which he wrote some years ago to the

PMlaLleljjMa Weekly Times, has cited evidence which shows that

he took upon himself to resist the expressed wishes of the com-

mander-in-chief. Not one of these points is touched upon in

the Memoirs. General Longstreet is content with the assertion

that until eleven o'clock he had received no definite order to at-

tack. But it was never Lee's practice to issue definite orders to his

corps commanders. He was accustomed to explain his general

intentions, and to leave the execution in their hands; and if on

this occasion he departed from his usual custom, it was because

Longstreet declined to move without explicit orders to that

effect. . . . He was aware that Lee was anxious to attack as

early as practicable; he was aware that an early attack was

essential to success; he was aware how the commander-in-chief

desired his divisions should be placed ; and yet, until he received

a definite order to advance, did absolutely nothing. He made no

attempt to reconnoiter his line of march, to bring his troops into

position, or to initiate the attack in accordance with the ex-

pressed intentions of his superior.

It was about 4 p.m. on the 2d when Longstreet's two
divisions advanced to attack. Hood's division went in

first, on the extreme right. McLaws followed a little

later with his division, supported on the left by four

brigades of Anderson's division of the Third Corps,

under generals Wilcox, Perry, Wright, and Posey. The
enemy was soon driven from his position on the Em-
mitsburg road to the cover of the ravine and a line of

stone fences at the foot of the ridge in his rear. He
was dislodged from these after a severe struggle, and
retired up the ridge, leaving a number of his batteries
in our possession. Wilcox's and Wright's brigades ad-
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vanced with great gallantry, breaking successive lines

of the enemy's infantry, and compelling him to abandon
much of his artillery. Wilcox reached the foot and
Wright gained the crest of the ridge itself, driving the

enemy down the opposite side; but having become sep-

arated from McLaws, and gone beyond the other two
brigades of the division, they were attacked in front

and on both flanks and compelled to retire, being unable

to bring off any of the captured artillery.*

Hood's brigades on the right had successfully assailed

the enemy's lines and forced them through Devil's Den
and back for shelter about Little Round Top. The
fighting here was desperate, each side availing itself of

the protection of ravines and huge boulders of rock,

which gave to the place its euphonious name. We had
carried the wheat-field and Devil's Den, and were press-

ing against Little Round Top. Four pieces of artillery,

several hundred prisoners, and two regimental flags

were captured.

Early in the morning General Lee had notified Gen-
eral Ewell on our left that it was his intention to make
the main attack on the enemy's left, and he was directed

as soon as he heard the guns of Longstreet's troops to

make a diversion in their favor, to be converted into

a real attack if an opportunity offered. General Ewell
gives 5 P.M. as the hour when General Longstreet's at-

tack commenced, and he then directed his batteries to

open upon the lines of the enemy; but it was sundown,
two hours later, before the division of General Johnson
advanced to attack the wooded hill in his front. The
brigades on the right found the enemy strongly in-

trenched on the side of a steep hill. The brigades on
the left gallantly advanced and took part of the enemy's
breastworks, and held them until ordered out about
noon of the next day. As soon as General Johnson at-

* General Lee's report.
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tacked, General Early, on his right, moved two of his

brigades forward against Cemetery Hill. Charging

over a hill into a ravine, they broke a line of the enemy's

infantry posted behind a stone wall, and advanced up
the steep face of another hill, over two lines of breast-

works. These brigades captured several batteries of

artillery and held them, until, finding that no attack

was made on their right, and that heavy masses of the

enemy were advancing against their front and flank,

they reluctantly fell back, bringing away seventy-five

to one hundred prisoners and four stands of captured

colors.

While in these operations the lines of the enemy were

forced back on each flank,—our lines having been con-

siderably advanced as the result of General Longstreet's

attack, more advantageous positions for our artillery

thereby secured, and several hundred prisoners, four

pieces of artillery, and six stands of colors captured,

—

still there was a lack of accord and cooperation in the

assaults of the different columns of attack, and no deci-

sive result.

Our losses were very heavy, especially in officers of

high rank. Major-general Hood was wounded early in

the action. Major-general Pender, brigadier-generals

G. F. Anderson, Barksdale, and Semmes, of the First

Corps, and J. M. Jones, of the Second Corps, were
wounded, Pender, Barksdale, and Semmes mortally so.

At the close of the day Longstreet's command was so

disposed as to hold the ground gained on the right, with

his left withdrawn to the first position from which the

enemy had been driven, resting at the peach orchard.

BATTLE OF GETTYSBURG, JULY 3, 1863

General Lee determined to renew the attack upon the

enemy's position on the 3d. In his report, in speaking
of the operations of the 2d, he says

:
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The result of this clay's operations induced the belief that,

with proper concert of action, and with the increased support

that the positions gained on the right would enable the artillery

to render the assaulting columns, we should ultimately succeed;

and it was accordingly determined to continue the attack.

Pickett, with three of his brigades, joined Longstreet the follow-

ing morning, and our batteries were moved forward to the posi-

tions gained by him the day before. The general plan of attack

was unchanged, except that one division and two brigades of

Hill's corps were ordered to support Longstreet. General Ewell

was directed to assail the enemy's right at the same time.

But again there is delay. General Lee in his report

simply observes, "General Longstreet's dispositions

were not completed as early as was expected." General
Ewell during the night reinforced General Johnson with
three brigades from his other divisions, and prepared
him for the early attack ordered for the next day.

Knowing of no reason for delay, Johnson's division, at

Gulp's Hill, on our extreme left, was ordered to assail

the enemy's lines and had already become engaged,
when General Ewell was apprised of Longstreet's delay;

but it was then too late, the fight was on.

After a gallant and prolonged struggle, in which the enemy
was forced to abandon part of his intrenchments, General John-

son found himself unable to carry the strongly fortified crest of

the hill. The projected attack on the enemy's left not having

been made, he was enabled to hold his right with a force largely

superior to that of General Johnson, and finally to threaten his

flank and rear, rendering it necessary for him to retire to his

original position about 1 p.m.*

General Longstreet, whose troops occupied the posi-

tions from which they had driven the enemy the pre-

vious day, was reinforced by Heth's division, under
* General Lee's report.
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General Pettigrew, and by the brigades of Lane and
Scales, of Pender's division of Hill's corps. Wilcox's
brigade of Anderson's division had already been assigned

to the support of Colonel Alexander's artillery, and occu-

pied a line in advance of the Emmitsburg road, and
eventually took part in the assault. About 1 p.m., at

a given signal, our artillery opened fire on the enemy's
lines, and for two hours thereafter there was a terrific

cannonade by the batteries on both sides. General
Longstreet then ordered forward the column of attack,

consisting of Pickett's and Heth's divisions, Pickett on
the right. Wilcox's brigade marched in rear of Pickett's

right to guard that flank, and Heth's (under Pettigrew)

was supported by Lane's and Scale's brigades, under
General Trimble.

The advance was made iu very handsome style, all the troops

keeping their line accurately, and taking the fire of the batteries

with great coolness and deliberation. About half-way between

our position and that of the enemy a ravine partially sheltered

our ti'oops from the enemy's fire, where a short halt was made

for rest. The advance was resumed after a moment's pause, all

still in good order. The enemy's batteries soon opened upon

our lines with canister, and the left seemed to stagger under it;

but the advance was resumed, and with some degree of steadi-

ness. Pickett's troops did not appear to be checked by the bat-

teries, and only halted to deliver a fire when close under musket

range. Major-general Anderson's division was ordered forward

to support and assist the wavering columns of Pettigrew and

Trimble. Pickett's troops, after delivering fire, advanced to the

charge and entered the enemy's lines, capturing some of his

batteries, and gained his works. About the same moment the

troops that had before hesitated broke their ranks and fell

back in great disorder, many more falling under the enemy's

fire in retiring than while they were attacking. This gave the

enemy time to throw his entire force upon Pickett, with a strong
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prospect of being able to break up his lines or destroy him before

Anderson's division could reach him, which would, in its turn,

have greatly exposed Anderson. He was therefore ordered to

halt. In a few moments the enemy, marching against both

flanks and the front of Pickett's division, overpowered it and

drove it back, capturing about half of those of it who were not

killed or wounded.*

The troops that had taken part in the assault were
rallied and reformed, but the enemy manifested no pur-

pose to pursue. Our line of defense was intact, and
nothing could have pleased us more than for the enemy
to have come out from their intrenched line and to have
attacked.

Hood's division was on our right; on its left was Mc-
Laws's division, then came Anderson's division and the

balance of the Third Corps not in the assault, and then

the divisions of Rodes, Early, and Johnson, of the

Second Corps, in the order named, constituting our left.

The line extended from opposite Little Round Top on
the right to Culps Hill on the left, and was continuous

and well defended, independently of the troops that had
taken part in the assault. This whole line was in read-

iness for fight, but the troops were quiet spectators of

the heroic charge made on Cemetery Hill. It was a
battle of two divisions against all the Federal army that

could bring them within range ; the former charging in

-the open, the latter resisting behind breastworks.

The critical author of the Review of General Long-
street's book, to whom I have previously referred, has
this to say of the operations of the third day:

On the morning of July 3d Lee determined to assault this

position in front and flank simultaneously ; and according to his

chief-of-staff, Longstreet's corps, supported by a division of the

* General Longstreet's official report of the battle.
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Third Corps, was to make the main attack on the center, while

the Second Corps attacked the right. But again there was de-

lay, and this time it was fatal. General Longstreet attempts to

make some capital out of the fact that General Lee in his official

report wrote as follows: "Longstreet, reinforced by Pickett's

three brigades, which arrived on the battle-field during the after-

noon of the 2d, was ordered to attack the next morning.'" '
' This,"

says Longstreet, "is disingenuous. He did not give or send the

orders for the morning of the third day, nor did he reinforce me
with Pickett's brigades for morning attack." And yet a few

lines further on he writes : "He [Lee] rode over after sunrise and

gave his orders. His plan was to assault the enemy's left center

by a column to be composed of McLaws's and Hood's divisions

reinforced by Pickett's brigades. I thought it would not do."

Passing by the fact that it was never Lee's plan to assault the

center only, but both center and flank simultaneously, we may
note that, according to Longstreet's own testimony, the order

was given soon after sunrise; and yet, although the Second

Corps attacking the Federal right became engaged at daylight,

it was not until 1 p.m., eight hours later, that the artillery of

the First Corps opened fire, and not until 2 p.m. that the infan-

try advanced. Their assault was absolutely isolated. The Second

Coi*ps had already been beaten back. The Third Corps, although

a division was ready to move to any point which Longstreet

might indicate, was not called upon by him for assistance. Two
divisions of his own corps, posted on the right flank, did abso-

lutely nothing; and after a supremely gallant effort, the fifteen

thousand men who were hurled against the front of the Federal

army, and some of whom actually penetrated the position, were

repulsed with fearful slaughter.

The Confederate loss in the assault on the enemy's
line on the third day was very heavy. Major-general
Trimble and Brigadier-general Pettigrew were wounded,
the former severely. Of Pickett's division, the three

brigade commanders, generals Armistead, Garnett, and
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Kemper, fell on the heights while leading their men;
Armistead and Garnett killed, and Kemper dangerously
wounded. General Armistead fell at the head of his

troops some distance within the enemy's lines, and the

place is marked now with a stone " Where Armistead
Fell,"—the high-water mark of the Confederate cause,

as it is sometimes called.

The total loss on the Confederate side during the three

days' fighting at Gettysburg, as compiled from records

in the War Department, is as follows: killed, 2592;

wounded, 12,709; missing, 5150; total, 20,451. The
Federal loss for the three days is given as: killed, 3155;

wounded, 14,529; missing, 5365; total, 23,049. General
Lee in his report says that 7000 Federals were taken
prisoners at Gettysburg, of which number about 1500

were paroled, and the remainder brought to Virginia.

On the 31st of May, 18G3, the Army of Northern Vir-

ginia numbered : infantry, 59,457; cavalry, 10,292; artil-

lery, 4702; of all arms, 74,451 effective, as appears from
the official return of that army on file in the archives of

the War De]3artment at Washington. This was imme-
diately before the invasion of Pennsylvania, and may
be regarded as representing the maximum strength of

General Lee's army in the Gettysburg campaign.
The Monthly Return of the Federal Army of the Poto-

mac of June 30, 1863, shows an effective total of 104,256;

this was but a few days before the battle, and therefore

should be taken as representing the number of troops

engaged.

The Confederate strength at the time of the battle was
considerably less than it was on the eve of the cam-
paign, one month previous. The army had marched
from Fredericksburg into Maryland; Ewell's corps had
lost some men in its engagements with the Federal force

in the lower Valley ; Stuart's cavalry had made the cir-

cuit of the Federal army north of the Potomac and had
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lost heavily in its constant skirmishing both in Virginia

and in its raid to Hanover, and only arrived at Gettys-

burg on the 3d and 4th of July. I estimate the number of

General Lee's army, including all the cavalry, at from
sixty-seven to sixty-eight thousand men.*
After the assault on the enemy's works on the 3d of

July, there was no serious fighting at Gettysburg. The
4th passed in comparative quiet. Neither army
evinced any disposition to assail the other. Notwith-

standing the brilliant achievements of Ewell and Hill

on the first day, and the decided advantage gained by
Longstreet on the second, the failure of the operations

of the third day deprived us, in a measure, of the pres-

tige of our previous successes, and gave a shadow of

right to our adversary's claim of having gained a vic-

tory. Their exultation, however, should be tempered
with moderation when it is considered that, after one
day of absolute quiet, the Confederates withdrew from
their front without serious molestation, and, with bridges

swept away and an impassable river in rear, stood in

an attitude of defiance until their line of retreat could

be rendered practicable, after which they safely re-

crossed into Virginia. Then, again, so serious was the

loss visited upon the Federals in the engagements of the

first and second days, and so brilliant was the effort to

capture their position on the third day, that they them-
selves were undecided as to whether they should stand

or retreat. General Lee's army was in condition to have
justified his moving by either flank to draw the enemy
from his impregnable position, and so to have forced a
battle on more even terms, with greater promise of suc-

cess. The spirit of the army was superb ; General Lee's

confidence in his men was undiminished; and the lack

of supplies and of ammunition alone constrained him
to abandon the enemy's front and recross the Potomac.

* See note in Appendix.



CHAPTER XVII

THE CONFEDERATES EETURN TO VIRGINIA

ON July 4th. the trains were ordered to move to Will-

iamsport, carrying such of the wounded as could

bear transportation. During the night the army
withdrew from Gettysburg and was put in motion for

the Potomac. A very heavy rain set in, and this so de-

layed the movements of the troops that the rear-guard,

a part of Swell's corps, did not leave Gettysburg until

late in the forenoon of the 5th. The enemy offered no
serious opposition, and our army reached Hagerstown,
a portion in the afternoon of the 6th and the remain-
der on the morning of the 7th. In consequence of

the excessive rains the river was not fordable, and as

the only bridge we had laid had been partially destroyed,

nothing could be done until the waters subsided or new
bridges were constructed. The cavalry under General
Stuart performed most valuable service in guarding the
flanks of our army daring the retrograde movement. It

materially aided in the repulse of the enemy in his

attack upon our wagon-trains at Williamsport, and, by a
bold movement on the 8th in the direction of Boons-
borough, checked the advance of the enemy, drove him
back to Boonsborough, and so gained more time for Gen-
eral Lee in which to perfect his line of defense. On
the 12th the enemy appeared in our front, and a line of

defense having been selected, covering the Potomac
from Williamsport to Falling Waters, our army took
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position, ready and anxious for attack. We remained
thus for two days, the enemy in front manifesting no
disposition to attack, but steadily engaged in throwing
up earthworks for defense. We would have remained
longer, hoping to be attacked, but food was scarce. The
high water had interfered with the working of the mills,

sufficient supplies of flour for the troops could not be

had, and as our bridge had been reconstructed at Fall-

ing Waters, and the river had materially subsided, Gen-
eral Lee reluctantly concluded to abandon his position,

and on the night of the 13th the army recrossed into

Virginia. Longstreet and Hill crossed on the bridge;

Ewell forded the river at Williamsport.

What a night it was ! The rain was again coming
down in torrents; the mud was frightful, making the

movements of the artillery, ammunition-wagons, and
ambulances very slow, and so retarding the movements
of the troops. Heth's division, constituting the rear-

guard, took position about a mile and a half from the

bridge to protect the passage of the column. About 11

A.M. the enemy's cavalry appeared in General Heth's

front. A small number in advance of the main body
was mistaken for our own cavalry retiring, and was
suffered to approach our lines. A sharp skirmish en-

sued, in which most of the party was killed or captured,

but the gallant General Pettigrew was mortally wounded
in the encounter.

In withdrawing General Heth was attacked by the

enemy, but successfully resisted him, and crossed into

Virginia about 1 p.m.

Owing to the extent of General Heth's lines, some of his men
most remote from the bridge were cut off before tliey could reach

it, but the greater part of those taken by the enemy during the

movement (supposed to amount in all to about five hundred)

consisted of men from various commands who lingered behind,
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overcome by previous labors and hardslii-ps and the fatigue of a

most trying night marcli. There was no loss of materiel, except

a few broken wagons and two pieces of artillery, which the

horses were unable to draw through the deep mud.*

In all that I have written about this battle my chief

aim has been to contribute all I could toward securing a

correct history of the events of that date. The vindica-

tion of the tactics of General Lee in directing the opera-

tions of his army has been with me a secondary consid-

eration and but a corollary of the effort to establish the

truth. Knowing how he would scorn any advantage to

himself gained at the cost of injustice to another, and
how prone he was to take upon himself all blame for

any misadventures of his army, I seek no scapegoat for

our lack of success at that time. Had he lived, it is my
firm belief that he would have assumed the entire re-

sponsibility for the battle at Gettysburg,—all three days,

—as he did in fact in his report, suppressing all refer-

ence to the shortcomings and mistakes of others. When
the troops that took part in the assault of the third day
were returning to our lines, he rode in their midst, call-

ing upon them to reform, and addressing General Pick-

ett he exclaimed: "Get your men together, general,

they did nobly; it is all my fault."

While these lovable traits of character excite our ad-

miration for General Lee as a man, the critical historian

of the future will no doubt regard them as incompatible

with the attainment of the highest possible success by a

military leader in the art of war. Take for example
his letter to General Pickett after the battle of Gettys-

burg. It is much to be regretted that no copy exists of

the report forwarded by General Pickett which elicited

this letter from General Lee. The report passed through

my hands, but was not carefully perused. Not realizing

* General Lee's report.
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then the extent to which we were making history, I took
no note of the contents of the report; but the inference

is clear from reading General Lee's letter that General
Pickett complained of the lack of support and charged
it home to some one. The letter of General Lee reads

:

General: You and your men have crowned yourselves with

glory; but we have the enemy to fight, and must carefully, at

this critical moment, guard against dissensions which the re-

flections in your report would create. I will therefore suggest

that you destroy both copy and original, substituting one con-

fined to casualties merely. I hope all will yet be well.

The critic will say that that was all wrong; that in

such a case the facts should not be suppressed ; that if

wrong was done or mistakes made, the responsibility

should be placed; that in the art of war, as in nature,

the highest degree of excellence is only to be attained

by a process of evolution and the " survival of the fit-

test." Then, again, the correct measure of the ability of

a great commander can only be obtained when he is

supreme in command. As long as he is subordinate to

others he cannot accomplish the best of which he is ca-

pable, but only the best under the circumstances. Gen-
eral Lee commanded the army operating with him in

the field, but not the disposition of all the troops avail-

able for the execution of his plans. While he was op-

erating in the field the authorities at Richmond were
nervous and apprehensive about the safety of that city.

Far removed as he was at times, he was handicapped

in his movements by the knowledge that his army was
relied upon to defend the capital from any expedition

the enemy might direct against it. Read what he said

to the Secretary of War, under date of June 13, 1863:

You can realize the difficulty of operating in any offensive

movement with this army if it has to be divided to cover Rich-
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mond. It seems to me useless to attempt it with the force

against it. You will have seen its effective strength by the last

returns. I grieve over the desolation of the country and the

distress to innocent women and children, occasioned by spiteful

excursions of the enemy, unworthy of a civilized nation. It can

only be prevented by local organizations and bold measures.

. . . All accounts agree that the Federal forces at Suffolk,

Yorktown, Gloucester, etc., have been reduced and General

Hooker reinforced.

Again, read what President Davis wrote to General
Lee on the 19tli of June, 1863

:

We have been endeavoring here to organize a force for local

defense; but the delays have been vexatious, and, I think, in no

small degree the result of misunderstandings, which better man-

agement might have prevented. I hope we shall have better

progress hereafter, and think, with good outguards,—infantry

and cavalry to protect the railroads and give timely notice of an

advance of the enemy,—it will be possible to defend the city

without drawing from the forces in the field more heavily than,

may be necessary for the duty of outposts and reconnaissance.

Again, on the 23d of June General Lee wrote to

President Davis:

At this distance I can see no benefit to be derived from main-

taining a large force on the southern coast during the unhealthy

months of the summer and autumn, and I think that a part, at

least, of the troops in North Carolina and of those under Gen-

eral Beauregard can be employed at this time to great advan-

tage in Virginia. If an army could be organized under the com-

mand of General Beauregard and pushed forward to Culpeper

Court House, threatening Washington from that direction, it

would not only effect a diversion most favorable for this army,

but Avould, I think, relieve us of any apprehension of an attack

upon Eichmond during our absence. ... If success should

attend the operations of this army,—and what I now suggest
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would greatly increase the probability of that result,—we might

even hope to compel the recall of some of the enemy's troops

from the West. . . . The good effects of beginning to assemble

an army at Culpeper Court House would, I think, soon become

apparent, and the movement might be increased in importance

as the result might appear to justify.

And again, under date of the 2oth of June, to Presi-

dent Davis he wrote

:

You will see that apprehension for the safety of "Washington

and their own territory has aroused the Federal government and

people to great exertions, and it is incumbent upon us to call

forth all our energies. In addition to the one hundred thousand

troops called for by President Lincoln to defend the frontier of

Pennsylvania, you will see that he is concentrating other organ-

ized forces in Maryland. It is stated in the papers that they

are all being withdrawn from Suffolk, and according to General

Buckuer's report, Burnside and his corps are recalled from Ken-

tucky. ... I think this should liberate the troojDS in the Caro-

linas, and enable generals Buckner and Bragg to accomplish

something in Ohio. It is plain that if all the Federal army is

concentrated upon this it will result in our accomplishing noth-

ing and being compelled to return to Virginia. If the plan

that I suggested the other day of organizing an army, even in

effigy, under General Beauregard at Culpeper Court House, can

be carried into effect, much relief will be afforded. If even the

brigades in Virginia and North Carolina, which generals D. H.

Hill and Elzey think cannot be spared, were ordered there at

once, and General Beauregard were sent there, if he had to re-

turn to South Carolina, it would do more to protect both States

from marauding expeditions of the enemy than anything else.

I have not sufficient troops to maintain my communications and

therefore have to abandon them. I think I can throw General

Hooker's army across the Potomac and draw troops from the

South, embarrassing their plan of campaign in a measure, if I

can do nothing more and have to return.
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Trederick the Great or Napoleon, instead of suggest-

ing these plans would have ordered that they be carried

out. And he who would institute a comparison between
General Lee and any of the great captains of history

must make a note of the different conditions under
which he operated. Perhaps it could not be otherwise

under our republican form of government, but it would
not be possible to get the full measure of a man's capac-

ity for conducting military operations on a grand scale

who was thus trammeled by limitations to his powers.

General Lee allowed his army to rest for some days

at Bunker Hill. His purpose was to have moved into

Loudon County, but he was prevented by the high wa-
ter in the Shenandoah. While waiting for that to sub-

side the enemy crossed into Virginia, east of the Blue

Ridge, and seized the passes that he would have used.

He therefore ordered General Longstreet, on the 19tli.

to proceed to Culpeper Court House by way of Front

Royal. Longstreet, delayed somewhat by high water,

reached Culpeper Court House on the 24th. A. P. Hill

followed immediately with his corps. Ewell after some
skirmishing with the enemy's advance reached Madison
Court House on July 29th with the divisions of Rodes
and Johnson, leaving Early in the Valley, with orders

to move up to ISTew Market. The Federal army was
then massed near AVarrenton. On July 31st a large

force of cavalry and infantry crossed the Rappahannock
and advanced toward Brandy Station. General Lee then

determined to place his army along the line of the Rapi-

dan River. Longstreet and Hill moved on the 3d of

August, leaving the cavalry at Culpeper. Ewell, now
rejoined by Early, followed, and by the 14th the army
was in position south of the Rapidan, with headquarters

established near Orange Court House.

It was at this time that General Lee, whose health

was not then at its best, and who had heard of some
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manifestations of discontent and disappointment at his

not having accomplished more in the campaign just

closed, placed his resignation as commander of the
Army of Northern Virginia in the hands of the Presi-

dent. On the 8th of August, from his camp near Orange
Court House, he addressed this letter to Mr. Davis:

Mr. President : Your letters of July 28th and August 2d have

been received, and I have waited for a leisure liour to reply, but

I fear that will never come. I am extremely obliged to you for

the attention given to the wants of this army and the efforts

made to supply them. Our absentees are returning, and I hope

the earnest and beautiful appeal made to the country in your

proclamation may stir up the whole people, and that they may
see their duty and perform it. Nothing is wanted but that

their fortitude should equal their bravery to insure the success

of our cause. We must expect reverses, even defeats. They
are sent to teach us wisdom and prudence, to call forth greater

energies, and to prevent our falling into greater disasters. Our

people have only to be true and united, to bear manfully the

misfortunes incident to war, and all will come right in the end.

I know how prone we are to censure and how ready to blame

others for the non-fulfilment of our expectations. This is un-

becoming in a generous people, and I grieve to see its expression.

The general remedy for the want of success in a military com-

mander is his removal. This is natural, and in many instances

proper. For no matter what may be the ability of the officer,

if he loses the confidence of his troops disaster must sooner or

later ensue.

I have been prompted by these reflections more than once

since my return from Pennsylvania to propose to Your Excel-

lency the propriety of selecting another commander for this

army. I have seen and heard of expressions of discontent in the

public journals at the result of the expedition. I do not know

how far this feeling extends in the army. My brother officers

have been too kind to report it, and so far the troops have been



220 GENERAL LEE

too generous to exhibit it. It is fair, however, to suppose that

it does exist, and success is so necessary to us that nothing should

be risked to secure it. I therefore, in all sincerity, request Your
Excellency to take measures to supply my place. I do this with

the more earnestness because no one is more aware than myself

of my inability for the duties of my position. I cannot even

accomphsh what I myself desire. How can I fulfil the expecta-

tions of others ? In addition, I sensibly feel the growing failure

of my bodily strength. I have not yet recovered from the at-

tack I experienced last spring. I am becoming more and more

incapable of exertion, a]id am thus prevented from making

the personal supervision of the operations in the field which I

feel to be necessary. I am so dull that in making use of the

eyes of others I am frequently misled. Everything, therefore,

points to the advantages to be derived from a new commander,

and I the more anxiously urge the matter upon Your Excellency

from my belief that a younger and abler man than myself can

readily be obtained. I know that he will have as gallant and

brave an army as ever existed to second his efforts, and it would

be the happiest day of my life to see at its head a worthy leader,

one that would accomplish more than I could jierform and all

that I have wished. I hope Your Excellency will attribute my
request to the true reason, the desire to serve my country and

do all in my power to insure the success of her righteous cause.

I have no complaints to make of any one but myself. I have

received nothing but kindness from those above me, and the

most considerate attention from my comrades and companions in

arms. To Your Excellency I am especially indebted for uniform

kindness and consideration. You have done everything in your

power to aid me in the work committed to my charge, without

omitting anything to promote the general Avelfare. I pray that

your efforts may at length be crowned with success, and that yoa

may long live to enjoy the thanks of a grateful people.

With sentiments of great esteem, I am
Very respectfully and truly yours,

R. E. Lee, General.
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Mr. Davis declined, as might have been expected, to

accept General Lee's suggestion, in a letter familiar to

all by reason of its repeated publication in the news-
papers and magazines. In regard to the criticisms of

Ms service referred to by General Lee, Mr. Davis wrote:

Expressions of discontent in the public journals furnish but

little evidence of the sentiment of an army. . . . Were you

capable of stooping to it, you could easily surround yourself

with those who would fill the press with yonr laudations, and

seek to exalt you for what you had not done, rather than detract

from the achievements which will make you and your army the

subject of history and object of the world's admiration for gen-

erations to come. . . . But suppose, my dear friend, that I were

to admit, with all their implications, the points which you pre-

sent, where am I to find that new commander who is to possess

the greater ability which you believe to be required ? My sight

is not sufficiently penetrating to discover such hidden merit, if it

exists, and I have but used to you the language of sober earnest-

ness when I have impressed upon you the propriety of avoiding

all unnecessary exposure to danger, because I felt our country

could not bear to lose you. To ask of me to substitute you by

some one in my judgment more fit to command, or who would

possess more the confidence of the army, or of the reflecting

men of the country, is to demand an impossibility.

Two months of comparative quiet then ensued. Our
camp was a comfortable one and our daily life unevent-

ful. General Lee's habit was to rise early, and after

breakfast he would ride to some part of the army, ac-

companied by Colonel Venable or Colonel Marshall, or

both. Colonel Chilton would proceed on some tour of

inspection, and I would be left to represent the head-

quarters, receive and answer despatches, and attend to

the army communications and other correspondence.

Our steward, Bernard Lynch, an original and typical

Irishman, familiarly known as "Bryan," would scour
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the country seeking something to eat more tempting
than the regulation bill of fare, and no doubt he ad-

vanced the plea of "the gineral's" weakness and need
of nourishing food for all that it was worth in his ap-

peals to the country people to spare him something in

the matter of edibles. Our table could not boast any
great variety, but we had enough to eat; and frequently

after a meal the general would rest both hands on the
table and say, "Well, Colonel Taylor, we are just as
well off as if we had feasted on the best in the land;

our hunger is appeased, and I am satisfied."

At this period General Lee made occasional visits to

Richmond for the purpose of conferring with the Presi-

dent, sometimes remaining as long as a week. The au-

thorities were being urged to reinforce our army opera-

ting in Tennessee, and Mr. Davis was anxious to have
General Lee's views in regard to the best method of

accomplishing this, and especially to know if he ap-

proved of a detachment from his army for this purpose.

General Lee when in Richmond the latter part of Au-
gust wrote to General Longstreet reporting his unex-
pected detention there by the President, requesting him
to use every exertion to prepare the army for offensive

operations, and expressing the opinion that nothing
better could be done than to endeavor to bring General
Meade out in the open field and use our best efforts to

crush his army. To which General Longstreet replied:

I do not see that we can reasonably hope to accomplish much
by offensive operations, unless you are strong enough to cross

the Potomac* If we advance to meet the enemy on this side,

he will, in all probability, go into one of his many fortified posi-

tions. These we cannot afford to attack. I know but little of

the condition of our affairs in the West, but am inclined to the

* This is significant in connection with what General Longstreet has

said since.
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opinion that onr best opportunity for great results is in Ten-

nessee. If we could hold the defensive here with two corps, and
send the other to operate in Tennessee with that army, I think

that we could accomplish more than by an advance from here.

The result was that early in September orders were
issued for General Longstreet to proceed to Tennessee,
with the two divisions under McLaws and Hood,—that

under Pickett having been already detached for service

below Petersburg,—to reinforce the army under General
Bragg. We all disliked very much to see this splendid

section of our army leave us. No better troops could be
found anywhere than those under General Longstreet,

and he was so strong in defense,—our " Old War Horse,"
as he was familiarly called. There was never any doubt
about the security of a position that was held by him.
Although he realized the necessity for his going, and
indeed was anxious to go, and even suggested that he
be placed in command of the army in Tennessee, still

he felt a certain kind of regret at leaving. On the eve
of his departure he wrote to General Lee

:

If I did not think our move a necessary one, my regrets at

leaving you would be distressing to me, as it seems to be with the

oflEicers and men of my command. Believing it to be necessary,

I hope to accept it and my other personal inconveniences cheer-

fully and hopefully. All that we have to be proud of has been

accomplished under your eye and under your orders. Our affec-

tions for you are stronger, if it is possible for them to be stronger,

than our admiration for you.

There were frequent encounters between the cavalry

of the two armies during September, generally designed

as reconnaissances to ascertain what the other side was
doing, and attended with no serious results. Early in

October General Lee repeated his flanking movements
around his adversary's right, with the view of forcing
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him to battle. General Meade maneuvered to place his

army between General Lee and Washington, and finally

took position beyond Bull Run, from which, if turned,

he could readily retire to the line of works protecting

Washington, where we could not attack with any prom-
ise of success. After destroying the railroad as far as

practicable. General Lee retired by easy stages to his

former position on the Rappahannock, where his army
could be more readily supplied.

On November 7th the enemy advanced upon us at

Kelly's Ford on the Rappahannock River and at Rappa-
hannock Station, forced a passage at the former point

and put down a pontoon bridge, over which a consid-

erable force crossed on that day. During the evening a
very large force of the enemy deployed in front of our

line on the north side of the river, near Rappahannock
bridge, where we had constructed a tete-du-pont, mass-

ing behind a range of hills parallel to the river and out

of reach of our guns. After dark this force advanced
and succeeded in overcoming the troops in the rifle-pits,

capturing most of the two brigades there stationed and
four pieces of artillery.

These successes of the enemy, in gaining a foothold

on the south side of the river at Kelly's Ford and con-

trol of the north side at the bridge, which controlled the

south side of the river, constrained General Lee to with-

draw his army to a line between Culpeper Court House
and the Rappahannock, where it remained a day. The
position not being considered a good one, the army was
retired to the south side of the Rapidan the next night,

and resumed the position occupied before the advance
in October.
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GENERAL MEADE ADVANCES AND RETIRES

ON November 26th the whole army of General Meade
was discovered in motion toward the lower fords

of the Rapidan River. By dawn on the 27th Gen-
eral Lee, with his personal staff, was several miles from
Orange, on the way to meet General Meade, whose de-

sign was supposed to be either to draw General Lee
from his position by a flank movement and compel him
to give battle, or to advance toward Richmond. Gen-
eral Lee's purpose was to accept the gage of battle

offered should events prove the former to be General
Meade's object, or to fall upon his flank and rear should
lie attempt the latter.

The army was withdrawn from its lines during the

night of the 26th. The Second Corps, under General
Early, General Ewell being ill, was directed to move
by the old turnpike and Raccoon Ford Road to Locust
Grove. The Third Corps, under General Hill, was or-

dered to march by the Plank Road. General Stuart,

with Hampton's division of cavalry, moved in advance.
General Fitzhugh Lee was assigned with his command
to the defense of the line on the Rapidan. General
Lee's plan was to force General Meade to develop his

purpose. During the morning of the 27th Hill's advance
met our cavalry slowly retiring before the enemy, about
a mile and a half beyond Mine Run. Meanwhile,
Early's division, under General Hays, advancing on the
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old turnpike, had encountered the enemy near Locust
Grove, which place was found to be occupied by their

infantry in force, and Rodes's division, moving by the

Raccoon Ford Road, had become engaged on the left.

Sharp skirmishing followed. Some time was occupied

in making dispositions of the troops, but at about 4 p.m.

General Johnson, whose division had arrived and taken
position on Rodes's left, advanced his whole line, and
after a sharp engagement the enemy was driven back
through the woods occupied by them and pursued into

an open field beyond. The character of the country
was unfavorable for pursuit, and General Johnson re-

formed his troops on the edge of the open ground,
which position he held until dark.

The cavalry now reported to General Lee that the

whole Federal army was moving up the river in the

direction of Orange Court House, and during the night

our army was withdrawn to the west side of Mine Run,
to a more favorable position, which the troops at once
proceeded to strengthen by the erection of earthworks.

On the next day the Federal army appeared on the op-

posite side of Mine Run. There was skirmishing along
the whole line, but no attack was made on any part of

our works. General Lee gave his attention to the whole
line, directing important changes and rectifying mis-

takes readily detected by his educated eye, endeavoring
to impress the officers with the importance of success in

the impending engagement, and presenting a fine ex-

ample of untiring energy and zeal. While making one
of these tours of inspection along the lines, General Lee,

with his staff, accompanied by General Hill and staff,

came upon a body of troops engaged in divine worship.

It was on Sunday. Observing the devotions of the men,
the general promptly halted and listened to the singing

of a hymn. He remained quiet until the singing ceased,

and then, as the chaplain pronounced the benediction,
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he uncovered his head, received the blessing, and con-

tinued his ride along the lines. It was a striking scene,

and I well recall it as one of the soul-stirring tableaux

of the war. The troops, with arms in hand, were as-

sembled along the line of hastily constructed works.
Here and there, at proper intervals, waved the bullet-

scarred battle-flags, and from many embrasures frowned
the heavy guns ready for action. It was a picture of

war. Men of brave hearts and strong arms were there,

ready to do and to die ; and yet they invoked the aid of

their God, who is the God of peace, so conscious were
they of the righteousness of their cause.

On the morning of the 29th a heavy fire of artillery

was opened upon our lines, and we confidently expected

that an assault by the enemy's infantry would follow;

but there was only the usual skirmishing, and the day
passed without attack. General Lee could not believe

that after all the display of force General Meade would
retire without a battle ; and so he waited another day,

anxious to avail himself of the strength of his position

and hoping that Meade would attack ; but finding that

he hesitated about bringing on an engagement, he de-

termined to take the initiative and move against the

enemy the next morning. During the night two divi-

sions were withdrawn from the lines and moved to

our right, with the view of making an attack in that

quarter. Information received during the night indi-

cated some activity in the enemy's lines, and at dawn of

day it was found that he had disappeared from our
front and was fast making his way back toward the

river. Pursuit was immediately ordered and made;
but on arriving near the river it was found that the

Federal army had recrossed. General Lee concluded
that the withdrawal had begun the previous afternoon,

the dense forest, through which ran the roads of retreat,

concealing the movement. The same cause prevented
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the efficient use of the cavah-y and made it necessary

for the infantry to pursue with caution. We captured

about seven hundred prisoners, several hundred mules
and horses, and destroyed most of a wagon-train loaded

with the ammunition of two corps of the Federal army.

Each army then returned to its former position along

the line of the Rapidan.

Both armies remained in a state of comparative inac-

tion during the months of January and February (1864),

until the 28th of the latter month, when a powerful cav-

alry expedition, embracing three columns, under Kil-

patrick, Dahlgren, and Custer, started from the Federal

lines with the avowed purpose of capturing and sacking

the city of Richmond. At this time General Lee was at

Richmond. The indications of the advance of Custer's

column on our left, received by me at army headquar-

ters on the evening of the 28th, were confirmed on the

29th, when the whole movement was developed. The
route of this column was to have been via Charlottes-

ville, at which point there was no Confederate force,

and the country intervening was filled with our reserve

artillery and wagon-camps. Upon the receipt of the first

intelligence of this movement, on the evening of the

28th, all trains moving in the direction of the threatened

route were diverted. On the 29th a force of infantry was
despatched by rail to Charlottesville; but the advance
of the enemy operating on this flank was effectually

checked before reaching that place by our horse-artillery

and dismounted cavalry.

The column which moved upon our right, under Kil-

patrick, was more successful. The entire Confederate

cavalry picket stationed at Ely's Ford was captured,

and this column of the enemy reached the Virginia Cen-
tral (Chesapeake and Ohio) Railroad before any intelli-

gence was received of its advance. After cutting the

road it proceeded toward Richmond. General Lee, hav-
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ing been apprised by wire of these movements, returned

to the army on the last train, which passed up but a few
hours before the enemy reached this road, and thus

barely escaped capture. The fate of this column, and
especially of that portion of it commanded by Colonel

Dahlgren, is well known. The results were most disas-

trous to the Federals, including the death of that officer

and the capture of his orders, exposing the damaging
fact of the intention of the enemy to pillage and burn the

city and kill the most prominent Confederate officials.

Early in April General Lee was directed to inquire of

General Meade, by flag of truce, if he or his govern-

ment sanctioned what Colonel Dahlgren had proposed
and ordered in his address to his troops. On the 18th

of April a reply to his communication was received, to

the effect that neither General Meade, General Kilpat-

rick, nor the authorities at Washington ordered or

approved the burning of Richmond, the killing of Mr.

Davis and his cabinet, or anything else not rendered

necessary by military causes or not legitimate in civil-

ized warfare.

General Kilpatrick stated that the photographic copy of

the " address " which had been received through General
Lee was a facsimile of an address which Colonel Dahl-

gren had submitted to him for his approval, and which he
had approved in red ink, except that it lacked that ap-

proval and contained the objectionable exhortations or

orders, which were not in that submitted to him. The dis-

claimer of General Meade was most candid and emphatic.

It will be seen from what has been written that there

was a long period during the winter of 1863-64 when
the two armies confronting each other in Virginia were
quiet for most of the time, and without any serious en-

gagement. On each side every effort had been made to

raise the army to the highest state of efficiency and to

add to its numerical strength.
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At the North much of the dissension among the peo-

ple that had prevailed in the early part of 1863 had dis-

appeared, and a more hearty support was being given

to the government. There were no longer " draft riots
"

to plague the authorities, and yet recruits for the army
could not be obtained under the volunteer system. In

October, 1863, President Lincoln called for three hun-

dred thousand volunteers, and his proclamation stated

that such of this number as were not furnished by Jan-

uary, 1864, should be obtained by means of a draft. It

is to be presumed that the people manifested no alacrity

in volunteering, as on the 1st of February, 1864, Presi-

dent Lincoln ordered a draft to be made on March 10th

for five hundred thousand men for the military service

of the United States, and this was followed on the 14th

of March by a call for two hundred thousand more. All

possible means were employed to recruit the ranks of

the Federal armies, and especially of the army operating

in Virginia. The Ninth Corps was ordered from the

neighborhood of Annapolis to reinforce the Army of the

Potomac in the latter part of April. General Grant, now
advanced to the grade of lieutenant-general and as-

signed to the command of all the armies in the field,

assumed personal command of the Army of the Poto-

mac in the latter part of March. The Federal authori-

ties were marshaling their forces for one supreme effort

to overthrow the head and front of the Confederacy, in

the person of General Lee, with the well-tried, indomi-

table army under his command.
The official records show that General Grant had

something over one hundred and forty thousand men
on the 1st of May, 1864, with which to commence his

campaign against General Lee, of which number one
hundred and twenty thousand were actually put into

battle; while General Lee had. with which to oppose

this vast host, less than sixty-five thousand men, in-
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eluding the command under General Longstreet that

had now returned to him after the campaign in Ten-

nessee. These figures are not exaggerated in the least.

Let him who doubts search the records.* General Lee
knew of the odds against which he had to contend, and
indeed his men realized the magnitude of the task be-

fore them; but with stout hearts and steady nerves,

with the touch of the elbow and the thought of home,
in a righteous cause, sixty-five thousand men make a

formidable force. It is well to bear in mind the great

inequality between the two contending armies, in order

that one may have a proper appreciation of the difficul-

ties which beset General Lee in the task of thwarting
the designs of so formidable an adversary, and realize

the extent to which his brilliant genius made amends
for paucity of numbers, and proved more than a match
for brute force, as illustrated in the hammering policy

of General Grant.

* See '

' Report of the Secretary of War to the First Session of the Thirty-

ninth Congress," Vol. I, 1865-66, pp. 3-5, 55. General Badeau gives the

strength of the army opposing General Lee as 119,981.



CHAPTER XIX

GENERAL GRANT'S CAMPAIGN

THE BATTLE OP THE WILDERNESS

1^ the 4th of May General Grant opened his campaign
against General Lee. His plan is thus succinctly

stated in his official report, written in July, 1865:

From the first I was firm in the conviction that no peace could

he had that would be stable and conducive to the happiness of

the people, both North and South, until the military power of

the rebellion was entirely broken. I therefore determined, first,

to use the greatest number of troops practicable against the

armed force of the enemy, preventing him from using the same

force at different seasons against first one and then another of

our armies, and the possibility of repose for refitting and pro-

ducing necessary supplies for carrying on resistance; second, to

hammer continuously against the armed force of the enemy and

his resources, until by mere attrition, if in no other way, there

should be nothing left to him but an equal submission with the

loyal section of our common country to the Constitution and

laws of the land.

He premises this announcement of his plans by saying,
" The resources of the enemy and his numerical strength

were far inferior to ours."

General Grant pursued the line of action indicated,

and it eventuated in final success. As it is an axiom in

military affairs that "success is the test of merit,"
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General Grant earned the title of a great commander;

but his is not the brightest name that emerges from the

smoke of battle at that eventful period, for higher yet

in the Temple of Fame will be found the name of him

who, though greatly outnumbered, held his adversary

at bay for nearly a year, checked his every move, re-

pulsed his every attack, and only gave up the struggle

from a sense of duty to his men, when his army had

been reduced to but a shadow of its former self by in-

cessant contact with the enemy, whose losses were con-

stantly recouped, and whose numerical strength was

unimpaired.

On the 4th of May General Grant moved his army

by Ely's and Germanna fords to the south side of the

Rapidan River. General Lee promptly moved two

corps of his army to oppose him,—Ewell's by the old

turnpike and Hill's by the Plank Road. Longstreet's

corps, then near Gordonsville, was ordered to move

promptly to the front. On the 5th the Confederates

arrived in close proximity to the Federal line of march.

The opposing forces were soon in contact. A heavy

attack was made on Ewell's corps on our left, which

was handsomely repulsed. Many prisoners and four

pieces of artillery were captured. A vigorous attack

was then made on General Hill's troops—Heth's and

Wilcox's divisions receiving the repeated assaults made

against them by a stubborn and successful resistance.

The enemy was repulsed, but the two divisions that had

borne the brunt of the attacks, until darkness put an

end to the fight, were exhausted, and they were told

that they would be relieved at dawn the next morning

by Longstreet's corps, which was approaching. Antici-

pating to be thus relieved, the divisions of Heth and

Wilcox made no preparation for battle, not even replen-

ishing ammunition. Consequently, when the enemy

advanced at an early hour on the 6th, before Long-
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street's command had reached the scene, these troops

gave way and retired m disorder. Matters looked criti-

cal indeed. The men were going to the rear in a stream

when General Longstreet arrived. General Lee was
present as the troops moved into action. The divisions

of Kershaw and Field were immediately deployed, Ker-

shaw on the right and Field on the left of the Plank

Road. As they advanced General Lee rode as if to lead

the Texas brigade, when there was a cry, " General Lee

to the rear! General Lee to the rear!" I recall espe-

cially one stalwart fellow, of swarthy complexion and
earnest expression, who passed by the head of the gen-

eral's horse as the troops were advancing to line of bat-

tle, and cried out, " Go back, General Lee, this is no

place for you; go back, we'll settle this." This incident

gave spirit and enthusiasm to the men, and very soon

the rapid, rattling fire of musketry, receding as it in-

creased in volume, told of the check given to the ene-

my's advance, and that they were being driven. Finally

they were forced back to their intrenched position and

our line was reestablished.

General Longstreet then ordered a reconnaissance of

the enemy's left, with the view of assailing their flank

and rear. The ground was found to be favorable for

such a movement. Anderson's division of the Third

Corps had now arrived, and was ordered by General Lee

to report to General Longstreet to aid in the contem-

plated attack ; three brigades of the divisions of Field

and Kershaw, in reserve, were also available. General

Longstreet then ordered Anderson's brigade of Field's

division, Mahone's brigade of R. H. Anderson's division,

and Wofford's brigade of Kershaw's division, under the

direction of Colonel Sorrel, of his staff, to move by the

route selected to assail the left of the enemy's line held

by Hancock's corps. The attack was made well upon

the enemy's left, taking his line in reverse, and as the
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Confederates advanced with solid front, the enemy first

wavered, and then, seeing how they were enveloped, re-

treated rapidly toward the Plank Road. Unfortunately

the woods were set on fire, and this somewhat interfered

with the advance of our troops ; but General Mahone,
who, as senior brigadier-general, was charged with the

immediate direction of the movement, ordered a re-

alignment of his brigade, and the advance went rapidly

on. In his report General Mahone says:

The three brigades, in imposing order and with a step that

meant to conquer, were now rapidly descending upon the enemy's

left. The movement was a success, complete as it was brilliant.

The enemy was swept from our front on the Plank Eoad, where

his advantages of position had been already felt by our line, and

from which the necessity for his dislodgment had become a mat-

ter of much interest. Besides this valuable result, tlie Plank

Road had been gained and the enemy's lines bent back in much
disorder; the way was open for greater fruits. His long lines of

dead and wounded which lay in the wake of our swoop furnished

evidence that he was not allowed time to change front, as well

as of the execution of our fire. Among his wounded, Brigadier-

general Wadsworth, commanding division, fell into our hands.

Lieutenant-colonel Sorrel, of General Longstreet's staff, who
was with me in conducting this movement, and Captain Pobert-

son Taylor, assistant adjutant-general of Mahone's brigade, who
was wounded in the fight,* specially deserve my earnest com-

mendation for efficiency and conspicuous gallantry on this oc-

casion.

* I doubt if any bullet received in battle was ever for so short a time in

the wounded as that received by my brother. I met him as he came from
the firing line, where the fighting was fiercest, with his usual smile on his

face and a bullet in his leg. I was fortunate in securing the services of a

surgeon without loss of time, and there, just in rear of the line of bat-

tle, on the ground, with his head resting on me, the wound was probed and
the bullet removed. I put him in an ambulance and started him to the

rear, on a wounded furlough of indefinite time.
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The success of the movement" against the enemy's

left had cleared the Plank Road and greatly relieved

the pressure on General Field, who, with three of his

brigades, was fighting strenuously on the left of the road

against two divisions—Wadsworth's and Stevenson's—
of the enemy. It had also released Kershaw's division

by sweeping the enemy from its front. The troops of

the enemy thus driven from our front were rallied and
reformed behind a line of breastworks that they had
previously constructed along the Brock Road.

General Longstreet immediately made dispositions to

move again against the enemy's left in his new position.

Jenkins's brigade of Kershaw's division, which had been

held in reserve, and Kershaw's other brigades now re-

leased, and all of Anderson's division not engaged, were

available for the movement. The leading brigades had
already moved off in the advance, and General Long-

street, accompanied by generals Kershaw and Jenkins,

was riding along the Plank Road, when, owing to some
misapprehension, there was a volley fired by our own
men across the Plank Road just as this body of officers

rode along, when General Jenkins was killed and Gen-

eral Longstreet so seriously wounded as to be compelled

to leave the field. It required some time to recover

from this catastrophe, and in the interval opportunity

was given the enemy in which to rally his troops, put

in reinforcements, and greatly strengthen that portion

of his line, so that, when our troops advanced, although

they captured a portion of the intrenched line of the

enemy, they were unable to hold it. I have always

thought that had General Longstreet not been wounded,

he would have rolled back that wing of General Grant's

army in such a manner as to have forced the Federals

to recross the Rapidan. A strange fatality attended

us ! Jackson killed in the zenith of his successful career;

Longstreet wounded when in the act of striking a blow
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that would have rivaled Jackson's at Chancellorsville

in its results ; and in each case the fire Avas from our

own men ! A blunder ! Call it so ; the old deacon would

say that God willed it thus.

While these movements were being made on our right,

General Ewell was several times assaulted on the left,

but in each case without difficulty checked the advance

of the enemy. In his report he says that about 9 a.m.

he received word from General Gordon, through Gen-

eral Early in person, that his scouts reported the enemy's

right exposed, and he urged that he be allowed to lead

a movement to turn it; but that this was opposed- by
General Early, who deemed it unsafe to make the at-

tempt. General Ewell, however, concluded to examine
personally into the feasibility of making the move sug-

gested by General Gordon, and after such examination

ordered an attack. Instead of attacking at 9 a.m., how-
ever, it was nearly sunset when the movement began.

The attack was led by Gordon's brigade, with Johnson's

brigade of Rodes's division as a support, and Hays's

brigade partly moved out from our main line so as to

connect with Gordon. The latter attacked with spirit

and rolled back the enemy's right flank, driving him
from his intrenched position for a mile, and capturing

six hundred prisoners of the Sixth Corps, including

brigadier-generals Seymour and Shaler,

Darkness put an end to Gordon's most successful

assault, and it must ever be a source of regret that the

opportunity to inflict a serious blow upon this flank of

General Grant's army was not sooner availed of. These
engagements on the left and on the right of the Federal

army, counterstrokes in which General Lee took the

initiative, and in which the advantage clearly rested

with the Confederates, no doubt enlightened General

Grant as to the nature of the Avork before him, and
made it apparent to him that it would require all the
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men he could command to successfully cope with so

stalwart and aggressive an adversary. From this time

on, in his despatches to the authorities at Washington,
he constantly requests that reinforcements be sent to

him, and during the time covered by this campaign,
from the Wilderness to James River, he received fully

fifty thousand reinforcements, almost as many infantry

as General Lee had at the opening of the campaign,

THE BATTLE OP SPOTTSYLVANIA COURT HOUSE

The 7th passed without any serious encounter between
the two armies. General Lee spent the time in visiting

all parts of his line of battle, seeking to ascertain the

probable design of his adversary. In the evening he
reached the conclusion that General Grant was contem-
plating a flank movement in the direction of Spottsyl-

vania Court House, and he detached a portion of Long-
street's corps, then under the command of General R.

H. Anderson, to move at once, that night, for that point.

This faculty of General Lee, of discovering, as if by intu-

ition, the intention and purpose of his opponent, was a
very remarkable one. I was sent with General Ander-
son, and with orders to apprise General Stuart, whose
cavalry was at the Court House, of the approach of the

infantry. I remarked to my comrade Venable at the

time that I saw no indication of a movement by Grant's

army in that direction, as they appeared to be present

in heavy force along our entire front ; but when I reached

the cavalry I found it hotly engaged with the enemy's
infantry, Warren's corps, and wondered at the unerring
discernment of General Lee.

General Anderson promptly relieved the cavalry

under General Fitzhugh Lee, but not before it had been
forced to retire from the Court House, which was then

occupied by the enemy. He then moved two of his

brigades—Kershaw's and Humphreys's—rapidly to the
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left of the road, forming line of battle behind some
cover left by the cavalry, and repulsed the advancing
enemy with great slaughter. Meanwhile, he had sent

two brigades—Wofford's and Bryan's—by a detour to

reach the Court House; as this force advanced the

enemy retired, leaving the Court House in our pos-

session. These brigades then moved up and joined those

of Kershaw and Humphreys. General Grant's move-
ment south commenced at 9 p.m. on the 7th, and in his

despatch of the 8th to the authorities at Washington he
stated the positions to be occupied by his several corps

at the end of the first day's march, in which Warren's
corps was placed at Spottsylvania Court House, but

General Lee deranged this part of the program. Late
in the evening, however, a vigorous effort was made
to dispossess us of the coveted place.

The enemy, now reinforced by the Sixth Corps,

Wright's, advanced against Anderson's troops, in an
endeavor to envelop his right, but opportunely Rodes's

division of Swell's corps arrived just in time to check
this movement. Deploying his troops on Kershaw's
right, Rodes advanced, driving the enemy for nearly

half a mile, when his left, coming upon a fortified line,

was checked and he was forced to halt. It was thus

that the line of battle was established. Each army
formed upon its advance as a nucleus and in such man-
ner as the conditions of the moment dictated. It hap-

pened, therefore, that some portions of the line of Gen-
eral Lee's army were weak and defective. There was
a very undesirable salient on Ewell's front. On the right

of Rodes's division the line bent outward: this left side

of the angle was partly occupied by Doles's brigade of

that division; on Rodes's right was Johnson's division,

which held the rest of this side, the apex and the other

side of the angle. General Lee reached the field on the

afternoon of the 8th; and the Third Corps, now under
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tlie command of General Early, owing to the temporary

indisposition of General A. P. Hill, arrived and took

position on Ewell's right.

The 9th of May passed without any serious encounter

with the enemy. Each army was engaged in strength-

ening its own line and in endeavoring to discover the

position of the other. On the 10th there was constant

skirmishing, with artillery fire along the whole line.

Late in the evening a vigorous assault was made against

that portion of the lines held by the First and Second

Corps. The attack against the First was repulsed with

great slaughter, but the enemy succeeded in capturing

a part of Ewell's front, occupied by Doles's brigade of

Rodes's division, with several pieces of artillery. When
report of this was made to General Lee, he started at

once for the point where the lines were broken, with

the intention of personally encouraging the men to re-

cover the lost ground. Those of us who were with him
remonstrated, when he said: "Then you must see to it

that the ground is recovered." I rode at once to the

front, where I found a pandemonium of excitement and

confusion. A second line of breastworks had been con-

structed at the base of the salient with the view of rec-

tifying this part of the line, but it had not been occupied.

The enemy had possession of a small portion of our line

and were stubbornly holding on to it, while our troops

were endeavoring on the right and on the left of the

break to drive the enemy back. The troops advancing

to this work came to the second line and naturally

availed themselves of the protection thus offered, and it

was a difficult matter to get them beyond it. The enemy,

however, was held to the portion of the line first taken,

and after earnest endeavor, the officers leading, our

troops finally went forward with a rush and recaptured

the works and the pieces of artillery, driving the enemy
back with great loss. Our loss was about six hundred
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and fifty, of which number three hundred were captured

by the enemy in their assault. At night our lines were
intact, and the enemy had nowhere gained any advan-

tage.

General Grant's despatches to Washington at this

period contained such sentences as the following

:

May lOtli. The enemy hold our front in very strong force

and evince a strong determination to interpose between us and

Richmond to the last. I shall take no backward steps. . . . We
can maintain ourselves at least, and in the end beat Lee's army,

I believe. Send to Belle Plain all the infantry you can rake

and scrape. With present position of the armies, ten thousand

men can be spared from the defenses of Washington, besides all

the troops that have reached there since Burnside's departure.

And on May 11th:

We have now ended the sixth day of very heavy fighting. The
result to this time is much in our favor, but our losses have been

heavy, as well as those of the enemy. We have lost to this time

eleven general officers, killed, wounded, and missing, and prob-

ably twenty thousand men. ... I am now sending back to

Belle Plain all my wagons for a fresh supply of provisions and

ammunition, and propose to fight it out on this line if it takes

all summer. The arrival of reinforcements here will be very

encouraging to the men, and I hope they will be sent as fast as

possible, and in as great numbers.

It is easy to read between these lines the realization

by General Grant of the fact that he was confronted by
a much more serious proposition than he had antici-

pated in the endeavor to beat Lee's army. He certainly

possessed a greater degree of pertinacity and put a

lower estimate upon the value of human life than any
of his predecessors; and in taking a calm retrospective

view of the times, it must be conceded that in the pos-

session of these traits he held the only key to the situa-

tion that promised success in any reasonable time.
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Toward night on the 11th reports .were made to Gen-
eral Lee that seemed to indicate a purpose on the part

of General Grant to withdraw and make another move
to our right. Orders were given to withdraw the artil-

lery from the salient occupied by Johnson's division to

have it available for a countermove to the right. Dur-

ing the night, after the removal of the artillery, General

Johnson reported the enemy to be massing in his front,

and orders were promptly issued for the artillery to

return. General Ewell says that different artillery was
sent, and that owing to the darkness and ignorance of

the location it was slow in getting into position and
only reached the lines in time to be taken. At a very
early hour on the 12th the enemy assaulted Johnson's

position in great force. Being without artillery, the

Confederates were at great disadvantage. The enemy
came in on the salient in overpowering numbers, taking

possession of the works and of most of Johnson's divi-

sion, including its brave commander.
Dispositions were immediately made to repair the

breach. It was here again that General Lee manifested

a purpose of leading his men into battle. A graphic

account of this is given by General Gordon in his Rem-
iniscences.

Gordon moved promptly in on the right, and by a

strong effort drove back the enemy in his immediate
front, regaining a portion of the works on the right of

the salient. On the left Rodes had a more difficult task,

but he succeeded in retaking a portion of the line, leav-

ing only the apex of the salient in the possession of the

enemy. General Ewell in his report thus sums up the

operations of the day

:

The nature of the struggle will be apparent from the fact that

after the loss of Johnson's division, before sunrise, my force

barely numbered 8000 men, the reinforcements about 1500



SPOTTSYLVANIA COURT HOUSE 243

more. General Edward Johnson estimated the enenij^'s force at

this part of the field at over 40,000, and I have every reason to

believe this a moderate calculation. The engagement was spoken

of in the Northern papers as a general attack by their army. It

was met only by my corj^s and three brigades sent to my aid,

and after lasting with nnintermitted vigor from 4.30 a.m. till

4 P.M. of May 12th, ceased by degrees, leaving ns in possession

of two thirds of the works first taken from ns, and of four of

the captured guns, wliich the enemy had been unable to haul off.

Ewell's troops Avere subsequently withdrawn to the

new line prepared in rear of the salient and offering

much better conditions for defense. No effort was
made, however, against this portion of our line until the

18th, when a strong force advanced against it, which
was made to retire very quickly by the fire from our
artillery. This was the last attempt to force General
Lee's line made by General Grant at Spottsylvania. In
his official despatch under date of the 13th, he thus char-

acterized the nature of the defense put up by General
Lee :

" The enemy are obstinate, and seem to have found
the last ditch."

On the 19th General Grant wrote to General Halleck:
" I shall make a flank movement early in the morning
and try to reach Bowling Green and Milford Station.''

By some telepathic process this purpose of his seems
to have been made known to General Lee, who on the

same day ordered General Ewell to demonstrate against

the enemy in his front, as he believed that Grant was
about to move to our right and he wished to force his

hand and ascertain his purpose. General Ewell deemed
it unwise to make a frontal attack and suggested a
movement to the enemy's right, which General Lee
approved. General Ewell moved his corps by a detour
of several miles through roads impassable for artillery,

until he found the enemy in strong force and fortified,
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"Not feeling strong enough to attaok, he was about to

withdraw, when the enemy moved to attack him. A
spirited engagement ensued, but General Ewell main-
tained his position until night, when, the force of the

enemy having been developed and his object attained,

he withdrew and returned to his former position. This,

however, only served to delay General Grant's proposed
movement, and on the 31st he occupied Milford Station

and Bowling Green, General Lee at the same time
moved to Hanover Junction.

General Grant at this time seems to have desired that

General Butler's force that was on the south side of

James River should be sent to him. In his despatch to

General Halleck of the 22d of May he wrote

:

The force under Butler is not detaining ten thousand men in

Eichmond, and is not even keeping the roads south of the city

cut. Under these circumstances, I think it advisable to have

all of it here except enough to keep a foothold at City Point.

If they could all be brought at once to Tappahannock or West
Point by water, that would be the best way to bring them.

They might march across, but if the enemy should fall back of

the South Anna, this might become hazardous.

Yes ; if General Butler and his command should have
gotten within striking distance of General Lee, it would
have been very hazardous, and probably disastrous. It

was evidently the purpose of General Grant at this pe-

riod to carry out his original design of '

' fighting it out

on this line if it took all summer." The change of mind
to go to the south side of James River only came after

Cold Harbor.

There was some maneuvering and some desultory

fighting for several days along the North Anna and
South Anna rivers. Occasionally the Confederates as-

sumed the offensive. On the 24th of May General Ma-
hone drove three regiments across the river, capturing
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a stand of colors and a number of prisoners, among them
an aide-de-camp of General Ledlie. On the 28th Gen-

eral Fitzhugh Lee's division of cavalry engaged the

enemy's cavalry near Haw's Shop and drove them back

upon their infantry. We were in constant contact with

the enemy, and every day brought its episodes of excite-

ment and struggling at different points of our line. It

looks as if these evidences of a defiant and an aggres-

sive spirit furnished material for serious reflection to

General Grant. He evidently began to waver in his

persistency and to look for some other way of getting to

Richmond. On May 25th he informed the authorities at

Washington that General Lee was evidently making a

determined stand between the two rivers—North Anna
and South Anna—and that it would take him two days

in which to get in position for a general attack upon

Lee's army. On the 26th, after stating the position of

the several corps of his army and of those of General

Lee, he wrote that to make a direct attack by either wing
• of his army would cause a slaughter of his men that

even success would not justify,—coming from General

Grant, that meant a frightful amount of killing,.—that

any attempt to turn General Lee's right, between the

two Annas, would be impossible of execution on account

of the swamp upon which his right rested ; and that it

would be inexpedient to attempt to turn his left, because

that would involve the crossing of Little River, New
Found River, and South Anna River, all presenting

serious obstacles to the movement of an army,—General

Lee's knowledge and experience as an engineer served

him well in the matter of laying out his lines of defense,

—so he had determined to make another movement to

his left and to cross the Pamunkey River, into which

these small streams united, near Hanover town. In the

same despatch, however, General Grant informs Gen-

eral Halleck that " Lee's army is really whipped." It
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must have afforded General Halleck infinite satisfaction

to know that. It was the main thing they were striv-

ing for. General Grant then took a position on the

south side of the Pamunkey River. General Lee moved
on parallel lines, his army still confronting the enemy,
and his headquarters established at Atlee's Station.

When near Hanover Court House, General Lee was
reinforced by General Breckenridge's command from
southwestern Virginia, and by Pickett's division of the

First Corps ; and at Cold Harbor he was further strength-

ened by the arrival of Hoke's division from North Caro-

lina. The aggregate strength of these reinforcements

was between fourteen and fifteen thousand.

BATTLE OF COLD HARBOR

General Grant's next move was toward Cold Harbor.

On June 1st General Fitzhugh Lee,whose cavalry, on our

extreme right, occupied Old Cold Harbor, was compelled

to retire by the advance of the enemy's infantry in force

on that point. It being evident to General Lee that the

enemy was moving in that direction, he immediately
ordered an extension of his own lines. General Hoke's

division was moved well to the right and General Ander-
son was ordered to take position on his left. The two
armies were now on historic ground, and the Confeder-

ates took inspiration from the thought of the victory

that here crowned their efforts two years before in the

Seven Days' Battles around Richmond. On the after-

noon of the 1st the enemy attacked in heavy force. Our
positions had been hastily taken, and there was an inter-

val between Hoke and Anderson. The enemy succeeded

in penetrating this interval, causing the right of Ander-
son and the left of Hoke to fall back a short distance.

General Hoke was reinforced by Hunton's brigade of

Pickett's division, and quickly recovered the lost ground

in his front. General Kershaw, on Anderson's right,
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advanced his South Carolina regiments, recovered part

of the lost ground, capturing some prisoners and a stand

of colors, and assumed a new line connecting v^ith Hoke.
The tactics pursued at Spottsylvania were repeated here.

Each army formed line of battle on its advance, moving
up to the right and left.

On the morning of the 2d General Lee ordered Breck-

enridge's command and two divisions of Hill's corps to

the right of his line, and General Early, with Ewell's

corps and Heth's division of Hill's corps, was placed on
the left. In the afternoon, by direction of General Lee,

General Early moved with a portion ^of his (Ewell's)

corps to endeavor to get upon the enemy's right flank.

As soon as proper dispositions were made, Early's troops

advanced against the enemy with spirit, driving him
from his intrenchments and following him some dis-

tance before darkness put an end to the fight. While
this attack was being made, Breckenridge's command,
reinforced by two brigades from Hill's corps, dislodged

the enemy from Turkey Hill, in front of our extreme
right.

General Grant now determined to make one supreme
effort to crush the army opposed to him. Orders were
given for the whole line to attack. General Lee was
to be made to feel the tremendous power of the formi-

dable Army of the Potomac, marshaled in compact form,

two and three lines deep, and numbering fully one hun-
dred and twenty thousand men. At an early hour on
June 3d the battle was opened by a vicious assault upon
our right and right center. The attack upon the portion

of the right occupied by Hoke's command was readily

repulsed with great slaughter; that upon Breckenridge's

front was, at first, more successful. The enemy captured

a portion of the line and took a number of prisoners; but

Finegan's Florida brigade, of Mahone's division, and the

Maryland line, of Breckenridge's command,were thrown
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in the breach and speedily drove the enemy back, recap-

turing the works and restoring our line.

Later the enemy massed in large force in Kershaw's
front on Anderson's right, and attempted to seize the

salient, constituting the weak spot in this part of the

line, but their every assault was repulsed with terrible

slaughter. Time and again the order was given to ad-

vance ; new troops were moved to the front, and division

after division was hurled against the works held by
Kershaw and Hoke, where the cool veterans of Lee,

with steady nerve and accurate aim, sent death and de-

struction to the advancing hosts of the enemy.
Similar results attended the assaults upon General

Early on the left, who maintained his position of the

previous evening. The din and confusion of the battle,

that had been incessant and terrific, suddenly ceased on
the Federal side ; there was a pause along the whole
line. We did not understand it then, but later learned

that it was the silent verdict of the men that the task

was hopeless. " The order was issued through the offi-

cers to their subordinate commanders, and from them
descended through the wonted channels to advance,

but no man stirred, and the immobile lines pronounced a
verdict, silent yet emphatic, against further slaughter."

Night found the lines of General Lee intact. The loss

of the enemy was frightful to contemplate ; the ground
in our front was covered with their dead and wounded.
The Confederate guns controlled the situation, and it

took General Grant two days to make up his mind to

ask a truce that he might bury his dead and care for his

wounded. And thus the campaign to capture the city of

Richmond—from the Wilderness to James River—ended,

with Victory perched upon the banner of General Lee.

General Grant now put his army in motion to cross to

the south side of James River.

The official reports of the losses sustained by the army
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under General Grant during the campaign were as
follows:

Battle of Wilderness, May 5th-7th, total 17,666

Spottsylvauia Court House, May 8th-21st 18,399

North Anna, Pamunkey, May 22d-Jnne 1st. . , . 3,986

Cold Harbor, Bethesda Church, June 2d-15th. .12,738

Todd's Tavern, cavalry 625

Trevilian Station, cavalry 1,512

Aggregate .54,926

During the latter part of May General Lee had expe-
rienced a very serious attack of illness that greatly

impaired his strength; at one time it looked as if he
would have to give up and retire from the field. After
the wounding of General Longstreet, General A. P. Hill

became so ill he had to give up, and General Early was
placed temporarily in command of his corps. Hardly
had General Hill returned to duty when General Ewell
had to relinquish the command of his corps on account
of illness, and General Early, as senior ofiicer, was
placed in command of it. All of these causes for trouble

weighed heavily upon General Lee, but the most serious

and the saddest of all the losses experienced in this

campaign was that of the greatest cavalry leader of

the war. General J. E. B. Stuart.

While the armies of Lee and Grant were wrestling

for the mastery at Spottsylvauia Court House, General
Sheridan was sent by the latter with his large cavalry
corps to attack the city of Richmond. Getting together
three brigades of his command, General Stuart moved
rapidly to Yellow Tavern, in time to intercept Sheri-

dan, and took position to dispute his further progress.

Though greatly outnumbered. General Stuart managed
to detain Sheridan so materially that the authorities at

Richmond were given time to get together troops suffi-

cient to protect the city from the threatened raid ; but
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in the fight, while encouraging his men, General Stuart

received a wound from which he died the next day, May
12th. The loss of this gallant officer was irreparable,

and was keenly felt by General Lee, who in General
Orders paid the following tribute to his memory :

Among the gallant soldiers who have fallen in this war, Gen-

eral Stuart was second to none in valor, in zeal, and in unfalter-

ing devotion to his country. His achievements form a conspicu-

ous part of the history of this army, with which his name and

services Avill be forever associated. To military capacity of a

high order and all the nobler virtues of the soldier he added the

brighter graces of a pure life, guided and sustained by the Chris-

tian's faith and hope. The mysterious hand of an all-wise God
has removed him from the scene of his usefulness and fame. His

grateful countrymen will mourn his loss and cherisli his memory.

To his comrades in arms he has left the proud recollection of his

deeds and the inspiring influence of his example.

General Sheridan continued his raid, advancing to the

line of fortifications defending the city of Richmond,
but after making an examination of the works he found

them very strong and gave up all purpose of assaulting

them; he then recrossed the Chickahominy and rejoined

General Grant.

After the death of General Stuart the three divisions

of cavalry serving with the army were made separate

commands and reported directly to army headquarters

;

some months later the organization of the cavalry corps

was resumed, and General Hampton was assigned to its

command.
On the 8th of June General Hampton reported that

General Sheridan with a heavy force of cavalry and
artillery had crossed the Pamunkey, moving westwardly.

He was directed by General Lee to follow with his divi-

sion and Fitzhugh Lee's, and to engage the Federals.

With his own division General Hampton moved directly
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toward Charlottesville, which point he believed to be

the objective of the enemy; at the same time he ordered

General Fitzhugh Lee with his division to follow in the

wake of Sheridan's force as rapidly as possible. After

two days' march General Hampton succeeded in secur-

ing a position in advance of the enemy and across his

line of march near Trevilian Station on the Central

Railroad. General Fitzhugh Lee encamped the same
night, June 10th, near Louisa Court House. General
Hampton learned during the night that Sheridan's force

had crossed the North Anna River at Carpenter's Ford,

and he made preparations to meet the enemj'" early the

next morning. With his small force he was engaged
with the enemy for two days, and successfully resisted

all attempts to break through his lines ; and on the 12th

General Sheridan started to retrace his steps to rejoin

General Grant. He was followed by General Hampton,
who engaged him at every favorable opportunity, pun-
ishing him at times and capturing between eight and
nine hundred prisoners; but he was too strong for Gen-
eral Hampton to seriously hinder his movements, and
he recrossed the Pamunkey River and rejoined the army
of General Grant while it was engaged in crossing to

the south side of James River.

In taking a retrospective view of the events and con-

ditions of that period, one is impressed by the apparent
hopelessness of the cause of the South, and marvels at

the persistently courageous spirit exhibited by the lead-

ers and people in their struggle against such over-

whelming odds.

General Lee was confronted by an army over twice

the size of his own. A Federal column under General
Hunter, twenty thousand strong, was moving up the

Valley of Virginia, without opposition, devastating that

beautiful and fertile section as it advanced, and threat-

ening at Lynchburg the railroad communication from
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Richmond to the West, constituting the backbone of the
Confederacy. General Butler with thirty thousand
troops was near Bermuda Hundred, threatening Peters-

burg and Richmond.
General Johnston, in the West, was being gradually

forced back in the direction of Atlanta by the army
under General Sherman, that very soon began its devas-
tating march to the sea. The prospect was gloomy in-

deed. General Lee had no troops to spare, and yet it was
absolutely necessary to resist the movement of General
Hunter toward Lynchburg. It was a time, too, for

prompt action. General Grant was pushing matters on
the south side, with the view of seizing Petersburg
before General Lee could get there. To reduce our
overtaxed army at such a time was a severe trial, but
there was no alternative. The Second Corps, under
General Early, was detached and sent to oppose General
Hunter, the troops marching to Charlottesville and
going thence by rail to Lynchburg.
General Grant's dash to capture Petersburg on the

15th of June was unsuccessful, owing to some delay in

the movement of his own troops, but more especially to

the heroic defense of the city put up by generals Beau-
regard and Wise, with the comparatively small force at

their command, consisting in great part of Home Guards.

The details and incidents of that defense have been fully

set forth by those who were participants in the struggle,

and the record of their achievements constitutes one of

the brightest pages in the history of the war.

On June 16th the advance of General Lee's army en-

tered the lines around the city, and the siege of Peters-

burg began.



CHAPTER XX

THE SIEGE OF PETERSBURG

ON the 18th of June the headquarters of the army
started for Petersburg. On our arrival at that

place I selected a spot on the north side of the Ap-
pomattox opposite the city, known by the attractive

name "Violet Bank," and there established headquar-
ters. The gentleman of the house, Mr. Shippen, kindly

offered a room for the use of General Lee, and tents for

the staff were pitched in the yard. We were very com-
fortable, and remained there for three months. Then,

as matters became more serious, the general expressed

a desire to get nearer the lines. There was another

matter which quite reconciled me to a change of location.

The batteries of the enemy firing up the river had
gotten the exact range of that yard, whether . by acci-

dent or from information furnished by spies, I cannot

say. One night during a very heavy storm the batter-

ies opened and the shells began to explode around and
about our camp. As I lay on my pallet, looking out of

my tent door, I caught sight, by the aid of the vivid

flashes of lightning, of our two servants, typical darkies,

who were wild with excitement and frightened nearly

to death. As the shells would explode they would utter

unearthly yells and crouch down behind the trees or

other objects offering protection, running from one spot

to another as the range of the shells seemed to change.

The choice was presented to me of going out in the
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pouring rain or of submitting to the slielling. Fortu-

nately for me the ordeal was not prolonged. After a
while the fire ceased, or perhaps I would have sought
protection too, as my mind was "working pretty rapidly

toward the conclusion that safety with a drenching was
preferable to the continuing risk of being killed in dry
clothes. From that time I was not so much enamored
of that particular spot as a camp for the headquarters
of the army.

This experience at Violet Bank, however, was not

exceptional. The guns of the enemy constantly sent

shells and solid shot into the city, and after a time the

people got accustomed to such visitations, and treated

them quite lightly. One unfortunate feature of this

shelling was that it was often heaviest and most con-

tinuous at night, and as such cannonading is not con-

ducive to sleep, it required some time to get accustomed
to this. The church that we attended, or wished to at-

tend, was quite exposed and in the line of fire, so the

rector, Mr. Piatt, read the service of the Episcopal

Church, and preached under the trees outside of the

city, near Violet Bank, with excellent attendance for

several Sundays; then all became reassured and ser-

vices in the church were resumed. Our experience at

Petersburg was not entirely one of trial. The inter-

course of friends was delightful. We were constantly

entertained, and managed to extract a great deal of

pleasure out of life, despite the many causes of depres-

sion that environed us.

Though the line of circumvallation was being all the

time more tightly drawn, repeated sorties were made by
our troops, under the orders of General Lee, whenever
an opportunity was offered of dealing an effective blow
to the enemy.
On June 21st an effort was made by General Grant to

extend his left toward the Weldon Railroad. A column
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of infantry, artillery, and cavalry moving in that direc-

tion was attacked with spirit by our troops, and the ad-

vance of the infantry was checked; but the cavalry con-

tinued by a route farther removed from our lines, threat-

ening the South Side Railroad.

On the 22d the enemy's infantry was attacked on the
west side of the Jerusalem Plank Road and driven from
its first line of works to its second on that road by Gen-
eral Mahone, with a part of his division. About six-

teen hundred prisoners, four pieces of artillery, eight

stands of colors, and a large number of small arms were
captured.

Again, on the 23d, the enemy made a demonstration
with infantry upon the Weldon Railroad. General Ma-
hone promptly moved against him with a portion of his

division and drove him back, capturing over six hundred
prisoners. The enemy's cavalry that started on the 21st

continued its march through Dinwiddle and made for the
South Side Railroad, followed by General W. H. F. Lee,
who came up with and attacked the Federal column
near Blacks and Whites, forcing it to retire in the direc-

tion of Keysville. It then moved to attack at Staunton
River Bridge, but was repulsed by the small guard sta-

tioned there on the afternoon of the 2oth, and retired

toward Christianville, where it encamped on the night
of the 27th. This force was overhauled by General
Hampton on the afternoon of the 28th near Sappony
Church, and driven beyond that point. The fight con-

tinued during the night, and at daylight the next morn-
ing General Hampton succeeded in turning the enemy's
flank and forcing him to retire. When the Federals

reached Reams Station on the Weldon Railroad they
found themselves confronted by a portion of Mahone's
division that attacked them in front, while their left

flank was turned by our cavalry under General Fitzhugh
Lee. The enemy then retreated in disorder, leaving in
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our hands several pieces of artillery and a number of

prisoners.

In these several conflicts with the enemy's cavalry in

its raids against the railroads, besides dead and wounded
left on the field, over one thousand prisoners, thirteen

pieces of artillery, thirty wagons and ambulances, a

number of small arms, and several hundred negroes

taken from the plantations on their route were captured.

There was an ominous quiet on the lines, compara-
tively speaking, during the month of July. Reports

were current that the enemy was at work underground
in the construction of mines. The hostile lines were
very near each other at certain points. The sharp-

shooters were very alert and very accurate in their fire.

It was certain death to any one who dared expose his

person to view. In many cases hats were penetrated

and small mirrors shattered that were held up to view
just above the earthworks the very instant they were
exposed.

Our men in the trenches had heard the noise of the

picks and other implements used by the enemy in the

construction of their mines. Orders had been given to

begin countermining, and the work was being pushed,

when on the morning of July 30th, at about 4.45 a.m.,

there was a terrific explosion at one of the salients on
that part of our line occupied by the division of General

B. R. Johnson. The Federals had successfully exploded

their mine, completely demolishing about two hundred
feet of our earthworks, with the annihilation of the

troops occupying this space, and making a serious

breach in the line, that threatened the integrity and
safety of the whole Confederate position.

Colonel Pleasants, of the Forty-eighth Regiment of

Pennsylvania Infantry, who had charge of the work,

states in his official report that the fuse was first lighted

at 3.15 A.M., and that, having waited one hour without
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any explosion, an officer and sergeant of his regiment
volunteered to go into the mine and examine the cause
of the delay, and that they found that the fire had
stopped where the fuses were spliced. They relighted the

fuses, made their exit, and the explosion followed in due
time. All honor and praise to the brave men who per-

formed this daring feat

!

The same officer thus describes the mine:

The charge consisted of three hundred and twenty kegs of pow-

der, each containing about twenty-five pounds. It was placed in

eight magazines connected with each other by troughs half filled

with powder. These troughs from the lateral galleries met at the

inner end of the main one, and from this point I had three lines

of fuses for a distance of ninety-eight feet. Not having fuses as

long as required, two pieces had to be spliced together to make
the required length of each of the lines.

The immediate effect of the explosion was to paralyze

the troops on the right and left of the breach, but this

was but momentary, and on either side our troops soon
moved up so as to command the crater, and opened a
destructive fire on the troops of the enemy that now
poured into the excavation, where they were huddled
together, white and black, in an utterly disorganized

condition. Meanwhile, report of the explosion of the
mine had been made to General Lee, whose headquarters
were then at Violet Bank, who sent immediate orders

to General Mahone to send two of his brigades to the

spot, and repaired thither himself with all possible

despatch. The story of the brilliant achievement of the

troops employed in the recapture of the lines has been
too often told to justify its repetition here. Our lines

were restored, the enemy had failed to avail themselves
of the opportunity that had been offered them of capturing
the city of Petersburg, they had suffered the loss of forty-

four hundred men, and there resulted an incriminating
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controversy among the chief officers, terminating in a
Court of Inquiry, to place the blame for their failure.

General Meade on the 31st of July sent in a flag of truce

asking a suspension of hostilities, to enable him to bury
his dead and gather in the wounded between the lines.

This request was by General Lee referred to General
Beauregard, who agreed to a suspension of hostilities

for the space of four hours. An opportunity was thus

afforded, of which I availed myself, to make an exam-
ination of the crater and of the destruction wrought
by the explosion of the mine and the subsequent

fighting.

The earth was torn and rent for a space of about two
hundred feet in length, about fifty feet in width and
twenty-five feet in depth. The sight within the vast

hole, or crater, was gruesome indeed. The force of the

explosion had carried earth, guns, accouterments, and.

men some distance skyward, the whole coming down in

an inextricable mass
;
portions of the bodies of the poor

victims were to be seen protruding from immense blocks

of earth ; several of the pieces of artillery that had occu-

pied the fort were thrown high in the air and tumbled

some twenty yards or more to the front of the works, a

mass of junk. Then the troops of the enemy that

charged immediately after the explosion, instead of

maintaining their organization and sweeping beyond

the break made in our lines, sought shelter in the vast

excavation, where the musketry fire from our men could

not reach them, and where pandemonium reigned and

terror not only paralyzed those huddled together, but

utterly disorganized the succeeding lines of troops that

rushed pell-mell into this cavern of death and destruc-

tion. The bottom of the pit or crater was covered

with dead, white and black intermingled, a horrible

sight.

As an illustration of the condition of affairs in the
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crater, I make the following extract from the report of

the commander of one of the Federal brigades engaged
in the assault:

Immediately after the explosion of the mine, my brigade ad-

vanced rapidly in support of the First Division. , . . The First

Division took possession of the crater, and instead of advancing

to the front as was expected, turned to the right and came on

the ground we were ordered to take—ground covered with pits

and traverses, and intrenched lines running in every conceivable

direction. At the commencement of the movement nothing

could be seen on account of the smoke and dust which had not

yet cleared away, and some confusion had ensued in consequence.

Finding the First Division not likely to advance from the crater,

I ordered my troops forward, but on attempting to advance,

they were compelled to pass through the confused ranks of the

First Division, and consequently became themselves broken and

confused. By this time the enemy had collected troops on the

crest and in the ravine in our front, and in the intrenched lines

and traverses to our right. Several attempts were made to ad-

vance some four hundred yards across an open field and seize the

works on the next crest, but the terrible fire of musketry from

every direction, with grape and canister from our front, ren-

dered the formation of lines from such confused masses lying in

pits an impossibility ; and notwithstanding the gallant conduct

of both officers and men, every attempt failed. My brigade was,

however, pushing gradually but constantly ahead and to the

right in the network of j^its and traverses, when the Fourth

Division came up shouting and yelling, and pouring into the

crater and pits already filled with our men, rendering " confusion

worse confounded." A few minutes later the enemy made a des-

perate assault. A panic seized the colored troops, and they went

pouring through and over our men, plunging into the pits with

fixed bayonets in frightful confusion. My brigade, being princi-

pally to the left of the pits at this time, repulsed the enemy
handsomely, but the assault being more successful on our right,
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the colored troops came piling in upon us from that direction,

completely paralyzing all our efforts. The rebels returned upon

us, and a terrible hand-to-hand struggle ensued.

The loss to the enemy was terrible when they at-

tempted to withdraw. In order to reach their lines they
were compelled to retreat across the space intervening

between the lines, which was commanded by our artil-

lery posted on the right and left of the crater, and the

destruction here by musketry fire and the grape and
canister poured into the retreating mass was very

heavy.

Of all the columns of the enemy's troops marshaled
for the grand attack, there was only one man, so far as

my knowledge goes, who fully appreciated the design

of his superiors and endeavored faithfully to do his part

in carrying out that design. He was a colored soldier

of General Ferrero's division of negroes, but of his com-
pany and regiment I cannot now speak accurately. He
charged with the black contingent, but did not stop at

the crater ; remembering that his orders were to capture

the city of Petersburg, he passed into the Confederate

lines and kept right on running for the city, until some
one stopped him near Blanford Church, about half a
mile in the rear. He was nearly out of breath, but he
was doing his best, and but for this accidental check to

his advance he would no doubt have entered the city.

Upon examination it was ascertained that his piece had
not been discharged ; he evidently believed in the effi-

cacy of giving your enemy the cold steel when in a tight

place. It would be ungracious to question this colored

soldier's motives, but he certainly was complying with
his orders.

About this time General Grant made a demonstration
on the north side of James River threatening the city

of Richmond, and General Lee was compelled to send
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troops there to oppose him. At the same time General
Grant moved to extend his left flank so as to take pos-

session of the railroad leading to the South via Weld on.

With his limited number of troops, General Lee was
thus sorely tried and beset with difficulties. The cry

from every quarter was for reinforcements.

On August loth General Lee went to the north side of

James River and established headquarters at Chaffin's

Bluff, from which point he directed the operations of

his troops.

On August 19th, while Warren's Fifth Corps of the

Federal army was extending its left it was attacked by
General A. P. Hill, with a part of his corps at Davis's

house, about three miles from Petersburg on our right.

Success attended this movement. General Hill defeated

the force opposed to him, capturing twenty-seven hun-
dred prisoners, including a brigadier-general and several

field-officers. On that night, and evidently influenced by
this show of life and energy by the Confederates, General

Grant issued the order for the withdrawal of his forces

from the north side of the James River, sending the

Second Corps at once to the support of General Warren.
Again, on the 21st. General Hill attacked General War-
ren's position on the Weldon Railroad, and drove him
from his advanced lines to his main intrenchments, from
which, however, he failed to dislodge him. Each side

reported about the same number of prisoners taken, but

neither obtained any material advantage.

On August 25th General A. P. Hill again attacked the

enemy in his intrenchments at Reams's Station, on the

Weldon Railroad, and carried his entire line. Cooke's

and McRae's North Carolina brigades, under General

Heth, and Lane's North Carolina brigade of Wilcox's

division, under General Conner, with Pegram's artillery,

composed the assaulting column. One line of breast-

works was carried by the cavalry under General Hamp-
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ton with great gallantry. Twelve stands of colors, 2150

prisoners, and 9 pieces of artillery were captured.

In these several gallant affairs, scintillations of Con-

federate spirit, the advantage was on our side; but the

ligature was becoming gradually tighter. The enemy
still held the Weldon Railroad, and in such force as to

render it impossible to dispossess him. The cost to him
had been heavy, fully twelve thousand men; but we too

had suffered material loss : attrition was doing its work
slowly but surely.

General Grant had no difficulty in recouping his

losses; he had the whole world to draw from. When
patriotism failed soldiers could be bought. At about

this time he asked President Lincoln to call for three

hundred thousand men to reinforce his armies. By the

provisions of the draft the person drawn could put in a

substitute ; under the system of bounties and substitutes,

any number of mercenaries were to be had. How could

the South stand up against this? General Lee's losses

were permanent.

On September 3d General Lee went to Richmond for

a conference with President Davis. General Hood had
evacuated Atlanta the day before; matters were as

serious as could be in the West. Still, our people were
not without hope. At this time we derived some en-

couragement from the political dissensions at the North.

The following extract from notes written by me at the

time will serve to show to what extent this sentiment

then prevailed. The peace party at the North had at-

tained such proportions as to make us solicitous about

everything that was calculated to have any effect upon
the approaching election. In speaking of the evacua-

tion and loss of Atlanta I said

:

The question is. What effect will it have in the North ? Some
think it will impede the progress of the peace sentiment and in-
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jure the prospects of the McClellanites. It may, however, have the

contrary effect. For as Lincoln and Fremont are both out-and-

out war men, the other party must be unquestionably a peace party

and have a decided peace candidate to secure the support of the

element in opposition to the administration and the war. They

must declare for peace to make a positive issue with the Eepub-

licans. Let them adhere firmly to their intention to propose an

armistice and some good may result to us. My idea of the ar-

mistice is that the armies will remain as they are now. There

will be no disbanding on either -side, nor will the Federals with-

draw from our territory. We are a very proud and a very exact-

ing people, and I have heard many declare that we could consent

to no armistice that did not require the withdrawal of the Fed-

eral armies. This is unreasonable ; it is not customary. Look,

for example, at our armistice in the Mexican War; at that be-

tween the Allied Powers and the Russians in the Crimean War

;

and, more recently, at that in the case of Denmark and the Ger-

man Powers. In no case were the armies withdrawn. We must

not claim what it would be unreasonable to expect ; and we must

also remember that we are not, and never will be, in a condition

to dictate exactly what shall be.

This will show the trend of thought in the South at

that time. The hopes and views expressed were but the

reflex of those of men high in authority and whose
voice controlled in state affairs.

The Democratic convention that met in Chicago on
August 29, 1864, and nominated General McClellan as

its candidate for the presidency, declared the war a fail-

ure. General McClellan in accepting the nomination on
September 8th rejected that part of the platform and
favored the continuance of hostilities until the Union
was restored. In the interval Atlanta fell. From this

time on the peace party lost strength.

In March, 1865, General Lee proposed a meeting with
General Grant, each being in command of all the armies
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of his side, for an interchange of views looking toward
a convention to arrange terms of peace; but President
Lincoln declined to permit such a conference.*

I have always regretted that peace was not attained
under some such conditions; for then we would have
escaped the heart-burning and bitterness that attended
absolute defeat, the humiliating legislation demanded
as a condition of our rehabilitation as States of the
Union, the wrongs of reconstruction, and the fatal en-

franchisement of the negroes. We would have been
freemen of coequal States and not quasi-subjects of

conquered provinces, and there would have been no
solid South.

On September 16th General Hampton attacked the
enemy near Sycamore Church. He captured about three

hundred prisoners, a number of horses and wagons, and
about twenty-five hundred head of cattle, to the great

relief of our commissary department. All were safely

brought into our lines.

General Grant had it in his power to throw a force

upon the north side of James River at anytime and
with little trouble, and so to compel General Lee to de-

tach troops to oppose the movement, while at the same
time an attempt would be made to still further extend
his lines to his left, now nearly encircling the doomed
city.

On September 28th the Federals advanced in strong
force against Fort Harrison, at Chaffin's Farm, on the

north side of James River, stormed the works and cap-

tured a large portion of the garrison, f Fort Harrison

* See Appendix for correspondence.

f My brother, Major R. C. Taylor, second in command, •was very badly

wounded, and fell into the hands of the enemy. For some days there was
uncertainty as to his fate; but through the kind offices of Colonel E. S.

Parker, of General Grant's staff, whose aid I had solicited through flag of

truce, he was finally found and his actual condition made known.
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constituted the left of the line held by General Lee, and
its loss occasioned considerable trouble, making it nec-

essary to establish a new line in front of and in opposi-

tion to the old, now held by the enemy.
General Longstreet returned to duty in October and

was assigned to the command of the troops operating

on the north side of the James and including Pickett's

division, then holding the line between the James and
Appomattox rivers. General Lee spent most of this

month on the north side of the river. On the 27th of

October the enemy made a determined effort to break
through General Longstreet's lines on the Williamsburg
and Nine Mile roads, but was repulsed with loss. Gen-
eral Longstreet characterized it as the most determined
effort to take the city of Richmond on the north side,

and gave the loss of the Federals as eleven stands of

colors and about six hundred prisoners. On the same
day, and of course by concert of action, a vigorous at-

tempt was made by the enemy on our right at Peters-

burg to extend their lines. The infantry in General
Hill's front crossed Rowanty Creek, below Burgess's

Mill, and forced back our cavalry. Later in the day
General Heth attacked and at first drove the enemy,
but found them so strong that he resumed the defen-

sive. Theenemy then attacked, but were repulsed. Gen-
eral Heth's troops captured some colors and prisoners.

It would be uninteresting, and perhaps tiresome, to

continue the record of the many brilliant sorties made
by our troops during the ensuing four or five months.
But a price was exacted for every fight ; our numbers
were being constantly diminished, and provisions were
difficult to obtain.

A conscript law had been passed and a Bureau of Con-
scription organized for the purpose of compelling every
able-bodied man between the age limits to serve in the

army, but the number of such was very limited. Con-
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scription was resisted. The decisions in the courts were
in many cases adverse to the government, and the re-

sults were not encouraging. Such was the need for men
that the public mind turned to the negroes with the idea

of utilizing them in the struggle for life that was then

upon us. There were many ways in which they could

be made useful, and many positions filled by white men
to which they could be assigned and the whites released

for service in the army. The negroes could do duty as

cooks, as teamsters, as laborers, and in other like posi-

tions ; and already some were talking of making soldiers

of them. In September, 1864, I wrote:

We are stirring matters up over here and propose to put the

whole Bureau of Conscriiition in the army as the beginning of a

great reform ; after which we may get some soldiers in the ranks,

whereas now too many procure a detail or exemption. We also

propose to make the negroes serviceable, and some advocate

placing them in the ranks, making soldiers of them, but for this

I am not quite ready.

Public sentiment, however, did become reconciled to

the enlistment of the negroes as soldiers, and several

companies were organized, though, so far as is known
to me, they were never put in the field nor under fire.

No doubt, individually, alongside of their masters and
encouraged by them, they would have made good sol-

diers and rendered good service. It should be recorded

of the negroes of the South that during those four years

of war and its distressing consequences they were uni-

versally loyal and their conduct in all respects admi-

rable. Let the fact be noted that while the white men
went to the front, the women and children were left at

home and on plantations with negroes, without fear or

apprehension ; and although of the same racial instincts

and passions as the negro of to-day, so far as my knowl-

edge and observation enable me to speak, not a single
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case of assault was ever recorded or ever occurred in

the South during that period. Here is cause for reflec-

tion for the philanthropist : The negro under a condition

of servitude, acknowledging his subordination to his

superiors, is well mannered and contains himself within

the bounds of perfect and unfaltering respect for the

white race, even when no one is near to make him
afraid. The same negro, with the supposed advantages
of freedom and education, after the expenditure of

much money and time in the effort to elevate him, be-

comes a wild beast and a terror, a prey to uncontrolla-

ble passion. How shall this be explained ? Is it not

fairly chargeable to the vicious legislation at the close

of the war,—by which it was sought to humiliate the

people of the South,—to the unqualified enfranchise-

ment of the blacks and to the corrupt teaching of the

meddling and misguided fanatics who came among the

negroes and implanted in their minds erroneous and
dangerous notions as to their rights and privileges, so

that, with vast numbers of them, their conception of

freedom is unbridled license, and their tendency to a
life of idleness, immorality, and crime is truly sad and
disheartening.



CHAPTER XXI

GENERAL LEE'S ARMY ON SHORT RATIONS

THE condition of affairs with the army at this period

was most trying and pitiable. In reporting opera-

tions in front of Petersburg on the 8th of February,

18(55, General Lee wrote to the Secretary of War:

All the disposable force of the right wing of the army has

been operating against the enemy beyond Hatcher's Eun since

Sunday. Yesterday, the most inclement day of the winter, the

men had to be retained in line of battle, having been in the

same condition tbe two previous days and nights. I regret to

be obliged to state that under these circumstances, heightened

by assaults and fire of the enemy, some of the men had been

without meat for three days, and all Avere suffering from reduced

rations and scant clothing, exposed to battle, cold, hail, and

sleet. I have directed Colonel Cole, chief commissary, who re-

ports that he has not a pound of meat at his disposal, to visit

PJchmond and see if nothing can be done. If some change is

not made and the commissary department reorganized, I appre-

hend dire results. The physical strength of the men, if their

courage survives, must fail under this treatment. Our cavalry

has to be dispersed for want of forage. Fitz. Lee's and Lomax's

divisions are scattered because supplies cannot be transported

where their services are required. I had to bring William H. F.

Lee's division forty miles Sunday night to get him in position.

Taking these facts in consideration with the paucity of our num-

bers, you must not be surprised if calamity befalls us.
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When this letter was submitted to President Davis
for perusal, he indorsed it: "This is too sad to be pa-
tiently considered, and cannot have occurred without
criminal neglect or gross incapacity. Let supplies be
had by purchase, or borrowing, or other possible mode.'*

As time progressed the enemy continued in the effort

to obtain possession of the South Side and the Danville
railroads. There was an encounter between the oppos-

ing forces almost daily on our right, as the enemy at-

tempted to envelop that flank. With the view of reliev-

ing the situation at that point, and anticipating General
Grant's purpose to move in heavy force in that direction,

lor which orders were actually issued on the 2-ith of

March, General Lee directed General Gordon on the
25th to assail the enemy's lines in his front at Fort Sted-

man, on our left, near the Appomattox River. At the

appointed hour, daylight on the 25th, General Gordon
moved out of the trenches, assaulted and carried the
enemy's works at Hare's Hill, captured nine pieces of

artillery, eight mortars, between five and six hundred
prisoners, including one brigadier-general and a number
of officers of lower grade. The veterans under Gordon
swept the enemy's lines for a distance of five hundred
yards to the right and left, and repulsed two efforts

made to recover the captured works. General Gordon
here found himself confronted by an inclosed line in

rear, commanding the enemy's main line now held by
his troops, which could only be taken at great sacrifice,

and he withdrew his troops to their original position.

The attack was gallantly made. All the troops behaved
most handsomely, and General Lee especially com-
mended the conduct of the sharp-shooters of Gordon's
corps, who led the assault.

But of what avail was it ? Our loss was reported as

inconsiderable at the time, and so it was in killed and
wounded; but many men were left in the enemy's lines.
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—General Grant reported nineteen hundred captured,

—

and this was a severe and irreparable loss. Our lines,

already greatly attenuated,were made that much weaker,
and the intervals had to be still more prolonged. No
doubt the movement caused some delay in the execution

of the plans of General Grant, and caused him to be more
careful to provide a sufficiently strong force to hold his

lines while his flanking movement was in progress of

execution ; but what did that amount to when the be-

siegers were to the besieged in the ratio of four to one

!

On the 30th of March it was ascertained that a move-
ment in force was being made by the enemy on our
right, as if to get possession of the White Oak Road;
this continued on the olst, when two brigades, Mc-
Gowan's and Grade's, under General McGowan, were
advanced to intercept the enemy, that proved to be
"Warren's Fifth Army Corps. The hostile forces, each
advancing, were soon in close contact, and a fierce en-

gagement ensued. The impetuosity of the Confederates

was such as to check the advance of the Federals and
drive back their first line upon their supports. The frenzy

of battle seemed to have taken possession of the South-

erners, and I never took part in nor witnessed a more
spirited and successful assault. Two lines of the enemy
were forced to give way and retire in confusion, when
fresh troops were encountered, and in such force as to

prevent our further advance. In his report General
Grant says

:

General Warren reported favorably as to his ability to get pos-

session of the White Oak Eoad, and was ordered to do so. To
accomplish this he moved with one division instead of his whole

corps, which was attacked by the enemy in superior (?) force

and was driven back on the Second Division before it had time to

form, and it, in turn, was forced back upon the Third Division^

when the enemy was checked.
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The counterstroke of the Confederates had thus dis-

concerted the movements of Warren's corps and de-

ranged the Federals' plans ; and on the same day the

Confederate cavalry, under General FitzhughLee, rein-

forced by five small brigades of infantry under General

Pickett, had forced General Sheridan, who was endeav-

oring with his corps of cavalry to seize the South Side

Railroad, back to Dinwiddle Court House. But these

checks to the enemy were but temporary ; more troops

were moved to the threatened points, and the movement
in force to our right continued.

On the 1st of April General Sheridan with his corps

of cavalry, now reinforced by Warren's corps of three

divisions of infantry, again advanced upon our position

at Five Forks, on our extreme right. General Pickett

held this portion of our lines with five small brigades of

infantry, three of his own division and two of Bushrod
Johnson's; on his right was W. H. F. Lee's division of

cavalry; one regiment of Munford's command was on
his left, uniting with the pickets of General Roberts's

command, which filled the gap between this force and
the troops at Burgess's Mill; all the cavalry being under
the command of General Fitzhugh Lee. Late in the

evening the Federals advanced in overwhelming num-
bers, quickly enveloped the left flank of Pickett's divi-

sion, rolled it up as a scroll, captured a large portion of

it and utterly dispersed the remainder. It was simply a

case of extinguishment by an avalanche of overwhelm-
ing numbers.

The attenuation of our line had become extreme,—at

many points a mere skirmish line,—and it was only a
question of where the pressure would be applied, for

there the break must certainly result.

On April 2d a general advance was made on our lines

in front of Petersburg. The best possible resistance was
made, but our brave men were unable to do more than
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check and delay the advance of the enemy, and it now
became evident that unless we abandoned our position,

what remained of our army at Petersburg would be

captured.

General Lee notified the authorities at Richmond of

the condition of affairs and of the necessity for aban-

doning his lines that night. In a telegram to the Secre-

tary of War he said

:

It is absolutely necessary that we should abandon our position

to-night, or run the risk of being cut off in the morning. I have

given all the orders to officers on both sides of the river, and

have taken every precaution that I can to make the movement

successful. It will be a difficult operation, but I hope not im-

practicable. Please give all orders that you find necessary in

and about Richmond. The troops will all be directed to Amelia

Court House.

I was kept busy, with the aid of a telegraph operator,

in issuing the orders necessary to successfully carry out

the proposed evacuation of our lines and of the city of

Richmond. Our headquarters were then at the house

of Mr. William Turnbull on the Cox Road, about two
and a half miles from the city of Petersburg. During
the day this position became untenable. I held on as

long as I could, until the shells of the enemy began to

crash through the house. The operator informed me
that he could no longer work his instrument, when I

directed him to detach it and take it with him, and we
left the premises as the enemy's infantry advanced and
drove away a battery of our artillery near the house. I

mounted my horse and the operator mounted the one I

had provided for him, when, in compliance with my in-

structions, he turned his horse to ride to the rear with

the view of getting into Petersburg. He had not pro-

ceeded far when a shell took off his horse's legs and sent
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him sprawling on the ground with his telegraphic in-

strument; he quickly gathered himself and instrument

together, and the last I saw of him he was making very

good time for the city. The comfortable dwelling of

Mr. Turnbull, occupied by General Lee as his headquar-

ters, and thus hastily evacuated by the rear-guard of

his military family, was soon enveloped in flames. It

is to be hoped that the fire was accidental ; by General

Lee it was then thought and feared to have been by de-

sign. One of the many arguments always advanced by
him why he should not occupy a house was, that in

event of its falling into the hands of the enemy, the very

fact of its having been occupied by him might possibly

cause its destruction; and, as before stated, it was only

during the last year of the war, when his health was
somewhat impaired, that he consented to occupy a

private house.

I soon joined General Lee, whom I found in company
with General A. P. Hill, investigating the movements
of a body of troops of whose identity they were uncer-

tain. General Hill rode forward to ascertain what
troops they were, accompanied only by his trusted cou-

rier. Sergeant George W. Tucker. They proceeded to a
point where they observed a body of men near the site

of the recently vacated headquarters of General Heth,
who commanded one of Hill's divisions. Coming sud-

denly upon two Federal soldiers, Sergeant Tucker put
spurs to his horse, ordering them to surrender. They
sheltered themselves behind a large tree and raised

their muskets. Seeing the imminent danger of his ser-

geant. General Hill rode forward to his assistance in a
chivalrous purpose to save or share the dangers of

the brave Tucker, when, as he reached his side, the

enemy fired. General Hill fell from his horse, dead,

and Sergeant Tucker, catching the riderless horse of

his general, rode back into our lines and reported the
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presence of the enemy and the killing of General
Hill.*

Thus terminated the career of one of the most brilliant

and successful leaders in the Southern army. From the

day he crossed the Chickahominy at Mechanicsville, in

June, 1862, and opened the attack on the army under
General McClellan, to the day of his death, he was a
constant and reliable support to General Lee in the op-

erations of his army. Every chapter in the history of

the Army of Northern Virginia is illumined with the

story of the gallant and successful conduct of the troops

under his command; and the record of the series of bril-

liant operations on our right in the siege of the city of

Petersburg in the spring of 1865, in resisting the exten-

sion of the lines of the army under General Grant, may
be said to be a diary of the command of A. P. Hill.

It is a singular fact, worthy of record, that in the last

moments of both General Jackson and General Lee,

when the mind wandered, in the very shadow of death,

each should have uttered a command to A. P. Hill, the

beloved and trusted lieutenant—ever ready, ever sure

and reliable, always prompt to obey and give the desired

support. When the strife was fiercest they were wont
to call on Hill.

The troops that fired on General Hill were the skir-

mishers of the Federal line of battle which now advanced.

Our line was so thin that it had been penetrated with
little opposition and so little excitement that the fact

was not made known to either General Lee or General
Hill.

The enemy had now cut off those of our forces that

were beyond Hatcher's Run, and after a gallant resist-

ance, notably at Fort Gregg and Fort Whitworth, what
remained of the army was retired to the interior line of

* The Provost Guard of the Third Corps was promptly sent forward and

recovered the body of the dead general.
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defense around the city of Petersburg prepared for such

a contingency. This line was successfully maintained
until night.

The deportment of General Lee at that time was such

as to excite the admiration of all about him. Self-con-

tained and serene, he acted as one who was conscious

of having accomplished all that was possible in the line

of duty, and who was undisturbed by the adverse con-

ditions in which he found himself. There was no ap-

parent excitement and no sign of apprehension as he
issued his orders for the retreat of his sadly reduced

army and the relinquishment of the position so long and
successfully held against the greatly superior force

opposed to him. As I received his directions for the

orders for the evacuation of our lines, I was impressed

by the calm demeanor of the man who was the cynosure

of the eyes of the people of the South at that critical

hour, and who realized more thoroughly than any other

the desperate and forlorn character of the work still be-

fore him, and yet who neglected nothing in arranging

the details for the execution of the delicate operation of

removing his little army from the clutches of his power-
ful antagonist before the dawn of another day.

It was a striking illustration of Christian fortitude,

the result of an habitual endeavor to faithfully perform
the duties of one's station, and of unquestioning trust in

the decree of an all-wise Creator, whose ways are not

as man's ways, and in reliance upon whose wisdom and
goodness alone one finds strength for every emergency.
The order for the evacuation of our lines and retreat

read as follows

:

Headquarters, Army of Northern Virginia,

April 2, 1865.

General Longstreet's corps and General Hill's corps will cross

the pontoon bridge at Battersea Factory and take the River
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Eoad, north side of Appomg,ttox, to BeviJs's Bridge to-night.

General Gordon's corps will cross at Pocahontas and Eailroad

bridges, his troops taking the Hickory Road, following General

Long-street to Bevils's Bridge, and his wagon-trains taking the

Woodpecker Eoad to Old Colville, endeavoring not to interfere

with Mahone's troojjs from Chesterfield Court House, who will

take the same road.

General Mahone's division will take the road to Chesterfield

Court House, thence by Old Colville to G code's Bridge. Ma-
hone's wagons will precede him on the same road, or take some

road to his right.

General Ewell's command will cross the James Eiver at and

below Eichmond, taking the road to Branch Church, via Greg-

ory's, to Genito Eoad, via Genito Bridge, to Amelia Court House.

The wagons from Eichmond will take Manchester Pike and

Buckingham Eoad, via Meadesville, to Amelia Court House.

The movements of all troops will commence at 8 o'clock p.m.,

the artillery moving out quietly first, infantry following, ex-

cept the pickets, who will be withdrawn at 3 o'clock A.m. The
artillery not required with the troops will be moved by roads

prescribed for the wagons, or such other as may be most conve-

nient. Every ofiicer is expected to give his unremitting attention

to cause these movements to be made successfully.

After all the infantry and artillery have crossed, Pocahontas

and Campbell bridges will be destroyed by the engineers. The
pontoon bridge at Battersea Factory and the railroad bridges

Avill be reserved for the pickets. By order of General Lee.

W. H. Taylor, A. A. G.

At the close of the day's work, when all was in readi-

ness for the evacuation of our lines under cover of

the darkness of night, I asked permission of General
Lee to ride over to Richmond and to rejoin him early

the next morning, telling him that my mother and sis-

ters were in Richmond and that I would like to say good-

Tby to them, and that my sweetheart was there, and we
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had arranged, if practicable, to be married that night.

He expressed some surprise at my entertaining such a
purpose at that time, but when I explained to him that

the home of the bride-elect was in the enemy's lines,

that she was alone in Richmond and employed in one of

the departments of the government, and wished to follow

the fortunes of the Confederacy, should our lines be re-

esta^blished farther South, he promptly gave his assent

to my plans. I galloped to the railroad station, then at

Dunlops, on the north side of the river, where I found a

locomotive and several cars, constituting the " ambu-
lance train," designed to carry to Richmond the last of

the wounded of our army requiring hospital treatment.

I asked the agent if he had another engine, when, point-

ing to one rapidly receding in the direction of Richmond,
he replied, "Yonder goes the only locomotive we have
besides the one attached to this train." Turning my
horse over to the courier who accompanied me, with di-

rections to join me in Richmond as soon as he could, I

mounted the locomotive in waiting, directed the engi-

neer to detach it from the cars and to proceed to overtake

the engine ahead of us. It was what the sailors call a

stern chase and a long one. We did not overtake the

other locomotive until it had reached Falling Creek,

about three fourths of the distance, when I transferred

to it and sent the other back to Petersburg. I reached

Richmond without further incident, and soon after mid-
night I was married to Elizabeth Selden Saunders, the

daughter of Captain John L. Saunders, who had died in

1860, in the service of his country, a commander in the

United States Navy, As will be readily understood, the

occasion was not one of great hilarity, though I was
very happy; my eyes were the only dry ones in the com-
pany. The ceremony was performed by the Rev. Dr.

Minnegerode, the rector of St. Paul's Church, in the

presence of the members of the two families, then in
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Richmond, and a few friends, at the residence of Mr.
Lewis D. Crenshaw, on West Main Street.

The people of Richmond were greatly excited and in

despair in the contemplation of the abandonment of

their beautiful city by our troops. General Lee had for

so long a time successfully thwarted the designs of his

powerful adversaries for the capture of the city, and
seemed so unfailing and resourceful in his efforts to hold

them at bay, that the good people found it difficult to

realize that he was compelled at last to give way. There
was universal gloom and despair at the thought that at

the next rising of the sun the detested Federal soldiers

would take possession of the city and occupy its streets.

The transportation companies were busily engaged in

arranging for the removal of the public stores and of the

archives of the government. A fire in the lower part of

the city was fiercely raging, and added greatly to the ex-

citement.

Somewhere near four o'clock on the morning of the

3d of April I bade farewell to all my dear ones, and in

company with my brother-in-law, Colonel John S. Saun-
ders, proceeded toward Mayo's Bridge, which we crossed

to the south side of the James in the lurid glare of the

fire and within the sound of several heavy explosions

that we took to be the final scene in the career of the

Confederate navy, then disappearing in smoke on the

James River near Rockets.
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CHAPTER XXII

THE RETREAT OF THE ARMY UNDER GENERAL LEE

I
REJOINED General Lee at an early hour on the

morning of the 3d. Our army was then in full re-

treat, but there was not as much energy displayed

by the enemy in the pursuit as the circumstances would
lead one to expect, our movements being greatly re-

tarded by the long trains of heavily loaded wagons.
Our cavalry, under generals Fitzhugh Lee and W. H.
F. Lee, was very active and successful in checking and
delaying the advance of the enemy ; and it was not un-

til the 6th of April that serious loss was inflicted upon
any of our retreating columns.

Our weakness was fully known to the enemy. In a
communication to General Sherman, written on the 5th

of April, General Grant reported the strength of Gen-

eral Lee's army as "twenty thousand, horse, foot, and
dragoons."' "With the immense force at his command,
such a beggarly remnant of an army should have been
snuffed out like a candle by an extinguisher.

On the 6th of April General Longstreet's command
reached Rice's Station, on the Lynchburg Road. It was
followed by the commands of generals R. H. Anderson,

Ewell, and Gordon, with orders to close upon it as fast

as the progress of the trains would permit, or as they

could be diverted on roads farther west. General An-
derson, commanding what remained of Pickett's and
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Bushrod Johnson's divisions, became disconnected from
Mahone's division, forming the rear of Longstreet.*

The cavah-y of the enemy, under General Sheridan,

penetrated the line of march through the interval thus

left and attacked the wagon-train moving toward Farm-
ville, near Sailor's Creek. This caused serious delay in

the march of the center and rear of the column, and en-

abled the Federals, now reinforced by the Sixth Corps
of infantry, to mass upon the flank of the disorganized

Confederates. After successive attacks Ewell's troops

and the small force under R. H. Anderson were com-
pletely overwhelmed. Nearly the whole force was cap-

tured, including generals Ewell, Kershaw, G. W. C.

Lee, and other general officers.

Referring to the operations of this day, General Lee
says in his official report:

Gordon, who all the morning, aided by General W. H. F. Lee's

cavahy, had checked the advance of the enemy on the road from

Amelia Springs and protected the trains, became opposed to his

combined assaults, which he bravely resisted and twice repulsed;

but the cavalry having been withdrawn to another part of the

line of march, the enemy, massing heavily on his front and both

flanks, renewed the attack about 6 p.m. and drove him from

the field in much confusion. The army continued its march dur-

ing the night, and every effort was made to reorganize the divi-

sions which had been shattered by the day's operations; but the

men being depressed by fatigue and hunger, many threw away

their arms, while others followed the wagon-trains and embar-

rassed their progress.

Several incursions were made by the enemy's cavalry

into the line of trains slowly forcing its way along the

wretchedly poor roads. During one of these interruptions

our headquarters wagons were in danger of being cap-

tured. I had caused to be made a light chest with rope

* General Lee's report.
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handles, in which were carried the headquarters ar-

chives, including order books, letter-copy books, and
other valuable documents, and our clerks and guards
had been instructed to carry this box off should there be
danger of capture of the wagons by the enemy. When
the train was raided and cut into near them, the men
guarding the valuable books and papers deemed it ad-

visable to destroy them, and the box and contents were
burned to prevent their falling into the hands of the

enemy. As events proved, a precaution quite unnec-

essary and occasioning irreparable loss.

It had been a great disappointment to General Lee on
reaching Amelia Court House not to find the supplies

for his troops that he expected. On the morning of

the 7th rations were issued to the troops as they passed
Farmville, but even then all were not supplied, as the

safety of the supply-wagons required that they be hur-

ried away when the activity of the enemy seemed to

endanger them.

The army, now reduced to two corps of infantry, not

over ten thousand strong, one under the command of

General Longstreet and the other under General Gordon,
with the cavalry, continued its march toward Appoamt-
tox Court House, Longstreet's command changed now
to rear-guard.

On April 7th General Grant addressed the following

to General Lee from Farmville

:

General: The result of the last week must convince you of

the hopelessness of further resistance on the part of the Army
of Northern Virginia in this struggle. I feel that it is so, and

regard it as my duty to shift from myself the responsibility of

any further effusion of blood, by asking of you the surrender of

that portion of the Confederate States Army known as the

Army of Northern Virginia.

U. S. Grant,

Lieuteuant-o'encraL
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This reached General Lee, by flag of truce, on the same
day. It had then become apparent that we could not

hope to save the cumbrous wagon-trains, but it was
quite feasible for the small but well-seasoned army then
remaining to make good its escape to the mountains of

Virginia or North Carolina by abandoning all incum-
brances. Such a course, however, promised no perma-
nent advantage and involved the further and useless

sacrifice of good men.
In reply General Lee sent the following to General

Grant

:

April 7, 1865.

General: I have received your note of this date. Though

not entertaining the opinion you express on the hopelessness of

further resistance on the part of the Army of Northern Virginia,

I reciprocate your desire to avoid useless effusion of blood, and,

therefore, before considering your proposition, ask the terms you

will offer on condition of its surrender.

R. E. Lee,

General.

On the same day, whether or not previous to this ex-

change of notes I cannot say, but without any knowl-

edge of it, several of the general officers of our army
had a conference, at which it was decided that one of

their number should approach General Lee and open up
the matter of a surrender of the troops then under his

command. The idea seems to have been that further

resistance was hopeless, and that by such a procedure

on their part General Lee would, in some way, be re-

lieved of responsibility by being forestalled by them in

taking the initiative in the matter of surrendering.

Their motive was good, no doubt; but from a military

point of view their action was quite irregular and open

to censure. It is not only correct, but a duty, for one

of inferior rank to give his opinion to his superior in
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even so delicate a matter as this when asked to do so;

but it is a very different matter for an inferior, unsolic-

ited, to volunteer his opinion or advice in such a case.

General Pendleton, chief of artillery, was designated as

spokesman to convey to General Lee the sense of the

officers taking part in the conference; and his report of

the interview with General Lee shows that the latter

accepted the suggestion in the spirit in which it was
offered. Neither General Longstreet nor General Gor-

don took part in the conference, and the former, in his

Memoirs, repudiates all connection with the matter and
expresses his disapproval in very positive terms.

On the 8th of April General Grant sent the following

reply to General Lee's note of the 7th

:

General: Your note of last evening in reply to mine of the

same dute, asking the condition on which I will accept the sur-

render of tlie Army of Northern Virginia, is just received. In

reply I would say that peace being my great desire, there is but

one condition I would insist upon, namely, that the men and

officers surrendered shall be disqualified for taking up arms

again against the government of the United States until prop-

erly exchanged. I will meet you, or will designate officers to

meet any officers you might name for the same purpose, at any

point agreeable to you, for the purpose of arranging definitely

the terms upon which the surrender of the Army of Northern

Virginia will be received.

U. S. Grant,

Lieutenant-general.

To which General Lee replied at once as follows

:

April 8, 1865.

General: I received at a late hour your note of to-day. In

mine of yesterday I did not intend to propose the surrender of

the Army of Northern Virginia, but to ask the terms of your

proposition. To be frank, I do not think the emergency has

arisen to call for the surrender of this army, but as the restora-
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tiou of peace should be the sole object of all, I desired to know
Avhether your proposals would lead to that end. I cannot, there-

fore, meet you with a view to surrender of the Army of Northern

Virginia, but as far as your proposal may affect the Confederate

States forces under my command, and tend to the restoration of

peace, I should be pleased to meet you at 10 a.m. to-morrow on

the Old Stage Koad to Eichmond, between the picket lines of

the two armies. E. E. Lee,

General.

Two months previous to this General Lee had been
made general-in-chief of all the armies of the Confeder-

ate States. General Grant, in like manner, had been
assigned to the command of all the armies of the United
States. I have always thought that it was then General
Lee"s desire to discuss with General Grant the terms
upon which all the armies of the Confederate States

should lay down their arms. As has been previously

stated in this narrative, General Lee entertained a simi-

lar purpose when he proposed to meet General Grant at

Petersburg. He rightly divined that there would be far

greater reason to hope for real peace and the restoration

of good feeling between the two sections of the country,

under the conditions likely to be agreed upon between
the two commanders of the armies in the field, who had
learned to respect each other, than could be hoped for if

the terms of a restoration of the Union were left to the

determination of the politicians of the successful side.

General Lee had given orders that the march should

be resumed at 1 a.m. on the 9th. General Fitzhugh
Lee, with his cavalry, supported by the infantry under
General Gordon, was ordered to drive the enemy from
his front, wheel to the left, and cover the passage of

the trains, while General Longstreet, whose command
then formed the rear-guard, was to close up and hold

the position.
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Two battalions of artillery and the ammunition-
wagons were directed to move with the army; the rest

of the artillery and wagons were ordered to move toward
Lynchburg. There was considerable activity during
the night. Walker's artillery train was attacked near
Appomattox Station, but the enemy was repulsed, and
a force of Federal cavalry dashed toward the court-

house, but the movement was checked by our line of

battle. In consequence of indications of a large force

being^massed on our left and front, General Fitzhugh
Lee was directed to ascertain its strength, and to sus-

pend his advance until daylight if necessary. About 5

A.M. on the 9th he moved forward, and soon encoun-
tered a heavy force of the enemy opposite Gordon's
right and moving in the direction of Appomattox Court
House. This force was vigorously assailed by General
Fitzhugh Lee's cavalry on its left flank, and by the
troops of General Gordon in front. The enemy was
driven back by the impetuosity of this attack. Very
soon, however, a large force of infantry advanced upon
General Gordon's right and rear, and at the same time
a body of the enemy's cavalry appeared on the hills on
his left, threatening to interpose between his command
and that of General Longstreet. General Gordon there-

upon withdrew across the Appomattox River, with Rob-
erts's cavalry brigade of General W. H. F. Lee's divi-

sion on his right; but not before the brave men of that

command had charged upon a Federal battery and cap-

tured three guns and moved them safely within our
lines, where they were turned over by General E. P.

Alexander, chief of artillery of Longstreet's corps, to

the men of Captain James N. Lamkin's battery, who
had served mortars in our lines about Petersburg, but
who had been anxious to secure field-guns since the
evacuation of that place.

The rest of the cavalry, under General Fitzhugh Lee,
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advanced on the Lynchburg Road and became separated
from the army.
In his official report General Fitzhugh Lee says

:

Upon hearing that the Army of Northern Virginia had sur-

rendered, the men were generally dispersed and rode ofJ to their

homes, subject to reassembling for a continuation of the strug-

gle. I rode out in person with a portion of W, H. F. Lee's

division, the nearest to me at the time, and previous to the nego-

tiations between the commanders of the two armies. It will be

recalled that my action was in accordance with the views I bad

expressed in the council the niglit before—that if a surrender

was compelled the next day, I would try to extricate the cavalry,

provided it could be done without compromising the action of

the commanding general, but that I would not avail myself of a

cessation of hostilities pending the existence of a flag of truce.

I had an understanding with General Gordon that he should

communicate to you the information of the presence of the ene-

my's infantry upon the road in our front. Apart from the fond

though forlorn hope that future operations were still in store

for the cavalry, I was desirous that they should not be included

in the capitulations, because the ownership of their horses was

vested in themselves, and I deemed it doubtful that terms would

be offered allowing such ownership to continue.



CHAPTER XXIII

APPOMATTOX

ON learning of the condition of affairs at the front,

GenerrJ Lee concluded that the time had arrived

for him to seek General Grant with a view to sur-

render.

I had been sent by General Lee on the evening of the

8th to take charge of the long wagon-trains that so em-
barrassed us, to do what was possible to expedite their

movements and to see that they were parked safely for

the night. The night was spent in this endeavor, and
my experience in the performance of this duty caused
me to realize that if we persisted in the effort to save
the wagons, the end was very near.

I did not rejoin General Lee until the next morning.
After making my report the general said to me,

"Well, colonel, what are we to do? "

In reply, a fear was expressed that it would be nec-

essary to abandon the trains, which had already occa-

sioned us such great embarrassment; and the hope was
indulged that, relieved of this burden, the army could

make good its escape.

"Yes," said the general, "perhaps we could; but I

have had a conference with these gentlemen around me,
and they agree that the time has come for capitulation."

"Well, sir," I said, "I can only speak for myself; to

me any other fate is preferable."

"Such is my individual way of thinking," interrupted

the general.
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"But," I immediately added, "of course, general, it

is different with you. You have to think of these brave
men and decide not only for yourself, but for them."
"Yes," he replied, "it would be useless and therefore

cruel to provoke the further effusion of blood, and I

have arranged to meet General Grant with a view to

surrender, and wish you to accompany me."

Shortly after this, General Lee, accompanied by Colo-

nel Marshall and myself, with a courier carrying a flag

of truce, started by the Old Stage Road to meet General

Grant between the lines of the two armies, as proposed

by General Lee in his communication of the previous

day. We passed our picket line in the rear and were
soon met by Colonel Whittier, of General Humphreys's
staff, who delivered to General Lee a communication
from General Grant reading as follows

:

April 9, 1865.

General: Your note of yesterday is received. I have no au-

thority to treat on the subject of peace; the meeting proposed

for 10 A.M. to-day could lead to no good. I will state, however,

general, that I am equally anxious for peace with yourself; and

the whole North entertains the same feeling. The terms upon

which peace can be had are well understood. By the South lay-

ing down their arms, they will hasten that most desirable event,

save thousands of human lives, and hundreds of millions of

property not yet destroyed. Seriously hoping that all our diffi-

culties may be settled without the loss of another life, I subscribe

myself, etc.,

U. S. Grant,

Lieutenant-general.

To which General Lee sent the following reply

:

April 9, 1865.

Lieutenant-general U. S. Grant—
General: I received your note of this morning on the picket

line, whither I had come to meet you and ascertain definitely
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what terms were embraced in yonr proj^osal of yesterday with

reference to the surrender of this army. I now ask an interview

in accordance with the offer contained in your letter of yesterday

for that purpose.

E. E. Lee,

General.

General Lee was informed by Colonel Whittier that

General Grant had gone to join General Sheridan on the

Appomattox front, and that it would take some time
to communicate with him. Some hesitancy was mani-
fested on the part of the commanding officers of the

Federal advance in the matter of suspending operations

pending the receipt of orders from General Grant; this

was soon adjusted, however, when the character of

General Lee's last note to General Grant was made
known. General Lee, accompanied by Colonel Marshall

and myself, then returned to our lines, and proceeded

to the rear of the position held by the troops of General
Gordon, when General Lee dismounted at an apple

orchard and took a seat under one of the trees.

Meanwhile, an informal truce had been called between
the two opposing forces, and it was pretty generally

known by the troops that negotiations for surrender

were pending. At this juncture. General Forsyth of

General Sheridan's staff, accompanied by a staff-officer

of General Gordon, rode up to General Lee and reported

that he had come by order of General Sheridan to Bay

that as he had doubt as to his authority to recognize the

informal truce which had been agreed upon between Gen-
eral Gordon and himself, he desired to communicate with
General Meade, on the subject, and wished permission

for General Forsyth to pass through our lines as the

shortest route. I was assigned to the duty of escorting

General Forsyth through our lines. I proceeded as far

as the Federal outposts, where I met General Miles and
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staff, while General Forsyth went within the lines in

search of General Meade. His mission was soon accom-

plished, and together we returned to our point of starting,

when he crossed through our lines to those of the enemy.

Soon after this, General Babcock of General Grant's

staff, accompanied by a Confederate staff-officer, rode to

where General Lee was, dismounted, saluted, and an-

nounced that he was sent by General Grant to escort

General Lee to some point convenient for the proposed

interview, at the same time handing to General Lee a

communication from General Grant, which read as fol-

lows :

April 9, 1865.

General K. E. Lee, Commanding:

Your note of this date is but this moment (11.30 a.m.) re-

ceived, in consequence of my having passed from the Richmond

and Lynchburg road to the Farmville and Lynchburg road.

I am at this writing about foar miles west of Walker's Church,

and will push forward to the front for the purpose of meeting

you. Notice sent to me on this road where you wish the inter-

view to take place will meet me.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

U. S. Geant,

Lieutenant-general.

General Lee at once mounted his horse, and, accom-
panied by Colonel Marshall, rode with General Babcock
to Appomattox Court House. He was soon joined by
General Grant, and after a short conference in the house

of Mr.Wilmer McLean, the two agreed upon the terms of

surrender as set forth in the following correspondence

:

Appomattox Court House, Va.,

April 9, 1865.

General R. E. Lee—
General: In accordance with the substance of my letter to

you of the 8th instant, I propose to receive the surrender of the
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Army of Northern Virginia on the following terms, to wit : Eolls

of all the officers and men to be made in duplicate, one copy to

be given to an officer to be designated by me, the other to be re-

tained by such officer or officers as you may designate. The
officers to give their individual paroles not to take up arms

against the government of the United States until properly ex-

changed; and each company or regimental commander sign a

like parole for the meu of their commands.

The arms, artillery, and public property to be parked and

stacked, and turned over to the officers appointed by me to re-

ceive them.

This will not embrace the side-arms of the officers, nor their

jDrivate horses or baggage. This done, each officer and man will

be allowed to return to his home, not to be disturbed by United

States authority as long as they observe their paroles and the

laws in force where they may reside.

U. S. Graitt,

Lieutenant-general.

To which General Lee made reply as follows

:

Headquarters Army of Northerjst Virginia,

April 9, 1865.

Lieutenant-general U. S. Grant—
General: I have received your letter of this date containing

the terms of surrender of the Army of Northern Virginia as pro-

posed by you. As they are substantially the same as those ex-

pressed in your letter of the 8th instant, they are accepted.

I will proceed to designate the proper officers to carry the

stipulations into effect.

E. E. Lee,

General.

General Lee thus states the result of the conference

in his official report

:

In the interview which occurred with General Grant in com-

pliance with my request, terms having been agreed on, I surren-
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dered that portion of the Army of Northern Virginia which was

on the field, with its arms, artillery, and wagon-trains, the offi-

cers and men to be paroled retaining their side-arms and private

effects.

I deemed this course the best under all the circumstances by

which we were surrounded. On the morning of the 9th, accord-

ing to the reports of the ordnance officers, there were 7892

organized infantry with arms, with an average of seventy-five

rounds of ammunition per man. The artillery, though reduced

to sixty-three pieces, with ninety-three rounds of ammunition,

was sufficient. These comprised all the supplies of ordnance

that could be relied on in the State of Virginia. I have no

accurate report of the cavalry, but believe it did not exceed

2100 effective men. The enemy were more than five times our

numbers.

If we could have forced our way one day longer, it would

have been at a great sacrifice of life, and at its end I did not see

how a surrender could have been avoided. We had no subsis-

tence for man or horse, and it could not be gathered in the

country. The supplies ordered to Pamplin's Station from

Lynchburg could not reach us, and the men, deprived of food

and sleep for many days, were worn out and exhausted.

Attrition had done its work—the career of the Army
of Northern Virginia was closed and its banners furled •,

but the record of its achievements glows with undimin-

ished splendor and constrains the admiration of the

world,



CHAPTER XXIV

GENERAL LEE'S FAREWELL ADDRESS TO HIS ARMY

rriHE next day General Lee issued the following fare-

X well address to his army

:

Headquarters Army of Northern Virginia,

April 10, 1865.

General Order No. 9.

After four years of arduous service marked by unsurpassed

courage and fortitude, the Army of Northern Virginia has been

compelled to yield to overwhelming numbers and resources.

I need not tell the survivors of so many hard-fought battles

Avho have remained steadfast to the last that I have consented to

tliis result from no distrust of them; but feeling that valor and

devotion could accomplish nothing that would compensate for

the loss that must have attended the continuance of the contest,

I determined to avoid the useless sacrifice of those whose past

service have endeared them to their countrymen. By the terms

of the agreement, officers and men can return to their homes

and remain until exchanged.

You may take with you the satisfaction that proceeds from the

consciousness of duty faithfully performed, and I earnestly pray

that a merciful God will extend to you His blessing and protection.

With an unceasing admiration of your constancy and devo-

tion to your country, and a grateful remembrance of your kind

and generous consideration of myself, I bid you all an affection-

ate farewell.

R. E. Lee,

General.



294 GENERAL LEE

Rations were at once issued to the Confederate troops

by order of General Grant and hunger was appeased.
The following agreement was entered into by the offi-

cers designated by the commanders of the two armies
to arrange the details of the surrender:

Appomattox Couet House, Va.,

April 10, 1865.

Agreement entered into this day in regard to the surrender

of the Army of Northern Virginia to the United States au-

thorities :

1. The troops shall march by brigades and detachments to a

designated point, stack their arms, deposit their flags, sabers,

pistols, etc., and thence march to their homes, under charge of

their officers, superintended by their respective division and

corps commanders, officers retaining their side-arms and the

authorized number of private horses.

2. All public horses, and public property of all kinds, to be

turned over to staff-officers to be designated by the United States

authorities.

3. Such transportation as may be agreed upon as necessary

for the transportation of the private baggage of officers will be

allowed to accompany the officers, to be turned over, at the end

of the trip, to the nearest United States quartermaster, receipts

being taken for the same.

4. Couriers and mounted men of the artillery and cavalry,

whose horses are their own private proj^erty, will be allowed to

retain them.

5. The surrender of the Army of Northern Virginia shall be

construed to include all the forces operating with that army on

the 8th instant, the date of the commencement of the negotia-

tions for surrender, except such bodies of cavalry as actually

made their escape previous to the surrender, and except, also,

such pieces of artillery as were more than twenty miles from
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Appomattox Court House at the time of the surrender on the

9th instant.

(Signed) John Gibbon, Maj.-gen. U. S. Vol.

Chaeles Gkiffin, Brevet Maj.-gen.U.S. Vol.

W. Merritt, Brevet Maj.-gen. U. S. A.

J. LoNGSTREET, Lieut.-gen. C. S. A.

J. B, Gordon, Maj.-gen. C. S. A.

W. N. Pendleton,
Brig. -gen. and Chief of Artillery, C. S. A.

On April 10th the work of paroling the army was
begun and consumed several days.

The following parole was signed by General Lee and
the members of his staff

:

"We, the undersigned prisoners of war belonging to the Army
of Northern Virginia, having been this day surrendered by Gen-

eral E. E. Lee, commanding said army, to Lieutenant-general

Grant, commanding the armies of the United States, do hereby

give our solemn parole of honor that we will not hereafter serve

the armies of the Confederate States, or in any military capacity

whatever against the United States of America, or render aid to

the enemies of the latter, until properly exchanged in such

manner as shall be mutually approved by the relative authorities.

E. E. Lee, General.

W. H. Taylor, Lieut. -col. and A. A. G.

Charles S. Venable,

Lieut.-col. and A. A. G. (serving as aide)

Charles Marshall,
Lieut.-col. and A. A. G. (serving as aide)

H. E. Peyton,

Lieut.-col. and A. A. & I. Gen.

Giles B. Cooke,

Major and A. A. & I. Gen.

H. E. Young, Major and A. A. & I. Gen.

Done at Appomattox Court House, Va., the ninth (9th) day

of April, 1865.
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The parole was countersigned as" follows:

The above-named officers will not he disturbed by United

States authorities as long as they observe their parole and the

laws in force where they may reside.

George H. Sharpe,

General and Assistant Provost Marshal.

In addition to the officers whose names are signed

above, the following were serving on the staff of Gen-
eral Lee and were paroled at Appomattox

:

General W. N. Pendleton", Chief of Artillery.

Lieut. -col. J AS. L. Corley, Chief Quartermaster.

Lieut. -col. K. G. Cole, Chief Commissary.

Lieut. -col. B. G. Baldwin, Chief of Ordnance,

Surgeon Lafayette Guild, Chief Surgeon.

Each officer and soldier was furnished for his protec-

tion from arrest or annoyance with a slip of paper con-

taining his parole, signed by his commander and coun-

tersigned by an officer of the Federal army.

I signed these paroles for all members of the staff,

and when my own case was reached I requested Gen-

eral Lee to sign mine, which I have retained to the pres-

ent time. It reads as follows

:

Appomattox Court House, Va.,

April 10, 1865.

The Bearer, Lieut. -col. W. H. Taylor, A. A. General of A.

N. Va., a paroled prisoner of the Army of Northern Virginia,

has permission to go to his home, and there remain undisturbed.

K. E. Lee,

General.

It is countersigned by George H. Sharpe, Asst. Pro-

vost Marshal General, U. S. A.

On April the 12th, I think it was. General Lee started

on his journey to Richmond, accompanied by colonels

"Venable and Marshall and myself. Colonel Venable
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soon left us and went to rejoin his family in Prince

Edward County.

We had one headquarters wagon containing our per-

sonal effects; also the general's ambulance, driven by
the trustworthy Butt, and our mess was still looked

after by our steward "Bryan" Lynch.
We pitched our tent and went into camp for the night

as usual, while making the journey. Though in a sense

a memorable trip, it was attended with no unwonted in-

cident; the conversation was free and of a general char-

acter. We had about exhausted the subject of the sur-

render and its consequences at Appomattox; and the

mind of each of the party was no doubt filled with

thoughts of the future. General Lee in his intercourse

then with those around him, and in his letters written

later, counseled all to go home, to take up such work as

offered, and to accept the conditions necessary to enable

them to take part in the government. It was not a time

for useless repining.

On the route General Lee stopped for the night near

the residence of his brother, Mr. Carter Lee, in Powhatan
County; and although importuned by his brother to pass

the night under his roof, the general persisted in pitch-

ing his tent by the side of the road and going into camp
as usual. This continued self-denial can only be ex-

plained upon the hypothesis that he desired to have his

men know that he shared their privations to the very

last.

We reached the city of Richmond on the loth of April,

and the general quietly proceeded to the house on Frank-

lin Street then occupied by his family.

The city was occupied by Federal troops, but all was
quiet and no demonstration attended General Lee's re-

turn. I have always considered it a magnanimous
thing on the part of General Grant that he did not even

go to Richmond at that time. There was no triumphal
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march led by the victorious general, nor any attempt or

act on his part to humiliate or wound the feelings of the

supporters of the lost cause.

In June of the same year a United States grand jury

at Norfolk indicted Mr. Davis and General Lee for

treason. I immediately informed General Lee of the

fact, and at the same time expressed a regret that some
of our young men were discouraged at not being able to

obtain employment, and many, in consequence, talked

of migrating to other countries. He replied as follows

:

KiCHMOND, Va., June 17, 1865.

My dear Colonel: lam very much obliged to you for your

letter of the 13th. I had heard of the indictment by the grand

jury at Norfolk, and made up my mind to let the authorities

take their course. I have no wish to avoid any trial the govern-

ment may order, and cannot flee. I hope others may be un-

molested, and that you at least may be undisturbed.

I am sorry to hear that our returned soldiers cannot obtain

employment. Tell them they must all set to work, and if they

cannot do what they prefer, do what they can. Virginia wants

all their aid, all their support, and the presence of all her sons to

sustain and recuperate her. They must therefore put them-

selves in a position to take part in her government, and not be

deterred by obstacles in their way. There is much to be done

which they only can do.

Very truly yours,

R. E. Lee.

Colonel W. H. Taylor.

But two months had elapsed since the surrender at

Appomattox—not a sufficient time for the subsidence of

the passion engendered by war and the healing of the

wounds occasioned by defeat; the hearts of the people

of the South were yet filled with resentment and bitter

hatred toward their Northern adversaries—and yet he,

their greatest captain, counseled a prompt and ready
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acquiescence in the inevitable, urging his countrymen
not to be deterred by seeming obstacles from resuming
their citizenship with all its obligations—that is, not to

flinch from a compliance with distasteful requirements,

but to conform to all legal enactments to enable them
to resume the reins of the government of their State,

and thus save her from adventurous aliens, and conse-

quent spoliation and ruin.

As soon as the indictment agarinst General Lee was
made known, General Grant, as was understood in the

South, notified the Federal authorities at Washington
that under the terms of the surrender of the Army of

Northern Virginia, as agreed to by him, General Lee
could not be disturbed or interfered with so long as he
observed the laws of his State, and this effectually

estopped all court proceedings so far as they concerned
General Lee.

In the case of Mr. Davis the authorities deliberated,

delayed, and finally refused to push the proceedings.

Mr. Davis would have welcomed a trial, for he well

knew that the argument was all on the side of the

South, and a recognition of this fact deterred those in

power who were best acquainted with the constitutional

questions involved from any real attempt to prove
treason.
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[copy]

THE FORCES AT GETTYSBURa

{A supplementary note from Colonel Taylor correcting

some disputed figures.)

To THE Editor of "The Times" (Philadelphia):

As my account of the battle of Gettysburg was first given to

the public in your columns, I respectfully ask space therein

sufficient to make the following explanation and correction of

the statement then made of the strength of the Confederate

army in that campaign.

I would premise with the mention of the fact that two kinds

of returns of the strength of the army were required to be made

to the department during the war: the one a "field return,'*

made twice a month—on the 10th and 20th—and the other a
" monthly return," made on the last day of each month. In

the field returns there was a column for the " officers present for

duty " and one for " enlisted men present for duty; " the sum of

the two would give the " effective total," as generally understood

—that is, the fighting strength.

THE MONTHLY REPORTS

In the monthly reports the arrangement was different; there

was a column for each grade of officers, both of the line and

staff, and also a column for sergeants, one for corporals and one

for privates—enlisted men. There was then a column headed
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" effective total," which embraced only the enlisted men pres-

ent for duty—that is, the non-commissioned staff, sergeants,

corporals, and privates, there being no column for the aggregate

of the commissioned officers present for duty.

There are many methods of comparing the strength of oppos-

ing armies. The one adopted by me was to take the "effective

total," or the sum of the officers and enlisted men present for

duty, excluding all consideration of the special or extra duty
men, those sick and those in arrest. As this manner of estimat-

ing was applied to both armies, it seemed to me the most equi-

table and satisfactory. In taking notes from the returns on file

in the archive office at Washington, I aimed to arrive at the

effective total. This, in the " field returns," was readily deter-

mined by adding together the officers and enlisted men present

for duty; but in the case of the "monthly reports" it was a

very natural error for one to take the addition of the column
headed "effective total" as representing the effective strength.

Now it so happened that the basis of my estimate of the strength

of General Lee's army at Gettysburg was the monthly report of

the 31st of May, 1863, and not a field return. I therefore

took the total amount of the column headed "effective total,"

viz., 68,352, as representing what is generally understood by
that term, and under the impression that the extensions under

that column embraced the officers and men present for duty. I

was the more naturally led into this error as Mr. Swinton, whose
figures I had before me, had done precisely the same thing.

Lieutenant-general Early, having directed my attention on the

9th instant to the discrepancy between certain figures given by
General Humphreys from the same return to the Count de Paris

and my own, and having expressed his aj)prehension that I took

the figures from the column headed " effective total," inasmuch

as, excluding the cavalry, the strength of the army as taken from

the field return of the 20th of May, 1863, was greater than that

taken from the monthly report of the 31st of May, 1863, I began

to suspect that the officers were not included in the estimate

given. I at once made application to the War Department for
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the information necessary to settle the matter, and having been

kindly favored with a prompt reply to my request, I have been en-

abled to review my figures, and find that the estimate of strength on

the 31st of May,1863,does not include the oflicers present for duty.

lee's effective strength

At that date the effective strength of General Lee's army was

as follows: Longstreet's command, 29,171; A. P. Hill's com-

mand, 30,286; cavalry, 10,292; artillery, 4702; total effective

of all arms, 74,451. And carrying out the same reasoning as

that originally pursued, I would say that General Lee had at

Gettysburg, including all the cavalry, 67,000 men—that is to

say, 53,500 infantry, 9000 cavalry, and 4500 artillery.

Of course this number was not available to him at any one

time, as I have previously explained, but I prefer to adopt the

greatest number as shown by the official reports ; and in like

manner I would persist in estimating the strength of the Federal

army by the statement of General Hooker to General Halleck

made on the 27th day of June, to the effect that his whole force

of enlisted men present for duty would not exceed 105,000.

As General Hooker thus gave only his enlisted men present

for duty, perhaps the figures originally given by me as the

strength of General Lee's army, viz., 68,352 on the 31st of May,

1863, and 62,000 at Gettysburg, should be employed in the com-

parison, as they represent also his enlisted men present for duty.

For if we add to the 105,000 enlisted men of the Federal army
the same proportion of officers as that found in the Confederate

army, it would raise the effective strength of the former to fully

115,000 on the 27th of June, four days previous to the battle.

View these figures as one will, the disparity in numerical strength

is very apparent. Historical accuracy being my aim in all that

I have to say upon this subject, I hasten to correct the error into

which I have inadvertently fallen along with Mr. Swinton.

Very respectfully,

Walter H. Taylor.
Norfolk, Va., February 18, 1878.
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PRESIDENT PIERCE'S MESSAGE IN 1856

The language of President Pierce, in his message to Congress of

December 20, 1856, referred to by General Lee, is so much to the

point and so prophetic, that I cannot forbear making the follow-

ing extract: " Perfect liberty of association for political objects

and the widest scope of discussion are the received and ordinary

conditions of government in our country. Our institutions,

framed in the spirit of confidence in the intelligence and integrity

of the people, do not forbid citizens, either individually or asso-

ciated together, to attack by writing, speech, or any other

methods short of physical force, the Constitution and the very

existence of the Union. Under the shelter of this great liberty,

and protected by the laws and usages of the government they

assail, associations have been formed in some of the States of in-

dividuals who, pretending to seek only to prevent the spread of

the institution of slaveiy into the present or future inchoate

States of the Union, are really inflamed with desire to change

the domestic institutions of existing States. To accomplish

their objects, they dedicate themselves to the odious task of de-

preciating the government organization which stands in their

way, and of calumniating with indiscriminate invective not only

the citizens of particular States with whose laws they find fault,

but all others of their fellow citizens throughout the country

who do not participate with them in their assaults upon the Con-

stitution, framed and adopted by our fathers, and claiming for

the privileges it has secured and the blessings it has conferred

the steady support and grateful reverence of their children.

They seek an object which they well know to be a revolutionary

one. They are perfectly aware that the change in the relative

condition of the white and black races in the slave-holding

States which they would promote is beyond their lawful author-

ity; that to them it is a foreign object; that it cannot be effected

by any peaceful instrumentality of theirs; that for them and

the States of which they are citizens the only path to its ac-

complishment is through burning cities and ravaged fields and
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slaughtered populations, and all there is most terrible in foreign,

complicated with civil and servile, war; and that the first step in

the attempt is the forcible disruption of a country embracing in

its broad bosom a degree of liberty and an amount of individual

and public prosperity to which there is no parallel in history,

and substituting in its place hostile governments, driven at once

and inevitably into mutual devastation and fratricidal carnage,

transforming the now peaceful and felicitous brotherhood into a

vast permanent camp of armed men like the rival monarchies of

Europe and Asia. Well knowing that such, and such only, are

the means and the consequences of their plans and purposes, they

endeavor to prepare the people of the United States for civil war

by doing everything in their power to deprive the Constitution

and the laws of moral authority and to undermine the fabric of

the Union by appeals to passion and sectional prejudice, by in-

doctrinating its people with reciprocal hatred, and by educating

them to stand face to face as enemies, rather than shoulder to

shoulder as friends. It is by the agency of such unwarrantable

interference, foreign and domestic, that the minds of many
otherwise good citizens have been so imflamed into the passionate

condemnation of the domestic institutions of the Southern States

as at length to pass insensibly to almost equally passionate hos-

tility toward their fellow citizens of those States, and thus fall

into temporary fellowship with the avowed and active enemies of

the Constitution. Ardently attached to liberty in the abstract,

they do not stop to consider practically how the objects they

would attain can be accomplished, nor to reflect that, even if

the evil were as great as they deem it, they have no remedy to

apply, and that it can be only aggravated by their violence and

unconstitutional action.

"A question which is one of the most difficult of all problems

of social institution, political economy, and statesmanship, they

treat with unreasoning intemperance of thought and language.

Extremes beget extremes. Violent attack from the North finds

its inevitable consequence in the growth of a spirit of angry

defiance at the South. Thus, in the progress of events, we had
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reached that consummation, which the voice of the people has

now so pointedly rebuked, of the attempt of a jjortion of the

States, by a sectional organization and movement, to usurp the

control of the government of the United States."

CORRESPONDENCE CONCERNING A CONVENTION PROPOSED
BY GENERAL LEE TO GENERAL GRANT, WITH THE VIEW
OF PUTTING AN END TO HOSTILITIES, IN MARCH, 1865

[copy]

Headquarters C. S. Armies,

March 2, 1865.

Lieut. -GEN". U. S. Grant,

Commanding U, S. Armies

:

General: Lieutenant-general Longstreet has informed me
that in a recent conversation between himself and Major-general

Ord as to the possibility of arriving at a satisfactory adjustment

of the present unhappy difficulties by means of a military con-

vention, General Ord stated that if I desired an interview with

you on the subject you would not decline, provided I had au-

thority to act. Sincerely desiring to leave nothing untried which

may put an end to the calamities of war, I propose to meet you

at such convenient time and place as you may designate, with

the hope that upon an interchange of views it may be found

practicable to submit the subjects of controversy between the

belligerents to a convention of the kind mentioned. In such

event I am authorized to do whatever the result of the proposed

interview may render necessary or advisable. Should you accede

to this proposition, I would suggest that, if agreeable to you, we

meet at the place selected by generals Ord and Longstreet for

their interview at 11 a.m. on Monday next.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

E. E. Lee,

General.
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City Point, Va., March 3, 1865, 6 p.m.

Hon. E. M. Stanton,

Secretary of War, Washington

:

The following communication has just been received from

General Lee:

[Here foUoivs General Lee's letter.
'I

General Orel met General Longstreet a few daj^s since, at the

request of the latter, to arrange for the exchange of citizen

prisoners and prisoners of war improperly captured. He had

my authority to do so, and to arrange it definitely for such as

were confined in his department ; arrangements for all others to

be submitted for approval. A general conversation ensued on

the subject of the war, and has induced the above letter. I have

not returned any reply, but promised to do so at 12 m. to-mor-

row. I respectfully request instructions.

U. S. Geant,

Lieutenant-general.

War Department, March 3, 18G5, 12 p.m.

Lieutenant-general Grant:
The President directs me to say to you that he wishes you to

have no conference with General Lee, unless it be for the capitu-

lation of General Lee's army or on some minor and purely mili-

tary matter. He instructs me to say that you are not to decide,

discuss, or confer upon any political question. Such questions

the President holds in his own hands, and will submit them to

no military conferences or conventions. Meantime you are to

press to the utmost your military advantages.

Edwin M. Stanton,

Secretary of War.

War Department, March 3, 1865, 12 p.m.

Lieutenant-general Grant:
I send you a telegram written by the President himself in

answer to yours of this evening, which I have signed by his

order. I will add that General Ord's conduct in holding intercourse
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with General Longstreet upon political questions not committed

to his charge is not approved. The same thing was done in one

instance by Major Key, when the army was commanded by Gen-

eral McClellan, and he was sent to meet Howell Cobb on the

subject of exchanges, and it was in that instance, as in this, dis-

approved. You will please in future instruct officers appointed

to meet rebel officers to confine themselves to the matters spe-

cially committed to them.

Edwin M. Stanton,

Secretary of War.

City Point, Va., March 4, 1865.

Geneeal R. E. Lee,

Commanding C S. Army:

Your two letters of the 3d inst. were received yesterday. In

regard to any apprehended misunderstanding in reference to the

exchange of political prisoners, I think there need be none.

In regard to meeting you on the 6th instant, I would state

that I have no authority to accede to your proposition for a con-

ference on the subject proposed. Such authority is vested in the

President of the United States alone. General Ord could only

have meant that I would not refuse an interview on any subject

on which I have a right to act, which, of course, would be such

as are purely of a military character, and on the subject of ex-

changes which has been intrusted to me.

U. S. Grant,

Lieutenant-general.
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A FEW PERSONAL LETTERS FROM GENERAL LEE TO THE
AUTHOR. GENERAL LEE'S PURPOSE TO WRITE A HIS-

TORY OF THE ARMY OF NORTHERN VIRGINIA

[copy]

Near Cartersville, July 31, 1865.

My dear Colonel :

I am desirous that the bravery and devotion of the Army of

Northern Virginia shall be correctly transmitted to posterity.

This is the only tribute that can now be paid to the worth of its

noble oflQcersand soldiers; and I am anxious to collect the nec-

essary data for the history of the campaigns in Virginia from the

commencement of its organization to its final surrender. I am
particularly anxious that its actual strength in the difEerent bat-

tles it has fought be correctly stated. You know all its official

returns, records, etc., from the time of my connection with it

have been lost or destroyed.

As you prepared the tri-monthly returns for so long, and tested

their accuracy, I have thought its gradual changes may have been

impressed upon your memory, and that you might state with

some confidence its effective strength at each of the great battles

it has fought, in infantry, cavalry, and artillery. You may also

have some memoranda within your reach that would assist your

memory. Please give me at least the benefit of your recollection.

I have been greatly pleased at hearing that you have been

elected to the office of registrar of your native city, which has

been stated to me to be one of importaiice and profit. I know

you will fill it worthily and satisfactorily.

Please present my kindest regards to your mother, wife, and

sisters and brothers, in which I know I would be joined by all

the members of my family did they know I was writing.

Very truly yours,

E. B. Lee.

Col. Walter H. Taylor.
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Lexikgton", Ya., 35th May, 1866.

My dear Colonel:

I am very glad to learn by your letter of the 21st that you had

seen Mrs. Davis, and to know that you think favorably of her

health and spirits. I cannot tell you how much I have suffered

and still suffer on account of Mr. Davis and herself. I hope now
that attention has been drawn to the subject that greater con-

sideration will be given him, kinder feelings entertained, and the

shadow of magnanimity at least be shown him.

I shall be very much obliged to you if you can obtain from Mr.

Burton Harrison copies of my correspondence with Mr. Davis,

including my letters to him and his to me, if possible. It will

be of great use to me and enable me to speak more fully of move-

ments and their results. I hear occasionally of you through

Marshall and other friends, and am glad to learn that you are

doing well.

Eemember me most kindly to your mother, brothers, and sis-

ters, and though you would never show me your wife, tell her I

bear toward her the love I feel for you, which I hope she will not

refuse.

"We are tolerably well. Mrs. Lee, I think, has less pain this

spring than the last, but her powers of locomotion are no greater.

Fitzhugh came up with Agnes and is still with us, though he

will leave us for the Pamunkey on Monday.

All unite with me in kind regards.

Very truly yours,

E. E. Lee.
Col. Walter H. Taylor.

Lexington, Va., 28th Dec, 1866.

My dear Colonel:

I received this morning your letter of the 24th accompanying

the package of letters given you in New York, for which I am
much obliged.

I hope you and yours are well, and that many happy New Years

are in store for you.
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Our family circle has been enlivened by the addition of the

company of my son Robert, and the expectation of seeing Eitz-

hugh in a few days.

All unite in kindest regards to you, Mrs. Taylor, your mother

and sisters.

I fear that Mr. Burton Harrison cannot fulfill his promise of

giving me copies of the letters you mentioned, as he says nothing

about them.
Yours truly,

E. E. Lee.

Col. Walter H. Taylor.

Lexikgton, Va., 26th March, 1868.

My dear Colonel:

The inclosed is a sample of many letters I receive from all the

Southern States. Yoii can readily imagine my inability to re-

spond to them in the way the writers desire, and this occurs in

so many cases that are known to me, that I am the less able to

meet the wants of those who are not.

Mr. and Mrs. are unknown to me, but I have thought

that if they were deserving, some employment might be obtained

for the husband if his condition was known ; at any rate, being

able to do nothing else, I have determined to refer it to you, in

the hope that something may be devised in Norfolk, their present

place of refuge.

I hope Mrs. Taylor and your little girl are well.

Please remember me to your mother and sisters, and believe

me,
Very truly yours,

E. E. Lee.

Col. Walter H. Taylor.

Lexington, Va., 13th April, 1868.

My dear Colonel:

The barrel of oysters which you were so kind as to send me

by Bryan on the 8th arrived on the night of the 10th, and have
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converted our Easter celebration into a feast. Besides being ex-

cellent in themselves, they were in fine condition, and the oyster-

knife, tell Bryan, proved invaluable. Mrs. Lee sends her per-

sonal thanks, and our neighbors unite in acknowledgments for

the pleasing knowledge you have given them of so excellent a

shell-fish.

I am very sorry to hear that you have been sick. Perhaps the

attack was produced by a desire to form the immediate acquaint-

ance of that " splendid baby." Give my congratulations to Mrs.

T. Tell her I hope that when her fancy for girls is satisfied

(mine is exorbitant) she will begin upon the boys. We must

have somebody to work for them.

You will have to bring Mrs. Taylor and the babies up to Lex-

ington to see us. I fear I shall never be able to get to Norfolk

to see you.

We are all pretty well. Mary and Agnes have been in Balti-

more the past winter and are now in Maryland. Mildred has

taken care of us and thinks she has a hard time in regulating

her brother Custis and three of my brother's children, who are

living with us.

Custis looked very knowing when I delivered your message,

but did not divulge his plans.

Remember me most kindly to your mother and sisters, your

wife, Mrs. Saunders, and all friends, and believe me,

Very truly,

E. E. Lee.

Col. W. H. Tatlok.

Lexington, Va., 3d Dec, 1869.

My dear Colonel:

Smith's Island has been bought by my sons Fitzhugh and

Eobert. They will sell it, but I do not know whether they will

lease it. Fitzhugh's P. 0. is Tunstal's Station, New Kent Co.,

Va. I will send him your letter.

I am glad that the oysters are opening well, but you must not

trouble yourself to send us any. We live so far up in the moun-

tains that they do not flourish here.



APPENDIX 313

Keep them for those nice little girls at your house, who I

know will make sweet wives for some good Virginians. You
know I always bespeak the youngest of the flock for my son Cus-

tis. Ask Mrs. Taylor to jDlease have one on hand. I am glad

to receive the girls if I can get no boys. You must bring them
all up to see me in the summer.

Mrs. Lee and my daughters all unite with me in kindest re-

gards to you and yours.

Always yours,

II. E. Lee.
Col. Waltek H. Taylok.

Lexh^gton, Va., 16th Dec, 1869.

My dear Col. Taylor:
I must wish you, first, a merry Xmas and many happy New

Years for yourself, your wife, and all your little children ; and

may each revolving year shower upon you more blessings than

the preceding. Secondly, I must ask your kind offices to pro-

cure me some good oysters for New Year's day. Please ask some

reliable oysterman to put me up eight gallons of good Hampton
or York River oysters and send them by express so as to reach

here the 30th or 31st inst. The express freight comes from

Staunton every day, and the packet from Lynchburg leaves there

every Monday, Wednesday, and Friday afternoons, after the

arrival of the Orange train. The latter is the easier route, but

the former the more certain, if the agent at Staunton will for-

ward promptly. The canal sometimes freezes inopportunely,

and he had better make it certain. Ask him also to send me his

bill for oysters and kegs and I will remit him the money.

I like my friends to taste some good oysters in the course of

the year, and hence my troubling you.

All send love, and I remain,

Yours most truly,

R. E. Lee.

Col. Walter II. Taylor.
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Lexington, Va., 3d Jan., 1870.

My dear Colonel:

The oysters arrived in the packet-boat on the 30th ulto. all

right and in due time and have been much enjoyed. They were

finely flavored and as plump as eggs, and this time we had

enough for everybody, which is a great thing. I send you with

many thanks my check on the Bank of Lexington for $15.50 to

your order in payment of Mr. Dobbs's account.

And now I must thank you for your cordial invitation in your

letter of the 22d Dec. to Mrs, Lee and myself to visit you. I

need not assure you that it would give me great pleasure to do

so, for we should both like to see you and Mrs. Taylor and our

other friends in Norfolk, but fear it is out of the question, and

must repeat that you will have to come and see us and bring

Mrs. Taylor with you and the babies too.

Mrs. Lee joins me in kind regards to yourself, wife, mother, and

sisters, in which Custis and my daughters unite, and I remain.

Very truly yours,

K. E. Lee.

Col. Walter H. Taylor.

f'














